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6. Cpntidential Sourges 

Chapter Tyo 

' p.55 Interview with Mr Gbazalie bin Shafie, Secretary to 
the Malaysian Department of External Affairs, in his 
office, Kuala Lumpur, April 1966. Ghazalie was one 
ot the two Malayan members of the Cobbold Commission 
and seemed to the author to overestimate the 
enthusiasm for Malaysia in the Borneo states. 

Chapter Three 
p.100 

p.102 

Chapter 
p.107 

p •.. 108 

p.112 

p.115 
p.117 

Interview with Ghazalie; and with Mr J. de Silva, a 
senior official in the Malaysian Department of External 
·Affairs and de facto information officer at the time, 
Kuala Lumpur, May 1966. These two officials visited 
Djakarta as recounted on p.99. 
Interview with Sir Garfield Barwick, Australian 
Minister for External Atfairs1 1961-~~ in his Chambers, 
the High Court of Australia, . sydney, February 1967. 

Four 
Interview with Barwick· and with Mr K.c.o. Shann, 
Australian Ambassador to Indonesia, 1962-6 at the 
Department of External ,~ffairs, Canberra, July 1966. 
Barwick and Shann agreed on this point but both said 
that Australia was not intent on speeding up the 
formation of Malaysia, although that would have been 
welcomed. 
The Minister was Barwick as he admitted to the author. 
Sir Gartield was very bitter about the Herald's 
publicising his briefing which he had emphasised was 
confidential. 
Both Barwick and Shann said that they thought that 
American policy towards West Irian changed .after 
Kennedy became President. Barwick claimed that he 
played a decisive role in 'changing the whole direction. 
ot the ship of state'L meaning Australia's policy ~ 
towards West Irian. He said that he placed high 
priority on Australia's establishing good relations 
with Indonesia and implied that Menzies may not have 
been s1m1larl1 concerned wtth Indonesia's friendship. 
He agreed, however, that the change in American 
policy had influenced Australian policy and had 
enabled him to persuade Canberra to accept Indonesian 
control ot West Ir!an. ~ 
Interview with Shann. , 
Barwick admitted that Tange went to the US to ascertain 
Washington's views and t o urge the Americans to de~lare 
their support tor the Malaysia proJect. He added /·that 
he had hoped that Tange .c(i)uld accomplish his task with 

1 the minimum .or fubllcity···bu~ that the press had quickly · 
got on to Tange s trip to the US, 
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p.127 
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Footnote J, Barwick_; Shann; interview vi th Mr G. Jockel, 
a senior member ot the A\1Stralian Department or EXternal 
Attaira, Canberra J\ll,y 1966. All three stressed that -
1963 there was 11!t1e doubt that Australia would ~pport 
Malaya1a. The quotation is trom Shann. 
Footnote ; • Interview with Mr de Silva. · 
Both Barwlek and tjhann (who was also present at Manila) 
told the author that Berwick had persuaded Subandr1o to 
agree to negotiate with Malaya and not to use the 
negotiationa as a means for sabotagin& Malaysia. Hr 
de Silva agreed that Barwick bad been influential in 
gettina Indonesia to n:gotiate but did not see Barwiok'a · 
role as being as crucial as the Australians suggested, 
Interviews with J. de ~ilva; and with Mr de Cos~a, a . 
senior official in the Singapore Depl}rtment ot mernal 
Attaira, .at his ottice,_ Febl'U81'7 1966; and vith Mr G. 
Bogaara, Secretaey to tne Singapore Defence Department, 
at b1a ottice, February 1966. All three said that the 
Malqan and then the Malaysian Government desired 
maximum Auatralian support throughout ~· durativn ot 
confrontation, largely to have as wide support as 
poaaible. Bogaars added that it was felt that Australia, 
as a small power in<11genous to the re&J.o!!J~ was a more 
acceptable guarantor to Asians than the UK or the us. 
Mr Reddawar, a senior British foreign office otticl&!' 
in an interview at his home 1n Singapore, February 1~6, 
admitted that the UK tor similar reasons desired a firm 
Australian policy ot support tor Malaysia. J 
Barwiok, Shann and Jockel verified these points and1 _as 

· relate4 1n ~ text, _said that in earlY 1963 Auatra~a 
was reluctant to make a strong declaration of support 
tor Malaysia. 
Interview• v1th Sbann· and Jockel. Barvick said that at 
that stage the Malayans could see no reason for a 
separate trea tr. 
Interview with Mr c. i/yndham, then ALP Federal secreta 
at ALP Headquarters, Canberra1 September 1966J and with 
HI' E.G. Whitlam, then Deputy .t.eader ot tbe Parliamentary 

-· Labor Pan,, at Parlia~ent House, Canberra, November 
1966. . :._, 
Footnote 3. &nrick ai.4d iJhann both felt that the 
Br1t1ah had not been suff1cientl1 deterrential towards 
the Indonesians. 
Footl'lOte lt-. · Xhe opinion is Shann' s. He also felt that 
while the conclusion ot the Malaysia Agreement did not 
contravene the letter ot the Malila Agreement• 1 t did . 
contravene thei:r 1 ap!ri t' • He tended perhaps to 
underestimate the difticu.lties which the Bz.ltiah and 
the Mala;yans ta.ced, due proba.b~ to the taet that he wal 
in DJakarta .• 
Interviews w1 th Wfnd.ham and Wbi tl.alll. 
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Footnote 3. Interview with Mr s. Hart, First Poll tical 
Secretarr in the US Embassy in Kuala LU.mpur, May 1966. 
Mr Hart had previou.lf served in the US Embaser in 
DJakarta. 
The MalaJsian Department ot External ttaira provided 
the author with transcripta ot the Malaysian-Indonesian 
negotiationa. While these have been cited directly 1n 
other worka1 e.g. Br ackman: J~~f{~'; ~ Frop, and uordona The pime ______ Q__i ~ :.__ 
SpQ\htast Aaia~ tbe author has not felt at 1 erty to 
do likevise. rhe transcripts have been accepted b.r 
and large at their tace value tor they do not seem to 
conflict with other reports or the negotiations and 
thq are in harmony vi th the public dispute and the 
positions taken b;y the two states. In allf case the 
Indonesian have not 'denied that they are accurate, 
although they appear to have tormed the basis tor press 
reports at the time. 
Mr J. Peaatian, Director ot the dabah Department ot 
Intormation. 
Mr de Costa. 
See note to pace 160. 
Interviews with Ghazalie and de Silva. 
Interviews with BogaarsJ and with Mr G. Thomson, 
Director of the Political Study Centre, S1naapore, 
Ma.rch 1966. 
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asked ~e Americana to stop giving aid to Indonesia. 
He thought this might have had some etteot on 
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aid be given to South Vietnam. 
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Attache at the Australian High Commission, Kuala 
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there appeared to be a real danger that Indonesi'a 
would not take Australia. seriouslJ. 
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Goh Keng Svee, Singapore Minister tor Detence and 
Internal SecuritJ, Singapore, February 1966. · 
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.&USTRALU, llALl'!BIA JJD '!'HI PBOBLBII OP OOJIJ'BOJPl' ATIOJI 

ftU thellia la aa ....,natiea of .Awltraliall poli07 the 

foJ."at1on e1 1a aD4 Tnclon•ia' a oontrOntatioll of tat l'eden-tioL 

Al. theqll it ia old.etly eel w1 tla the period troll •rl7 1961t ..._ 

'1'tm1m AbdW. !at " MI1MIIQDCie4 tllat weaU Beek •aa 11114efttall41JlB' 

with SiDppore aDd tM etatea of northem BD:meo, te late 1965, •• 

tlle eeparatieD ot liJiaapoa f1'011 llalqaia all llat oojnoicl.a -Wl:Dt-"'!:--....;; 

abortiYe oeap ill »~, tile tain of -.eta ___,.. • .a 'b7 ~ ~­

period oamaot lNt oeM14ere4 in iaolation. la CJaapter One the 

t.Yelo)BIIlt of .taaet:ralia' • peat-war ut.aoe aD4 toni&D polioi• le 

.utlined u4 tile ooatat within whioh tho Jutnlim ·oo .. 1:'-lt te 
-.Iqa _...a. 1a ...m.aet. file eubjeot •tte of Cllaptew '1'we u4 

fluoM OODoema tile toJ."ati• of •lqaia aDd Jactoa•ia'• acloptiOJl of 

a poliO¥ ot OOIIfJ."''Oltatlon towuU that etato. It 1a U'8filed that wJa:Uo 

•ell of the BOY••-• ,.. were p:rjaoipal pariiei:paate in the 

Malqeia .- MA ftua ........ tor a.ti-Uc tb •tabltn.•t of the 

p, ,_....._~ - ,eh to IDIIII:r8 that 

it wu aooepta'ble to the peopl• of the et.- 41ftotl7 .....a. 
.... theleee, in 1963 tho J'ecleration waa aooeptable to a lup 

Pftportien ot thoM peopl-. fto •••awa wldlta la&lon•ia &4ftaoecl 

tor ita -.tilitJ-... tlao ~Uon are enwrJM4 ad. it la 

augeetell '\bat th.,- provid.ed. iaeuft'ioi•t jaau..t1oat1on tor Iaaoaee-l&ll 

poliOJ• It ie alao BUggeated that other aplaD&tiou tor IDdonee1an 

poliar.qlte ....... 

ID Ohapter JWr tlao :NUtion of Autralia toa%'da the w.U 

t.eriW. 1D tJao tw pieoeMng ChapteN ia ·8h!lfDe4. Jllatftl1a approyed 

of the •l.qeia plaa '"- ita 1Doeption. Il'1 1963, a.trou.a of aood 
relatiOIUI with ])3akaria after the eettl .. t ot tho ••t Ir1aD cU..-ptte, 

Cu'bora wu apiD ~tod wl~ the proa)eOt fd opporiDc TnciDMi&. 

Altholagh mob. ot AaatraU.a epin1o woa:ld llaft apPRYed ot auob a 

polie,- aD4 _. Jlntlle tew.r4a IJidoa•1a, ..aben of the OoveJ.'IIMDt, 

)IU'd.aalarl7 Sir aartielcl larlriak, wiehed. to awid a 11ft oontl1ot 

with IDd.oneeia. ., lopt•lMr 1963, when ~ia _. fomed., it bad 

Moo.. ol•r that thie _. unafticlable aa4 Sir Be'bert llauli• d.eolaad. 

.&ut:alia'a Sntation to help tet..t llalqsia it D.,..h17• 

Ia Chapter ftye tile iDtemal polltiee ot -.Iqaia are 4IDid.Decl. 

It i• pointell oat that there"" oontliotB of quite a aer1au aature 

-~ that th•e 414 not jutif;r IDdoneeiaa policy. It 1a arg~~ed. that 



during the period which the Chapter eDDd.nea, from late 1963 to mid-1964, 

it became ol•rer that IDdoneaia waa Pl1'8Uing a poli07 of aggression 

and 'that her de~~anda •de a cliplo•tio .solution to the conflict unlikely. 

It ia also contended that during that period the nabili ty of Jlalayaia 

became aerioualy questionable. 

An exam:ination et the Juat:ralian poliOJ ot 'graduated l'e8ponse1 , . 

troa late 1963 to early 1965, ia the subject ot Chapters Six and 

BeY-. Despite Kensi•' d.eolaration of Austl"al1a'a support tor Malayeia 

and the Awltraliall Qonl'ID8Dt'a adoption et a JO•tuN ot tiDI •pport 

tor the Jled.eration d:llring the .Anatralian election oampaisn, Canbern. 

remained reluctant to accede . to the demanda of her alliea, partioularly 

the u~. that Auetralia beoo• llili tarily imolved in the defellOe ot 

Jlalqaia. ~:ring 1964, however, Australian involveaent in that respect 

inonaaed aa Jlalqsia inonaa~ pined diplo•tio support in Atftw 

Asia ud from the us, and ~esia became •re clearly intftDSigent 

and •oalated her attacks on the Jlederation. In early 1964 .Awltralta 

bepn to aaaiat Jlalqsia to iaprove her own defence toroeef in late 

1964 the Anstralian foro• which had been stationed in Malqa since 

1955 oaae into conflict with Indonesians who had landed. on the 

peninsulat in early 1965, following indications of the likelihood of 

an inoreaae in Indoneaian aotivity in ::Bomeo• Auatralian combat units 

were deployed in Sa:n.wak when the llili tary reperou.aaiona of 

confrontation had been 110st strongly te~. 

In Chapter Bight the Allatralian oommi tment to llalqsia 1a 

cliacuaaed. in te:rma ot the overall context of Australian poliOJ 1n 

Southeast Asia, particularly with respect to the diapate between 

Singapon aDd l"uala lmlplr, the policy ot the Br1. tiah Labour Govemment 

towardal the region • East of Sues' , the Austl'ali.an alliance with the 

US and i u relationship to Australia' a ooiiDi tllent to Vietnaa and 

aJprehensiou about Ch1Da, and the Sino-Indonesian entente. 

' / 
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INTROIXJCTION 

During the mid-1960s Australia became increasingly interested 

in developments in Southeast Asia and increasingly concerned at 

the possibility of their adversely affecting Australian security. 

Indonesia's confrontation of Malaysia contributed significantly 

to that process and to the passing of the traditional Australian 

apathy towards foreign affairs in time of peace. Southeast Asia 

came to be regarded as an area productive of war and conflicts 

Australia reacted by seeking to become a regional power. 

The factors which influence and shape the foreign policy of 

any state are multifarious. To this generalisation Australia 

provides no exception, although it might be asserted that the 

relative smallness of Australia's population and the openness of 

its society assists in the investigation of the Australian political 

process. A thorough analysis of the formulation of foreign policy 

requires some investigation of the social milieu within which it 

is produced. In the case of Australian policy towards Asia this is 

of particular importance. Reference might be made to the circumstances 

which produced the 'White Australia' policy, 1 to the impact which 

the Japanese conquest of Southeast Asia and assaults on Australian 

territor.y during World War II had on Australian conceptions of her 

defensive requirements, and to the cultural and ethnic differences 

between Australia and her northern neighbours. These factors have 

been influential in Australian foreign policy, especially with 

respect to her alliances with her 'great and powerful friends'. This 

work, however, does not pretend to be an extensive examination of 

Australia's policy towards Southeast Asia nor does it seek to 

investigate the totality of that policy, except insofar as it is 

directly related to the sub~ect in hand. It is concerned rather 

with a particular aspect of that policy during a particular period 

of time. 

1 
See A.T. Yarwoods Asian Mi ation to Australia: The Back und 

to Exclusion, 1~96-1923 Melbourne University Press, Melbourne, 
-1964), and H.London: Colouring White Australia (Forthcoming). 

( 1) 
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The period with which this study is concerned extends from 

the inception of the Malaysia plan, in early 1961, to the separation 

of Singapore from Malaysia in August 1965. The reasons for the 

selection of the former date are self-evident. The separation 

of Singapore from Malaysia changed the essential character of the 

Federation. Further, it all but coincided with the abortive 

coup in Indonesia. These two events fundamentally altered the 

situation and lod to the opening of a nGw chapter in Australia's 

policy towards the 1hlay archipelago. 

The subject matter of this study falls into two broad 

categories~ tho events which producod Malaysia and Indonesian 

confrontation; and the contemporar,y developments in Australia. 

Until 1963, those two processes appeared to be quite distinct, 

particularly since Australia was not a primary participant in the 

Malaysia plan. The evolution of confrontation lad to Australia 

being more closely associated with the development of Malaysia, 

until by 1964 Australia was a party principal to the problem of 

confrontation. The organisation of this work reflects those 

developments. During the first five chapters Australian policy 

and events in the Malay archipelago are treated as distinct but 

related themes. Thereafter they are more clearly integrated, 

reflecting their closer inter-relationship. This approach has 

the apparent disadvantage of presenting two disconnected subjects 

in the early chapters. But some investigation of the development 

of Malaysia and confrontation, and of Australia's policy towards 

the region both before and during the evolution of that situation, 

are prerequisites for a satisfactory analysis of subsequent 

developments. The alternative approach, that of dealing with both 

developments simultaneously, would seem to be unwieldy and to 

sacrifice clarity for continuity. 

Despite the recent growth of that body of literature concerned 

with Australian foreign policy, there has been no extensive 

treatment of Australian policy towards Malaysia. Partly for that 

reason this work has adopted the historical approach to the 

subject in order mora easily to establish its features and 

development. Soma effort has been made to determine the broad 

factors influential in the formulation of Australian foreign 

policy and the degree to which they affected its implementation. 

This subject has again attracted but scant academic attention. Little 
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along the lines suggested by the propounders of the decision-making 

analysis approach1 has been produced with re~pect to Australia, 

although Professor Greenwood's general survey of the subject is 

deserving of mention in that context. 2 Professor Albinski also 

provides some valuable insights into the factors influencing 

Australian foreign policy, specifically with regard to the process 

by which Australia became increasingly apprehensive about China 

after a communist Government assumed power in that countr.y. 3 But 

domestic political factors are but one aspect of the formulation 

of a state's foreign policy. 

This study devotes considerable attention to the situation 

with which Australia was faced, and soaks to relate it to 

developments in Australian policy. This has been necessary for 

a number of reasons. First, Australian policy cannot be adequately 

analysed without some investigation of those developments to which 

Australia in large part was reacting. Secondly, there is no 

adequate treatment of those events suitable for that purposa. 4 

Finally, in 1965 Australian combat forces were committed to South 

Vietnam under circumstances which the Government claimed were 

similar to those which obtained in Malaysia. That commitment 

excited considerable criticism in Australia of a similar kind 

to that levelled against the American commitment in America.5 

The basis of those criticisms was that South Vietnam was not under 

attack from without, that its Government was unpopular, and that 

those very forces which the Western allies were fighting were the 

true representatives of the Vietnamese people. It would seem 

important to determine whether similar criticisms might have been 

levelled against the Australian commitment to Malaysia and why 

they were not levelled at the time. 

1 
See Bernard C.Cohen: The Political Process and Forei 

The Makin of the Ja anese Peace Settlement Princeton University 
Press, 1957 , The Influence of Non-Governmental Grou on Forei 
Policy Making World Peace Foundation, Boston, 1959 , and The 
Press and Foreign Policy (Princeton University Press, 1963~ 
Richard C.Snyder, H.W.Bruck and Burton Sapin (eds)a Foreign 
Policy Decision-Making (Free Press of Glencoe, New York, 1958). 
2 
Gordon Greenwood: 'Australian Foreign Policy in Action•, Chapter 

One in Gordon Greenwood and Norman Harpex (ads) a Australia in 
World Affairs, 1956-60 (Cheshire for AIIA, Melbourne, 1963). 
3 
Henry S.Albinski: Australian Policies aad Attitudes Towards 

China (Princeton University Press, 1965). 
4 
Arnold C.Brackman: Southeast Asia's Second Front (Pall Mall, 

London, 1966), is the only extensive treatment of the subject 
presently available. 
5 
Arthur M.Schlesinger: The Bitter Heritage: Vietnam and American 

Democracy, 1941-66 (Deutsch, London, 1967), provides a sophisticated 
and moderate presentation of those criticisms. 
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It remains to give some indication of the sources which have 

been consulted in tho research for this study. Research was begun 

in 1965 at a time when, although Australian interest in foreign 

policy and the affairs of Southeast Asia was increasing rapidly, 

few academic ·works oxistod on those subjects. Since that time, 

studies of Australia's strategic policies and situation have 

proliferated and those have, whoro rolovant, boon consulted. But 

Australia's policy towards Malaysia has not attracted academic 

attention to tho same extent as Australian policy towards Vietnam. 

Consequently the analysis of Australian policy is based largely 

on primary sources. The increased interest shown in those issues 

on the part of Australian politicians has led to those sources 

being both extensive and, by an~ large, accessible. 

The lack of full documentation (which is rarely complete in 

any historical fiold) has boon at least partly compensated for by 

access to persons who were party to the formulation and impl0mentation 

of tho policies under consideration. A number of those persons 

have boon interviewed and on occasion their opinions have boon 

citod directly, but perhaps mora valuable havo been the 

interpretations which they have suggested and the opportunities 

which those interviews have allowed for a direct assessment of 

the factors which influence Australian policy. As many of those 

who were interviewed insisted on remaining anonymous, they have 

all been given that status but a list of some of the interviews 

has bean mado available to the examiners of this thesis. It is 

important to stress that those persons' testimonies have been cited 

as evidence only when they may be substantiated from other sources 

or when such interpretations may be reasonably inferred from the 

circumstances. Only in exceptional cases has this general rule 

been broken, and then, it is hoped, for reasons which are clearly 

apparent. In most cases the public record provides ample 

documentation. Sir Alan Watt, a former senior Australian diplomat, 

comments about his own work, The Evolution of Australian Foreign 

Policy, 1938-1965a 
The material used for this book is taken from public 
sources. As a member of the Commonwealth Public 
Service for twenty-five years I am, of course, 
bound by the restrictions applicable to all Australian 
officials. This has involved deliberate omission of 
certain facts acquired in an official capacity. It 
is~ considered opinion, however, that the facts omitted 
do not distort the main outlines of the story - otherwise 



I would not have written i~. Most people, in my 
experience, underestimate the amount of valuable 
material on foreign policy available from public 
sources. 1 

l~aessment of Australian public opir1ion and its influence 

5 

on Government policy has proved to be more difficult. Officials 

were more reluctant to speak on this issue. In addition, public 

opinion itself has been difficult to estimate. It has been 

assumed that the press, opinion polls, the statements of organised 

political groups or of organised groups voicing political opinions, 

and election results, reflect public opinion. In defence of this 

method two arguments might be advanced: it is the only one 

available; and it is the method by which the Government itself 

assesses opinion, and it is that assessment, if anything, which 

influences policy. The relationship between public opinion and 

foreign policy has been established, or perhaps more properly 

inferred by a variety of methods. 

With regard to the analysis of Malaysian politics similar 

comments might be made. The author spent some months in early 

1966 in both eastern and western Malaysia and Singapore·, and 

interviewed and met a large number of academics, journalists, 

politicians and officials, most of whom must remain anonymous, 

but some of whom will be identified for the satisfaction of the 

examiners. Similar criteria have been applied to the use of 

their testimonies as to those of their Australian counterparts. 
the. 

Owing tolexigencies of confrontation, the author, a citizen 

of the UK, did not visit Indonesia. The assessment of Indonesian 

policy has been less intensive, yet not primarily for that reason. 

This work is chiefly concerned with the Australian commitment to 

Malaysia. 

1 
Alan Watt: The Evolution of Australia Forei 

(Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 19 7 



CHAPI'ER ONE 

Auotralian Security in the Post-War World 

During the Second World War Australia had faoed for the first 

time a serious military threat. The protective umbrella of the 

British Imperial defence system had alone proved to be inadequate 

to safeguard Australia, but in any case the Labor Party, which 

had formed the government since 1941, was less prepared than its 

predecessors to accept a subordinate role within that system. 1 

However, the Labor GoYernment's foreign policy objectives in the 

post-war years were largely supported by the Opposition parties. 

The Minister for External Affairs, Dr Evatt, did come in for some 

criticism on the grounds that he paid insufficient attention to 
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the need to cooperate with the UK and that he overestimated the 

role which the United Nations might play in safeguarding Australian 

security, 2 but the difference between the Government and Opposition 

on foreign policy was one of emphasis rather than substance.3 

There was a consensus that Japan still represented the potentially 

most serious threat to Australia; it was also agreed that the most 

effective means for combatting any military threat would b0 to form 

a collective security pact with other nations interested in the 

1 
See Lloyd Rossa 'Some Factors in the Development of Labour's 

Foreign Policies', Australian Outlook, March 1949, pp. 32-46. 
2 

On Evatt's foreign policy see two collections of his speeches, 
The Foreign Policy of Australia (Angus and Robertson, Sydney, 1945) 
and Australia in World Affairs (Angus and Robertson, Sydney, 1946). 
3 
See G. Greenwood: 'Australia's Foreign Policy', Australian 

Outlook, March 1947, pp. 53-62. 
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western Pacific region. 1 The failure of the Labor Government to 

negotiate such a pact may not be attributed to ita lack of 

enthusiasm, for that was clearly in evidenca, 2 but rather to the 

lack of interest shown by the US, which was absorbed with events in 

Europe and retrenching her military forces.3 

In December 1949 the Labor Party suffered an electoral defeat 

and was replaced by a Liber~-Countr,y Party coalition government 

lad and dominated by the Prime :Minister, R.G.Menzies. 4 The new 

government had boon elected on a strongly anti-communist platform.5 

The hostility shown towards communism could be partly attributed 

to factors associated with domestic politics, for the Australian 

Communist Party was widely held to have been responsible for the 

considerable industrial disturbances experienced in Australia from 

1945 to 1949. But such hostility was, as one commentator has 

pointed out, inherent in 'the social character of the Australian 

community, which is petty-bourgeois, self-centred, sectional, small­

minded [and] tradition~lly xenophobic to a mild degree•. 6 Just as 

the now government adopted a more forceful anti-communist policy 

within Australia, 7 so communism came to be regarded as the most 

1 
See statements by Evatt, CPD,HR, vo1.190, 26 Feb 1947, p.166 ff; 

ibid., vol.196, 8 April 1948, p.747; ibid., vol.201, 9 Fob 1949, 
pp.85-7. For more detailed analyses see R.N.Rosecrancea ~\ustralian 
Diplomacy and Japan, 19!}5-51 (MUP, Melbourne, 1962); Henry s. 
Albinski: 'Australia's Search For Regional Security in South-East 
Asia', (Unpub. Ph.D. Thesis, University of Minnesota, 1959) pp.216-22; 
C.P.Fitzgerald: 'Australia and Asia', in G.Greenwcod and N.Harper 
(ods)l Australia in ~orld f~fairs, 1950-55 (Cheshire for AIIA, Sydney, 
1957) pp.201-2. 
2 
At ono stage it appears that Australia attempted to use its control 

ov0r Manus Island, which the US wished to use as a naval base, to 
manoeuvre the US into concluding a mutual defence agreement. See J.J. 
Dedmant 'Encounter Over Manus', Australian Outlook, Aug 1966, pp. 
135-53; Rosecrance: op.cit., Chapter Five; J.G.Starke: The ANZUS 
Treaty Alliance (MUP, Melbourne, 1965) pp.15-19. 
3 
See statements by the Prime Minister, B.J.Chifley, CPD,HR, vol.202, 

20 May 1949, p.129, and the US Secretary of State, Dean Acheson, !!!, 
19 May 1949. See also Leicester C.Webba 'Australia and SEATO', in 
G.Modelski (ed): SEATO& Six Studies (Cheshire for ANU, Melbourne, 
1962) pp.51-2; and Starke: op.cit., pp.1-26. 
4 
In 1963 he became Sir Robert Monzies. 

5 
R.G.Menziesa Joint Opposition Policy - 1919 (Sydney, 1949). 

6 
J. D. B. Miller: 'Communism and Australian Foreign Policy', in J. D. B. 

Miller and T.H.Rigby (eds): The Disintegrating Monolith (ANU Press, 
Canberra, 1965) p.220. 
7 
See Leicester C.Webb: Comrrunism and Democrac in Australia 

(Cheshire for JJru, Melbourne, 1954 for an account of the Government's 
unsuccessful efforts to have the Communist Party declared illegal. 



serious external threat to Australian security• Undoubtedly the 

commencement of the Cold War was influential in this process, but 
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of major significance was tho outbreak of the Korean War on 25 June 

1950. Within four days Australia had committed air and naval units 

to fighting alongside the Americans in support of South Korea. On 

26 July 1950 it was announced that Australia would also contribute 

ground forces. 1 The Korean War had serious repercussions on 

Australian foreign policy. It strengthened the Government's 

conviction that communism presented a S8rious threat in Asia 

generally and to Australia in particular, and events in Korea were 

regarded as a prologue to future communist aggression. 2 The Labor 

Party came to similar conclusions.} The Government became even more 

anxious to conclude a security treaty with the US, it increased 

defence expenditure and, following China's intervention in Korea, 

began to view China as the controlling power behind the communist 

threat to Australia. Together with the dissolution of the European 

empires in Asia and the political upheavals which followed, these 

events led to considerable anxiety within Australia about the 

country's security. Such tendencies in Australian attitudes and 

policies can oe illustrated by reference to three aspects of the 

country's foreign policyc the Japanese Peace Treaty, the ANZUS 

Treaty and SEATO. 

Rosecrance has described in some detail how Australian policy ' 

towards Japan after the war ~hifted from the most stringent 

repression of the Japanese to the most liberal restoration of 

Japanese sovereignty•. 4 That shift was a result of two factors& 

Japan was no longer regarded as the major threat to Australia,5 

and the US, which Australia estimated would bo the most likely 

guarantor of her integrity, was anxious, in the interests of global 

1 
Australia was the first country after the US to make such an 

announcement. 
2 
See broadcasts by Menzies, 20, 22 and 25 Sept 1950, CNIA, Sept 1950, 

pp. 658-69J and R.G.Caseya Friends and Neighbours (East Lansing, 
Michigan, 1958) pp. 75-87, where he discusses 'Is Communism A Threat 
To Australia?' 
3 
See statements by Chifley, CPD,HR,vol.20, 15 March 1949, p.1411, 

and Calwell, ibid., vol.211, 30 Nov 1950, p.3503. 
4 

Rosecrancec op.cit., p.242. 
5 

Casey argued that 'the immediate problem that we have to consider 
from the point of view of the s ecurity of Australia and the stability 
of Asia and the Pacific, is the security of Japan, even more than 
security against Japan', CPD,HR, vol. 216, 6 Feb 1952, p.24. 
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strategy, to rehabilitate a non-communist Japan. 1 Australia may 

have preferred a treaty restricting Japanese sovereignty but more 

important for Australian security would be the conclusion of a 

defence treaty with the US. In 1951 the US accepted Canberra's 

proposal and signed with Australia and New Zealand a mutual defence 

pact, popularly known as the ANZUS Treaty. ANZUS was in large 

measure 'the indispensable quid pro quo for Australian ratification 

of the Japanese peace treaty'. 2 ANZUS was the culmination of 

Australia's efforts to conclude mutual defence arrangements with the 

US. The treaty offered Australia US protection and access to US 

policy planning,3 and envisaged a moro oxtonsive regional collective 

security pact along tho lines of NAT0. 4 ANZUS, as the embodiment 

of Australia's reliance on the US, became the cornerstone of 

Australian dofonce and foreign policy.5 

Three years later, following the settlement at tho Geneva 

Conference of the problems posed by the defeat of the French in 

Indo-China, Australia joined Britain, the US, France, New Zealand, 

Pakistan, Thailand and the Philippines and on 8 September 1954 

signed a collective security treaty at Manila which led to the 

formation of the South East Asia Treaty Organisation. 6 The SEATO 

treaty was a result of events in Vietnam and was aimed primarily at 

combatting communism and China. As R.G.Casey, then Minister for 

External Affairs, admitted, 'the Australian Government quite frankly 

considers that ••• the primary purpose of the Treaty is to combat 

Communist expansion. This is also the view of the US Government•. 7 

1 
Caseys op.cit., pp.58-61. 

2 
Rosecrances loc.cit •• 

3 
Casey clearly recognised the importance of this issue, CPD,HR, 

vol.2, 27 Nov 1953, p.665. 
4 
For text of ANZUS see ..Q!!A, July 1951, pp.403-4; for reference 

to collective ·security system see preamble. 
5 
For more detailed examination of ANZUS see Starko: op.cit., 

pp.27-160; D.Sissons and N.Harper: Australia and the United Nations 
(AIIA, New York, 1959) p.125 ff; Casey: op.cit., pp.62-74; 
Fitzgerald: op.cit., pp.208-9; Albinski: op.cit., pp.266-302J 
G.Graenwood: 'The Commonwealth', and N.Harper: 'Australia and the 
United States', both in Greenwood and Harper (ads): op.cit.; Sir 
Alan Watta Australian Defence Policy 1951-63 (Dept.of Int~Rels., 
ANU 1964, mimeo) pp.1-27. 
6 
G.Modelski (ed): SEATO: Six Studies, remains the best treatment 

of SEATO. 
7 

Caseya op.cit., p.111. 
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But SEATO did not live up to the expectations of the Australian 

Government, which had been at the treaty's inception one of its 

keenest members: 1 the organisation's membership was not universal 

ru1d its existing members rarely agreed on concerted actionJ the 

treaty came in for criticism from the non-aligned states of the 
2 areaJ and, largoly duo to US opposition, no standing SEATO force 

was formod. 3 SEATO was the shadow of collective security without 

its substancea US power continued to bo tha dominant anti-communist 

force in tho region. In order to make the ~\TO commitment 

erodible, the US in 1962 issued what amounted to a unilateral 

guarantee to Thailand b,y declaring that in its interpretation the 

'Treaty obligation is individual as well as colleotive•. 4 For 

Australia SEATO provided a useful forum, the facade of collective 

seourity, and a US commitment to tho Asian mainland. It in no way 

superseded J~ZUS, but it did extend the US defence perimeter to 

Indo-China, a fact of some significance for subsequent Australian 

strategic planning. 

SEATO and the events which had preoedod and stimulated its 

'also brought fundamental changes in Australian defence formation 

polioy'.5 B,y 1954 it was cloRr that Canberra felt that communism, 

directed from Peking, posed a serious threat to Australian saourity. 6 

Australia's oagernoss to form S~\TO reflected her foar that 

communism would advance towards Australia through Southeast Asia, 

successively absorbing each stato by subversion and infiltrations7 

1 
See Webb: op.cit., Watts op.cit., pp.28-48. 

2 
See Rosemary Brissondena 'India, Neutralism and SEATO', in 

Modolski: op.cit •• 
3 
Seo statement by US Secretary of State, John Dulles, that 'tho 

United States opposed chopping up and segregating these [US] forces 
by allocation to South East Asia. The United States prefers to have 
mobile power to use anywhere at short notice when needed',~' 
Fob 1955, p.121. 
4 

The Dean Rusk - Thanat Khoman Joint Statement, Washington, 6 March 
1962, Modelskia op.cit., pp.293-4. See also Donald E. Naachterlein: 
Thailand and the Struggle for South East Asia (Ithaca, New York 
Cor.nell U.P., 1965) pp.228-35. 
5 

Webb: op.cit., p.78. 
6 
For an extensive treatment of this subjoct seo Henry S. Albinskis 

Australian Policies and Attitudes Toward China (Prinoeton 
University Press, 1965). 
1 

CPD,HR, vol.6, 27 April 1955, pp.205-11. (Statement by Casey). 
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without SEATO, Casey argued, those states 'would have fallen ono by 

one, like ripe plums 1 •
1 This imago, widely held in Australia, of 

communism and Chinese influence s eeping southward,2 provoked a 

countervailing conception of Australia's defence strategy best 

represented by the phrase 'defence in depth'. 3 As Sir Pl:ilip 

McBride, then Minister for Defence, argued, Australia must be 

prepared 

to hold off the Communists at the farthest point 
advantageous to us, and we must consolidate our 
strength there as quickly as possible •••• It is a 
matter of vital importance to maintain the gap 
between Australia and the present highwater mark 
of the southward flow of communism. 4 

This strategy was to be pursued in two wayss the use in Asia of 

Australia's own military capacity, and cooperation with Australia's 

allies. Australia also hoped to tie her powerful allies, 

particularly the US, to specific commitments to the region between 

herself and China, for Australia's own defence forces wore of little 

strategic consequence. 

The Labor Government had allowed the large war time military 

establishment to run down considerably, and on coming to office 

the Menzios Government announced that the defence forces would be 

substantially increased.5 During the Korean War those forces were 

indeed strengthened and in the financial year 1952-3 5.1 per cont 
6 of the Australian National Income was spent on defence. In 1954 

McBride announced that the Government was implementing the policy 

of the 'long haul' to make the country prepared for the outbreak 

of war.7 In fact during the following eight years Australian 

expenditure on defence remained roughly constant at about £190 

million per annum and as a per centago of the National Income 

1 
Ibid., p.207. 

2 
See statements by Casey, CPD,HR, vol.23, 23 April 1959, pp.1513-21, 

and 29 June 1959, CNIA, June 1959, pp.335-9· 
3 
CPD,HR, vo1.5, 28 Sept 1954, p.1630. 

4 
Ibid •• 

5 
CPD, Senate, vol.206, 22 Fob 1950, p.7. 

6 
T.B.Millars Australia's Defence (MUP, Melbourne, 1965) p.172, for 

table giving Australia's expenditure on defence forces 1945-64. 
1 
See statements by McBride, 11 April 1954, ~' April 1954, p.2S8 

ff, and CPD,HR, vo1.5, 28 Sept 1954, p.1629 ff. 



12 

declined to 2.7. 1 If Australia was seriously concerned about 

threats to her security during this period she gave little 

indication of seriously preparing to resist them herself. McBride 

gave some indication of the reasons for this when he argued that 

'we have a domestic problem which is peculiar to any young and 

developing country. It is the reoonciliation of the demands of 

defence preparedness with those of national devolopment•. 2 In 

1957 Monzies explained tho rationale of Australian defence policy. 3 

He argued that while ~ global conflict was unlikely, limited 

conflicts could be expected to break out at any time, particularly 

in Southeast Asia. Australia intended to maintain a highly trained, 

well equipped and mobile force that could intervene in such 

conflicts and help prevent limited aggression. She would do this 

largely in concort with the US and would seek to coordinate her 

policy planning with that of ~ashington. As one commentator 

astutely observed: 

the strategic role for which Australia prepares 
itself is a role in the Cold War and limited wars. 
It provides for the type of forces that give it a 
voice in Cold War alliances and that can play a 
useful role in :Putting out brushfires (but not in 
defending Australia itself) 4 

In other words, as for most small powers, Australian security was 

dependent less on military planning than foreign policy.5 In 

exchange for US protection Australia would provide support for 

1 
Millar: loc.cit •• 

2 
Statement of 11 April 1954, ~' April 1954, p.289. 

3 
~~B,vol.14, 4 April 1957, pp.571-79. See also statement by 

Athol Townley, then Minister for Defence, ibid., vol.25, 26 Nov 
1959, pp.3183-91, and Casey, CNIA, Doe 1957,pp.964-5. 
4 

B.B.Schafferr 'Policy and System in Dofense: the Australian Case', 
World Politics, Jan 1963, p.238. Emphasis added. 
5 
Modelski: op.cit., p.6, comments that Australia and Now Zealand 
'are small states amiably dependent upon the great powers for their 
independent survival'. 
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Americ?.~ policies elsewhere in the region. 

The Menzies Government }Ublicly admitted that it viewed 

Australian security as being dependent largely upon the actions of 

its 'great friends and allios 11 and that 'we in Australia have 

relied not on our own strength alone, but pri~~rily on combined 

efforts with our friends 1 •
2 On ono occ~sion Menzios expressed this 

sentiment in a more forthright f e.shion z 'True , Australia is an 

independent nation and h~s a perfect right to oxpress its views 

whatever the result •••• But tho f act i s that wo are not truly 

independent, except in legal t erms'.3 

Australia had accepted th~t her security was dependent upon 

US policies end sought to ensure that the US pursued policies, in 

Southeast Asia in particular, which were consonant with .Australian 

desires. As in the pro-war imperial system when Australia could 

be most influeutial by seeking to affect British policy, so in the 

1950s the Monzies Government concluded that it was through 

Washington that its influence cculd be most effectively assortod. 4 

Contemporaneously Australian policy towards Britain and her 

Southeast Asian colonies developed. During the inter-war years 

Australian defence strategy had boon largely dependent upon a 

British presence in tho region. In 1923 the British had begun 

to construct at Singapore a naval base which Australia had regarded 

as 'essential for ensuring the mobility necossar,y to provide for 

the security of the territories [including Australia] and trade of 

the Empire in Eastern w~ters'.5 Subsequent Australian policy 

rested on the assumption thnt in the event of w~r a British Fleet 

1 
CPD,HR, vol.6, 20 April 1955, p.49 (statement by Menzies). 

2 
Caseyi op.cit., p.16. Similarly Menzios referred to 'our friends, 

without whose help we cnnnot hope to maintain our freedom against 
a major challenge', 'The Pacific Settlement As Seen From Australia', 
Foreign Affairs, Jan 1952, p.195. 
3 
~' 31 July 1958. 
4 
See Caeey: op.cit., pp.15-16, cmd statements by Casey ~' 

Dec 1957, p.140, and CPD,HR, vo1.2, 27 Nov 1953, pp.663-5 .. 
5 
·commonwealth of Australia, Parliamenta;y Papers, General Session 

1923, vol.II, p.62~ ff, The Imperial Conference of 1923, Summary 
of Proceedings, p •• 
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would be stationed at that base. 1 Despite the collapse of Singapore 

in 1942 and the ALP's pre-war disinclination to rely on British 

defence assistance, the Chifley Government was clearly affected by 

the long standing notion of imperial defence. Thus at the 

Commonwealth Prime Ministers Conference in London, May 1946, 

Chifley reported~ 

I told the Conference ••• tha t the approach to a 
common scheme of defence f or this ar ea should 
be by agreement between the United Kingdom, 
Australia and New Zealand, and thereafter with 
the United States of America and later with other 
nations •••• It was agreed that this matter should 
be examined by tho Governments concerned. 2 

But the US was not prepared at t hat stage to become involved. 

Three years later, Chifley indicated that the Commonwealth countries 

had acted alone: 

In cooperation with the British and New Zealand 
Governments, Australia has made appropriate 
arrangements whereby Britain and Now Zealand 
are represented in the Australian Government 
machinery •••• Planning for the Pacific area is 
thus proceeding. 3 

This was the first clear intimation of what later came to be known 

as the ANZAM arrangoment. 4 

The ANZAM arrangement has not been fully explained publicly 

but some relevant statements have boon made. In 1950 Monzios 

conceded that his Government intended to implement 

1 

a decision t~ken by the previous Government in May 
1948 to authorioo strategic plaru1ing to be developed 
on the official level through the Australian defence 
machinery in conjunction with representatives of the 
United Kingdom and New Zealand for the regional 
defence of the South-West Pacific area, the 
boundaries of which include Malaya. 5 

Seo the accounts in the official histories of World War IIa 
Paul Haslucka The Government and the Peo le 1 1 (Canberra, 
Australian War Memorial, 1952 ; G.H.Gilla The Ro~al Australian 
Nayy, 1939-42 (Canberra, Australian War Memorial, 1957 pp.36:42; 
and S.Woodbum Kirbya The War Against Japan, vol.I, The Loss of 
Singapore (London, HMSO, 1957) pp.1-22. 
2 

CPD,HR, vol.187, 19 June 1946, pp.1559-60. 
3 
Broadcast of 15 May 1949, CNIA,May 1949, p.645. See also statement 

by J.J.Dedman, Minister for Defence, CPD,HR, vo1.196, 29 April 
1948, p.1251. 
4 
Standing, presumably, for Australia, New Zealand and the British 

forces in the Malayan area, the abbreviation appears to have come 
into use about 1954. 
5 

CPD,HR, vol.208, 31 May 1950, pp.364-5. 



According to the findings of a semi-official British study group 

published in 1956, 1 this agreement on defence coordination was 

later extended to cover an obligation to Malaya's defence about 

1954 or 1955. 2 
In 1963 the Chief of Imperial General staff, 

General Sir Richard Hull, then in Canberra for an ANZAM m8eting, 

said that 

ANZAM was not a treaty ••• but a term used to denote 
consultative arrangements for coordinating the 
defence interests of Australia, New Zealand and 
the United Kingdom •••• No formal document of any 
kind existed •••• It covered no precise area but 
related naturally to common defence interests in 
this part of the world. 3 

The Australian commitment to Malaysia evolved from an obligation 

originally accepted by Chifley. 4 

The decision to originate ANZAM coincided with the beginning 

of guerrilla activity in Malaya but preceded the announcement of 

the Emergency Regul~tions by one month.5 Although the ALP had 

boon prepared to establish ANZAM it did not want to commit 
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Australian forces to fighting in tho Emergency. The Liberal Party 

was less equivocal and Harrison, while Acting Leader of the 

Opposition, criticised the Labor Government's non-intorventio~ist 

policy, complaining that 'whilst in Malaya some definite action is 

being taken, we in Australia are taking no action•. 6 This difference 

of approach became apparent with the change of government in 1949. 

In early 1950 rumours began to circulate to the effect that 

Australia waa considering assisting Britain in Malaya,7 but the 

Government at first refused to be drawn on the issuo,8 despite the 

approval expressed by some of its backbench supporters for such 

1 
Collective Security in South East Asia (RIIA, OUP, 1956) p.20. 

The group included Senior British Service personnel. 
2 
Bee infra, pp.17-8. 

3 
C.Times, 28 Feb 1963. 

4 
See Watts op.cit., pp.49-55; and Millara op.cit., pp.69-76 and 

diagram, p.96. 
5 

See Richard Clutterbucka The Long, Long War (Cassel, London, 1967) 
pp.25-41. 
6 

CPD,HR, vol.197, 16-17 June 1948, p.2115. 
1 

CPD, Senate, vol.207, 19 April 1950, p.1501 (O'Sullivan); CPD,HR, 
vol.207, 19 April 1950, p.1566,and Adjour.rrment Debate pp.1620-1; 
ibid., 2 May 1950, p.2063. 
8 
Ibid., vol. 206 , 22 March 1950~ p.1052 (Menzies); ibid., vo1.207, 

19 April 1950, p.1566 (Menzies); ibid., 21 April 1950, p.1773 
(Menzias). 



action. 1 The Government did admit, however, that it regarded 

Malaya as being 'of vital concern to the security of Australia'.
2 
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It also declared that 'there is a general movement of Communist 

activity ••• in a south-easterly diraction ••• [constituting] a grave 

threat to the safety of Australia•, 3 and that 'events in Malaya are, 

of course, R part of the global pattern of imperialistic communist 

aggression'.4 The J~P mado no secrot of its opposition to tho 

despatch of Australian forces to Malaya.5 (Two of its leading 

members later ~rgued that the insurrection was a result of rural 

poverty rather than communist agitation.) 6 Then on 31 May 1950 

Menzies revealed that tho Government had bden considering a request 

from the UK for assistance from the RAAF, and that Cabinet had 

decided to station a squadron of Dakotas on active duty in Malaya. 

He specifically denied that any other request had boon mado. 7 

Within a month the Korean War broke out and Australia's attention 

and energies were focused olsowhero. Until 1955 tho British fought 

almost alone in Malaya and by that time had largely suppressed 

the revolt. 8 

The yoars 1954 and 1955 witnessed considerable changes in 

Australian defence strategy: Southeast Asia came to be regarded as 

the region most vital to Australian defence, and Australia for the 

first time stationed forces overseas in peacetime9 in order, the 

Government declared, to assist in the defence of that region. 

1 
Ibid., vol.206, 22 March 1950, p.1052 (Kent-Hughes); ibid., vol. 

207, 9 May 1950, p.2252 (Byan) and p.2266 (Swartz). 
2 
Ibid., vo1.207, 20 April 1950, p.1685 (Spender). 

3 
Ibid., 19 May 1950, p.2741 (Menzies). 

4 
Ibid., vol.208, 30 May 1950, p.3350 (Menzies). 

5 
Ibid., ·~ol.207, 19 April 1950, p.1566 (Ward), pp.1622-3 (Clyde 

Cameron); ibid., Senate, vol.2C7, 26 April 1950, pp.1792-3 (McKenn8.). 
6 

CPD,HR, vol.208, 8 June 1950, pp.4031-5 (Ward), pp.4050-1 (Chifloy). 
1 
Ibid., 31 May 1950, pp.3464-65. The request was probably made by 

the British Commissioner-General in South East Asia, Mr Maloolm 
MacDonald,during a visit to Australia. 
8 
See Clutterbuck: op.cit •• 

9 
Apart from Occupation Forces. 
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Following the Geneva Conference, the Australian Government indicated 

that it was contemplating such revisions of its strategic planning. 

On 5 August 1954 Monzias said that his Government did not preclude 

the idea that Australian forces might be permanently stationed 

oversaas, 1 and four days later the Minister for the Army, Mr Francis, 

announced that Australia was raorianting her strategic planning and 

considered Southeast Asia to be the most likely area in which 

Australian forces would be involved in military operations. 2 In 

November the British Commissipner-Genaral to Southeast Asia, 

MalcolmMaoDonald, visited Australia accompanied by British Service 

Chiafs, 3 and it was reported that the UK was prossing Australia to 

contribute to a strategic reserve to be basad in Malaya. 4 Such 

reports aroused some comment in Australia,5 where the withdrawal of 

the Australian battalion from Korea appeared to suggest that it 

might be redeplo.yed. 6 
1lil Opinion Poll taken in Februar,y 1955 

indicated that 60 per cent of Australians would support the despatch 

of troops to Malaya and only 22 per cent would oppose it.7 

In February 1955 the Commonwealth Prime Ministers Conference 

was held in London amid renewed reports of British requests for 

an Australian militar,y presence in Malaya. 8 The ANZAM powers 

conferred separately ir. London and on 8 February issued a statement 

revealing that 'the opportunity was taken to discuss as one element 

in the defence of the Manila Treaty area, the security of Malaya 1 .9 

The following day Menzies clarified this statement, saying that 

1 
CPD,HR, vol.4, 5 Aug 1954, pp.63-9. 

2 
SMH, 10 Aug 1954. 

3 
The Commander in Chief of British Far East Land Forces, Sir Charles 

Loawan, and the Commander in Chief of the Far East Royal Navy 
Station, Admiral Sir Charles Lamba. 
4 
§M!!, 16 NovJ ST, 24 Nov 1954. The New Zealand Prima Minister, 

Mr Holland, who received a similar British dalagation ~ latar 
appeared to substantiate these reports, Dominion, 13 Jan 1955. 
5 
Age, 19 Dec 1954; statement by the RSL, SMH, 6 Dac 1954. 

6 --
Statement by McBride, CPD,HR, vo1.4, 14 Sapt 1954,p.1182. 

7 
Austr a lian P ubl1-c O~l~l2~-E2~~. Feb-Marc h 1 9 5 5 . 

8 
ST, 4 Feb; SMH, 31 Jan. 

9 
~' Fob 1955, p.116. 



Australia 

is willing to accept obligations in that part of 
the world [Southeast Asia]. But again I want to 
point out that it does not yet appear how far 
SEATO will have RnY military planning attached to 
it. Great Britain, New Zealand end Australia have, 
in the meantime, thought it proper to conduct 
discussions with oach other on what is tho more 
limited field of Mal~a. 1 
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It appeared that Australia preferred to have any standing force 

associated with SEJ~TO and so, at least indirectly, under US 

auspicos. 2 This interpretation seemed to be justified when it was 

announced, almost concurrently, that Menzies was to visit the US, 

on his way back to Australia, to discuss Western strategy. 3 However, 

before the Prime Minister arrived in the US, Dulles publicly 

revealed that the US was opposed to standing SEt~TO force.4 

The New Zealand Government was less reticent about these 

activities. Immediately upon his return to Wellington on 24 March 

the Prime Minister, Mr Holland, told Parliament that, following . 
suggestions by the UK, New Zealand had decided to contribute three 

frigates and a commando group5 to a strategic reserve to be based 

in Mal~a. The reserve's functions would be to establish a 

'defence perimeter' to the north of Australia, to fight the 

terrorists, and to defend Malaya. 6 He admitted that the force was 

not 'associated with SEAT0'.7 Almost no criticism of the decision 

was voiced in Parliament. 

The Australian Government was 1noro circumspect in its approach 

to tho matter. This may have been partly due to the indications 

that the ALP would be vociferously hostile to a significant 
8 Australian military contribution to Malaya, particularly since in 

1 
Ibid. , P• 117. 

2 
Seo statement by Casey, 7 Feb 1955, CNIA, Feb 1955, p.118. 

3 
SMH, 9 Fobe 

4 
Dulles statement of 23 Fob at inaugural SEATO meeting. See P•10, 

supra, note 3· 
? 

RNZAF units were already in Mal~a. 
6 

NZPD, vo1.305, 24 March 1955, pp.10-26. 
7 
Ibid., 29 March 1955, p.40. 

8 . 
See statement by Calwell, then Deputy Leader of the ALP, CPD,HR, 

vo1.4, 10 Aug 1954, p.129. 
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early March the party's biennial conference at Hobart had declared 

that 'Labor policy is to oppose the use of Armed Forces in Malaya•. 1 

Also influential, no doubt, w~s the Government's determination to 

coordinate Australian policy with that of the us. 
On 25 March Monzies returned to Australia after a week of 

discussions in the US. On 1 April, following a two-day Cabinet 

review, he issued a statement on dofence. 2 He emphasised th~t the 

Government viewed China as the major threat to Southeast Asian and 

Australian security and felt that 'if thoro is to be a war for our 

existence it should be carried out as far from our shores as possible'. 

With this in mind, he argued, 

if Malaya is vital to our defence, mora vital 
properly understood than some points on the 
Australian coast, then we must make Malayan 
defence in a real sense our business •••• 
Australia will participate in the establishment 
in Malaya, as a vocy important :part of tho Manila 
Treaty area ••• a strategic reserve. 

Australia's contribution to that reserve would be two destroyers 

or frigates and an annual visit by an aircraft carrier, an infantry 

battalion, and one fighter and two bomber squadrons. 

On 20 April in a statement to Parliamont, 3 Menzies elaborated 

on the Government's plans. Having sot out the principles and 

objectives of Australian foreign policy he reiterated the argument 

that 'we [in Australia should] commit ourselves with our great 

friends and allies to mutual action and reciprocal obligations', 

and explained that 'troops in Malaya will represent a true defence 

in depth for Australia itself'. The Prime Minister revealed that 

the SEATO Secretariat had been informed of the Australian decision 

to contribute to the strategic reserve and had welcomed the 

decision. He continued that at the Commonwealth Conference he had 

said that 'Australian opinion would wish some adequate confidence 

that British forces would have support from the USA'. He had gone 

to the US to seek assurances of such support and President 

Eisenhower and Mr Dulles, the Secretary of State, had agreed on a 

1 
Labor's Plan For World Peace: Declarations and Decisions of the 

Hobart Conference (ALP, 1955). 
2 

CNIA, April 1955, pp.278-80. 
3 

CPD,HR, vol.6, 20 April 1955, pp.44-54. 



statement which Menzies read in full. Its most important section 

read a 

I raised the question whether in the event of Great 
Britain, Australia and New Zealand undertaking to 
establish substantial forces in Malaya, we could be 
assured that the United States would be prepared to 
give us effective cooperation. I was informed that 
though the tactical employment of forces was a matter 
which would have to be worked out in detail on the 
Services level, the United States considered that 
such effective cooperation wa.s implicit in the 
Manila Pact. 
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The force would form the nucleus of 'substantially greater forces', 

probably of the order of two divisions, which Australia would 

contribute to tho Southeast Asian theatre in the event of a 

'"hot" war'. 

On 27 April 1955 Dr Evatt1 opened tho Parliamentar.y debate on 

Menzies' statement. In accordance with Labor's policy he opposed 

the despatch of Australian troops to Malaya. Labor's objections 

were extensive and included contentions that the decision would 

exacerbate the Emergency, 2 injure Australia's image in Asia, 3 incur 

Malayan disapproval,4 and be strategically disadvantageous for, as 

in 1942, the Australian forces could be isolated. Perhaps most 

telling was the criticism that the Government had not clearly 

defined the role which the reserve would play but had merely by 

implication contended that it was related to SEAT0.5 

Unlike the New Zealand Government, the Australian Government had 

not explained the purpose of the Commonwealth Strategic Reserve, 

The Prime Minister had made passing reference to the issue on 20 

April saying, 

I have been asked whether this reserve is to be employed 
in anti-Communist operations. Following ~ discussions 
in London, the 'ANZAM' Defence Committee was directed 
to produce a draft for the consideration of the three 
Governments. This is now awaited. 6 

If such a draft was ever produced its findings were not made public. 

1 
Then Leader of the Opposition. 

2 
CPD,HR, vol.6, 27 April 1955, p.197 (Evatt). 

3 
Ibid., p.200 (Evatt); ibid., 3 May,p.351. 

4 
Ibid., 28 April, p.293 (Clyde Cameron), p.282 (Costa), 5 May, 

p.507 ff (Ward). 
5 
Ibid., 27 April 1955, p.202 (Evatt). 

6 
Ibid., 20 April, p.51. 
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On 16 June, after a Cabinet meeting, Menzies did reveal, however, 

that Australian forces 'will, like the United Kingdom and New 

Zealand components of the strategic reserve, be available for use 

in operations against Communist terrorists'• 1 But, as Sir Alan 

Watt comments, 'for the rest Government statements have been 

ambiguous if not contradictor,y•. 2 The Govornment continued to 

imply that the forces were part of a SEATO reserve, but was anxious 

to dissociate itself from the opinion of a visiting British 

Service Chief that 'they could be used anywhere in Southeast Asia, 

not only against the terrorists in Malaya•. 3 

The contradictory natura of the Government's statemc.mts on the 

subject is clearly revealed by examining two answers to Parliamentary 

questions given by Francis. On 31 August 1955 he was asked whether 

the Australian forces could be used anywhere in Southeast Asia. 

He replied that the function of the approximately 1400 Australian 

servicemen was 'to assist in dealing with Communist terrorists in 

Malaya•. 4 Eight days later, asked whether the Australian forces 

would return to Australia at the and of the Emergency, the Minister 

replied that although they had been made available to fight the 

terrorists, 'the primary purpose of our sending forces to Malaya 

is to contribute our share to the British Commonwealth Strategic 

Reserve' .5 

The Commonwealth Strategic Reserve, as Manzies later emphasised, 6 

was not based in Malaya merely to combat the guerrillas, 'they went 

there ••• as a contribution to the defence of the South-East Asian 

area'.7 In other words they wore there for SEATO purposes if not 

under SEATO auspices. 8 But Australia could not specifically 

designate the reserve a SEATO force, largely due to the antipathy 

1 
~' June 1955, p.419. 

2 
Watt& op.cit., pp.55-6. The fact that Sir Alan Watt was once 

Permanent Socrataey to the Department of External Affairs and in 
1955 Australian Commiseionol'-General in Southeast Asia, based in 
Singapore, lends authority to his account. 
3 
Statement by !lajol'-General Churchill, .!82, 5 July 1955J rebuttal 

by McBride, ~' 6 July 1955. 
4 

CPD,HR, vol.7, 31 Aug 1955, p.201. 
5 
Ibid., vol.?, 7 Sapt 1955, p.478. 

6 
Ibid., vol.40, 25 Sept 1963, p.1338·. 

7 
Ibid~. 

8 
See Chapter Three, infra, p.67 ff. 
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expressed to that organisation in Malaya. 1 Yet in order to gain 

support for its policy within Australia and to explain its own 

conception of the reserve's functions, the Menziee Government by 

implication linked the reserve and SEATOJ it did eo imprecisely 

in order to avoid embarrassing the Malayan Government. 

On 31 August 1957 Malaya became independent. The ruling 

Alliance Government had already announced that it would not join 

SEAT0, 2 but it concluded a bilateral defence treaty with the UK. 

The treaty permitted the British forces to remain in Malaya but 

was not specific as to whether they would be allowed to operata 

freely throughout the region. 3 However, as Watt points out, the 

treaty did not exclude such oparations. 4 On 19 September 1957 

Menzies expressed Australian approval of the treaty which would 

allow the Commonwealth Strategic Reserve to remain in Malaya to 

combat the guerrillas, defend Malaya and be 'constantly related to 

SEATO defence'.5 Three months later Casey revealed that Australia 

intended to associate hersolf with the treaty by exchange of notes 

with KUala Lumpur. 6 

Soon after its arrival in Malaya the Australian battalion was 

involved in operations against the guerrillas, and in 1958 it was 

joined by one bomber and two fighter squadrons of the RAAF. 7 On 

31 July 1960 the Emergency was officially ended and the Australian 

infantr,y battalion moved to the permanent base for the 28th 

Commonwealth Brigade near Malacca. On 1 September 1960 Tow.nley 

1 
Utusan Melayu, 5 July and 15 Nov 1955 in Weekly Digest of the , 

Non-English Press (WDNEP) 27/55 and ;1,.6/55J statements by Inche S'::e.,...~. 
bin Abdul Rahman, Secretar,y-General of the United Malaya National 
Organisation, .§!!!, 16 Sept 1955; Utusan Zaman, Malaya Merdeka, 
18 Sept 1955, WDNEP, 38/55; statement by the People's Action Party, 
WDNEP, 46/55. . 
2 
L.KUlasingham: 'Recent Growth of Australia's Interests in Malaya' 

(B.A.Thesis, Adelaide University, 1958) pp.42-4. 
3 
The treaty was concluded on 12 October 1957. See Appendix One 

for text, and Chapter Three, infra, for more detailed investigation. 
4 
Watt: op.cit., pp.58-6o. 

5 
CPD,HR, vol.16, 19 Sept 1957, pp.794-8o1. 

6 
Ibid., vol.17, 5 Doe 1957, p.2919. See AppEndix Two for text 

of tho notes. 
1 
Ibid., vol.18, 12 Feb 1958, p.12 (Governor-General's speech). 
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revealed that the Australian contingent in Malaya consisted of two 

RAN destroyers with 500 crew members, an infantry battalion of 

1,240 man, and one Canberra and two Sabre squadrons with 800 RAAF 

personnel at the Butterworth base. He said that those forces were 

there to fight the guerrillas and to meet an 'emergency'. 1 In 1962 

it became apparent what Townley included within the te~. In 
response to a request from Thailand, following Pathet Lao successes 

in Laos, and in concert with US forces, Commonwealth forces were 

sent to Thailand. The Malayan Government would not allow the 

Australian contingent, a squadron of Sabres, to operate from Malaya 

in fulfilment of Australia's SEATO obligations,2 so the RAAF force 

was redeployed in Singapore and then sent to Ubon.3 

Australia's contribution to the Commonwealth Strategic Reserve 

epitomised Australian defence strategy in the 1950s. Canberra 

envisaged communism moving in 1a southeasterly direction' towards 

Australia by a series of limited wars of aggression either on the 

Korean or Malayan pa.ttem. China was seen as being the controlling 

power behind this communist aggression and any strengthening of 

communist (or sometimes left wing) parties in Southeast Asia 

ipso facto an extension of Chinese influence. Australia sought to 

counter this perceived threat by establishing an outer defence 

perimeter in Southeast Asia and by committing her mora powerful 

allies, particula~ly the US and the UK, to its preservation. By 

the mid-1950s the US was regarded as Australia's most important 

allya ANZUS represented the US commitment to the defence of 

Australia, SEATO the US commitment to Australia's forward defence 

perimeter. Australia's relationship with the UK existed within 

that framework and centred on the Malayan area. The Commonwealth 

Strategic Reserve, it was hoped in Australia, would encourage a 

continuing British presence in the region, provide a mobile 

force for use in Southeast Asia, possibly in cooperation with the 

US, and demonstrate Australia's worth as an ally of the major 

Westam powers. 

Australia's activities and intentions in Southeast Asia were 

of two kindsa she was prepared to help defend states against 

aggression, as in the case of South Korea, and to defend governments 

against revolts, particularly when these were seen as being communist 

1 
Ibid., vol.28, 1 Bept 1960, p.773. 

2 
Times, 21 May 1962. 

3 
Ibid., 29 May. See Donald E. Nauchterleina Thailand and the 

Struggle for Southeast Asia, p.182 ff. 
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inspired, as in the case of Malaya. These long-term strategic 

considerations, coupled with Australia's small defence forces and 

her heavy reliance on her allies, could involve considerable 

difficulties. It was always possible that the US and the UK with 

their extensive interests elsewhere might devote less attention to 

events in Southeast Asia than Australia thought desirable, and 

indeed might liquidate their commitments in the region. Conversely, 

Australia, by virtue of her subordinate position within the 

alliances, might be drawn into commitments and activities not 

immediately in her best interests or be forced to abandon interests 

which she considered important owing to lack of support from her 

'powerful friends'. 1 Again, military commitments to the states of 

Southeast Asia could involve difficulties owing to the fluid 

political conditions existing in the area. While it might be 

accepted that a government may request aid to assist in resisting 

aggression, in Southeast Asia in particular it might well prove 

difficult to decide if it has the authcrity to make such a request. 

The distinction between 'indirect aggression' and indi~ous revolt 

(be it communist or not), is often difficult to establish. Even 

with regard to the Malayan Emergency these problems are not easily 

resolved. The guerrillas were not the manifestation of external 

aggression (unless the export of ideas be so regarded) and yet 

their suppression b,y the colonial powor might be deserving of 

support, largely because of the plural .L. 1 nature of Malayan 

society. The guerrillas were almost entirely Chinese and their 

revolt largely an expression, overs8as, of the nationalism of the 

New China. Their success would have been incompatible with the 

harmonious development of an independent and multi-racial Malaya. 

That the Australian support for their suppression was explained 

in terms of communist aggression only demonstrated the possibilities 

of the West incorrectly interpreting apparently similar revolts 

which might be indigenous and popular. 

The defeat of the Malayan insurgents by the late 1950s did not 

mark the end of the ambitions of the left wing Chinese in the area. 

In 1959 Singapore achieved internal self-government and it was not 

clear whether Chinese similarly oriented to the Malayan insurgents 

would, perhaps by constitutional means, assume power in the city 

state. Largely as a consequence of this possibility the Federation 

of Malaysia was created. Australia's policy towards the creation 

of that Federation and its subsequent development, reflected the 

difficulties inherent in the strategies which Canberra had 

developed in the 1950s. 

1 
See Hanno Weisbrods 'Sir Garfield Barwick and futch Now Guinea', 

Australian Quarterly, June 1967, pp.24-36, and Chapter Four, 
infra, pp.108-14,for the application of this possibility. 
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CHAPl'ER TWO 

The Malaysia Plan 

On 16 September 1963 tho Federation of Malaya joined with the 

British colonies of Singapore, Sarawak and Sabah1 to form the 

Federation of Malaysia. The most obvious faotor which these 

territories had in common was the heritage of British imperialism, 

involving various shared and common institutions. In the long run 

a second common denominator was perhaps more importanta the 

existonce .within each state of substantial Chinese communities, 

proportionately larger than in any other Southeast Asian country. 

Each state was socially pluralista the resultant Federation was 

a jigsaw of racial diversity. Australia's policy towards Malaysia 

cannot adequately be analysed without an understanding of the 

rationale behind the creation of Malaysia, the reasons for its 

internal tensions and the evolution of its dispute with Indonesia. 

Table 1: The Chinese in Southeast Asia, 1960* 

Total population (OOOs) Chinese :~p.1lation (OOOs) Chinese percen'\agoa 

Burma 
Thailand 
N. Vietnam 
s. Vietnam 
Cambodia 
Laos 
Malaya 
Singapore 
Sarawak 
Sabah 
Brunei 
Indonesia 
Philippines 

TO'l'AL 

20,662 

t.m 
14,214 
5,347 
1,805 
6,909 
1,634 

.ill 
1j 

93,506 
27,087 

214,618 

350 
2,670 

55 
800 
350 

35 
2,552 
1,230 

236 
.1SM 

21 
2,690 

181 

11,274 

a Census figures underlined, others are estimates 
* Source, Victor Purcell t Tho Chinese in South East Asia 

(OUP, London, 1965) p.3. 

1.7 
9.0 
0.4 
5.7 
6.5 
2.0 

36.9 
75.2 
31.1 
23.0 
26.0 

3.0 
0.5 

British involvement in Malaya began in the late eighteenth 

and early nineteenth centuries with the establishment of the 

1 
Sabah was known as North Borneo until it was incorporated in 

Malaysia. For simplicity the term Sabah has been used throughout 
except in references. 
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Straits Settlements at Penang, Malacca and Singapore• The small 

native populations of these trading stations were rapidly 

outnumbered by Chinese immigrants, most seeking their fortunes in 

commerce. The remainder of the peninsula was organised as Islamic 

Sultanates, populated almost exclusively by Malaya and feudal in 

character. 1 Only in the 1870s did the British intervene in the 

affairs of these states, justifying their intervention by referring 

to the prevailing conditions of near-anarchy which threatened 

British trading interests. 2 During the following forty years 

British influence was extended throughout the peninsula by the 

establishment of indirect rule which involved the appointment of 

a British Adviser to each Sultan. The significance of this system 

was that while the Adviser wielded effective power the legality 

of the Sultans' sovereignty was maintained. The extension of 

British influence to the Malay states brought with it, as to the 

Straits Settleme~ts, the influx of non-Mal~ Asian immigrants, 

predominantly Chinese. It was largely these immigrants who 

developed the primary industries of Malaya, notably rubber planting 

and tin-mining. By the second decade of the twentieth century 

the essential characteristics of modern Malayan society had been 

established: Malaya were not a majority of the populationJ among 

Asians it was non-Malays who dominated the monetary econo~J and 

the urban areas were predominantly non-Malay. But for the British, 

'Malaya was a ••• "Malay country" governed in trust for its people', 3 

the Malaya. 

1 
Radin Soe narno:.'Malay Nationalism, 1900-45', JSEAH, March 
1960, p.1. 
2 
See C.Northcote Parkinsonc British Intervention in Mal 

(Singapore, University of Malaya Press, 19 0 ; C.D.Cowanc 
Nineteenth Century Malaya (OUP, London, 1961 • Perhaps an equally 
important factor is indicated in the following passage from 
Parkinson,p.255c 

••• the soldiers of 1875 went out in search of armed conflict. 
At that time however there had been no real war since that 
in the Crimea •••• Fortunate were they who could boast of 
their deeds during the Indian Mutiny. At the least hint of 
a campaign the less fortunate would rush to the scene from 
all points of the compass, sword in hand and eager for 
decorations. 

3 
Victor Purcell: Ma.la.yac CoiiliDlnist or Free? ( Gollanoz, London, 

1954) p.165. See also R.N.Jackson: Immigrant Labour and the 
Development of Malaya (Govt. Printer, Kuala Lumpur, 1961). 
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Table 2a Mala,y;a and Singa:eore 1 Po:e!lation Growth and Racial 

Com:eosi tion, 1221-21* 

Year Territory Indigenous~ Chinese% Others% Total (ooos) 

1921 Malaya 54.0 29.4 1646 2,906 
Singapore 12.9 75.2 11.9 420 

1931 Malaya 49.2 33.9 16.9 3,787 
iingapore 11.8 11.9 13.3 559 

1947 Malaya 49-5 38.4 12.1 4,908 
Singapore 12.3 78.6 9.1 739 

1957 Malaya 49.8 37.2 13.0 6,278 
Singapore 13.4 73.9 12.7 1,446 

*From T.G.McGoe~ 'Population: A Preliminary Analy~is', Wan~ 
Gungwu (ed)a Malaysia, A Survey (Cheshire, Melbourne, 1964) 
p.68. 

Before the invasion of the J~panose, communal tensions were 

not much in evidence in Malaya. This may be largely attributed to 

the mutually non-intrusive attitude on the part of the two major 

communities, the Chinese and the Malaya. The Japanese occupation, 

from 1942-5, served to change this situations 'pro-war communal 

relations were completely altered •••• The smouldering racial 

prejudices and fears now roso to the surface'. 1 During the 

occupation it was primarily the Chinese who formed the resistance 

movement, largely l~lays the collaborators. 2 

The net effect of the Japanese invasion and occupation 
of Malaya was a disillusionment with British power, a 
general stirring of Malay political consciousness, the 
articulation of communal antipathy, the improvement 
of the Communist Party organisation. 3 

Each of these factors was to prove significant in the post-war 

development of Malaya, but their origins are to be found further 

in the past, 

The first four decades of the twentieth century had witnessed 

the origins of modern Malay nationalism. Until the mid-1920s 

Malay national consciousness was represented largely by an Islamic 

revival, after that time it became increasingly political in 

character. By the late 1930s infant political organisations 

existed whose chief concern was the maintenance of the Malays' 

1 
Kernial Singh Sandhua 'Communalisma The Primacy Threat to 

Malayan Unity' , Asian Survey, Aug 1962, p. 35. 
2 
Sea K.J.Ratnama Cormrunalism and the Political Process in Mala a 

(University of Malaya Press, Kuala lumpur, 19 5 p.17 ff. 
3 
Norman J. Parmer a 'Malaya and Singapore 1 , in Geo rga M. Kabin ( ::cl) ~ 

Government and Politics of Southeast Asia, (Ithaca, New York, 
Cornell University Press, 1958) p.350. 
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1 position as heirs-apparent to British power. But in contrast to 

the other contempo~ary nationalist movements of Southeast Asia, 

that in Malaya sought to uphold the feudal social structur~. 2 

Within this movement a minority, numbering among its leaders 

Ibrahim bin Yaacob and Dr Burhanuddin, was mora left-wing in 

character and took nuch of its inspiration from the Indonesian 

nationalist movement.3 The influence of this group was later to 

grow. Simultaneously the Malaya ~lso became increasingly conscious 

of the relatively greater economic development among the other 

comnunities,4 until by the post-war years among the Malaya the 

feeling was growing that 'they used to be poor men in a poor 

country, and now they were poor men in a rich countr.y'.5 

Chinese development was parallel but dissimilar. As Purcell 

points out, the 'object of the British in the first place was to 

attract the Chinese, ••• profit by their industry, and to interfere 

with them as little as possible 1 •
6 The Chinese wore left to their 

own devices and in consequence with regard to 'Chinese nationalism 

in pre-war Malaya one is struck by the complete domination of the 

community's political life by external issues•. 7 Another observer, 

an overseas Chinese himself, has put this point much more strongly: 

'However many years they have stayed in the South Seas the China-born 

Chinese, and many of the overseas born too, keep their eyes fixed on 

China and their hearts set on homo•. 8 Such vehemence may be treated 

with reserve, particularly in view of Gosling's study which reveals 

Hokkions clearly being assimilated in Trengganu. But significantly 

even those Hokkiens accepted racial and cultural nationalism in the 

1 
Soenarno: o>:-.cit., William R.Roff: 'The Origins of Malay 

Nationalism 1900-41', (Ph.D. Thesis, ANU 1965). 
2 
Soenarno: op.cit., p.26. The contrast with the intentions of the 

Indonesian nationalists is particularly stri~ing. 
3 
Ibid., p.12; Roff: op.cit •• 

4 
Ratnam: op.c)t., p.12. 

5 
L.A.Mills: Malaya: A Political and Economic Appraisal (University 

of Minnesota, Minneapolis, 1958) p.5. 
6 
V.Purcell: The Chinese in Malaya (OUP, London, 1948) p.143. 

7 
Ratnam: op.cit., p.12. 

8 
Ju-K'ang T'ien: The Chinese of Sarawaka A Stugy of Social 

Structure, Monographs on Social Anthropology, No.12, L.S.E., 
1953, p.81. 



post war years and their Chinese oonsciousness reasserted itself. 1 

Before World War II the Chinese might have been legitimately 

described as transients in Malaya and their politioal interests, 

where they existed, were oentred on China. In 1912 Sun Yat-sen 

established branches of the Tung Meng Hui in Malaya and after 1927 

the Kuomintang (KMT) was influential among the Malayan Chinese. 2 

FUrther, by the 1930s it was apparent that the Chinese Communist 

Party was also gaining Malayan adherents to its cause. 3 The • 

increasing tendency for overseas Chinese to become involved in 

Chtaa's polities may be attributed to three major factors f~llowing 

the establishment of the Chinese Republica (1) the influence of 

Sun Yat-sen's doctrine of the unity of the 'yellow race', the 

principle of jus sanguiniBJ (2) the actiVities of the KMT in setting 

up overseas branches and a Ministry for Overseas Chinese and perhaps 

even regarding parts of Naqyang4 as terra irrendentaJ and {3) the 

Chinese language education system, simplified in 1917 with the 

introduction of Kuo Yu and China oriented, whioh was produoing 

foreigners in Malaya. The Chinese were creating in Malaya an 

imperio in imperium. Before the war Chinese interest in politics, 

albeit in the polities of China, was awakenedJ the post war years 

were to find the Chinese increasingly interested in local affairs, 

On their return in 1945, the British sought to rationalise 

the rather clumsy administrative machinery of Malaya and in 1946 

introduced proposals for a Malayan Union, which would reduce the 

federal characteristics, create a single sovereignty and greatly 

simplify citizenship requirements for non-Malays.5 These proposals 

struck at the ver,y heart of nascent Malay nationalism by threatening 

1 
L.A.P.Gosling: 'Migration and Assimilation of Rural Chinese in 

Trongganu', Cb. XI. J.Ba.stin and R.Roolvink (ads) 1 Malayan and 
Indonesian Studios (Oxford, Clarendon Press, 1964). 
2 
Png Poh Sengs 'The Kuomintang in Malaya', JSEAH, March 1961, pp.1-32. 

3 . 
Pureella Chinese in Malaya., p,215 ff. 

4 
Nanyang means literally 'South Seas' but refers generally to the 

states of Southeast Asia, particularly to the areas containing 
Chinese~ 

5 
Malayan Constitutional Proposals (London, HMSO, 1948)J UKPD,HC, 

vol.414, 10 Oct 1945, col.254; V.Purcell: 'A Malayan Unionc The 
Proposed New Con~titution', Pacifio Affairs, Sept 1946, pp.279-85J 
M.Clarka 'The Malayan Alliance and its Accommodation of Communal 
Pressures', (Unpu~M.A. Thesis, Uni. Malaya 1964) pp.14-16J Parmerc 
~p.cit~; p.255 ff; D.E.Moore: 'UMNO and the 1959 Elections' (Unpub. 
Ph.n., Uni. of California 1960) pp.26-7. 



the special position of the Malayea tho Malaya organised and 

protested with such vehemence that the British withdrew tho scheme 

and in 1948 instituted the Federation of Malaya. The Malaya had 

made their point and remained politically organised. The British 

had failed to impose political equality on the races of Malaya. 

If in the pre-war period there was any justification for the 

British regarding Malaya as a Malay country and its Chinese 

population as aliens, this posture became more and more unreal in 

the post-war years. The Chinese were increasingly local born, 

increasingly pe:rmanont residents. The anticipated transfer of 

British power to the local community soon provoked communal rivalr.y, 

each community striving to establish the legitimacy of its claim 

for its share of that power. But 'the British made no serious 

effort to absorb the immigrants into the social system or to build 

up a constructive social systom •••• The cleavages in the society 

[were] so deep ••• that practically every issue acquiro[d] co~~l 

implications'. 1 

The attraction of China remained strong among the Chinese, an 

attraction perhaps largely attributable to the continuation of the 

Chinese language education system, still the most widesproad system 

among the Chinese, 2 despite the efforts of the post-independence 

Malayan Government to implement Malay-language education. 3 

Assimilation of the Chinese by intermarriage remained insignificant 

because of the deep entrenchment of Islam in the Malay community. 

Clearly 'the community problem could not be solved by assimilation, 

and the only solution was a modus vivendi between races•. 4 Such 

a modus vivendi was not aided by tho communist insurgency which 

broke out in 1948 and lasted sporadically until 1960. Tho 

guerrillas, remnants of the anti-Japanose resistance movement, wore 

almost exclusively Chinese.5 

1 
R.S.Milne: 'Politics and Government', Ch.21, Wang Gungwua 

Ma.la,ysia, p. 328. 
2 
Malaysiaa Official Year Book 1963, P•532. 

3 
Wolfgang Franke: 'Chinese into Malaysians', ~' 12 March ~965, 

pp.459-61; Douglas P.Murrays 'Chinese Education in South-East Asia', 
China Quarterly, Oct-Doc 1964, pp.67-96. 
4 
V.Purcell: 'The Chinese in Malaysia', Ch.13,Wang Gungwus op.cit., 

p.193. 
5 
For a brief survey see Anthony Short: 'Communism and the Emergency', 

Ch.10, Wang Gungwus op.cit.. See also Clutterbuck: The Long, 
Long War, and Edgar 0' Ballance: Malaya~ The Commu_nis t Insurgent 
War, 1q18-60 (Faber, London, 1966). 
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The differences between the two major communities ware to be 

found in almost every aspect of their existence. The Malaya had 

changed little since British intervention, remaining lars~ly rural 

dwellers living by subsistence farming or fishing. The Chinese 

wore predominantly urban dwellers who, together with the Indians, 

dominated the monetary econo~. This was reflected in tho races' 

areas of settlement. As may bo seen from Tables 3, 4 and 5 the 

Tablo 3s Malaya& Percentage of Total Population 

of Each Community Living in Urban Areas, 1957J* 

Mal ay Chinese 

Size of community 1900+ 10,000+ 1000+ 10,oo4+ 

Federation 19.3 11.2 73.0 44.7 
Johore 20.2 13.6 64.9 29.6 
Kedah 11.2 6.3 61.8 34.5 
Kelantan 19-9 7.8 66.9 39.9 
Malacca 8.8 6.5 52.2 44.0 
Negri Sembilan 14.0 5.8 51.6 28.0 
Pahang 18.2 8.7 76.4 43.5 
Penang 30.4 24.9 79.1 70.4 
Perak 17.4 9·3 79.7 37.6 
Per lis 5·3 25.4 
Selangor 30.2 21.4 84.0 57.2 
Trenggarru 29.6 15.8 82.6 57.1 

*1957 Population Census, Report No.14., Tables 2.11, 

Table 41 Racial ComE2sition of Mala~a b~ Statesz 
1957* ( OOOs) 

Malaya Chinese Indians Total 

Johore 445 392 71 928 
Kodah 476 144 67 702 
Kelantan 463 29 6 506 
Malacca 143 121 23 291 
Negri Sembilan 151 150 54 364 
Pahang 179 108 22 313 
Panang 165 327 69 572 
Perak 485 539 178 1,221 
Per lis 71 16 2 91 
Selangor 291 489 201 1,013 
Trengganu 256 18 3 278 

TOTAL 3,727 2,333 696 6,279 

* Ratnam: op.cit., p.4. (Discrepancies due to rounding) 

2.12, p.11. 
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Table Racial an Urban 

Year Mal ay Chinese Other Total 

1947 275 812 215 1301 
1957 604 1704 360 2680 

% increase 119.6 109.8 67.4 104.3 

* Hamzah-Senduh 'Urbanisation 1 , Wang Gungwu: Mal~Isia, p.89. 

Chinese are domi~ant in the large towns and the more developed 

states of the west coast, the Malays in the more underdeveloped 

states of the east and north and .the rural areas elsewhere. 1 The 

races' economic activities are also reflected in the communal 

distribution of the national income, an examination of which 

reveals the Chinese receiving the largest share. Despite efforts 

on the part of the Malayan Government, itself Malay dominated, to 

Table 6t A.12.12roximate Annual Income in Mala~a b~ Raco, 
1947 and 1957.* 

($M.) Malaya Chinese Indians 

per capita 1947 258 656 560 
1957 367 837 669 

per adult male 1947 979 2090 1296 
1957 1463 .. 3223 2013 

* Silcock and Fisk (ads): op •. c:i;~., p. 279. 

alter this position (of poorer rural Malaya), the situation has 

persisted. 2 From this situation spring the social and political 

attitudes of the two communities. 

The Malays have continued to regard Malaya as theirs and 

insisted on retaining political control. Since independence in 

1957 this control has been ensured by three principal devices, which 

are designed to bring about a political supremacy greater than 

Malay numerical superiority would warrant. First, Article 116 of 

the Constitution3 permits the Electoral Commission to weight 

constituencies, having regard to, among other things, their communal 

1 
To take a further example: 'During the 1960-1 session the University 

had 2,295 students of whom 1,563 were Chinese, 230 Malaya, 428 
Indians and Ceylonese and 74 "others" ', Ratnam: oo.cit., p.106. 
2 
From 1947 to 1957 the Malay average income drqpped from 47~ to 

44% of that of the Chinese; in the same period Malaya's rural 
population rose by 4,000 but its non-Malay component declined by 
364,000 (perhaps largely due to the resettlement policies), T.H. 
Silcock and E.K.Fisk (ads): The Political Econos! of Independent 
Mala!a (ANU Press, Canberra, 1963) p.279. 
3 
Federation of Malaya, Constitution (KUala Lumpur,1957). 



composition, by as much as 15 per cent above {in urban areas) or 

below the norm. The application of this doctrine has led to 

axtensive rural over-representation. 1 Secondly, qualifications 
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for citizenship, and so the franchise, have been designed to 

restrict the voting rights of non-Malays, although in the long run 

all will qualify. Finally, the Malaya have been given 'special 

rights', the legitimacy of which is recognised b,y the Constitution. 

Until 1952 only Malaya were recruited into the civil service; at 

that time General Templar introduced the policy of recruiting 

non-Malays in the ratio of one in five. This policy persists. 

Article 89 of the Constitution reserves certain land to the M&laysf 

article 153 grants them special business licences, scholarships 

and public service appointments; the armed forces and police force 

arc almost exclusively Malay. Under these conditions the Government 

is obliged to devote much of its energies to the interests of the 

Malaya. Despite this policy 'it seems doubtful whether the Malaya 

have yet gained any improvement in their economic position, 

relatively to the Chinese or absolutely 1 •
2 

If the Malaya feared becoming an underprivileged minority in 

what they regarded as their own country, the situation seemed 

somewhat different to the Chinese. The Chinese population is 

predominantly young, urban dwelling and Chinese educated. The 

Malayan Government admits to an unemployment rate of six per cent 

overall and twenty seven per cent among the young urban population. 3 

The latter figure would be predominantly Chinese. FUrther, while 

the Chinese community as a whole may be relatively prosperous, 

'only a small proportion of the Chinese ••• possess this economic 

power and the majority are as poor ••• as the Malays 1 .4 Table 7 
presents the Malaya in a more favourable light. And this does not 

allow for income in kind, which may be substantial for the Malaya 

but less so for the cash farming and urban dwelling Chinese. In 

1 
In 1964 Eungsar had 58,261 votersJ 49 other constituencies had 

less than 25,000. 
2 
T.H.Silcocka 'Communal and Party Structure', Ch.1, T.H.Silcock 

and E.K.Fisk (ads): on.cit., p.7. See also E.K.Fiska 'Rural 
Development Problems in Malaya', Australian Outlook, Dec 1962, 
pp.246-59· 
3 
The First Malaysia Plan 1966-70 (Govt. Printer, Kuala Lumpur, 1966) 

p.79. 
4 
Purcell: · Malayaa Comrrunist or Free? pp.16&.9. 
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Table 7• Distribution of Individual Incomes Under $12,000 p.a. 

Between Races in Malgya 1957 ($Y.)* 

per capita Mala,.ys 

Urban Rural 

482 307 
* Silcock and Fisk (ads): 

Chinese 

Urban Rural 

561 473 
op.cit., p.279. 

Urban 

513 

Indiana 

Rural 

499 

this situation the younger urban Chinese tend to be facing 

unemployment, discriminated against because of language and race, 

and possibly Peking oriented. The rationale for Chinese hostility 

to Malay rights and Malay as the official language is apparent. 

It was this body of urban Chinese particularly that formed the 

Table 8z Literae~ Rates 10 ~ears of A~ and Over1 b~ 

Cornmunit~ and Lan~age 1 1221 1 in Percentages.* 

All parsons llalay English Any language 

Mal ay 46 5 47 
Chinese 3 11 53 
Indian 5 16 57 
Other 14 58 78 
All 25 10 51 

Males only 

Mal ay 64 1 65 
Chinese 4 14 70 
Indian 6 21 70 
Other 15 62 85 
All 33 13 68 

* 1951 Population Census Report, No.14. 
; 

pp.92-96. 

dicaffoo~oi loft wing groups in Malaya, and w~ioh supported tho 

left wing political partios. 

Briefly Malay society could be characterisod as traditional 

and rural, Chinese as urban and capitalist. But if the non-Mala.ya 

provided the barons of industr.y and towk$ys, thoy also ·provided 

the radical urban masses. It was to such a society, which had 

achieved a veneer of intercommunal cooperation, that the British 

conceded political power in 1957. Whether a common nationalism 

could be engendered amid such diversity was open to question. 

The political evolution of post-war Malaya has been dominated 

by communalism. Voting behaviour and political affiliations 

follow primarily a communal and only secondarily an economic or 

ideological pattern. All significant political parties are de facto 

communal. 'In Malaya ••• to form a completely non-communal party 

is suicidal. Yet no completely communal party ••• could be certain of 



... 

winning1 •
1 

The dominant politicai o~ganisation in pos~war Malaya has 

boon the Alliance. A variant on the communal theme, the Alliance 

is an electoral arrangement between three communal parties who 

cooperate and select candidates for each constituency largely on 
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the basis of its racial composition. The dominant partner is the 

United Malaya National Organisation (UMNO) whose formation 'was 

directly attributable to the violent reaction of the Malay community 
2 to the Malayan Union'~ Formed 1 March 19~6, UMNO was largely 

responsible for the rejection of that Union and in 1951 it refused 

to accept tho demand of its leader, Dato Onn, that it admit 

non-Malays to its ranks.. Dato Onn resigned, formed the non-communal 

Independence of Malaya Party (IMP) and passod into the political 

wilderness as it became apparent that a non-communal party could 

attract little support.3 UMNO had rejected multi-racial membership 

and 

it visualised that when independence came, power should 
be handed over to the Malays •••• At the same time it did 
not rule out entirely the importance of cooperation 
between the Malaya and the no~Malays, so long as the 
non-Malays did not interfere with the rights and 
pri vilogos of the llalays, 4 

While UMNO accepted the desirability of there being cooperation 

between the communities with regard to political power, an essential 

aspect of its philosophy was that since the ~ritish had taken power 

from the Malaya, then it was to the Malaya that it should be 

retumed.5 

The first indication that UMNO was prepared to cooperate with 

organisations roprosenting the other communities was given in 1952 

when, without the knowledge of the national headquarters, the 

Belangor branches of UMNO and the Malayan Chinese Association (MCA) 

coalesced in the Kuala Lumpur local elections and, combi~ed, 

1 
R. a. Milne I 'Malaysia-Intemal Stresses and Strains' ' Australia's 

Neif!hboura, Jan-Feb 1964, p.1. See also Luoien W.Pyea i'The 
Polities of South East Asia', Part III, Gabriel A.Almond and James 
B.Coleman (eds)a The Polities of Developing Areas (Prineeton 
University Press, 1960). 
2 
Moores o:~eit., p.27. 

3 
Ishak bin Tadina 'Dato Onn 1946-51', JSF.AH, March 1960, pp.56-88. 

4 
Ibid.,p.85• 

5 
Clarka ~p.cit., p.32, 



defeated the IMP. 1 On 17 March 1953 the Alliance was formalised 

at the national level: it originated as, and to a degree remained, 

'a piece of election winning machinery•. 2 
B.y the early 1960s the 

Alliance, to which in 1954 had been added the weak Malayan Indian 

Congress, was still winning elections. Essentially Malay led, its 

existence dependod on the willingness of the Chinese to accept a 

subordinate political position, There was some feeling in the 

Chinese community that 'the MCA will support the common view of the 

Alliance. Unfortunately the views of the Alliance and the demands 

of the Chinese are still greatly divided'. 3 In 1959 the leadership 

of the MCA was of the opinion that Chinese influence within the 

Alliance was insufficient; it insisted on greater MCA representation 

among Alliance constituencies, UMNO refused and the MCA leadership 

rosignod. Tho successors to MCA leadership were moro acqut-,ac.:lnt 

and Malay dominance was ro-eetablished.4 

The Alliance is an intercommunal, not a non-communal partya 

'the strength of communalism is the very basis of our existence' 

admitted a senior MCA official.5 Its electoral support rests on its 

communal appeal, but at the higher levels, for example in Cabinet 

decisions, the Alliance must be careful to balance the diverse 

communal interests. This need is exacerbated by the existence of 

more openly communal parties whose appeal can from either end of 

the Malay-Chinese continuumcontost the Alliance's support. 

In the 1955 elections the Alliance won 51 of the 52 seats, 

giving it an overall majority in the Legislative Council (there 

being 48 official representatives). The overwhelming Malay majority 

in the electorate and the overriding issue of independence worked 

to its advantage. By 1959 the non-Malay componont of the electorate 

had risen to 43 per cont, while the attainment of independence 

brought divisive tendencies between the communities more to the fore. 

1 
Ibid., p.33 ff; Francis G.Carnella 'Constitutional Reform and 

Elections in Malaya', Pacific Affairs, Sept 1954, pp.216-35. 
2 
Clark: op.cit., p,51. 

3 
Editorial, China Press, 10 April 1957, 

4 
Clarka op!cit., p,79 ff, See correspondence between MCA leaders 

in .Ma)~ysian M~rror, 12 June 1965. 
5 
Ibid., p.3, for account of interview in 1959 with Cheah Theam 

Swee, Sec-Gen. of MCA. 
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The Alliance percentage of the total vote fell from 81.4 to 51.1 and 

opposition parties gained in strength. Of these parties the most 

significant in terms of seats won was the Pan-Malayan Islamic 

Party (PMIP). 1 Advocating a theocratic Islamic state and greater 

privileges for the Malaya, tho PMIP's major support was in Trangganu 

and Kelantan; and it increasingly developed pro-Indonesian tendencies. 

Its communally-based challenge to UMN0 1s support among tho Malaya 

ensured that the Govem.ment could not afford to disregard Malay 

communal interests. At the other end of the communal spectrum 

stood the People's Progressive Party (PPP) 2 with its support 

centred on the non-Malay urban areas of Perak. The growth of the 

PPP may be largely attributed to its successful exploitation of 

Table 9z Federal Election Results, MalaYa 1955 and 1959* 

1955 1959 
Party Percent of vote No. of seats Percent of voto No. of seats 

Alliance 81.4 51 51.1 74 
PMIP 4.6 1 21.7 13 
S.F. 0.4 12.8 8 
ppp 0.1 6.3 4 
Other .14.U 8.1 - ....2 

Total 100 52 100 104 

* R.Vasil: 'The 1964 General Elections in Malaya', International 
Studies, July 1965, pp.57-61. 

Chinese sentiment, particularly resentment at the implementation 

of tho Malay-language education system. Thus the PPP campaigned 

for complete communal equality (a communal position in Malayan terms) 

and a multi-lingual system. 

The third significant opposition party was the Socialist FTont, 

an amalgam of the Labour Party of Malaya and tho P~rty Ra'ayat. 

Although the Socialist Front was organised like the Alliance, the 

dominant 9lement was not Malay but Chinese - the Labour Party. 

Between 1955 and 1959 the Labour Party's membership came more and 

more from the Chinese-educatod, its policies became more radical and 

consequently the party became more powerful among the urban 

Chinese. Accused by the Government of being a communist front,3 

1 
D.E.Moorea op.cit., p.57 ff; Ratnam op.cit • . ; also K.J.Ratnam and 

R.S.Milne (ads): The Malayan Parliamenta;y Election of 1964 
(Blackwoll, University of Malaya, 1967). 
2 
Moore: op.cit., p.265 ff; Ratnam op.cit., Ratnam and Milne: op.cit •• 

3 
For example, 'The Communist Throat to the Federation of Malaya', 

Legislative Council Paper, No.23 of 1959 (Kuala Lumpur, 1959). 



the Labour Party was by 1959 attracting Chinese from the MC.A and its 

power in this respect appeared to be increasing. The Party Ra'~at, 

though (like the Labour Party) ostensibly non-communal, wae a left 

wing Malay Party, ·lad by .Ahmad Boestamam and looking to Indonesiart 

radicalism for inspiration. Its support, however, was negligible. 

By the early 1960s Malayan politics had become, if anything, 

more clearly communal, an evolution exacerbated by the removal of 

British power. It appeared that the Alliance represented an 

intercommunal arrangement whereby the ~.lays dominated politically, 

and the non-Malays, acquiescent in this dominance, concentrated on 

eoonomic activities. However, growing numbers cf urban Chinese 

and rural Malaya were unwilling to accept this position and a 

Malayan nation remained uncreated. The Malayan polity rested on 

a flimsy structure. 

Outside this political structure lay the island of Singapore. 

Predominantly Chineso, 1 largely urban, and containing the British 

naval, air and military bases, Singapore was not included in either 

the Malayan Union or the Federation in order to make these pl~ns 

more acceptable to the Malaya who thus retained their plurality 

of the population. The separate political existence led to separate 

political development. With Chinese composing 75.1 per cent of 

the population, communal issues did not assume the importance in 

Singapore that they did in the Federation. In fact the early 

moves towards representative institutions indicated a general 

apathy on the part of the electorate, particularly among the ChinePo. 2 

The 1955 elections brought in David Marshall, a Eurasian, as Chief 

Minister. In 1956 he resigned in protest after failing to gat 

from the British a grant of internal self-government, tho 

negotiations foundering on tho issuo of control of internal security, 

which the British wore unwilling to rolinquish. 3 The following 

year Marehall's successor, Lim Yew Hock, overcame this obstacle. 

It was agreed that an Internal Security Council (ISC) would be set 

up with Singapore and British Governments each having three 

representatives and the Federation Government one. With tho UK 

retaining control of defence and external affairs, Singapore was to 

attain internal self-government in 1959. 4 · 

1 
See Table 2, supra. 

2 
Francis G.Carnell: 'Constitutional Reform and Elections in 

Malaya 1 • 

3 
SLA,Debs, 29 Aug 1956, col•.3 ff , 5 Sept 1956, col.38 ff; 

Panner: op.cit., p.264 ff. 
4 
S~\,Debs, 27 April 1957, col.1715 ff • . 
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The reasons for the importance of the internal security issue 

are to be found in Singapore's turbulent society. Even by 1961 

half of Singapore's students were being educated in Chineses 1 

radicals, they had a greater effect on Singapore's politics than 

their eo-linguists could have in Malaya. It was in Singapore that 

the Malayan Communist Party was thought to have its headquarters, 

in Singapore where radical students and militant unionists rioted, 

and in Singapore where Chinese chauvinism2 could most easily exert 

its influence. Thus of Nanyang University, founded as a private 

institution to further Chinese tertiary education, a visiting 

professor could write that 'a large segment of the student body 

is strongly orientated toward Peking and ••• the writer was impressed 

by Peking's effective exploitation of traditional Chinese cultural 

chauviniam'.3 The threat of radical Chinese or communist control 

of Singapore appeared real. 

In 1959 the first government to function under the new 

constitution was elected and the first dominant force in Singapore 

politics emerged, the People's Action Party (PAP) which won 43 of 

the 51 seats. The PAP formed what was expected to be an extremely 

loft wing Government, 4 for, as with any Singaporean party, to gain 

power it had to capture a large share of the Chinese vote. In fact 

the PAP was an alliance between two groups& the English educated 

Chinese, best represented by the party's leader, Lee Kuan Yew, who 

were democratic socialists and leadors of the party, and the more 

chauvinistic Chinese ~ducated who formed an indeterminate proportion 

of its mass support. Tho latter were concentrated largely in the 

Trade Unions, the Chinese language education system and the local 

branches of the PAP. The volatile Lim Chin Siong appeared to be 

their leader. Attempts by the second group to capture control of 

the party had failed, but while their degree of influence by 1959 

1 
Minist;y of Education, Annual Report 1961 (Singapore, 1962). 

2 
Chauvinism has beon used throughout this work to denote the 

sectional, racial and cultural nationalism of Chinese-educated 
Chinese of the Malaysian region. Though perhaps unsatisfactory 
the term has wide currency and in the absence of a more suitable 
word has been adopted. 
3 
J.M. van der Kroefa 'The Sino-Indonesian Partnership', Orbis, 

Summer 1964, p.344. 
4 
Michael Leiferz 'Politics in Singapores The First Term of the 

People's Action Party 1959-63', Journal of Commonwealth Political 
Studies, May 1964, pp.107-19. 



was unknown, Lee had demanded the release from detention of eight 

of the extremists as a condition for taking power. 1 
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By the early 1960s a stable political situation did not exist 

in either Singapore or Malaya, for in both states there were groups 

outside the political spectrum whose strength appeared to be 

increasing. In 1961 a plan was conceived which at once brought those 

simmering conflicts to the boil and engendered its own particular 

difficulties, which took time to develop. 

On 27 1~y 1961 the prospect of merger between Malaya and 

Singapore first became practical politics when Tunku Abdul Rahman, 
the Malayan Prime Minister, announced in Singapore& 

Malayatoday as a nation realises that she cannot 
stand alone and in isolation. Sooner or later 
she should have an understanding with Britain 
and the peoples of the territories of Singapore, 
North Borneo, Brunei and Sarawak. 2 

The significance of this statement was that it represented a complete 

reversal of the previous attitude of the Malayan Government. 

Although in the early 1950s the Tunku had been prepared to consider 

merger with Singapore a possible futuro course of aotion, 3 by the 

time of Malayan independence he did not think there was 'any 

possibility of merger',4 although opposition parties including the 

Labour Party and th•3 PPP, and oven the MCA, wore receptive to the 

idoa. The reason for Malay opposition (and it was Malaya who held 

the determinative position) is not difficult to discern. As the 

Tunku later admitted: 

many 1~lays in the Federation are susp~c~ous of 
merger with Singapore because they fear that they 
would be swamped by the Singapore Chinese. They 
also fear that the political methods of the Singapore 
Chinese will spread to the Federation •••• This fear 
is not without foundation. I myself appreciate it. 5 

In the Federation, Malays were the dominant community numerically; 

the addition of Singapore would give this position to the Chinese. 

Further, the Malays wore aware that the Singapore Chinese were 

unlikely to be as amenablo as the MCA to the acceptance of Malay 

political dominance. These fears, as tho following years were to 

1 
Lee Kuan Yew: 

1962). p.23. 
2 

Battle For Merger (Govt.Printing Office, Singapore, 

.§!, 28 May 1961. 
3 ' 
Ibid., 24 Ja.n 1956. 

4 
Ibid., 18 Jan 1959. 

5 
Ibid., 5 Nov 1961. 
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show, were not without foundation • Why than did the Tunku change 

his mind? 

If the Government of Malaya opposed merger, the reverse was 

the case in Singapore. The press was almost unanimously in favour 

of merger1 and every political party on the island, including 

UMNO's Singapore branch, included merger in its platform. In 1954 

the Rendall Report on Singapore's constitutional status had rejected 

separate Singapore citizenship because 'the colony must ultimately 

be politically united with the Federation•. 2 This assumption was 

widespread and under both Marshall and his successor, Lim Yew Hook, 

Singapore had sought only 'internal self-government and not 

independence',3 merger being the ultimate aim. 

The PAP was similarly committed to merger. At its inaugural 

meeting on 20 Bovember 1954, the party was reported as seeking to 

'end colonialism and establish an independent national state of 

Malaya, comprising the territories now known as the Federation of 

Malaya and the Colony of Singapore•. 4 This stand was reaffirmed 

in 19565 and in 1957 the party only accepted the constitutional 

proposals as 'a half way house to full independence with merger 

with the Federation of Malaya•. 6 Before coming to power in 1959, 

the PAP had made clear the policy it intended to pursue in a 

statement, The New Phase After Merdeka. 7 It argued that 'Singapore 

cannot become independent by itself' and so must seek merger in 

'an independent, democratic, non-comnunist, socialist Malaya'. 

The opposition of the Federation Government to this scheme had to 

be overcome: 'It must be demonstrated ••• that the one million 

Chinese in Singapore are ready~ •• to be absorbed as one Malayan 

people'. In view of this, the PAP emphasised on assuming power 

1 
Weekly Digest of Non-En~lish Press (Singapore), 4/56, Chung Sing 

Jit Pao, 26 Jan 1956; 5/56, Sing Chen Jit Poh, 2 Fob 1956; 8/56 
Utusan Mel~yu, 22 and 24 Fob 1956; 9/56,Nanyang Siang Pau, 3 March 
1956. 
2 
Report of the Constitutional Commission (Singapore, 1954). 

3 a 

SLA,Debs, vol.2 no.20, 5 March 1957, co1.1457. Sea also cols.1457-88 
and ibid., vol.3 no.1, 9 April 1958, col.3. 
4 
~' 21 Nov 1954. 

5 
Ibid., 9 July 1956. 

6 
SLA,Debs, vol.2 no.24, 27 April 1957, col.1765 (Lee Kuan Yew). 

7 
Lee: Battle For Merger, Appendix 6. 



that it would 'take firm action to prevent any irresponsible 

activities or individuals to nagate this paramount interest•. 1 

Whether the ChinesG educated supporters of the PAP envisaged a 

similar scale of priorities had yet to be put to the test. 

On coming to power, the PAP sought to assuage the fears of 

the Alliance leaders~ip by making Singapore a more attractive 

partner for merger. The state was given a veneer of Malayan 

culturea a Malay was made head of state, Malay the national 

language and the Malaya given certain privileges (but not special 

rights); the PAP was 'trying to develop a Malayan culture, if you 

like by pressure cooking•. 2 Cooperation with the Federation was 

sought in terms of a common market,3 and $M10,000 was voted to 
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help support the Malayan contribution to the UN peace keeping force 

in the Congo.4 For all this, little progress towards merger was 

made and there was some truth in the Singapore People's Alliance 1s5 
jibe that 'Singapore, under the PAP, and the Federation under the 

Alliance, have become political and economic rivals 1
•
6 The PAP 

policy of making merger attractive was failing: the reasons for the 

Tunku's volte face are to be found elsewhere. 

furing its first year of office the PAP had pursued moderate 

policies and its aehievooonts had been modestJ there were suggestions 

that its support might be declining. 7 In June 1960 the first 

possible indications that the latter might be the case occurred 

when Ong Eng Guan, a popular, flamboyant, ex-PAP mayor of Singapore, 

proposed sixteen resolutions at a party conference. 8 The resolutions 

1 
SLA,Debs, vol.11 no.1, 1 July 1959, col.14. 

2 
Rajaratnama Malayan Culture in the Making, 25 July 1960, 

See also SLA, Debs, vol.13 no.1, 20 July 1960, cols.4-24 
of Yang di-Pertuan Negara). 
3 
Ibid., vol.14 no.20, 24 May 1961, col.1460. 

4 
Ibid., vol.14 no.16, 22 March 1961, col.1194• 

5 
A right wing party, pro-merger, led by Lim Yew Hock. 

6 
The People, Sept 1960. 

1 
Leifer: op.cit., p.103. 

8 
§!, 21 June 1960. 

p.5. 
(Speech 



wore directly contrar.y to the party's policy, 
particularly insofar as the PAP was striving to 
assure the Malayan Government of its honourable 
intentione. These resolutions were of a nature 
to attract the type of anti-colonial and 
pro-communist support on which the PAP had 
relied in its formative years. 1 

On 3 August the AssGmbly convened and found Ong and two 

supporters sitting with the opposition. The whole issue was then 

aired. 2 Ong complained that 

in the pclicy speech nothing has been said about 
colonialism, about Malayanisation, about the 
detainees, about the social revolution •••• The 
Government is not interested in these things 
any more. 3 

Lee presented the Government's contentiona 

We are not going to promise independence for 
Singapore for the immediate future, first 
because we believe it is a fraud on the people 
to claim that Singapore can be independent 
alone, because it is not viable. 4 
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Both Rajaratnam5 and Toh Chin Chye6 re-emphasised that the Government 

would subordinate all else to the aim of merger. 

B.y December, Ong had increased the ferocity of his attacks on 

the Government to an extent where he accused Lee Kuan Yew of 

nepo•tism. The Government introduced a motion of censure 7 and, 

when Ong resigned, set up a Commission of Enquiry which duly 

vindicated Lee. But Ong was now preparing to contest the seat 

which he had vacated, in a by-election which both he and the 

Government viewed as a vote of confidence, Goh Keng Bwee confidently 

asserting that 'if Ong Eng Guan was responsible for the mass support 

of the party [PAP] then his expulsion from the party would have 

seen the withdrawal of that mass support'. 8 On 29 April 1961 the 

by-election was held at Hong Lim, and Ong decisively defeated the 

PAP candidate by 4,927 votes.9 

1 
Leifer1 op.cit., p.107. 

2 
SLA,Debs, vol.13 no.2, Aug 1960, col.57 ff. 

3 
Ibid., ool.103. 4 •. 
Ibid., col.61. 

5 
Ibid., no 4, 5 Aug 1960, col.277. 

6 
Ibid., no 9, 21 Sept 1960, col.699 ff. 

7 
Ibid., vol.14 no 9, 19 Doe 1960, col.776. 

8 
Ibid., no 14, 1 March 1961, col.11)0. 

9 
Times, 1 May 1961. Ong received 7,747 votes to 2,820 to the PAP 

candidate. 
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It is in the result of the Hong Lim election that the toason 

for the Tunku 's change of mind may be found. .A.s recaDtly as 1 

January 1961 Toh Chin Chye had proposed merger to include the 

!omeo states 1 but on 30 January the Tunku repeated it would have 

to 'wait some time', 2 an opinion he again expressed on 4 May. 3 It 

appears that by the latter date Ku~la Lumpur was assessing the 

effeots of Hong Lim, concluding that 'the PAP appeared to be 

crumbling under extreme loft wins pressures•. 4 The Alliance 

Government thought that the moderate element of the PAP was losing 

control to the radicals and communistsJ with Singapore due to attain 

independence in 1963 it appeared that the latter would form the 

government and so coneti tute a threat to Malayan security. Rather 

than this, the Tunku proposed to control Singapore as tho lesser of 

two evils. This reasoning begged a number of questions, only one 

of which it is propitious to examine at this stage: did the H~ng 

Lim result amount to a victory for the PAP left? Ong, though 

radical, could hardly bo grouped with the communist ox-detainees 

and possessed a considerable personal following in the Hokkien 

speaking conati tuency. Two years later under less favourable 

circumstances he easily defeated the candidates of both the PAP 
and its, by then, splintered left wing. In any case, apart from 

Lim Chin Siong's oblique criticism of the party leadership in his 

call for loft wing unity,5 the PAP radicals appear to :bnva givon 

Ong little support. Nonetheless from Kuala Lumpur the devil that 

was known appeared to be losing power. The Tunku later made no 

secret of his reasoning: 

1 

we can all see the threat of the communists. If 
I did not see this danger I would not be bothered 
with Singapore. 6 
••• if it goes communist it would ••• try to overrun 
the whole of Malaya •••• Therefore to prevent this 
most unhappy and disastrous state of affairs 
occurring, the only course open to us would be to 
accept Singapor3 as a mombor of the Federation of 
Malaya. 7 

ST, 2 J an 1961 • 
2 
Ibid., 30 Jan 1961. 

3 
Ibid., 5 May 1961. Sea also Lees Battle For Merger, p.36. 

4 
William P.Maddoxt 'Singapore& Problem Child', Foreign Affairs, 

April 1962, p.485. 
5 

Loos Battle For Merger, p.35. 
6 
Straits Budget, 21 March 1962. 

7 
Malayan Times, 25 Bept 1962. 
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The logic was at once both anti-communist and anti-Chinese. Some 

commentators havo attributed considerable significance to the 

visits of Bandys, Profumo and Mountbatten to the area, and suggested 

that the British helped pursuade the Tunku, 1 but he rejected merger 

twice shortly after. The change in fortunes of the PAP seems to 

have boon decisive. The Straits Times contended that 'if there 

has been progress towards merger it is the rasuit of the Singapore 
2 Government's unwavering adherence to a Malayan outlook'. This 

factor was influential only negatively, Kuala Lumpur being aware of 

the significance of its absence. It wns fear, not attraction, that 

sparked the plan. The PAP quickly saw this and, having for two 

years stressed the Malayan outlook of Singapore, it henceforth 

dwelt largely on the dangers entailed in the alternatives a 

communist Chinese Singapore. 

If the Hong Lim result did not indicate a major split in the 

PAP, the Tunku's proposal soon occasioned one. On 2 June Lim Chin 

Siong together with five other leading Trade Unionists made their 

support for the PAP (at the coming by-election at Anson) dependent 

on a number of issues, the major one being that the PAP seek the 

abolition of the ISC. 3 A week later the PAP leadership announced 

its acceptance of the Tunku's proposal, as long as Singapore 

retained local autonoJI.tY in labour and education; Kuala Lumpur could 

control socurity. 4 Even at that stage, with the proposed terms so 

vague, Lim expressed hostility.5 It is difficult to escape the 

conclusion that Lim was most concerned with the control of 

Singapore's security and probably did not want merger. By 11 July 

the possibility of a split within the P.AP loomed larger whon 

Devan Nair warned that the leadership was prepared to break from 

the dissidents. 6 At this time the Anson by-election campaign was 

on. The leadership of the Pi~ stressed morger, the unionists, 

anti-colonialism and local control of security. On the eve of the 

election eight PAP Assembly-men wrote to the Straits Times supporting 

1 
G.Modolski: 'Indonesia and the Malaysia Issue', The Year Book of 

World Affairs 1964 (Stevens, London, 1964) p.131; Singhal: op.cit., 
p.19J G.P.Means: 'Malaysia: A Now Federation in Southeast Asia', 
Pacific Affairs, Summer 1963, p.141. 
2 
.§!, 5 June 1961. 

3 
Ibid., 3 June 1961. 

4 
Ibid., 10 June 1961 (Toh Chin Chye). 

5 
Ibid., 13 June 1961. 

6 
Ibid., 12 July 1961. 



Lim's position. 1 The by-election was clearly to be a vote of 

confidence. 
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On 15 July David Marshall, by then leader of the Workers Party, 

with the support of Lim's group, won a narrow victory over the PAP 

candidate. 2 Anson, rather than Hong Lim, probably reflected the 

alignment of political strength in Singaporea less clearly 'Chinese' 

in·character, less influenced by personal following, the constituency's 

support for Marshall reflected its support for Lim. (Two years later 

Marshall alone mustered but four hundred out of eight and a half 

thousand votes). The fears engendered by Hong Lim were being 

realised& the radicals ware in the ascendancy. 

On 20 July 1961 at a. 13pecial coating of the Legislative 

Assembly, Leo asked for a vote of confidence and thirteen PAP 

members abstainod. 3 On 26 July, to8other with Lim's supporters, 

these thirteen formed the Barisan Socialis. 4 At that stage their 

support lay chiefly in the Trade Unions, the Chinese language 

education system, Nanyang University in particular, and among the 

PAP militants at the branch level (37 of 51 PAP branches defected). 

The debate on 20-21 July showed most of the defecting Assemblymen 

to be Chinese speaking, and their complaint to be the lack of 

'intra-party democracy'. They wanted a meeting of the branches to 

decide party pol~cy and attacked British imperialism and external 

control of security. But it would be too simple to brand the 

Barisan as comnunist, although the party's headquarters admi. tted 

that there were coiii!Illnists within the party.5 Even Lee, at that 

stage eager, for the benefit of Kuala Lumpur, to rnignify the 

communist threat, conceded that many of the ~risan were not 

ccmmunists. 6 The Barisan was essentially a Phinese party, a 

rallying point for the radical, the disaffected, the chauvinist 

and communist alike: it would clearly find supporters in Singapore. 

1 
Ibid., 14 July 1961. 

2 
Ibid., 16 July 1961. Marshall polled 3,598, the PAP 3,052 and the 

Alliance 1 ,482. 
3 
SLA,Debs, vol.14 no.23, 20-21 July 1961, col.1664 ff. 

4 
ST, 27 July 1961. 

5 
Interviews with Lee Siew Choh and Chye Thia Poh, at Barisan H.~., 

Victoria Street, Singapore, March 1966. 
6 
Leea Battle For Merger, pp.63-4. 
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On 29 August 1961 the Barisan issued a statement setting out 

its policy towards merger, after it had become clear that the P.~ 

was prepared to accept limited autonomy and federal under­

representation. 1 Dr Lee Siew Chob, the Barisan Chairman, said that 

the party sought complete merger with the Federation as the twelfth 

state and automatic Malayan citizenship for Singapore citizens. 2 

A week later Lim made similar proposals.3 Lee was quick to attack 

these terms pointing out that merger as the twelfth state would 

lose for 50 per cent of Singapore citizens their citizenship, 

Federation requirements for non-Malays being more stringent than 

Singapore's. In addition, Loo warned, such a merger would involve 

the application in Singapore of Malay special rights and Malaya's 

education system, and might lose Singapore its free port status. 4 

Two explanations for the Barisan's posture seem possible. Firs~ the 

party may genuinely have preferred a complete merger, calculating 

thereby to extend the influence of the Barisan, the Chinese or the 

communists. But there was no possibility of Kuala Lumpur accepting 

these proposals boacuse they would have brought the very situation 

which the Alliance wished to avoid. A large increase in Chinese 

voters would have resulted and Malay political domination would 

have been throatened.5 The second possibility, argued by Loo, was 

that the Barisan's proposals were designed to wreck the scheme so 

that the party could gain control of an independent Singapore. 6 

This seems a likely explanation for Lim's policies but hardly for 

the Barisan'e support, which was extensive. In September 1961 Loo 

calculated that in a straight fi ght with tho Barisan the PAP would 

win thirty seats of the fifty one but that in a split contest 

anything might happen.7 The Pi~ would not therefore concede the 

Barisan demand for an election on the issue of mergerJ instead a 

referendum was promised. 8 

1 
~' 25 Aug 1961. 

2 
Ibid., 30 Aug 1961. 

3 
Ibid., 8 Sept 1961. 

4 
Lee: Battle For Merger, p.76 ff. 

5 
Seo Milton E.Osborne: Sineaporo and Malaysia, Cornoll University, 

Southeast Asia Program, Data Paper No.53, July 1964, p.21. 
6 
Loo: Battle For Mergor, p.76 ff. 

7 
ST, 25 Sept 1961. 

8-
Ibid., 22 Sept 1961 (Goh Kong Sweo). 

, . 
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While Singapore's political struggle took shape the Government 

negotiated with Kuala Lumpur. On 23 August 1961 the first talks 

were held following which a communique was issued which included 

the following: 

Among matters discussed was the question of Federation 
responsibility for defence, external affairs and 
security. The Singapore Prime Minister laid particular 
stress on the necessity of Singapore's retaining 
local autono~, especially on matters of education 
and labour. Both Prim' Ministers have agreed in 
principle on these proposals. 1 

On 14 September a working party was set up to examine t~ese 

proposals in greater detail 1 and on 11 November in an exchange of 

letters the two Prime Ministers agreed to its recommendations as 

the basic terms for merger. On 15 November these terms were 

published in Singapore in what became known as the Heads of 

Agreoment. 2 Broadly, they allowed that 1) the federal government 

would control security, external affairs and defence§ 2) Singapore 

would remain a free port, not implement 'Malay rights', and retain 

autono~ in labour and education; 3) Singapore citizens would 

become Federation nationals, entitled to vote only in Singapore; 

and 4) in view of its limited autono~, Singapore would receive 

only 15 seats in the federal parliament. The overall concept was 

clear• Malaya was to control Singapore's security but isolate 

herself as far as possible from the turbulent politics of the city 

state. On 6 December the Singapore Legislative Assembly declared 

its approval of these t~rms after a debate marked by virulent 

Barisan hostility to Singapore's under-representation and restrictions 

on citizenship.3 

In Malaya the parliamentar.y dominance of the Alliance ensured 

a relatively untroubled passage for the merger proposals. On 16 

October 1961 the Tunku asked for, and received, parliamentary 

approval of his policy, which ruled out complete merger due to 

fear of Singapore's Chinese who were considered to be inclined 

towards 'Chinese chauvinism•. 4 It was revealed that on 3 October 

the British Prime Minister had approved the scheme and tha t later 

the Tunku would visit London for discussions. During the debate 

mild but unanimous hostility to the merger proposals was expressed, 

by the opposition parties: the PPP and the Socialist Front 

1 

(Heads of 
2 
Ibid •• 

3 
SLA,Debs, vol .15 no.16, 6 Doe 1 96~ ~ 

4 
MPD,HR, 16 Oct 1961, p.1590 ff. 
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demanding, like the Barisan, complete merger, the PMIP opposing any 

addition of non-Malays to the Federation. 1 

Between 20 and 22 November 1961 the Tunku visited London for 

talks with the British Government. At their conclusion, a 

communique was issued which included the following: 

the British and Malayan Governments are convinced 
that this [Malaysia] is a desirable aim •••• 
Before coming to any formal conclusion it is 
nocessar,y to ascertain the views of the peoples of 
North Borneo and Sarawak. It has accordingly been 
decided to sat up a commission to carry out this 
task and to make rccommendations •••• In the light of 
the commission's report the two Governments will 
decide what further stops should be taken. 2 

It was to those Borneo states that attention now shifted. 

The Borneo territories which the Tunku proposed be included 

in the merger scheme were the British protected Sultanate of 

Brunei and the crown colonies of Sabah and Sarawak. The two 

colonies had only coma under direct British control after the 

Japanese war and by 1961 they were still politically primitive. 

Sparsely populated, racially and linguistically oven more 

heterogeneous than Malaya, and economically less developed, Sabah 

an~ Sarawak wore experiencing the leisurely paternalism of British 

rule1 independence remained for the distant futuro. Since 1953 

soma moves had boon made towards integrating tho administration of 

the three states, and on 7 February 1958 the British had tentatively 

suggested a Bornean Foderation. 3 Little enthusiasm on the part of 

the local people was in evidence, many feeling that further 

developm~nt was necessary before independence could be contemplated. 4 

The explanation of the Tunku's desire to include these 

territories is to be found in an examination of the communal 

composition of their populations. As in Singapore and Malaya a 

substantial part of the populations are Chinese who would form the 

largest single community if the states were combined. The Chinese 

1 
Ibid., 17 Oct, 18 Oct 1961. 

2 
Report of the Co~ission of Enqui;y, North Borneo and Sarawak, 
196~ (London, HMSO, Cmnd, 1794) p.1. 
3 
Sarawak by the Week, (SKW) 6/58, 2-8 Fob 1958. 

4 
Sarawak, Council Negri Debates, (SCN, Dobs) 9 May 1958, cols.69-79, 

and 12 Sept 1958, col.29-40. 



Table 10 Sarawak 1962 Population by Race* 

iaoe 

Chinese 
Sea Dayak (Iban) 
Mal ay 
Land Dayak 
Melanau 
Other native 
Other non-native 
European 

Total 

QQQ.! 
244.4 
241.5 
136.2 
60.9 
46.0 
39· 3 
6.9 
1. 7 

776.9 

* Sarawak Annual Report, 1962 p.11. 

per cent 

31.5 
31.1 
17.5 
7.8 
5.9 
5.1 
0.9 
0.2 

100.0 
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in :Borneo are, as in Malaya, largely urban dwellers and the large 

towns of the area are predominantly Chinese. 1 In Sarawak, 

In the education field they had their own system while 
in the economic field they ware well ahead of the 
native races. Their language, customs traditions 
and culture were distinct •••• Their feelings, especially 
those of the Chinese educated, were mora projected 
towards China than Sarawak. 2 

Table 111 Sabah 1960, Population by Race* 

OOOs 

Kadazan 
Murut 
:Ba.jau 
Other native 
Chinese 
European 
Other 

Total 

145~2 
22.1 
59.7 
79.4 

104.5 
1. 9 

41.5 

454.421 

* Sabah: Annual Report 1963, p.7. 

per cant 

32.0 
4·9 

13.1 
17.5 
23.0 
0.4 
f). 1 

100.0 

Under the Rajah Brooke regime, which preceded British rule, the 

Chinese community of Sarawak 'was existing as "a state within a 

state" '. 3 By 1961 there was little indication that this situation 

had changed significantly and 82 per cent of Chinese were being 

1 
Of the 236,000 Chinese in Sarawak in 1961, 76,000 lived in or near 

Kuching, 52,000 near Sibu, 10,500 near Miri: 57 per cent were 
concentrated around the 3 larger towns, Sarawak, Annual Report .:t961, 
p.77. In Sabah of 104,542, 26,500 lived near Sandakan, 20,000 near 
Jessolton, 15,000 near Tawau: this represents 60 per cent of the 
total, North Borneo, Report of the Census ••• by L.W.Jones 
(Jesselton, 1960). 
2 
Liang Kim Bangr Sarawak, 1911-1957, (No.5r Singapore Studies on 

Borneo and Malaya, Uni. of Singapore, 1964) p.3. 
3 
Ibid., p.32; Tom Harrisson (ed): The Peoples of Sarawak (Kuching, 

Govt._Printing Office, 1959) p. 134. 
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educated in the Chinese language. 1 The Chinese were the most 

advanced race, growing most rapidly and China-orienteda2 in many 

ways they were beginning to dominate Sarawak. But the Chinese were 

not universally more advanced. There existed a substantial number 

of rural Chinese, particularly in the First Division, and . 

'it is immediately apparent that the economic position of the 

Chinese in rural areas is almost identical with that of the Malaya 

and Dayaks'. 3 Similarly many of the urban Chinese were far from 

prosperous. The basis for a disaffected Chinese minority, similar 

to that in Malaya, clearly existed. 

Of the other communities, it is perhaps their heterogeneity 

that is most striking. The Malays were ·in many ways unlike those 

of the peninsula and it was to Brunei, whose Sultan had in the past 

ruled nort~-western Borneo, 'that their allegiance was often cast.4 

The natives were the most backward of all the communities; largely 

rural dwellers and illiterate, they were conscious of their relative 

backwardness, envious of the wealth of the Chinese co!lliiilnity and 

resentful of the Malaya for the political power they had held.5 

As in Malaya the removal of British power could throw these communal 

divisions into sharper relief. 

The reasoning behind the Tunku 1s proposal to include the Borneo 

territories was essentially comrm.mal: a straight merger between 

Malaya and Singapore would make the Chinese tho largest single 

community; the inclusion of the Borneo territories would give this 

preponderant position to the indigenous peoples. An unspoken rider 

to this argument was that the Bornean natives would accept the 

peninsular Malay leadership. Although this assumption may not have 

been well founded, it is possible that only by so arguing could 

the Alliance leadership convince the more communally minded members 

of UMNO to accept Singapore's entry into the proposed federation. 6 

1 
Sara.wak, Annual Report, 1961. 

2 
Richard Outrams 'The Sarawak Chinese', Ch.10, Tom Harrisso~a 

op.cit., p.128; Ju-K'ang T'iena op.cit.; L.W.Jonesa Sarawaka 
Report on the Census of Population taken 15 June 1960, pp.46 and 79. 
3 
Ju-K'ang T'iens op.cit., p.21.·· . 

4 
John 1ioatley: 'The Malays•, Tom Harrissonl op.cit., pp.110-1. 

5 
A.J.N.Richardsl 'The Ibans', Tom Harrisson: op.cit., p.22. 

6. 
Robert 0. Tilman: 'Malaysiar The Problems of Federation', 

The Western Political guarterly, Doe 1963, p.903. 
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At the time of the Tunku's proposal there existed in the Borneo 

states three political parties. The oldest, the Party Ra'~at, was 

a Malay party in Brunei. The other two parties were in Sarawak, 

reflecting the fact that that state, which by 1957 was almost fully 

covered by representative local councils, was more politically 

advanced than Sabah. The Sarawak United Peoplae Party (SUPP) was 

founded in 1959. Ostensibly multi-racial, SUPP was increasingly 

dominated by the Chinese. During the late 1950s the Sarawak 

Government had warned of the existence of a conmunist movement in 

the state. 1 In 1961, when it refused to register the Farmers' 

Association, which it accused of being designed to propagate 

communism among Chinese smallholders, the Government accused SUPP 

of being heavily infiltrated by the communists. 2 In any event by 

May 1961 SUPP was largely Chinese and radical in character. The 

Party Nagara Sarawak (PANAS) was formed in 1960 and was predominantly 

a Ya.lay party. 

The Malaysia proposal brought a rapid acceleration of Bornean 

political development. 3 The races of the states had had little 

experience in inter-communal or non-communal political cooperationa 

thus when political development came it was largely along communal 

lines.4 Previously mutually non-intrusive, the communities, perhaps 

to a greater degree than in Malaya, competed to stake their claim 

to a share in the position the British were to vacate. In Sarawak 

the natives feared that if independence came too quickly the 

economically more advanced Chinese would dominate the State's 

politics; the Chinese were afraid that independence would bring, 

as it had elsewhere in Southeast Asia, restrictions on their 

activities. The issue of Malaysia was considered in communal 

terms.5 During the year or so that followed the Tunku's proposal, 

political parties proliferated in Borneo; each party was communally 

based. The political structure was built on the pre-existing 

1 
SCN,Debs, 3 Dec 1957, col.3 ff. 

2 
Communism and the Farmers (Kuching, 1961); SCN,Debs, 1 Aug 1961, 

cols. 9-11. 
3 
G.P.Meansa 'Malaysia: A New Federation in South East Asia', 

Pacific Affairs, Summer 1963, p.146. 
4 
Sir Charles Noble Arden Clarke: Note on Development of Local 

Government in Sarawak (Kuching, 1947), para.5; Emily Sadkaa 
'Malaysia: The Political Background', Silcock and Fisk (eds)a 
op.cit., p.45. 
5 

See Edwin Lee: 'Sarawak in the Early Sixties' , in Liang Kim 
:Bang: op.cit •.• 
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communal divisions, a process encouraged by the Alliance parties 

of Malaya. This was to have the effect in Sarawak of isolating 

the Chinese, among whom few supporters of an MCA-style Chinese 

party could bo found. 

As the North Borneo Annual Report pointed out, 'it was natural 

enough that the first reactions of articulate public opinion to 

the Malaysia proposal should be ones of suspicion and anxiety'. 1 

On 9 July 1961 the Chairman of SUPP, Ong Koe Hui, the leader of 

the Brunei Party Ra'ayat, Azahari, and Sabah's loading political 

figure, Donald Stephens, met in Jesselton and exprossod the opinion 

that the people of Borneo opposed the schome. 2 Significantly this 

followed a visit by the Tunku to Borneo, during which his patronising 

attitude appears to have aroused hostility.3 From that time, 

however,tho pro-Malaysia cause gathered strength. At a meeting of 

the Commonwealth Parliamentary Association in Singapore at the end 

of July, the Malaysia Solidarity Consultative Committee (MSCC) was 

set up to disseminate information favourable to Malaysia.4 Further, 

at that meeting Stephens became more favourable to Malaysia, though 

wanting independence before fedoration;5 two weeks later, after talks 

with the Tunku, he favoured Malaysia loss equivocally6 and became 

Chairman of the MSCC.. Similarly in Sarawak both PANAS 7 and the 

native Sarawa.k Natio~l Party (SNAP)8 after initial opposition came 

to favour the scheme. But by the beginning of 1962 it seemed that 

Bornean opinion towards the scheme was still far from united.9 

In February 1962 the Commission of Enquiry arrived in Borneo 

and collected information concerning opinion in the two states 

with regard to Malaysia. In August 1962 its findings wore 

published. The basis of its conclusions was contained in the 

1 
North Borneo, Annual Report4 1961, p.2. 

2 
~' 10 July 1961;soe also Stephens' letter, ibid., 18 July 1961. 

3 
See Straits Budget, 12 and 19 July 1961. 

4 
Report of the Commission of Engui;y, pp.98-105. 

5 
ST, 11 Aug 1961 • 

6 
Ibid., 15 Aug 1961. 

7 
Ibid., 11 Aug 1961. 

8 
§~wak~~he_~~~. 3 0 /63, 21-7 July 1963, p.2 ;-
9 
SCN,Debs, 9 Aug 1961, col.72 ff. Lee Kuan Yew thought it was 

hostiloi SLA.,Debs, vol.14 no.23, 2~1 July 1961, col.1672. 



following section: 

About ono third of the population in each territory 
strongly favours early realisation of Malaysia 
without too much concern about terms and conditions. 
Another third, ~any of them favourable to the 
Malaysian project, ask, with varying degrees of 
emphasis, for conditions and safeguards varying in 
nature and extent •••• The romaining'~hird are divided 
between those who insist on independence before 
Malayeia ••• and those who would strongly prefer to 
see British rule continue. If the conditions ••• could 
be met the second category ••• would generally support 
the proposals ••• [but] there will romain a hard core 
vocally and politically active, which will oppose 
Malaysia ••• this hard core might amount to 20 per 
cent of the population of Sarawak and somewhat less 
in North Borneo. 1 
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In the light of subsequent events it is necessary to try to assess 

the validity and implications of these conclusions. 

It is important to examine the information available to 

Borneans on the subject of Malaysia. It appears that the only media 

expressing outright hostility to Malaysia were in the Chinese 

language, particularly in Sarawak. 2 Although it has been suggested 

that local British officials may have privately opposed Malaysia, all 

official iDform~tion appro~od tho concept, with limited reservations, 

and received widespread ciroulation.3 In addition the MSCC was 

taking a similar line in its efforts tc 'promote and expedite the 

realisation of Malaysia'. 4 The Governments were also anxious to 

emphasise the lack of attractive alternatives; 

If [a Sarawakian] finds tho idea of Sarawak joining 
Malaysia etill too novel he should stop to ask 
himself a second question, 'What is the alternative?' 
•••• This opportunity to attain independence by joining 
Malaysia is unlikely to recur and Sarawak may be 
left with no other alternative than a perilous 
existence as a small defenceless country in a large 
and predatory world. 5 

The British-controllod Bemoan Governments clearly favoured of 

the sc~ome. Again, in assessing the findings of the Commission, 

1 
Report of the Commission of Engui;Y, pp.41-2. 

2 
Extracts from the Chinese and Kalay Press in Sarawak (ECMPS), 

Min Chong Pau (Sibu)a 9,10,12,13,11 and 20 Feb 1962; Sin Won Pau: 
9,17 and 20 Feb 1962. 
3 
Mal~ysia and Sarawak (Kuching, Je.n· .... , 1962); North Borneo and 

Malaysia (Josselton, Feb 1962). 
4 
Report of the Commission of Engui;Y, p.98. 

5 
Malaysia and Sarawak, p.6. 
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which consisted of two Malayan and two British members and a British 

Chairman, it is to be noted that it was hardly a disinterested 

body. It operated in part on tho assumptions that Malaysia was 

first a good idea and secondly all but inevitable. Further, 'the 

objectivity of the Commission was somewhat compromised by the 

inclusion of two Malayan members ••• who appoarod to have a standing 

brief for their gover.rument and took their positions on the 

memorandum of the MSCC, whether or not the balance of opinion as 

reported justified such a stand'. 1 The conclusions of the two 

~layans, which differed from those of the British, wore indeed 

markedly more favourable. Finally, it must be appreciated that by 

early 1962 Bornean political views and affiliations were determined 

primarily by communal considerations which, added to the degree of 

political naivite among the people, gave traditional leaders a 

position of crucial importance. These leaders, politically 

inexperienced themselves, were open to British and Malayan 

representations, whose effectiveness is perhaps best indicated by 

the rapid change of Borne~~ opinion in late 1961. 

With regard to the group that favoured Malaysia with little 

reservation, it would seem that the Commission over-estimated 

their strength. 2 It reported that this group consisted almost who~iy 
of Malays and a few Melanaus, yet combined they amounted to only 

some 12 per cent of the population. In addition many Malaya, 

particularly in the area near Brunei, looked rather to a revived 

northern Borneo federation under the Sultan of Brunei, and so 

opposed Malaysia. 

The second group, which expressed hostility to Malaysia and 

wanted independence first, may have formed a majority in mid-1961; 

by 1962 it was composed almost solely of Chinese and Brunei-orionted 

Malaya. Among the Chinese the kind of opposition varied from what 

the Commission called the 'hard core' (perhaps best represented 

by the SUPP Binalong Branch which condemned those 'who are 

anti-people, anti-people's collective leadership and puppets of 

the colonialists• 3) to the Miri Chinese Chamber of Commerce which 

feared the extension to Sarawak of Malaya's restrictions on the 

Chinese. 4 The Chinese were rapidly becoming the dominant community 

1 
Sadka: op.cit., p.50. 

2 
Report of the Commission of Enguir,y, pp.15-6. A reading of the 

Report certainly gives this impression which was, in the author's 
case, substantiated by an interview with a senior Malaysian official, 
Kuala Lumpur, April 1966. 
3 

.. 

Extracts - from theChi~ and Mala~Press in Sarawak, 44/62, 
Min Chong Pau (Sibu), 23 Feb 1962. 
4 

Ibid., 43/62, China Daily News, 22 Feb 1962. 



in Sarawak and would so become in Sabah: Malaysia woula deprive 

them of that position. 1 Further, in Sarawak in particular, communism 

had made considerable inroads into the Chinese communitya the ileft 

wing Chinese that Malaysia was designed to restrict in Singappre, 

formed possibly an even larger proportion of Sarawak's Chinese 

population than that of Singapore. 2 Chinese opposition to the 

scheme was extensive. 

The third group to which the Commission referred may be divided 

into two sectione: 1) those who favoured the continuation of 

British control, and 2) those who would accept Malaysia providing 

adequate safeguards for Bornean interests wore included in the 

federal arrangements. When it became clear to those in section 1) 

that their objective was unattainable, most merged with section 2). 

It is this group that is perhaps deserving of most attention, 

including as it did the majority of the natives of both states, for 

it wn.s the natives that electorally held the detenninative position3 

and could be expected to dominate any representative govenrument 

in the immediate future. The natives approved unonthusiastically 

of Malaysia and the two future Chief Ministers initially opposed 

the scheme. 4 The support of the natives was conditional and only 

if their conditions were met could it be argued that Malaysia had 

majority support in either state. Only to the extent that Malaya 

nourished this good-will would Malaysia rest on firm foundations 

in Borneo. The natives would not be unconditional supporters of 

Malay political hegemony.. In 1962 the British and perhaps to a. 

lesser extent the Malayan Governments wore aware of this situation 

and following the report of the Commission sot up an Inter­

Governmental Committee to determine the Bemoan terms of entr.y.5 

There seemed every likelihood of an equitable constitutional 

arrangement being established, but the method of its implementation 

would be equally important. 

In Singapore the 'battle for merger' continued. From Januar,y 

to September the referendum issue dominated the state's politics. 

By January it had become clear that the Barisan was unable to gain 

1 
Report of the Commission of En~, pp.6 and 35. 

2 
As the r elative electoral strengths of SUPP and the Barisan 

indicated. 
3 
Due, as in Malaya, to their more (politicall~ effective geographic 

distribution coupled with numerical superiority. 
4 
Ningkan, leader of SNAP, and Donald Stephens. 

5 
Mala sia: Re ort of the Inter-Governmental Committee 1 62 

(London, HMSO, Cmnd. 1954, Feb 19 3 • 



57 

enough defections from the PAP in the Assembly to form a majority1 

(even though in July a further defection occurred2). The Barisan 

would havo to defeat the PiU? at the polls, at that stage a likely 

possibility. On 9 July 1962 Lee intrpduced the final reading of the 

Referendum Bill. The bill proposed that tho voters of Singapore 

choose botwoon three alternative merger terms: 1) those set out in 

the Roads of Agreement; 2) unconditional merger like Penang (which 

Lee contended that the Barisan sought); or 3) on terms no less 

favourable than those obtained by the Borneo territories. 3 In a 

long, hostile speech Dr Lee Siow Choh set out the Barisan's argument. 4 

Ho contended that the PAP should hold an election on the issue or 

at least offer the voters a chance to reject merger in the referendum. 

The PAP, said Dr Leo, had no clear mandate for merger and had been 

rejected at Anson when seeking endorsement for the plan. (Thia was 

probably not far from the truth: it seams unlikely that the PAP's 

support in 1959 was due to its policy of merger with the Federation.) 

The Barisan sought full merger with Malaya with common citizenship 

and proportional representation: if this wore not offered as an 

alternativo,tho party would campaign for blank ballots. On 11 July 

Bani moved that the Barisan proposals be included as a fourth 

alternative.5 The PAP proposals wore passed 29 votes to 17. 6 

Tho opposition parties7 then formed a Council of Joint Action 

and took their caso to the UN Spacial Committee of Twenty four (on 

colonialism) contending that the referendum did not accord with the 

rights of solf-dotermination of peoples. Loo Kuan Yew, ~ routo 

for London, appeared boforo the Committee and defended his position. 

The Committee passed a resolution that the petition ought 'not be 

taken cognizance of 1 •
8 

On 1 September 1962 the Singapore referendum was hold, after 

the Barisan had announced that 'the united opposition has no choice 

but to call on the people of Singapore to cast blank votes as a 

protest against this undeoocratic ono-sided merger'.9 In the event 

1 
Sk\,Debs, vol.16 no.?, 24 Jan 1962, co1.581 ff. 

2 
Ibid., vol.19 no.5, 13 July 1962, cols.482-628. 

3 
SLA,Dobs, vol.19 no.1, 9 July 1962, col.26 ff. 

4 
Ibid., col.41 ff. 

5 
Ibid., 11 July 1962, col.274 ff. 

6 
Ibid., cols.390-4. 

7 
That is, those opposed to tho referendum terms. 

8 
UN Documents A/A.C 109/Pot. 18 of 18 July 1962, and A/AC 109/Pot. 

18 add 1 of 26 July 1962. 
9 
Tho Plebian, 18 July 1962. 
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71 per cent of tho votes were cast for alternative 1), and 25 per 

cent wore blank. 1 Whether this accurately roflected Singapore 

opinion on the subject is difficult to gauge, for the PAP had made 

extensive use of its considerable abilities and opportunities for 
2 political management. 

Various aspects of tho referendum campaign are deserving of 

mention. After a visit to London, Lee announced on V, .August that 

all Singapore citizens would become Federal citizens under an 

agreed change to the Heads of Agreomont. 3 This blunted one of the 

Barisan's fiercest attacks, but appears to have boon a change in 

name only. Again, the PAP made no secret of its use of ~eh of 

the mass media which it controlled as the government of the day. 4 

Finally it must be emphasised that the voters were not given an 

opportunity to vote against morger, and that the PAP had provided 

that blank ballots should be cast for one of the alternatives by 

the Legislative Assembly, in fact by the PAP itself. The effect 

of the Tunku's warnings both in and to Singapore that the Barisan 

sbould be rejected5 can only be guessed at. But for all that, the 

PAP had recorded an impressive majority: a performance it would 

have been unlikely to have repeated in an election at that time. 

B,y late 1962 the creation of Malaysia was progressing apace. 

The British had accepted (if they had not initiated) the proposal6 

and appear to have been determined to ensure that it rested on 

as firm a foundation as possible. For the Foreign Office and 

Colonial Office, federation in many w~s appeared to be the standard 

method for small dependencies to achieve independence: the Nigerian, 

African, Caribbean and South Arabman Federations had yet to encow1ter 

grave difficulties. Intrinsically it is difficult to apply the 

doctrine 'bigger moans better' to the Malaysia scheme. To argue 

that a northern Borneo federation or an independent Singapore 

would not be 1viable 17 is to beg a number of questions, and is all 

1 
m_, 3 Sept 1962. 

2 
See also Leifor: op.cit., p.112. 

3 
.§!, 15 Aug 1962. 

4 
E.~. 'We are proud wo have used radio and teleVision': SLA,Dobs, 

14 June 1963, col.1216 (Rajaratnam). 
5 
~' 26 March and 16 April 1962. 

6 
ST, 12 Oct 1960: 

the early 1950s. 
7 

Malcolm MacDonald had suggested such schemes in 
See ?..lso Borneo fulletin, 6 Fob 1960. 

The Malaysian Government does just this: Malaysia: Official Year 
Book 1963 (Kuala Lumpur, 1964) p.32. 
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but impossible to demonstrate. In the same way it might be oontenied 

that a Chinese chauvinist or ccmnunist Singapore would have presented 

less of a security risk to the Federation were it independent than if 

it were in the Federation. But the Malayan Government thought 

differently. 

The Federation of Malaysia as it was developing seemed likel~ot 

only to suppress the conununists within its borders as its propounders 

intended 1 
1 but also to discrimi.na te against the Chinese • Opposition 

to the scheme generally came fran two sources: Chinese and Malay. 

Its most dangerous opponents were the Chinese educated, radical in 

outlook, who opposed Malaysia for both ideological and radical 

reasons. Various parties representing these Chinese elements had 

met in Kuala Lumpur early in 1962 in an attempt to unify their 

opposition.2 But despite other inter-party links,3 the Chinese 

parties remained essentially state based. Among the Malaya it was 

again communal extremists who opposed the scheme. The PlviTP 

opposed the entry of more non-Malays into Malaya and the Brunei 

Malaya were more concerned to reassert Malay regemony in Borneo. 

Given the existence of these two centres of opposition, each 

essentially camnunal, it was far fran clear what proportion of the 

population concerned favoured MalG.ysia, particularly in Singapore 

and Sarawak. 4 The State Governments were each subjected to internal 

pressures of various kinds: the Borneo states were ar.LXious to 

retain their separate identity; the PAP had to avoid giving offence 

to moderate Chinese chauvivists, for it was for their vo·bes that it 

was competing with the Barisan; the Alliance was always 

susceptible to extremist M~ demands. 

Malaya since independence had faced the problems inherent in 

a pluralist society. Although there had been little evidence o:f the 

gt"ovrth of non-camnunal cooperation or of Malayan nationalism, given 

the extent of camnunal divisions, the continued. hal'mcnious 

co-existence of the various camnunities was a considerable achievement. 

To add to the delicate but thus far stable political structure of 

Malaya the potentially turbulent states of Borneo and 

Singapore, seemed likely to engender difficulties. The parties 

~~ 

MI'D 1 HR, 11 Jan 1962, vol.III, no.25, pp.2647-8. 
2 
See Straits Bud~et, 31 Jan and 7 Feb 1962. 

3 
Extracts fran the Chinese and Mala;y Pr.J:!_~s in Sarawak, Sin Wen 
~~ 10--Nov 1962. 
4 
SON, ,~, 26 Sept 1962, col. 17 ff. 
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to the plan were aware of this and recognised the need for compromise 

on all sides, for each estimated that it stood to gain sufficiently 

overall for it to waive pressing its case too firmly in the 

particular. For Britain the plan presented the opportunity to end 

colonial rule in Borneo and Singapore b.lt to transfer its own control 

to a friendly Government which seemed unlikely to interfere with 

Britain's economic and militar,y interests. The PAP saw in Malaysia 

the solution to Singapore's long term political and economic 

problems. The Borneo states could attain independence within a 

state, it was argued, 1 that would be more viable than the Borneo 

states independently or in federation, yet they would retain 

considerable local autono~. Finally, for Malaya the plan offered 

the opportunity for it to control Singapore's political future and 

prevent developments unpalatable to Kuala Lumpur, and yet isolate 

itself from what it considered to be the turbulent and dangerous 

politics of the island. If each party would accept the attainment 

by the others of their principal objectives, Malaysia seemed likely, 

in lata 1962, to provide a neat if intricate solution to the 

communal, political, economic and strategic problems of the area. 

1 
See J.R.Angela 'The Proposed Federation of North Borneo, Brunei 

and Sarawaka The Development and Decline or British Borneo 1 

(M.A.Thesis, Sydney University, 1965) for an extensive disoassion 
of this subject. 
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0RA.P.rER THREE 

Malaysia and Confrontation 

Tho first armod opposition to tho Malaysia project was 

exporioncod in December 1962 when an insurrection broke out in 

Brunei. The revolt was quickly suppressed, but not before tho 

Indonesian Government had mado its sympathy for tho robolo apparent. 

By J anuar_y 1963 this sympathy had evolved into open opposition 

to Malaysia, amd tho policy of confrontation was announced. During 
• 

the nine months or so preceding tho formation of Malaysia, the pa~tias 

involved in tho project wore beset not only by tho nood to· reconcile 

their differences but by the difficulties inherent in vigorous 

oxtornal opposition. The success of the Malaysia project appeared 

to bo dependant upon the successful resolution of both these 

problems. 

Like Malaya, Indonesia was a product of European imperialism 

and was created by Dutch hegemony throughout much of tho archipelago. 

Indonesian nationalism and tho movomont for indopondonco began 

f. largely in tho interwar yoars and wore nourished by the Japanese 

occupation 1942 to 1945. In 1945 tho Indonesians woro unwilling 

to accept the re-introduction of Dutch imperialism, tho Dutch wore 

equally determined to return • . The TS r tr struggle which resul tad 

was oAded in 1949 with the creation of the independent Republic of 

Indonesia. 1 Tho new Republic at first adopted a constitutional 

form of government but it was apparent that political instability 

and administrative inefficiency wore likely to become its 

permanent features. By tho late 1950s those whom Faith calls the 

'solidarity makers' wore replacing the 'administrators•. 2 The 

need for the former may be appreciated. Although most Indonesians 

wore Muslims and belonged to a common ethnic group, among the 

peoples of tho three thousand islands set in as many miles of 

ocean, diversity was the rule, nationalism lacked a broad base, 

national unity was a problem and secessionist movements always 

a possibility. In 1948 a communist uprising had threatened the 

embryonic republic; throughout the 1950s the Darul Islam movement 

controlled parts of the archipelago· and in 1958 rebellions broke 

1 
Sea A.M.Taylorr 

(Stevens, London, 
2 

Indonesian Independence and the United Nations 
1960). 

H.Feitha The Decline of Constitutional Democracy in Indonesia 
(Cornell UP, 1962). 



out in Sumatra and the Celebos. Djakarta's control of outlying 

provinces was often tenuous. 

In some respects Indonesian foreign policy may be seen as a 

product of those factors. Their experiences with the Dutch, 

particularly after World War II, left Indonesians passionately 

anti-imperialist. Rapidly this WRS translRted into the positive 

enthusiasm shown by the Indonesian Government for Afro-Asian 
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cooporatior_ in 1955 Indonesia plRyed host to the Bandung Conference 

~nd in September 1961 the non-aligned conference at Belgrade 'saw 

Sukarno omorgo as a principal spokosmqn of the uncommitted world'. 1 

Anxious to remove tho stigma of being labelled 'a nation of coolies 

and a coolie among the nations', 2 by the 1960s Indonesia had become 

self-assertive. The existence of the various centrifugal forces 

also made Indonesia extremely sensitive to threats to its national 

unity, and indications that Western powers had aided the 1958 

rebellions did nothing to check ~ho incroqsing anti-Western 

orientation of the Govornmont. 3 

lbt during the 1950s the West Irian dispute dominated Indonesian 

foreign policy. 4 At the time of the gmnting of independence to 

Indonesia, the Netherlands retained control of the western part of 

Now Guinea. The Indonesians regarded this as a temporary solution 

but it quickly became apparent that the Dutch had little intention 

of relinquishing West Irian (as the Indonesians referrod to the 

territory) to Djakarta. Arguing that it was the successor state to 

the Netherlands East Indies and so possessed sovereignty over West 

Irian, Indonesia consistently, vocally and unsuccessfully pressed 

its claim.5 By 1957 h~ving fail ed to get UN intervention in tbo 

dispute, Indonesia adopted more f orceful measures: the issue had 

become a national crusade. In 1957 Dutch onterprises were 

nationalised and di plo~~tic relations with the H~gue were broken. 

1 
H.Faith: '~namics of Guided Democracy', Ch.8, Ruth T. McVey 

(ed): Indoneeia,(Yale Universit~Now Haven,1963), p.254. 
2 

Independence Day Address by Sukarno, 17 August 1963, G.Modelski 
(ed): The New Emerging Forces, (ANU, Canberra, 1963), p.107. 
3 
Ibid., p.126. 

4 
J.D.Legge~ 'Indonesia after West Irian', Australian Outlook, 

April 1963, p.5. 
5 

Robort C. Bono, Jr: The D,vnamics of the Western Now Guinea 
{Irian Ba.rat)Problem ( Comell University, Ithaca, New York, 1958); 
Justus M.van der Kroof: The West Now Guinea Dispute (Institute for 
Pacific Relations, Now York, 1958); H.Feith: The West New Guinea 
Conflict, Some Political and ~thical Aspects, Paper Presented to 
the Now Guinea Society, Australia, 28 June 1961. 



Djakarta began an intense and successful campaign for diplomatic 

support, particularly among Afro-Asian states, and increased her 

military strength, largely with Soviet aid. 1 By 1962, Indonesia 

had begun 'confrontation' against the Dutch in West Iriana guerrilla 

units were infiltrated into the island and a violent solution was 

threatened. Largely to avert a complete reversion to violence, the 

US mediated in the dispute, and in fact supported Indonesia. In 

August 1962, it was agreed that an interim UN administration would 

be set up in West Irian which would be taken over on 1 May 1963 by 

the Indonesians, who pledged to ascertain the wishes of the people 

of the territory by 1969. 2 Thus a rallying point for national 

unity, for such had the claim for West Irian become, was removed 

from the Indonesian political scone. 

Between the outbreak of the 1958 rebellions and the settlement 

of the West Irian dispute the internal political structure of 

Indonesia changed and the solidarity makers assumed the ascendency. 

In 1959 President Sukarno announced tho return to the 1945 

constitution which increased tho power of the President ~nd the 

executive at the expense of the representative institutions. 3 

'The emerging system of government was more authoritarian than the 

earlier one: government power was more concontrated'. 4 But the 

power of the President was not unchecked, for the army emerged as a 

political force and a counterweight to the President.5 The 

increase in the strength of the army during the later stages of the 

West Irian campaign, its firm espousal of that nationalist cause 

and the existing state of emergency combined to make it by 1961 

ono of the country's most effective political forces. 

1 
Guy J.Pauker: 'General NE!,sution's Mission to Moscow', Asian Survo:v, 

March 1961, pp.13-22, and 'The Soviet Challenge in Indonesia', 
Foreign Affairs, July 1962, pp.612-26. 
2 
Text of agreement, ~' Aug 1962, pp.25-31. Soe also Justus M. 

van der Kroef: 'The West New Guinea Settlement: Its Origins and 
Implications', Orbis, Spring 1963, pp.120-49. 
3 
See Sukarno, 1955 Independence Day .Address (text, Indonesian 

Embassy, Canberra • -
4 
Faiths 'D.ynamics', op.cit., p.327. 

5 
Daniel S.Lev: 'The Political Role of the Army in Indonesia', 

Pacific Affairs, Winter 1963-4, pp.349-64; Guy J.Paukera 'The 
Role of the Military in Indonesia', in J.J.Johnson (ed): The 
Milita;y in tho Underdeveloped Areas (Princeton University Prase~ 
1962). . 



At the same time, the party which most clearly benefit;ed. from 

the move towards Guided Democracy was the comm.mist party (the PKI ).1 

Crushed in 1948, the PKI grew steadily through the 1950s under the 

leadership of Aidit, until 'by 1961 the Ha had become the most 
2 powerful political party in Indonesia t • Efficiently organiilod, 

energetically led and nationally oriented, tho PKI had sympathisers 

in most seotiona of Indonesian society. Apparently in order to 

offset the strength of the a~, Sukarno helpod protect the PKI• 
~~~BE~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~oer· As a result, 

whereas in 1961 the Indonesian government structure might have been 

seen as a balance between the armw and the President, by lata 1962 

it was more like a triangular relationship between Sukamo, the anqy 

and the PKI, the latter being two mutually hostile• 3 

Guided Democracy introduced a now chapter to Indonesian 

foreign policy. Perhaps ita first manifestation occurred at Belgrade 

in 1Q61 when Sukarno emerged as a radical voice in Afro-Asian politics. 

No longer did he envisage a world divided into three c~mpa, he 

oxplainod in a theme he was later to elaborate, but into two: the 

New Emerging Forces (NEFO) 'for freedom and justice•, and 'the old 

forces [OLDEFO] of domination 1 .4 As this thesis developed it 

became clear that Sukarno saw the communist countries as a part of 

NEFO. The rise of the PKI coincided with an increased willingness 

on the part of Sukarno to regard communist countries as Indonesia's 

natural allies in the world order.I nc;lodfti'an -rt-en.,.A;L g: e.nt _W@.S modi 

Under the direction of the Foreign Minister, Dr Subandrio, 

revolutionary fervour was generated. 1First of all', declared 

Subandrio in February 1962, 1 our diplomatic officers DllSt truly 

understand and oomprehond ••• diplomacy as an instrument of 

revolution, ••• Without an understanding of the character and the 

basic objectives of the National Revolution .••• our diplomats will 

1 
The Partai Komunis Indonesia. 

2 
John 0. Suttor: 'Two Faces of Confrontaei s "Crush Malaysia" and 

the Gestapu', Asian Survey, Oct 1966, p.524; soo also Juetus M. 
van der Kroof: The Communist Part of Indonesia (University of 
British Colombia, Vancouver,19 5 ; Donald Hindleya The Communist 
Party of Indonesia, 1951-63 (University of California Press, 
Berkeley, 1964). 
3 . 
H.Foitha 'President Sukarno, the A~ and the Communistsa The 

Triangle Changes Shape', Asian Survey, Aug 1964, pp.969-80. 
4 
Sukarno's Speech at the Belgrade Conference; 1 Soptombor 1961, 

Vodeleki (ad): op,cit., p.35. 
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be drmv.ned in the mere formalities of conventional diplamaqy'.1 

By 1 962, with her armed forces well and nev;ly equipped ~"1.d her 

internal revolts crushed,2 Indonesia was united, self-assertive, 

militarily strong and lacking her previous nationalist cause, West 

Irian. Under Guided Democraqy, econanic developnent with Western 

aid was being ignored 1 for the sake of greater principles , i.e., 

that social conceptions for nation building and for the building 

of a n~7 world order should not be dictated by forces which thrive 

upon colonialism and imperial exploitation•.3 Under the all 

embracing symbolism of the Revolution, Indonesia's preoccupation 

was national unity, self-respect and even la gloire. It was not_ a 

far step from being in the vanguard of the 'Revolution of :Mankind', 

to s eeking its exportation. 

In contrast to that of Indonesia, Malayan foreign policy was 

perhaps best characterisdd by the pragmatic, non-enthusiatic manner 

of its implementation. The Tunku was largely unconcerned ·with 

the subtleties of world politics. 4 As the Malayan Prime Minister 

pointed out, from the time of independence 1 it was not our 

intention to spend any more than we can help in setting up 

various missions 1 .5 Parliamentary d ebates on foreign policy were 

rare. ~~d on one occasion short~ after independence the Tunku 

denied the need for such a debate on the ground that Malaya had 

no foreign poliqy.
6 

Various aspects of poliqy may, however, 

be discerned. As on domestic issues, so in foreign poliqy the 

Alliance Government was unequivocal~ ar:tti-coomunist. 7 The Western 

position in Indo-China was clearly supportedi, and Kuala Lumpur t always 

regarded VietNam as the first line of defence for Mal~a' , 8 and 

provided equipment and training facilities far the Saigon Government.9 

t 
Speech by Subandrio to trainees of the Department of Foreig,n 

Affairs, Djakarta, 18 February 1962, in Mod.elski (ed): op.cit., p.46. 
2 
H. Feith and D.S. Lev: 1 The End of the Indonesian Rebellion', 

~aEl'ic Aff airs, Spring 1963, pp.32-46. 
3 
Subandrio, speech in Nev.r Delhi, 5 February 1963, in Modelski ( ed): 

op. ci t., p.63. 
4 . 

T .H. Silcock: 'Develop•·nent of a Malayan Foreign Policy' 1 .ll.ustralian 
0~~~ April 1963, p.42. 
5 

lviF'D, HR, 12 Dec 1957, oo1.4089. b- -
~~ 26 Nov 1957. 

7 
1IT'D, HR, 3 Sept 1959, col.3233, statement by the Tunku. 

8 
~~ 27 Oct 1961, statement by the Tunku. 

9 
Ibid., 25 Jan 1962. 
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Open contacts with Taiwan and particularly Peking were avoided on 

the grounds that both had sought to subvert the loyalties of the 

Malayan Chinese. 1 Some interest was shown in regional organisations 

and KUala Lumpur initiated both S~ and ASA, 2 but neither 

project made much progress. 3 The Alliance Government evinced 

little interest in foreign affairs and when it did it was mildly 

anti-colonial, sympathetic with the West, and clearly anti-communist. 

Perhaps the most significant aspect of Malayan foreign policy 

was the relationship with Britain. The 1956 constitutional conference 

in London, which had established the basis for Malayan independence, 

bad declareds 'thoro shall be an agreement between Hor Majesty's 

Government ••• and tbe ••• Faderation making provision for defence 

requirements and mutual assistance in defence matters•,4 and a 

working party was set up to examine tbo matter.5 The Tunku 

favoured such a treaty, defending his position in the following 

tormss 

It is said that with Commonwealth troops being 
stationed in Malaya this country would invite 
attack ••• and be used as a battlefield ••• that the 
troops would compromise the sovereignty of 
independent Malaya. In~ opinion ••• Malaya 
offers herself an easy target and will always 
be open to aggression ••• so if we are able to 
get help ••• we should welcome it. 6 

The Treaty was duly concluded in 19577 and, when it came before 

tho Malayan Parliament for ratification, was defended b,y the 

Government on two groundss 1) that the Malayan Government would 

have ultimata control over tbo deployment of the Commonwealth 

foroos,8 and 2) that without the Agreement tbo Federation would be 

1 
MPD,HR, 22 April 1960, col.289 (statement by Dato Ismail). 

2 
The abortive Southeast Asian Friendship and Economic Treaty and 

the Association of Southeast Asian States. ASA, which was formed 
with Thailand and the Philippines, ran into difficulties after 
Manila's claim to Sabah. 
3 
Silcooks op.cit., p.44. 

4 
Federation of Malaya, Legislative Council, Paper No.6 of 1956, p.6. 

5 
MPD1HR, 14 Marob 1956, col.875 ff. 

6 
Ibid., col.893. 

7 
A 

(statement by the Tvnku). 
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forced to spend considerable sums providing for its own dafencoJ 1 

But in spite of those advantages the Treaty still came in for 

criticism both from within UMNO and from the opposition parties. 2 

The Socialist Front was particularly hostilo, 3 Tan Phock Kin 

contending that the Commonwealth countries 'are merely intorostod 

in using our country as a frontline for their countr.yJ this 

particular fact, •• ia a statement from tho Australian Parliamont•. 4 

The relationship botwoen tho Commonwealth Strategic Reserve 

(the presence of which in independent Malaya tho Treaty legitimised) 

and SEATO requires some explanation, SEATO had had a poor reception 

both in Malaya and (more extensively) in Singapore,5 although the 

Alliance Government appears to havo been loss hostile to the 

organisation. 6 It was claimed in 1~laya that though the ANZAM 

powers woro members of SEATO, the Defonco Agreement did 'not involve 

the Federation with tho affairs of SEAT0'. 7 While Singapore was 

still a colony, however, thoro was nothing to prevent the Strategic 

Reserve forces being used for SEATO purposes after being redeployed 

in Singapore. By 1961, with a morgor pGnding between the two 

states, the situation appeared to require clarification. 

The first official reference to the Defence Agreement during 

the Mala1sia negotiations was contained in the Anglo-Malayan 

communique issued in London, on 23 November 1961. It declareda 

the existing defence agroement ••• should be extended 
to cover the other territories concerned. It was 
however agreed that the government o~ the federation 
in Malaysia will afford ••• tho right to continue 
to maintain bases in Singapore for the purpose of 
assisting in the defence of .~laysia, and for 
Commonwealth defence and for the preservation of 
peace in Southeast Asia. 8 

1 
Ibid., col.3346 (statement by Razak). 

2 
Yeap Gaik Khoona 'Treaties and Engagements Affecting Malaya, 

1946-60' (Unpub. thesis, University of Singapore, 1960) p.33. 
3 
MPD,HR, 23 June 1960, col.1451 ff . (Lim Kean Siew)• col.1460 ff 

(Karem Singh), 30 Nov 1960, col,298o (V.David), 
4 
Ipiq., 3 Doe 1960, ool.3264. 

5 
Weekly Digest of the Non-English Press (Singapore), 14, 17 and 21, 

1956. See Chapter Ono, supra. 
6 
The Tunku conceded that Malaya was 'in a way indirectly connected 

with SEATO',~' 12 Doe 1958. 
1 

MPD,HR, 2-3 Oot 1957, col.3281 (statement by the Tunku). 
8 

Report of the Commission of Enquiry, p.2. 
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ThG statomont was hardly a precise definition of the Commonwealth 

forces' relationship to SEATO. The PAP (probably to forestall 

domestic criticism) assorted that, with the formation of Malaysia, 

the Singapore base could not be used for SEATO purposes. 1 

Immediately after the communique was issuod, tho Tunku cabled to 

Leo that 'the British Government and ourselves emphasise Singapore 

base is not SEATO baso•, 2 and said in London that if the British 

'want to use any of tho bases in the new Malaysia for SEATO 

purposes, wo would only allow it if our own interests wore involved'.3 

The British (and Australian) Governments saw things in a different 

light, Duncan Sandys contending that the Treaty 'obviously does not 

exclude the use of the base to discharge our obligations to SEATO, 

which exists precisely for the purppse of preserving peace in South 

East Asia'. 4 But ha agreed that Singapore was not etrictly a 

SEATO base as Britain could not 'transfer control of the base•.S 

It appears that a distinction was drawn between 'SEATO purposes' 

and 'the preservation of peace in South East Asia' to placate 

potential Malaysian opposition to !EATO. Tho difficulties which 

this involved became clear when in June 1962 units of the RAF and 

RAAF flow from Malaya to Thailand (via Singapore) under SEA.'.ro 

auspices, thus raising criticisms in Malaya. 6 

It would seem that the use of Commonwealth forces in Malaya 

would be dependent on the circumstances, SEATO notwithstanding. 

Similarly with regard to control of those forces, although the 

Tunku assorted that tho 'last word on the use of the bases will 

rest with the ••• Fedoration',7 on another occasion the following 

exchange took place in Parliament~ 

1 
Times, 30 Sept 1961. 

2 
SLA, Dabs, 24 Nov 1961, p.689. 

3 
ST, 23 Nov 1961. 

4 
Ibid., 24 Nov 1961. Sec Watt: op.cit., p.58 ff, and Chapter Ono, 

supra. 
5 
The US Consul-General in Singapore was perhaps less tactful in 

describing Singapore as part of 'SEATO musclos', ST, 31 Oct 1961. 
6 -

MPD,HR, 26 June 1962, cols.936-41. See Chapter Ono, supra. 
7 
Ibid., 27 May 1963, ool.251. 



S.R.Seenivasagama To remove any doubt, 
••• Groat Britain has the right to use the base 
without the consent of the proposed Government 
of Malaysia? The Prime Minister& The 
Honourable Member is quite right •••• ! did not 
assure the British Government that the base 
could be used for SEATO purposes but I did 
say that in the event of outbreak of trouble 
in this part of the world, where our own 
security is concerned, it will bo in our 
intorest ••• to make use of this base for the 
defence of this region. 1 

Given the pro-Western orientation of the Alliance Government's 

foreign policy, tho implications of this statement were apparent. 
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Despite the affinities between the 'indigenous 12 peoples of 

Malaya and Indonesia with regard to religion, race, culture and 

language, the development of the two states in the twentieth 

century ha' produced sharp differences. The one had become 

racially pluralist, parliamentarian, tra~tionalist and capitalist, 

the othor radical and of revolutionary temper. Despite the efforts 

of Yamin,3 Boestamam4 and the PMIP,5 the concept of an Indonesia 

Raya to embrace both states has fallen on barren ground in tho 

post war years. fut Ku.a.la Lumtur quickly recognised the importa.noe 

of Indonesia, ostablished one of ita firet diplomatic missions 

there, made every effort to involve Indonesia in schemes for regional 

cooperation,6 and in 1959 concluded a Treaty of Friendship aad 

Cooperation. 7 It was within this framework, or despite it, that by 

1963 the relationship between the two states became one of violent 

animosity. 

Before the outbreak of this hostility, which may be attributed 

largely to the Indonesian reaction to the Malaysia plan, other 

sources of friction wore discernable. In 1957 at the UN, the 

1 
Ibid., 10 Jan 1962, cols.2930-1. 

2 
In this context the Malaya in Malaya. Indonesian immigrants to the 

Federation are usually accepted as Malaya. 
3 
See BackgToun~ to Indonesia's Policy Towards Malaysia (Kuala. 

Lumpur, Government Printer, 1964). 
4 
See A Plot Exposed, Cmd. Paper No.12 of 1965 (Kuala Lumpur). 

5 
The PMIP also claimed the four southern provinces of Thailand as 

1Malay'. 
6 
Nranjan Kuma Hazraa 'Malaya's Foreign Relations 19~7-63' (M.A. 

thesis, University of Singapore 1965) pp.153-5. 
7 
Malaya-Indonesian Relations (Government Printer, Kuala Lumpur 

1964)' pp.1-2. 
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Malayan delegation abstained from voting on the issue of West Irian, 

apparently due to lack of instructions,1 and, although she 
2 subsequently expressed complete support for the Indonesian claim, 

incurred press and Government criticism in Indonesia.3 In 1960 

the Tunku offered to mediate in the dispute and having received 

Indonesian consent (so the Malayan Government claims) proceeded to 

the Netherlands and proposed a solution on the basis of an interim 

UN administration. 4 Before the Tunku 1 s return Subandrio condemned 

this action as unwanted interference, and severe Indonesian criticism 

followed. Although the final solution to the West Irian problem in 

1962 followed the linos of the Tunku's proposal, West Irian was a 

sensitive issue for Indonesia and the Tunku's intervention was 

incautious and ineffective. 

The second issue was more serious. In 1958 the Malayan 

Cabinet resolved to ignore the Sumatra rebellionS but Sukarno 

insinuated shortly afterwards that Malaya was trying to dotach the 

island from Indonesia by aiding the robels. 6 Djakarta was further 

upset when the Malayan Government first granted political asylum 

to some rebels,7 then in 1960 refused to hand over some thirty 

rebels found in Penang,8 and finally refused to conclude an 

extradition treaty, proposed by Subandrio, the terms of which wore 

to include political offenders.9 The extent of Malayan involvement 

in the Sumatra revolt (despite rumours) is difficult to ascertain. 

Two journalists have reported that limited assistance to tho 

rebels came from Singapore and Sabah largely as a result of 

smuggling and ill-enforced regulations. 10 The magnitude and effect 

of these activities are unknown. The Indonesians wore less 

1 
ST, 23 Nov 1957 (Data Ismail, then Malayan representative at the UN). 

2 
Malaya-~~donosia Relations, pp.7-8. 

3 
Indonesian Observer, 24 Sept 1957. 

4 
Malaya-Indonesia Relations, pp.7-11. 

5 
~' 19 March 1958. 

6 
ST; 16 April 1958. 

7 
Malaya-Indonesia Relations, p.5. 

8 
ST, 7 and 10 Jan 1960. 

9 
Malaya-Indonesia Relations, PP·5-6 and Appendix VI. 

10 
W.Stevenson: Birds Nests In Their Beards (Houghton Mifflin, 

Boston, 1964)~ James Mossman: Rebels In Paradise (Cape, London, 1961). 



uncertain, however, Sukarno later asserting that 

Still fresh in our minds are the subversions from 
outside of the PRRI and Permesta rebellions. They 
operated from bases abroad, around us! Some operated 
from Malaya, some operated from Singapore ••• from 
Taiwan ••• from South Korea ••• the Philippines. 1 

furing her confrontation of Malaysia, in order to create sympathy 

for her policy Indonesia made much of her accusation that Malaya 

had been a willing base for subversive operations against the 

Republic. At no time did the Indonesian Government produce 

evidence which substantiated that claim. But Malaya had, however 

unwittingly, become involved in two of the most sensitive issues 

in Indonesian politicsa West Irian and national unity. 
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Dospite those issues, relations between the two statos appeared 

to be, at least on the surface, harmonious up till the Brunei 

revolt. In mid-1961 Indonesia was informed of the Malaysia plan 

and responded favoura.bly. 2 In August 1961 Lord Selkirk visited 

Djakarta and saw Suba.ndrio who, the Indonesian Observer reported, 

saw the project as 'entirely a matter for the peoples concerned 

and did not concern Indonesia'. 3 In October 1961 Subandrio saw 

Lord Home in London and repeated that view4 which ha later elaborated 

in a latter to the New York Timesa 

one fo~rth of the island of Kalimantan (Borneo) ••• 
is now becoming the target of the Malayan Government 
for a merger. Of course, the people there are 
ethnologically and geographically very close to the 
others living in Indonesian territory. Still we do 
not show excy objection •••• On the contrary we wish 
the Malayan government well if it can succeed with 
this plan. 5 

Ho added to this during a subsequent address to tho UN General 

Assembly that 'wo have no objections to such a merger based upon 

the will for froodom of the peoples concerned'. 6 Subandrio 

continued to repeat these views until mid-September 19627 after 

1 
Suka.rno's Independence Day Address, 17 August 1963, in G.Modelski 

(ed)s op.cit., p.126. 
2 
Malaya-Indonesia Relations, p.11. 

3 
Indonesian Observer, 3 Aug 1961. 

4 
r•:Times , 18 Oct 1961. 
5 
!!!, 13 Nov 1961. 

6 
Select Dooumentson International sia 

(DEA, Canberra , p. 3 • 
7 
Interview with the Sydney Morning Herald, in Subandrios Indonesia 

on the March (Djakarta, 1963), p. 291. 



72 

which Indonesia's attitude began to change. The revolt in Brunei 

proved docieive in this procoss. 

Brunei, unlike Babah and Sarawak, was not a crown colony but a. 

British protectorate. In the nineteenth century tho Sultan of 

Brunei had includod nuch of north western Bomoo in his domains but 

by the 1950s all that remained of the empire was two enclaves in 

Sarawak. Tho population numbered some eighty thousand people, of 

whom about a quarter wero Chinoso, the rest Malaya and Islamic 

natives. Tho Sultanate drow large revenues from its oil fiolds. 

In 1959 a now treaty was concluded with Britain which g.avo Brunei 

intornal self-government and anticipated elections for the Legislative 

Council. 1 These elections woro hold in August 1962 and the Party 

Ra'ayat won all sixteen of the olectod seats, another seventeen 

having been nominatod. 2 Tho party disapproved of the Sultan's 

apparent acceptance of Malaysia, preferring rather a Bornean 

federation under Brunoi leadership. Further, the leader of the 

party, Azahari, h<=td fought for tho Indonesia~ against the futch 

and had pro-Indonesian sympathies. The Sultan is reported to have 

set up a commission which found widespread opposition to Malaysia, 

but its findings were not published. 3 As early as 26 May 1962 the 

Borneo lblletin reported that about one hundred Malay youths had 

left Brunei for Indonesia and that there were rumours they would 

return to instigate a revolt. In September more such reports 

occurred and in November arms cachos and uniforms wore found in the 

jungle. Ton peoplo were arrested for plotting against the 

government. 4 Then, according to the Government of Indonesia, 

on 8 December 1962 the acknowledged leaders of the 
people of Sarawak, Brunei and North Bornoo solemnly 
proclaimed the absolute and complete independence of 
Nogara Kalimantan Utara ••• thoir struggle forms part 
of tho struggle of the Now Emerging Forces. 5 

This interpretation hardly fits the facts. 

In Brunei thoro sooms little doubt that tho revolt had widespread 

support among the non-Chineso. Its objectives appear to have boon 

to prevent the formation of Malaysia and to create a unified 

northern Borneo under Brunei 1 s direction. In Brunei, ruch of the 

1 
Brunei_: __ gmua_l Report 1959 • 

.:: 
Borneo Bulletin, 1 Sept 1962. 

3 
Plebian, 15 May 1962. 

4 Extracts from the Chine s e and Malay Press in Sarawak, tusan 
Sarawak, 8 Nov 1962. 

5 
The Problem of 'Malaysia' (Indonesian Embassy, Canberra, 1963), p.3. 
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state was overrun; but outside it the revolt's success was limited. 

In Sarawak, according to an official report, thoro were 'simultaneous 

attacks on Limbang ••• and Bokenu ••• by Kedayans and persons of other 

races with Brunei sym~~thies ••• soma were Brunei Malaya'. 1 In fact 

in Sarawak 'the whole area covorod by tho 1962 rebellion can bo 

placed on the map and closely fitted with the distribution of 

Kodayans•, 2 who were Islamic, as wero almost all the six hundred or 

so robels later captured in the stato. 3 The rovolt was restricted 

almost entirely to Malaya and Islamic natives& it could hardly 

claim to represent tho whole of northern Borneo, only a small 

proportion of the people of which were Muslims. All the then 

existing political parties of Borneo, except the Party Ra'ayat, 

condemned the rovolt. 4 

The Sultan invoked the 1959 Treaty with the UK, and British 

forces were quickly sent from Singapore. Although the rebels had 

captured much of Brunei and hold Limbang for four days, they were 

quickly overwhelmed. The revolt collapsed before the and of the 

year. Its influence had been restricted to Brunei and the Fourth 

and Fifth Divisions of Sarawak, particularly the Limbang, Miri and 

Niah areas, with a small outbreak around Sibu. 5 It appears that 

the rebels (the TNKU) 6 wore not in contact with the predominantly 

Chinese communist organisation in Sarawak but, significantly, in 

Janua.:cy 1963 the Kuching Constabula:cy reported that a number of 

youths from tho First and Third Divisions had gone into the jungle 

to join the cco.7 
The Malayan8 and British9 Governments have both aoousod 

Indonesia of aiding the rebels. Azahari has denied this, 10 but it 

1 
Sarawak, Annual Report 1962, p.104. 

2 
Tom Harrisson: Background to a Revolt (Brunei, 1963). 

3 
Sarawak by the Wook,,(SKW) Doe 1962 to April 1963. 

4Extracts from the Chinese and Mala_y Pr ess- in Sarawa , China 
Daily News, 1 0 Dec 1962. 
J 
Ibid •• 

6 
Tho Tentara Nasional Kalimantan Utara (the National A~ of 

North Kalimantan). 
7 
S~a~aw~i< by nie Week; 2 - 6 , 6-12 , p.28 :-

Indonosian Involvement in Eastern Mala..ysia (Government Printer, 
Kuala Lumpur, 1964), pp.S0-1; MPD,HR, 11 Dec 1962 (statement by the 
Tunku on the Brunei revolt). 
9 
mrr.~,HC, vol.669, 10 Doe 1962, col.35 (Sanjys). 

10 
ST, 3 Deo 1963. 
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is clear that the rebels expected assistance from Indonesia. 1 

Perhaps more importantly, Indonesia quickly expressed sympathy for 

the rovolt. 2 B,y January 1963 it was clear that Indonesia opposed 

the whole Malaysia concept, and confrontation was announoed, 3 

For this apparent volte face on the part of Djakarta, some 

explanation is needed. 

For those Governments involved in opposing confrontation, it was 

clearly necessary to make some assessment of the rationale for 

Indonesia's policy if any effort was to be made to forestall it. 

An explanation of the reasons for Indonesia's policy ia difficult 

to arrive at, tho ostensible reasons having both changed in the 

course of time and involved mutually contradictory claims. Broadly 

two categories of causes may be discerned: (1) those attributable 

to the international situation J22.!:..!!j!,, and ( 2) those directly 

related to and only explicable by reference to domestic Indonesian 

politics. Malaysia and her supportors could do little to alter 

the latter, the former appeared to be susceptible to modification. 

Perhaps underlying all other factors was 'the powerful, self­

righteous thrust of Indonesian nationalism• 4 and its notion of 

Indonesia's place in the world. Encouraged by the Government's use 

of aggressive symbolism,5 possessing an increasingly assertive 

brand of state ideology, ccnscioue of its new-found military strength, 

and perhaps viewing the culmination of the West Irian campaign as 

something of an anti-climax, Indonesia appeared anxious in 1963 to 

stake its claim to being a major force in Southeast Asia. As nn 

official statement declared, 'it is the view of the Indonesian 

Government that any change in the status quo of the region ••• 

should be regarded as a matter for mutual consultations among the 
6 countries most concerned'. In August 1963 Sukarno proudly boasted 

1 
See Douglas Hydo: Confrontation in the East (Bodley Head, London, 

1965) p.63 ff. 
2 
Indon Herald, 11 Doe 1962. See also Sutter: op.cit., p.526. 

3 
Indon Herald, 21 Jan 1963. 

4 
George MeT. Kahinz 'Malaysia and Indonesia', J?acifjc Affairs 

Fall 1964, p.260. Seo also Bernard K.GorJo:.~ 'Tho Potential for 
Indonesian Expansionism', Pacific Affairs, Winter 1963-4, pp.378-393. 
5 

H. Fei th: 'Indonesia's Political Symbols and their Wielders' , 
World Politics, Oct 1963, pp.79-97. 
6 
Quotod by Donald Hindleys 'Indonesia's Confrontation with 

Malaysia: A Search for Motives', Asian Survey, June 1964, p.906: 
offioial Indonesian statement, published in September 1963 by tbo 
Indonesian mission to the UN. 



that 'Indonesia is recognised as having the right and a primary 

responsibility to guard security and poaco in the region'. 1 The 

Malayans and British wore perhaps not sufficiently appreciative 

15 

of this point, the Tunku saying in late 1962 that he did not think 

Sukarno would bo interested in discussing Malaysia. 2 Given, however, 

that Djakarta had claimed that ver,y lack of interest, it is 

difficult to see what approach might have been taken. Unfortunately 

Indonesia was later to base its objections to Malaysia partly on 

the claim it had not been consulted. 

Further, Djakarta appears to have become convinced that Malaysia 

was being created by Britain and was ipso facto a neo-colonialist 

project. Indonesians, with their anti-imperialist temper, did not 

believe Malaysia would bo genuinely indopendont.3 Hatta, a former 

Indonesian Prime Minister, made this clear: 'once Indonesia 

achieved independence, the ending of colonialism everywhere 

became one of the objectives of its foreign policy', as was 

foreshadowed in the preamble to tho constitution. Malaysia, he 

continued, had to be opposed because it was not independent of 

Britain and, being a tool of neo-colonialism, it would pose a throat 

to Indonesia as had the British territories in 1958.4 

It has been suggested that these arguments were equally valid 

before 1963 but that the Indonesian Government deliberately avoided 

utilising them until its West Irian claim was successfully resolved.5 

This is probably too simple an explanation, for it would seem that 

Sukarno genuinely thought Azahari was loading a nationalist, 

popular uprising with support throughout north western Borneo. 

Given the strength of Indonesian convictions, it was apparent that 

her various objections to Malaysia would havo to be shown to be 

1 
Suka.rno's· Independonco Day Address, 17 August 1963, in Modelski 

(ed): op.cit., p.127. 
2 

MPD,HR, vol.IV, No. 5, 28 Nov 1962, col.1567• 
3 
Hindley¥ op.cit•, p.906J Leggor op.oit., pp.13-7; Kahin&·. 

op.cit., PP•261-2 (interview with Sukarno). 
4 

Mohammed Hattaa 'Ono Indonesian vi·ow of the Malaysia Issue', 
Asian Survey, March 1965, p~ 139• Soo also interview with Nas"..l ~:v~l, 
FEER, 4 April 1963, p.13: 'Malaysia is noo-oolonialist and 
~list'; Problem of Malaysi, p.4, 'any movement to throw off 
tho yoke of colonialism and imperialism constitutes a cause for 
immediate support from Indonesia'; Suluh Indonesia, 24 Jan 1964. 
5 
Modolski: 'Indonesia and the MalaJBia Issue~; P•138; L.Castles: 

'Indonesian Attitudes to Malaysia', Australia's Neighbours, 
Doe 1963, p.-1.. 
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completely groundless, and conaidorable deference paid to her 

position as a regional power, if the new federation was to become 

acceptable to Djakarta. 

During the course of confrontation various Indonesians advanced 

fears of tho Malaysian Chinese, often privately. Since independence 

Indonesians had shown strong hostility towards the ~thnic Chinese 

residing in the Republic and widespread anti-Chinese riots took 

place in 1960 and 1963. For Kuala Lumpur, the Malaysia plan 

presented a means for containing or redirecting the political 

aspirations of the Chinese; Djakarta took just the opposite view, 

anticipating Chinese control of Malaysia. 1 If this argument is 

accepted (and there are reasons why it should not be, for it was 

certain of the Chinese within Malaysia that Indonesia adopted as 

allies) 2 Kuala Lumpur and Djakarta were pursuing the same lon~term 
objective. Both regarded Peking and its overseas 'fifth column' as 

the most serious long-term throat t c their security, but the 

Alliance strongly opposed Poking and sought accommodation with the 

Malaysian Chinese; Djakarta pursued understanding with Peking, and 

suppression of its Chinese minority.3 In non-communist Asia by 

1963 the Indonesian attitude, based as it was on the assumption 

of eventual Chinese supremacy in at least part of oast Asia, w~s 

not popular and was shared only by Burma and Cambodia. 

A second category of explanations for Indonesia's confrontation 

policy rests largely on the thesis that the Indonesian Government 

considered the agitation concerning ~~laysia domestically necessary 

for nation building purposos.4 'Confrontation' would also work to 

the Government's advantage~ 

1 

ceremonies recalling the heroism of the nationalist 
movement and the Revolution mako it possible for 
the government to maintain a conspicuous initiative 
in tho country's affairs •••• Similar effects flow 

Hatta: op.cit.; Kahin: op.cit., p.254; Sutter: op.cit., p.527 
(a~), Hindloy: op.cit., p.908. 
2 
Jan.M.Pluvior: Confrontations: A Stu~y in Indonesian Politics 

(OUP, Kuala Lumpur, 1965), ch.6, argues this was to discredit the 
radical Chinese in Malaysia and force the Alliance to supprezs ~~: ......... 
3 
Mar,y F.Somers Heidhuos: 'Poking and the Overseas Chinese: Tho 

Malaysia Dispute', Asian Survoy, May 1966, p.282. See also, 
G.William Skinner: 'The Chinese Minority', Ch.3 in Ruth T.McVeya 
op.ci t •• 
4 

G.Paukor: 'Indonesia in 1963: The Yoar of Wasted Opportunities•, 
Asian Survey, Feb 196~ , p.692; see also J.A.C. Mackio: 'Indonesia: 
A Background to Confrontation', The World Today, April 1964, p.139• 



from all foreign pplicy actions which give rise to 
a feeling of national pridc ••• thcy have flowed from 
••• actions carried out in support of the Azahari 
rovolt ••• [and] the 'confrontation' of Malaysia. 1 

West Irian had provided a national crusade and in 1962, though 
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the econo~ was soveroly run down, the campaign for national unity 
2 appeared to bo succeeding with tho collapse of the various revolts 

and Sukarno's increased power. 3 It scorned that the Government could 

turn from its political aspirations which had largely boon achieved, 

and pursue economic development, but this was not to bo. In December 

·1963 Subandrio admitted 'we are neglecting our wealth purposely 

because we are concentrating on nation building ••• we can afford not 

to give priority to economic problems•. 4 

Indon~ia' s political flavour is difficult to savour. Although 

economically chaotic, Indonesia regarded Malaysia as under-developed, 

in a political and spiritual sense. Indonesian logic was perhaps 

Platonic rather than Aristotelian: tho attainment of the essence 

of tho 'good lifo' - in this case national unity and self-respect -

would bring inevitably the solutions to Indonesia's other minor 

problems.5 More cynically one might argue that economic reorganisation 

was difficult and would havo upset the political equilibrium• 

confrontation of Malaysia was a readily available method of 

perpetuating the existing political system. 6 In addition the 
' 

various political factions each had its own reasons for opposing 

Malaysia. 

Of the major political groups, it was the PKI which first 

expressed hostility to the Malaysia schomo. After hints of anti­

Malaysia. feeling in the PKI journal Harian Rak.tat, 1 at the Third 

Plenum of the Contral Committee in Djakarta, in December 1961, 

Malaysia was condemned as a tool of SEATO, a neo-colonialist 

1 
Foitha 'Indonesia's Political Symbols', p.96. 

2 
Faith and Lev: op.cit •• 

3 
Faith: 'President Sukarno, The Army and the Communists& The 

Triangle Changes Shape', pp.970-1. 
4 
.§!, 6 Doe 196 3. 

5 
Faiths 'Indonesia's Political Symbols', p.86. See also Sol 

Soemardjana 'Some Social and Cultural Implications of Indonesia's 
Unplanned and Planned Development', Review of Politics, Jan 1963, 
pp.64-90. 
6 
Van der Kroefa 'The Sino-Indonosian Partnership', p.338; 

Hindleya op.cit., pp.908-9. 
1 

'Apu Itu Malaysia Raya.?', Ha.ria.n Rak;jat, 31 Aug 1961. 
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creation and a threat to Indonesia as part of imperialist 

encirclement. 1 Given the openly anti-communist natura of the 

Malayan Government and its rationale for tho creation of Malaysia, 

PKI hostility was, perhaps, only to bo expoctod. 2 Further, it was 

in PKI interests for Djakarta to adopt an anti-Western international 

posture and opposition to Malaysia promised to produce this. 3 

Suka.rno' s later criticisms of Mala.ysit\ wore 1i ttle different from 

those of the PKI and 'confrontation' proved to be a major factor 

in the post-1962 resurgence of the PKI. 4 

The Army was also hostile to Malaysia. Although it may have 

genuinely feared a security throat from Malaysia (particularly 

after tho events of 1958) and taking into account its anti-Chinese 

inclinations, the a.~'s reasons for hostility app&ar to have 

stemmed in part from domestic politics. The army's political 

strength since 1958 was a result of the state of emergency, the 

West Irian campaign and tho large military expenditure. By la to 

1962 thoro wore indications that this situation would and particularly 

after Sukarno announced th~t the econo~ would be stabilisod5 and 

Nasution that military expenditure would be cut by forty seven per 
6 cont. Confrontation of Malaysia moant that these plans wore 

abandoned. Although in oarly 1963 Nasution justified confrontation 

on the grounds of opposition to nee-colonialism, fear of aid to 

rebels as in 1958 and the desiro to see self determination in 

Bornoo,7 domestic factors were important. 

But it was Sukarno who hold tho determinative position in issues 

of foreign policy8 and it was not clear oven after the Brunei revolt 

that he was prepared to take an irrevocably obstructionist stand 

against Malaysia. On 20 September 1962 the Tunku had sparked a 

1 
Text in Malaya-Indonesia Relations, pp.52-3. 

2 
Sutterz op.cit., p.527. 

) 
Hindleyz op.cit., p.910. 

4 
Frances L.Starner• 'Malaysia and the North Borneo Territories', 

Asian Survey, Nov 1963, p.524. See Justus M.van der Kroefz 
'Indonesian Communism and the Changing Balance of Power', Pacific 
Affairs, \7inter 196:1-5, pp. 357-83. 
5 

Independence Day Address: Indon Herald, 18 Aug 1962. 
6 
Nation (Burma), 14 Jan 1963; Hindleyz op.cit., p.904. 

1 
FEER, 4 April 1963, p.13. 
8-
Feithz 'Indonesia's Political Symbols', pp.81-2. 
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hostile reaction in the Indonesian Herald by warning Indonesia to 

keep her 'hands off' Malaysia. Shortly afterwards, Subandrio, 

whose acceptance of Malaysia had boon conditional on the wishes of 

the people concerned, warned that Indonesia 'could not remain 

indifferent'. 1 Undoubtedly Sukarno wished to extend Indonesian 

influence in th10 area and wanted its status recognised; 2 Malaysia 

was usod for this purpose.3 Once Sukarno h?.d assumed a posture 

hostile to Malaysia thoro was little doubt that a policy of 

opposition to tho now federation would roceivo widespread support 

within Indonesia. 

In order to assess the subsequent development of 'confrontation', 

it is important to tr.v to evaluate Indonesia's objectives and the 

extent to which Malaysia might have boon created and existed had 

they boon achieved. In other words wore Malaysia and Indonesia 

fundamentally conflicting political entities? To the extent that 

internal political considerations determined Indonesian foreign 

policy, its objectives wore obscure. From 1963 to 1965 the 

ostensible aims varied both in content and emphasis. Within this 

context Djakarta sought recognition of its position as a loading 

power in the area, with the right to be consulted before any change 

in the status guo. Indonesia argued that the people of Borneo had 

not boon consulted on Malaysia and that if they wore consulted, they 

would oppose the scheme. It sought moro pliable and conciliatory 

neighbours, hence its later opposition to the Tunku per se. As 

time progressed it also became clear that a removal of Western 

influence from the area was sought: this coincided with the 

objectives of tho PKI and Poking, the influence of both of which 

increased in Djakarta. It scorns unlikely that Indonesia envisaged 

territorial expansion in the short term, though tho possibility 

should not be ignored. 

It is possible that had sufficient deference boon paid to 

Djakarta and sufficient effort made both to explain Malaysia and 

to invalidate Indonesian objections during early 1963, confron:tation 

might havo boon avoided. While the Britioh may havo paid 

insufficient attention to Indonesia's interest in tho futuro of 

British Borneo, Djakarta hardly encouraged London to consult hor 

1 
BT, 27 Sept 1962. 

2 
A.M.Taylor: 'Malaysia, Indonesia- and Maphilindo 1 , International 

Journal, Spring 196,1, p.170. 
3 
Modelskir 'Indonesia and tho Malaysia Issue', p.130. 
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on the subject. During the negotiations of 1963 Indonesia's rather 

inflexible and bellicose posture did not increase the possibility 

that thoso negotiations might load to an amicable settlement to 

tho dispute. In any case, at that lata stage in the evolution of 

the Malaysia plan it would have been unreasonable to have expected 

those states associated with tho project to have determined their 

relationship with ono another on tho basis of Indonesian policy. 

In Docombor 1962 Indonesia had voiced support for Azahari, in 

January 1963 confrontationw""·s arur-o:un:c~d. On 11 February Subandrio 

moro explicitly warned of 'tho possibility of physical conflict 11 

and it became clear that confrontation was to bo implomentad. For 

Indonesia it prosontod the moans for waging the 'just' and unilateral 

war, at once cheap, riskloss, affective and, perhaps, internationally 

acceptable. Since 1945 world society had made various efforts to 

condemn and prevent war, and contemporary morality condemned resort 

to the use of force in international disputes. Both the UN Charter 

and the 1955 declaration of the Bandung Conference made this clear. 

But no state was prapared to renounce the use of force under all 

circumstances and perhaps two major exceptions wore generally 

accepted: defensive war and that against 'imperialism'. With 

such vague concepts applying interpretations in the particular 

became subject to considerable disagre~mont. For Indonesia 

'confrontation' was a moans to apply forco in an accaptablo contoxt. 2 

The distinction between an indigenous rovolt and externally diroctad 

guarrilla warfare, and botwoon provoked and unprovoked attack arc 

ofton tenuously demarcated. 

Since World War II, Indonesia had two experiences of tho 

successful uso of force to altar the status quo: tho war against 

tho Dutch 1945-9, and tho Wost Irian campaign. It was tho latter 

which sorvod as the model for tha struggle against Malaysia. 

Intrinsically tho arguments of the Dutch, that they should retain 

control of West Irian and grant tho territory indopondonce, wore 

as wall founded GS tho Indonesian arguments that West Irian should 

ba incorporated in tha Rapublic. The Indonesian success may bo 

attributed to perhaps three factors. First, a substantial military 

force was built up and utilised in the pursuit of limited warfare; 

1 
ST, 12 Fob 1963. 

2 
For a legal criticism of this policy see L.C.Greenl 'Indonesia, 

the United Nations and Malaysia', JSEAH, Sapt 1965, pp.71-86. 



this militar,y harassment and throats of escalation served both to 

disturb the Dutch and create an air of crisis, thus drawing world 

attention to Djakarta's claim. Secondly, by skilful and energetic 

diplomacy Indonesia won support in tho non-aligned world both for 

its claims and its use of force as a campaign against imperialism. 

Third, because of tho struggle botwoon the major powers for support 

in the third world, thoy felt obliged to support Indonesia's 

position. The Soviet Union supplied military equipment and, in the 

early 1960s, the USA abandoned its previous neutrality in the dispute 

and holpod terminate the conflict largely on Indonesia's terms. 

It rapidly bocamo apparent that Indonesia was to apply the 

strategy of West Irian to Malaysia. Tho various tactics wore soon 

in evidonoe; militar,y harassment, the campaign for Afro-Asian 

support, the efforts to neutralise or onlist the sympathY of the 

groat powers and tho portrayal of confrontation as an anti-imperialist 

and so a legitimate war. 1 For a variety of reasons Malaysia was to 

prove a tougher nut to crack than Wost Irian. 

Indonesia quickly sot about to win Afro-Asian support for hor 

campaign against Malaysia. For this she was well equipped, having 

extensive diplomatic representation, experience, and a President 

oagor to enhance his prestige in the non-aligned world. But such 

a campaign was moro difficult in 1963 than it had boon over West 

Irian, as tho neutralist bloc bocamo decreasingly monolithic and 

its loading members increasingly divided on two major issues, the 

Sino-Soviot split, and tho use of force. The 'radicals' inclined 

towards tho Poking revolutionary philosophy of international 

politics and included Ghana, Indonesia and to some oxtont Pakistan. 

The 'modoratos' wero (with exceptions) loss interested in 

international revisionism, more sympathetic to Moscow and included 

India, the UAR and Yugoslavia. With the lattor group Kuala Lumpur, 

which had boon outspoken in its support for India against China in 

late 1962, might find common cause. Indonesia had increasingly 

moved towards tho radicals: by late 1962 its relations with India 

wore soured after the Asian Games and its apparent sympathy for 

Poking in tho border dispute, while tho powerful PKI was moving 

towards a pro-Poking stance after long appearing neutral. 2 In 

1 
G.Modelski: Indonesia and hor Nei 

tho West, (Policy Memorandum No. 30,~P~r~in-c~e-- t-o-n~U~n~i~v-e~rs~i~ty~,-1-9~6~4~--~ 
Michael Loifor: 'Indonesia and Malaysia: tho Diplomacy of 
Confrontation', The World Today, Juno 1965, pp.250-60. 
2 
Dj. D. Mail, 2~ Jan 1963, Njoto lod a PKI delegation to Poking. 
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early 1963 Subandrio in common with China and Pakistan, was seeking 

a second Bandung, which India and the UAR opposed. 1 

At first it appeared that the communist world was unitod in 

its opposition to Mal~sia. In August 1962 in Moscow, the World 

Federation of Democratic Youth declared its hostility to Malaysia2 

and in April 1963 the Soviet representative at the UN said the 

Soviet Union regarded Malaysi~ as noo-oolonielist. 3 Dorkach argues 

convincingly, however, that Moscow did not enthusiastically support 

Indonesia against Malaysia after the latter bocamo a sovereign state 

and looked like receiving somo Afro-Asian support. 4 In addition 

'PKI-CPSU relations wore seriously deteriorating by the fall of 

1962'.5 Both the Indonesian Government and Communist Party were 

objects of the Sino-Soviet competition for support. B.Y 1963 it 

appeared that both wore increasingly sympathetic to Poking. 

Peking's position on the Malaysia dispute was less equivocal 

than that of Moscow. 6 Peking was soon voicing complete support 

for Indon3sia's policy. Reasons for this are not difficult to 

find. Malaysia was not only to be anti-communist but was designed 

specifically to counter supporters of Poking among the overseas 

Chinese. FUrther, the PKI had boon hostile to the scheme ·since 1961 

and the Indonesian Government since late 1962~ socking the support 

of both, China provided Indonesia with a natural ally in its 

campaign against Malaysia. In January 1963 Subandrio visited 

Peking where he was assured of Chinese 'support' against Malaysia; 7 

in April Liu Shao-Chi visited Indonesia and reiterated this 

assurance; 8 and Aidit and othor PKI leadors,9 and Yani, Chief of 

Staff of tho Indonesian Arrnw, 10 visited Poking amidst groat acclaim. 

The Peking-Djakarta axis was evolving~ its existence was soon to be 

illustrated. 

1 
Ibid., 4 Fob 1963. 

2 
Straits Budget, 19 Sept 1962. 

3 
Indonesian ·Observer, 18 April 1962. 

4 
Nadia Derkach: 'The Soviet Policy Towards Indonesia in the West 

Irian and the Malaysian Disputes', Asian Survey, Nov 1965, pp.566-71. 
5 
Uri Ra'ana.n: 'The Coup That Failed~ A Background Analysis', 

Problems of Communism~ 'M"lrch-.April 1966, p.37. 
6 

Heidhues : op.cit.-;~an der Kroef: 'Sino-lndonesian Par·t~ers1ll p• 1 
pp.341-53;_~utt~~: op.cit., p.528 ff. 
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Heidhuos~ op.cit., p.279. 
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Ban~kok Post, 19 April 1963. 
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10 
Dj. D. Mail, 29 April 1963. 



From 4 to 11 February the Afro-Asian People's Solidarity 

Organisation (AAPSO) held its third conference at Moshi, Tanganyika. 

Formed in 1957 after a Communist Parties' conference in Moscow, 

AAPSO's headquarters were in Cairo and the organisation was financed 

largely by the Soviet Union, China and tho UAR. 1 The organisation 

represented political movements rather than states and pursued a 

most radical variety of Afro-Asianism. In December 1962 its 

secretariat had condemn~d Malaysia. 2 The conference provided 

Indonesia with its first opportunity to got Afro-Asian condemnation 

of Malaysia and gave the first clear indication of the Sino-_ 

Indonesian partnership.3 

Azahari, leader of the movement upon support for which Djakarta's 

ostensible opposition to Malaysia was based, refused to attend the 

conference, saying it was 'financed and sponsored by communists 

and ••• I am a Muslim1 •
4 Ha consented to be represented. The 

Indonesian delegation made clear its determination to got the 

conference to declare its opposition to Malaysia and support for 

Azahari.5 Conversely, a Barisan Socialis delegate had his passport 
6 cancelled and was stopped at Kenya and returned. The joint 

Malayan-Singapore delegation suffered a similar fate, being refused 

admission to the conference, duo, said its loader Devan Nair, to 

Chinese and Indonesian opposition. 7 'The Chinese and the Indonesians 

successfully exerted pressure behind the scenes to exclude from tho 

conference the delegates of Malaya and Singapore', contended the 

Burmese Nation. 8 Indonesia put forward a motion condemning 

Malaysia9 but was not fUlly successfUl. Although the AAPSO 

Sacretar,y-General had expressed support for Azahari and opposition 

to 'the aggressive designs anvisagod by the imperialist states 

1 
Soviet Afro-Asian Solidarity Committee (Moscow, 1962). 

2 
Conference Moshi, 

'Sino-Indonasian Partnership', p.349. 

Indonesian Observer, 2 Fob 1963. 
5 

Dj. D. Mail,1 Fob 1963. 
6 

Dawn, 6 Fob 1963. 
7-

Nation, Hindu, 9 Fob 1963. 
8 

Nation, 26 Fob 1963. 
9 
~' 6 Fob 1963. 
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through their proposed "Ma.laysian Federation"' ~ 1 the conference was 

more rosorvod. Djakarta gained approval for its support for Aza.hari's 

revolt2 and for NEF0, 3 but no resolution orposing Malaysia was 

passed. Clearly a greater effort was needed. 

While the Moshi Conference was being held, Suba.ndrio opened in 

Djakarta a preliminary meeting of the Afro-Asian Journalists 

Conference (Al..JC). On 16 February the mec,ting ondod having decided 

to hold a full conference 24-30 April and having expressed support 

for Azahari. 4 Significantly India was roprosonted on none of the 

preparatory committees while the USSR, unlike at Moshi, was not 

even to be invited. Indonesia and China could operate more 

effectively in Djakarta. On 24 April Sukarno duly openod the J~C, 

spending much of his speech exhorting the Afro-Asia.ns to achieve 

unity and hold a second Ba.ndung and condemning Malaysia because 

'its peoples are not froe'.5 The following day a twenty member 

presidium was elected and included a. Ka.lima.ntan Uta.ra. representative. 

The protests of the excluded Indian, Malayan and Mongolian 6 

representatives were overruled by the Indonesian Chairma.n.7 On 

27 April Azahari sent a message to the conference seeking support. 8 

The Sino-Indonesian axis appeared to be working effectively: the 

Malayan delegates wore gi van no opportunity to reply to Azahari' s 

contontions9 and, although a motion condemning Malaysia and the 

Tunku was blocked, 10 the conference expressed support for Azahari 11 

and passed a resolution calling for self-determination and 

independonce in Borneo. 12 The Conforonco was dominated by Indonesia 

1· 
MOshi Conference, p.42. 

2 
Ibid., p.74. 

3 
Ibid., p.99. 
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Dj. D. Mail, 2 May 1963. 

12 
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whose delogatos wore mostly from the PKI journal, Harian Ra~ata 

both the Soviet Union and the UAR woro prevented from attending; 

the National Liberation Front roprosontod South Vietnam; India 

had no offoctivo voice; and the Malayan delegation was ignored. 1 
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Eeforo the formation of Malaysia, Djakarta rested its opposition 

to the schema largely on Azahari 's contention that he ro.prosontod 

the people of northwest Borneo. Within Erunoi the revolt might 

bo seen as a popular anti-colonial rising but by 1963 it had ceased 

to exist. In February, Yani said Indonesia would support the 

rebels and only awaited the order to nove. 2 On 7 August the Straits 

Times reported Nasution as admitting that 'it is no longer a socret 

that we give thorn [the robels] milita~J training and war equipment 

to drive the colonialists out'.3 In fact during 1963 guerrilla ai~~~s 
against -: wr i~fish'· Bo:it ri'f! o. h=a tr< :<a e ·ga.,.if;;-·:;{h&se -:.were ' increasingly unrelated 

to the original TNKU. A new front was opened in western Sarawak 

and January to September 1963 saw only one incident in the vicinity 

of Brunei. 4 This new phase in the insurgency began on 12 April 

1963 when the village of Tebedu, in Sarawak's First Division and 

close to the frontier, was attackod.5 On 23 April nearby Gumbang 

suffered a similar fato, 6 on 27 April Tebodu again. 7 In June there 

were four such incidents, in July five, in August ton, in Soptombor 

sovon: with ono exception they all occurred in tho throo wostornmost 

Divisions of Sarawak whore Azahari's support had boon negligible. 

In fact a now front had boon oponod, for tho TNKU rovolt was 

finished, The supporters of the guerrilla attacks which were then 

boing mounted from Indonesian Borneo, were drawn from Sarawak's 

Chinese, The COO had taken to arms. Within twelve hours of the 

first raid on Tobodu the Government ordorod all non-natives in the 

First, Second and Third Divisions to hand in their firearms, 

1 
FEJ~:R, 23 May 1963. 

2 
ST, 2 Fob 1963; Suluh Indonesia, 1 Fob 1963, 
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ST, 7 klg 1963, 
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Ibid., 20 l~ug 1963. 
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Ibid., 18/63. 
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explaining that 

the signs arc perfectly clear. Groups of young 
Chineso ••• havo boon disappearing from their homos 
and ••• havo boon receiving indoctrination and 
training including some olomentary arms training. 1 
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Tho following month tho Government alleged that many Chinese wore 

leaving for Indonesia to receive military training and to roturn. 2 

The allegation received some substantiation whon from 9 to 13 June, 

69 Chinese wore arrested heading for tho frontier; twenty of them 

wore SUPP badgos. 3 On 3 August the Philippines Herald reported that 

about 1,600 Sarawak Chinese were in Indonesian Borneo receiving 

milit-ary training; 4 shortly aftor it was announced in Kuching that 

thoro was no trace of the '1,600 young Chinese mon and women who 

slipped over the Indonesian border' and who were 'products of 

Chinese education and firmly in the grip of Peking'.5 

The guerrilla raids into Sarawak continued throughout Indonesia's 

confrontation of Malaysia and Djakarta later admitted that the raids 

wore inspired from Indonesia. Most of the raiders were Indonesians 

and their support in Sarawak was limited to the Chinese. The 

Muslim based TNKU had collapsed. The Sarawak Government had 

previously referred to a communist organisation among its Chinese 

citizens;6 after the first raid on Tebodu a ~pokesman talked of 

Sarawak's misfortune to have a well organised Communist 
group at work in the country. ThiA group is entirely 
Chinese ••• its members owe their loyalty ••• to the cause 
of international communism and particularly to the 
forces of Chinese communism. 7 

The Government referred to the movemoot as the CCO, and in March 

1963 published an official version of its history, The Danger Within. 8 

Its strength, contended the Government, was among the Chjnese 

educated. These Chinese believed themselves to be discriminated 

against and were Poking oriented: as in the Malayan Emergency 

1 
Ibid., 16/63. 

2 
Ibid., 18/63. 

3 
Ibid., 24/63. 
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many of thorn had takon to arms. Indonesian support for Azahar:i. 'a 

war of liberation had loft Djakarta with a strange bed fellow. 

This became oven moro apparent when it was announced in June that 

Brunei would not join Malaysia duo to a dispute over the distribution 

of the revenues produced by the Sultanates oil fields. 1 

Malaysia was not to inherit resources adequate to deal with 

confrontation. Apart from the Western world, Kuala Lumpur was 

diplomatically represented only in India, Indonesia, Japan, the 
2 Philippines, Pakistan, Saudi Arabia, the UAR and South Vietnam; 

these missions wore insufficient to fight an effective battle for 

support in 1-..fro-.Asia and thoro was no indication that the Alliance 

Government would romedy the position. 3 Leo Kuan Yew was more aware 

of the situation. In April 1962 he toured extensively to o~lain 

the Malaysia project, and in February 1963 warned Kuala Lumpur to 

avoid alienating Afro-Asia. 4 The Alliance Government was more 

concerned to get Western material aid and in April 1963 Razak 

visited the US socking support.5 

Malayan defonco policy, like her diplomatic representation, had 

been dictated. by econo~, and, as Rezak admitted, it had 'always 

boon the policy of the Alliance Government as far as possible to 

maintain the level of our defence oxpondituro low•. 6 On 13 December 

1962 ho announced an increase in defence expenditure of 8M3.4m. 

which kept it at below .10 por cent of the total budget, or about 

$M94m. 7 9n 1 January 1963, despite the Brunei revolt, the Tunku 

said he hoped to avoid any further increase8 but, following the 

announcement of confrontation, the Malayan Cabinet decided on a 

'substantial increase'.9 Discussions with the UK followed10 and 

Malaya made it clear that it hoped the UK would finance much of 
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the increase. 1 In May Razak visited London and was offered aid 

for defence expenditure. 2 At the end of the month it was announced 

that an extra SM 75m. would be spent on defence but that British 

forces would remain Malaya's first line of defence. 3 

Until the formation of Malaysia the defence of the Borneo 

territories was a British responsibility. It would then be shared 

with Malaysia. In 1963 the Malayan armed forces were limited in 

strength, consisting of eight infantry battalions with support 

groups, a navy designed largely for coastal patrol, and an air force 

capable of performing only transport functions.4 The British forces, 

which were bearing the brunt of controntation, were more extensiver 

five British and Gurkha battalions in Borneo by May 1963,5 two 

carriers with airborne marines on intermittent service, and a 

commando ship based at Hong Kong; commando groups at Singapore and 

Kuching; various RN vessels, including a cruiser; and RAF units 

including Canberras, Javelins, Hunters, various transport units and 

helicopters. 6 To this might be added the considerable British 

reserves in Singapore and the Commonwealth forces in Malaya. 

The total military forces available were sufficient to deter 

escalation of Indonesian activity, but in Sarawak they could clearly 

be extended with a thousand mile border to patrol. Alone, the 

Malaysian forces would be inadequate, and Malaysia's diplomatic 

machinery insufficient to remove the stigma of a protected ne6-

colonialist state. Further, the threat of an indigenous guerrilla 

revolt in Sarawak presented an unpleasant prospect. 
. \ 

Indonesia was not t he only Southeast Asian country to oppose the 

formation of Malaysia. In 1962 the Philippines notified Britain 

of her claim to legal ownership of much of Sabah,l the claim 

resting on interpretation of a nineteenth century treaty. President 
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5 
UK Statement on Defence 1964, (HMSO,Cmnd. 2270), p.29. 
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Maoapagal, elected in December 1961 1 appears to have had a particular 

interest in the olaim. The British did not take it seriously and. 

Kuala L'l.Ullpllr would not at first disauss it.1 In January 1963 

Salvador P. Lopez visited London to discuss the issue but he 

aohieved little. 
2 

On 13 February Emmanuel Palaez, the Foreign Minister 

and Vice-President of the Philippines, proposed in Manila a 

tripartite meeting between representatives of the Philippines, 

Indonesia and Malaya, to solve the problems posed by Malaysia. 

The Tunku cautiously accepted..3 In early March this proposal was 

turther pursued during the 00/lFE conference in Manila, whioh both 

Razak and Subandrio attended. 4 Razak seemed responsive5 but it 

appeared that Djakarta wanted the formation of Malaysia delayed for 

a year 
6 and, with the Philippines, was seeking a plebiscite in the 

Borneo territories.7 By late March the three states had agreed 

to a meeting of offiGials in early J..pril to discuss arrangements 

for a sumni. t conference. 8 The parties were clearly far f'ran 

being in agreement, the 'l'unku insisting, at the 1-..SA meeting in 

Manila, that Ma~sia could not be del~ea.9 The Tunku's sharp 

oamnents against Indonesia led to same bitterness in Dja.karta 

where the First Deputy Foreign Minister, Suwito Kusl.Dllcmidogdo, 

said he was not optimistic about the caning talks.10 

r ·&--
see K.G.Tregonning: 'The Claim for North Borneo by the 

Philippines', Australian q~ok,Dec 1962, pp.283-91; H.B. 
Jacobini: 'E'undamenta.ls o£ Philippine Policy Towards Malaysia' 1 
Asian Surv~, Nov 1964; pp.1144-51; Sa.lvadorP. Lopez: 'Mal~sia 
and :Maphilind.o' 1 Progressive Review (Manila) Jan-Feb 1964, PP• 
31-9; J .L.Vellut: 'The Asian Policy of the Philippines' (Ph.D. 
thesis, i.J'W 1 1964) pp.278-330; M a-Phili ine Relations (Kuala 
Lumpur, Department of External Affairs, 19 3 ; R_hilipiii'i1e-Cla.im 
to No~~#h B~eo, vol.I (Manila, Bureau of Printing, 1963) • 
2 
Manila Chronicle 1 20 Feb 1 963. 

3 -
ST, 14 Feb 1963. 

4-
Mal&a-:!~onesia_l(elations, pp.15-16 .. See Chapter Four, :i£:!~1 

p.123 ff. 
5 

ST, 6 1iiaroh 1963. 
b 
D~. Dailz Mail, 11 March 1963. 

7 
Manila Chr·onicle, 10 March 1963. a---
Ibid. 1 28 March 196~. 

9 
~. 5 ~pril 1963. 

10 
Dj. Daily Mail, 2 and 4 .U.pril; Indon. Herald, 2 and 3 ~\.pril 1963. 



On 9 April the tripartite meeting of officials took place in 

Manila, and arranged for a Foreign Ministers; Conference in May 
1 to be followed by a summit meeting. However, relations quickly 
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worsened after the meeting, with Sukamo increasing his invective 

against Malaysia and demanding the postpon,Jn-::nt of its :f'OI'J7lc'l.tion, 
2 

and with the commencement of guerrilla raids into Sarawak. The 

Foreign Ministers' meeting was postponed twice and seemed to have 

been abandoned when Sukarno invited the Tunku to meet him personally 

in Tokyo. The Tunku accepted the invitation3 and the two met on 

30 May and 1 June. It was reported that Sukarno was again seeking 

a plebiscite in Borneo4 and the postponement of Malaysia,5 but the 

joint communique only envisaged a Foreign Ministers' meeting for 
6 1 June. 

The meeting took place 7-11 June at Manila. The 'Manila Accord' 

which resulted revealed that the three states were considering a 
1 confedera. tion of nations of Kalay origin 1 which had been proposed 

by Ma.capagal in 1962, and that 

Indonesia and the Philippines stated that they would 
welcome the formation o:f' Malaysia provided the 
support of the people ot the Borneo territories is 
ascertained by an independent and impartial 
autbori ty, the Secretary General of the Unfted 
Nations or his representatives. 7 

The summit meeting would be held in late Julf. 

For the next month relations b8tween the states were fairly 

harmonious,8 despite the continuation of guerrilla raids into 

Sarawak. This tranquil atmosphere did not last. On 9 July 1963 

in London the Malaysia Agreement was concluded, and allowed for 

the formation of Malaysia on 31 August 1963.9 Sukamo immediately 

condemned this as a breach of the Manila Accord, 10 the Indonesian 

1 
Malaya-Philippine Relations, Appendix V; Problem of Malaysia, p.7. 

2 
Indon.Her~ld, 12 April, 20 April, 1 May 1963. 

3 
MPD,HR, 28 May 1963, cols. 375-6. 

4 
ST, 30 May 1963. 

5 
Malaya-Indonesia Relations, p. 16. 

6 
Ibid., p. 54. 

7 
Ibid., pp. 57-9. 

8 
ST, 14 June. 

9 
See infra, pp. 92-3. 

10 
Indon.Herald 2 11 July 1963. 
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Government arguing that the Tunku 'preferred to turn his back upon 

his immediate neighbours and brothers and choose to be dictated to 

by the British Government'. 1 It was viewed as a provocative act 

on the part of the Tunku who was reported as saying in London that 

a referendum in Borneo would not be needed. 2 It thus appeared that 

the summit meeting might not be held, but despite the bad feeling 

it openAd 30 July 1963. 

The reports from the summit meeting indicated that the Tunku 

was prepared to delay Malaysia in ordor that the UN might assess 

Bornean opinion.3 The British were not keen on this proposition,4 

but U Thant said an assessment could not be made before 31 August.5 

A compromise formula of a delay without a referendum appears to have 

been worked out. 

On 5 August the summit conference concluded and three documents 

were issued. In the first the Manila Accord was endorsed. The 

second, the 'Joint Statement•,6 allowed that 'prior to the 

establishment' of Malaysia U Thant should assess the wishes of the 

Borneo people 'by a fresh approach', particularly by examining the 

recent election results in the territories. Malaya agreed to ask 

the UK to ~llow observers from the three states to accompany the 

UN team. The statement continued that the Governments 

emphasised that the responsibility for the preservation 
of the national independence of the three countries 
and of the peace and security in their region lies 
primarily in the hands of the governments and the 
peoples of the countri e~ concerned. 7 

Within that context they agreed that 'foreign bases- temporary in 

nature - should not be allowed to be used directly or indirectly to 

subvert the national independence of any of the three countries'. 

The third document, the 'Manila Declaration•,8 emphasised the 

common ties of race and culture between the states, pledged their 

1 
Problem of Malaysia, pp. 9-10. 

2 
Bangkok Post, 12 July. 

3 
Times, 7 Aug 1963. 

4 
Ibid., 8 Aug 1963. 

5 
Ibid., 12 Aug 1963. 

6 
Mala,ya-Indonesia Rela~~' pp. 60-2. 

7 
Ibid., p. 61. 

8 
Ibid., pp. 55-6. 



mutual cooperation and envisaged 'regular consultations at all 

levels to be known as Mushawarah Maphilindo'. 

92 

In the meantime negotiations for the establishment of Malaysia 

had been proceeding. On 28 Februar,y 1963 the report of the Inter­

Governmental Committee concerning the proposed terms of entTy into 

~alaysia of the Borneo territories was concluded. 1 Its intention 

was to include 'safeguards for the special interests of North 

Borneo and Sarawak to cover such matters as religious freedom, 

education, representation in the Federal Parliament, position of the 

indigenous races, control of immigration, citizenship and the State 

Constitutions•. 2 Broadly the Borneo states were to receive 

considerable autonomy. West Malaysia (i.e. Malaya and Singapore) 

was to help finance their development while they would gain 

considerable representation in Federal Parliament, Sabah getting 

sixteen and Sarawak twenty-four seats out of a total of 159. With 

a combined population rather less than, and a degree of autonomy 

at least similar to, that of Singapore, the Borneo states' federal 

representation would be almost three times as great. In both states 

there seemed to be general satisfaction with the proposed terms.3 

Negotiations between Singapore and Malaya presented a more 

difficult problem. On 28 February 1963 the final stages were 

begun to settle the financial and economic arrangements. Ess_entially 

Sinr .~re wanted a common market and maximum financial autonomy; 

Kuala Lumpur wanted maximum federal financial control, was less 

keen on a common market and hoped to get Singapore to help finance 

Bornean development. After considerable bickering, on 29 May it 

w~s agreed that a common market would follow Malaysia.4 On 5 July 

agreement was reached on Singapore's contribution to federal revenues 

while she agreed to make a loan of 8M15Qm. to the Borneo states in 

part interest free,5 Singapore had the promise of a future common 

market, the retention of its free port status and sufficient 

autonomy to continue its social programmes. Hard bargaining had 

1 
Malaysia a_ ... Report of the Inter-Governmental Committee (HMSO, 

London, 0mnd. 1954,' 19.63). ·-
2 
Ibid., p. 7. See Robert O.Tilman: 'Malaysia: The Problems of 

Federation', Western Political Quarterly, 1963, PP9 897-911. 
3 
d!, 30 May 1963. 

4 
ST, 30 May 1963. 

5 
Ibid., 6 July 1963. 
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won considerable advantages for Singapore.
1 

On 9 July the Malaysia .k.greement was concluded 
2 

and then 

submitted to the various Parliaments for ratification. In Kuala 

Lumpur the pre-eminence of the iilliance assured the l~greement 1 s 

easy passage, despite the united opposition of the other parties.3 

Similarly in London little opposition was encountered, the Labour 

Party having already given its approva l of the plan. 4 Only Fenner 

Brockway expressed hostility t<:7Nards Malaysia and on 19 July the 

Bill was passed without division in the House of Commons.5 

In Singapore opposition to Malaysia was more widespread, 

vociferous and radical. The Barisan had condemned Malaysia as 'a 

f'eudalist state with an imperialist taint' •
6 

In December 1962 the 

party voiced support for the Brunei rebels.7 Less than two months 

later, the ISO instituted operation 'cold store'. Starting 2 

February, 133 people were detained, 107 of them in Singapore,
8 

and -ten left wing publications were banned. 9 The P.AP sought to 

appear a reluctant partner in this venture end indicated that 

it preferred to wait for Malaysia and then let the f ederal 

authorities take full respansibility.
10 

The operation undoubtedly 

weakened the Barisan, the majority of those arrested being party 

leaders. On 9 Lpril, Lee defended the action by accusing the 

Barisan of collusion with i~zahari and Indonesia to defeat Mnlaysia 

by force.1
1: In his criticism of the action, Dr Lee Siew Choh did 

little to disprove Lee's accusations.12 

1 
See statements on negotiations: SIJ~,Deb~, 5 l ... pril 1963, col.,23 f'f; 

10 June, col.613 ff; and an agreements: SLli.,Debs, 30 July 1963, 
cols.297-422; 31 July1 cols.426-572; 1 Aug, cols.576-718. 
2 
Malaysia: agreement concluded be~een ~he United ~~£!11.....2f~Gre~ 

Britain and Northern Ire~L the Federation o.f.~~~__NorthJ?~~ 
Saravrak and Singapore (Qnna.. 2094, }Thl:SO 1 London, 1963) • 
3 
~~-L~' 12 ~ug 1963, col.672 ff'; 15 Aug 1963, col. 965 ff. 

4 
UKP.D,HC, 21 Feb 1963, cols.609-11. 

5 
Ibid., 19 July 1963, col.922 ff. 

6 
Plebi~, 3 Nov 1 962. 

7 
Ibid., 23 Dec 1962. Hyde: op.cit., pp.61-3, suggests that this was 

due to the Barisan' s opposition to Malaysia rather than support 
for L.zahari. 
8 
~.,Debs, 5 April 1963, cols. 65-9. 

9 
..§.!, 5 Feb 1963. 

10 
Ibid., 4 Feb 1963; ~~ 21 Feb 1963, p.249. 

11 
SLt~,Debs, 9-10 April 1963, col.375 ff. 

12 . • 

Ibid., cols.394-482. 
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If 'cold store' weakened the Barisan, it did not eradicate it. 

The PAP did not hold an overall majority in the Assembly and 

avoided an overdue by-election which could have left it. in a minority. 

On the issue of Malaysia the party could rely on the support of the 

minority right wing parties, however, and on 1 August the Malaysia 

Agreement was ratified by twenty five votes to seventeen, with the 

People's Alliance abstaining. 1 But the situation was far from 

stable. The PAP had promised that a general election would follow 
2 merger and the result was difficult to predict. Although Malaysia 

; 

would not be blocked, the PAP would clearly have to fight hard to 

regain its Parliamentar,y ascendancy. 

In the Borneo states the position was more complex. Whereas in 
·, . 

May 1961 there had been two political parties in Sarawak and none 

in Sabah, by 1963 the position was markedly different. In Sabah 

there were four major political parties and in late 1962 they had 

formed the Sabah Alliance. 3 Similarly in Sarawak, PANAS had joined 

with four newer parties to form the Sarawak Alliance. 4 Both 

Alliances favoured Malaysia, approved pf the terms suggested by the 

Inter-Governmental Committee and promised to align with the Malayan 

Alliance. It was under these circumstances that Sabah and Sarawak 

were to hold general elections beginning December 1962 and Jun~ 1963 

respectively. The only party in either state to oppose Malaysia 

was SUPP;5 in Sabah the Alliance faced no opposition. 

In both states the electoral system was three-tiered: district 

representatives were directly elected; they elected members to the 

Divisional or Residency Councils who in turn elected representatives 

to the state councils. An overall majority at any level could 

elect all the members at the next level. In July the results of 

the elections were made known. In Sabah the Alliance won all the 

seats in the Legislative Council; in Sarawak the Alliance won 

nineteen seats, sympathetic independents seven. 6 The complexity 

of the electoral process, particularly in Sarawak, makes 

interpretation of these results difficult. 

1 
Ibid., 1 Aug 1963, col.717. 

2 
ST, 26 July 1963. 

3 
Sabah in Brief (Department of Information, Sabah), p.8. 

4 
Sarawak in Brief (Department of Information, Kuching), p.2. 

5 
SUPP Election Manifesto (Kuching, 1963). 

6 
See Table 12. 
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Table 12: Election Results In Sarawak, 19631 

A.Direct Representation 

a No.of votes 
Per centage of votes · 
No.of District seats 

Alliance 
56,808 
30.6 
138 

PANAS 
28,242 
15.2 
59 

ain contested wards 

B.Divisional Representation 

1st (25) 
A P S I 

2nd (22) 
A P S I 

Divis­
ional 
Seats 1 

Council 
Negri 

11 10 3 19 1 0 2 
[10] [6] 

3rd (27) 
A P S I 

13 0 8 6 

[ 11] 

SUPP 
45,493 
24.0 
116 

Independents 
55,073 
29.7 
116 

4th (22) 
A P S I 

5th (12) 
A P S I 

7 0 4 11 0 0 0 12 

[6] [3] 

seats 0 3. 5 2 6 0 0 0 11 0 0 0 2 0 0 4 0 0 0 3 

( ) indicates number of seats in Divisional Council 
[ ] indicates number of members· to be elected to Council Negri 

C.Total R~sentation of Parties at Each Level 

Votes 
District seats 
Divisional seats 
CN soats 

Alliance 
56,808 
138 
40 
19 

PANAS 
28,242 
59 
12 
3 

SUPP 
45,493 
116 
22 
5 

Independents 
55,073 
116 
34 
9 

D.Total Representation of Papti2~ at Each Level, by Per Centage 

a Votesb 
Votes 
District Councils 
Div. Councils 
Council Negri 

Alliance 
30.6 
34.0 
32.2 
37 .o 
52.8 

ain contested wards 

bin all wards 

1 <5~t"o.wo-.k )o~~"'~ Wq)(, 

P.ANAS 
15.2 
14.3 
13.8 
11.1 
8.3 

SUPP 
24.0 
21.3 
27.0 
20.4 
13.9 

Independents 
29.7 
27.8 
27.0 
31.5 
25.0 

Sources:~ 26/63, 27/63 and 29/63, and 1JN Mission Report. 



In Sarawak the elections proved to be more complicated than 

those in Sabah. On 15 April PANAS broke from the Alliance and 

determined to fight the elections alone. 1 When the composition 

of the Divisional Councils was announced it was apparent that 

independents (particularly those in the Third Division) held a 

determinative position in the election of the Council Negri 
2 members. It also appeared possible that SUPP, the largest 

single party, might be unrepresented in the state legislature. 

A period of intense political activity followed. 3 SUPP and 
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PANAS formed an electoral coalition, settling their differences on 

the Malaysia issue by agreeing to the submission of the issue to a 

UN supervised referendum.4 They would thus dominate the First 

Division and with the assistance of independents might have 

formed the government.5 This situation did not eventuate, for as 

Table 12 reveals, the majority of the independents sided with the 

Alliance. 

An examination of the results reveals some interesting aspects 

of the Sarawak elections. There was, as in Malaya, extensive 

urban (and so Chinese) under-representation. 6 Kuching for example 

could well have been unrepresented in the Council Negri. The 

natives, by vir~ue of their geographic distribution, dominated 

the Council. Further it could hardly be claimed that the elections 

were fought largely on the issue of 1~laysia. 7 Voting was 

determined by, and parties were the result of, communal affiliations: 

SUPP emerged as the Chinese party of Sarawa~, PANAS represente~ the 

Malaya of the First and Second Divisions, the Allia~ce generally 

1 
Sarawak by the Week, 17/63 • . 
2 
See Table 12. 

3 
sarawalf.bY tk ."Week.~9/_63. 14-20 July 1963. 
4 ' 
Sarawak Tribune, 2 July 1963. 

5 
If the six independent representatives in the Third Division had 

voted with SUPP, the SUPP-PANAS coalition would have had twenty one 
members in the Council Negri. 
6 
Edwin Lee: op.cit., p.61; Justin M. van der Kroef& 'Comrm.mism 

and the Guerrilla War in Sarawak', The World Today, Feb 1964, p.55. 
7 
Starner: op.cit., p.529; Justin M. van der Kroef: 'Communism and 

Chinese Communalism in Sarawak', China Quarterly, Oct-Dec 1964, p.48. 
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the Ibans, and the independents the smaller tribes. 1 That Malaysia 

was not an all pervading issue was indicated by the SUPP-PANAS 

coalition. Equally it would be difficult to argue that SUPP's 

support was a result of its anti-Malaysia policy, for the party had 

made good use of Chinese concern over the Chinese education system 

and dissatisfaction among Chinese smallholders at restrictions on 

Chinese land tenure. 

It would appear that voting in both states was largely on a 

communal pattern. 2 The traditional (and now political) leaders of 

the indigenous communities had accepted Malaysia and it might be 

contended that the elections were irrelevant to the issue. One 

important difference between the states was revealeda the 

disaffected Chinese, so widespread in Sarawak, did not exist in 

Sabah. The Sabahan Chinese party3 fanned an integral part of the 

political system, and radicalism among the Chinese remained 

negligible. In the light of the experiences of the other states 

party to the Malaysia plan, this was not an inconsiderable 

achievement. 

It was against this backcround that the Tunku had concluded 

the ~~ila Agreements but his partners in the Malaysia Agreement 

were far from satisfied with the obligations he had undertaken. It 

was reported that Britain awaited the Tunku's report with 'puzzled 

embarrassment•. 4 Sandys had already indicated that 'we ver.y much 

take the view that it would be a mistake to delay a new association, 

which is clearly desired by the peoples ••• concernad',5 and the 

Commonwealth Relations Office reiterated that 'the British Government 

would greatly regret delay' in Malaysia's fonnation. 6 London was 

not eager to grant the Tunku's request that it comply with the 

Manila tonne, and wished to avoid a UN investigation, which might 

1 
See Robert 0. Tilman: 'Elections in Sarawak', Asian Survey, Oct 

1963, pp.507-18, and 'The Alliance Pattern in Malaysian Politics: 
Bornean Variations on a Theme', South Atlantic Quarterly, Vol.LXIII, 
1964, pp.60-70. 
2 
For an ~nalysis of Sabahan voting behaviour see Henr,y Robert Glicks 

'The Chinese Community in Sabah and the 1963 Election', Asian 
Survey, March 1965, pp.144-51. 
3 
The Borneo Utara National Party (BUNP). 

4 
Age, 8 Aug 1963. 

5 
UKPD,HC, vol.682, 2 Aug 1963, co1.794. 

6 
Times, 5 Aug 1963. 



set an awkward precedent for British territories. 1 Shortly after, 

Britain agreed, stipulating that the UN team be responsible to U Thant 

and not the General Assembly, that its report require no ratification, 

and that it be made as quickly as possible. 2 These terms were 

fulfilled. 3 The British were less pleased than the Malayans with 

the results of the Manila summit meeting but both would accept 

its terms if Indonesian hostility could be curtailed. 

The Bornean and Singapore governments were much less willing 

to accept the Manila formula: they wanted no postponement of 

Malaysia. Stephen Ningkan, Sarawak 1s Chief Minister, opposed the 

UN mission, viewing the elections as a test of Sarawak opinion4 

and the mission's existence as questioning the legitimacy of his 

position. Donald Stephens warned Kuala Lumpur that any delay could 

wreck the Malaysia plan in Borneo.5 Lee Kuan Yew went to Kuala 

Lumpur to prevent a delay in Malaysia, 6 for under pressure from 

the Barisan, the PAP was reluctant to make any compromise. In 

addition, the racial implications of the Maphilindo concept were 

hardly attractive to the Chinese, and Lee made no secret of this. 7 

But the Tunku firmly asserted that the UN team was to operate, and 

it seemed likely that a delay in the formation of Malaysia would 

be necessary. 

On 12 August U Thant named his representatives who included 

members from the Western, communist and Afro-Asian blocs, and 

Indonesia expressed satisfaction. 8 On 16 August the mission 

arrived in Kuching, where it was greeted by anti-Ma~aysia 

demonstrations involving some 2,000 Chinese.9 It was scheduled ­

to make its investigations from 22 to 31 August. But the hearings 

were delayed and before their completion two new points of dispute 

arose. 

1 
Ibid., 8 Aug 1963. 

2 
Ibid., 12 Aug 1963. 

3 
UN Report, p.4. 

4 
Sar._awa k by the W~e~,3?/_6_3, 4-10 Aug 1963 1 pp.1-5• 

5 
Ibid •• 

6 
Times, 10 Aug 1963. 

7 
ST, 14 June 1963. 

8-
NYT, 14 Aug 1963. 

9 
Saraw~k~ by i ~t'h; W e,!!k~3-3/63, 11-17 Aug 1963. 
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The Manila Joint Statement had provided that Malaya should ask 

Britain to allow observers to accompany the UN mission. 1 Kuala 

Lumpur did not regard this as an integral part of the agreement but 

acquiesced at Subandrio's insistence. 2 Djakarta then sought to 

send thirty observers, a number which the Britieh refused to accept. 

U Thant offered a compromise of four observers and four clerical 

assistants which was accepted. There was then a further delay when 

the British refused to allow the assistants because they were senior 

officials and, it was contended, intelligence officers. The Malayan 

Government concurred with the British attitude. 3 As a result of 

this dispute the UN survey did not start until 26 August and then 

without the observers who only arrived 1 September, 4 by which time 

Subandrio had warned that Indonesia would not accept the report 

without the observers being present.5 Sukarno was extr~ely upset 

by what he regarded as this slight to Indonesia's standing. 6 

The second difficulty arose over the date for }~laysia Day 

which the parties to the plan were reluctant to postpone. Lee Kuan 

Yew visited Borneo to encourage pressure against delay7 and on 

23 August Ningkan threatened to declare independence on 31 August. 8 

Sandys flew to Kuala Lumpur and conferred with Lee, Stephens, 

Ningkan and the Tunku, who finally agreed to implement Malaysia on 

16 September.9 Two Malayan officials went to Djakarta to explain 

this action but while they were there it was publicly announoed. 10 

Djakarta denounced this as 'naked defiance of the Manila spirit' 

and evidence that the UK was controlling events. 11 The situation 

was not improved by Stephens' statement that Malaysia would be 

implemented no matter what the U1f mission reported. 12 

1 
Joint Statementg op.cit., para.7. 

2 
Malaya-Indonesia Relations, p.18. 

3 
Ibid., p.19; Age, 19 Aug; Nation, 26 Aug; Times, 24 Aug 1963. 

4 
UN Report, pp.5-12. 

5 
Age, 20 Aug 1963. 

6 
of Malaysia, pp.16-7, and Chapter Four, infra, p.141 • 

. 
~~~=;,...:.:~-=.t.~.h~·e::...· ...;W~&..::;e~k ,i;l 4/63., , 18-24 Au g 1963, p. 3. 

p.2. 

23, 24 and 29 Aug 1963. 

Problem of Malaysia, pp.15-16. 
12 
ST, 30 Aug 1963. 

25-31 Aug 1963 
'""' 
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Strictly, the Malayan actions did not contravene the Manila 

agreement: U Thant said he would report on 14 September, Malaysia 

would follow two days later. Further, the Malaysia Agreement did 
1 require a date to be fixed before 31 August. But the actions did 

contravene the 'spirit' of Manila as Djakarta was quick to point 
2 out. Kuala Lumpur was caught with two conflicting sets of 

obligations. More tactful handling of Indonesia might have assuaged 

Djakarta's hostility but this would have been a difficult course 

for Malaya to take.3 

On 14 September the UN report was made public. On 16 September 

Malaysia was inaugurated and Djakarta and Manila withheld recognition. 

Such action on the part of Indonesia had been foreshadowed by 

Subandrio 1s accusation that the UN mission was not doing its job 

properly. 4 Later he said Indonesia would regard Malaysia as 

illegal due to 'flaws' in the UN assessment, complaining that the 

mission's time was too limited, the observers were delayed and 

Malaysia Day was decid&d before the report.5 Indonesia's ostensible 

objections thus hinged on opinion in the Borneo states and the 

inadequacies of the UN report. 

The report indicated considerable research and effort on the 

part of the UN mission but 'its terms of reference were in a ver.y 

real sense weighted in favour of Malaysia ••• a report against 

Malaysia would have required greater justification than a favourable 
6 one'. Its terms of reference had essentially required the mission 

to examine the 1963 elections in Borneo and base its findings upon 

them; 'there was no reference to a referendum or a plebiscite'.7 

It concluded that the elections had been on the whole fairly held, 

that Malaysia was 'a major issue', and so that a majority of the 

people favoured the new federation. 

1 
Malaya-Indonesia Relations, p.19. 

2 
Indonesian protest note: Age, 4 Sept 1963. 

3 
The Malayan Government fully appreciated this situation according 

to senior Malaysian officials in interviews with the author, Kuala 
Lumpur, May 1966. 
4 

Bangkok Post, 7 Sept 1963. 
5 

Nation, 13 Sept 1963. 
6 
Francis L.Starner~ op.cit., p.533. See also Emily Sadkaa 

'Malaysial The Political Background', in Silcock and Fisk (ads): 
op. ci t., p-33. 
7 

UN Report, p. ii. 
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The aide-memoire of the Indonesia observers revealed the nature 

of Indonesia's objections to the report. 1 It asserted that the 

mission had assumed that the states had reached 'an advanced stage 

of self-government', while in the opinion of the observers they 

were still essentially colonial in character, many people had little 

idea of what Malaysia was and 'local issues and personal loyalties 

dominated the elections•. 2 To that extent 'Malaysia oould never 

have been a major issue ••• in the recent elections'~ The general 

argument that Malaysia had been forcefUlly presented to, and so 

accepted by, the people of Eorneo, had some force. The same 

argument might be applied to the opposition to Malaysia with equal 

validity. Much of the inspiration for British and Malayan 

activities in Borneo was paternalistic, but this hardly gave any 

more force to the Indonesian argument, also paternalistic, that 

Indonesia could better interpret the desires and interests of the 

Borneans. In any case later events were to reveal that Indonesian 

objections to Malaysia were much more extensive and less easily 

placated than by a Bornean referendum. 

U Thant suggested that a delay in the formation of Malaysia 

and a more rapid granting of facilities to the observers could 

have avoided the 'resentment' engendered. 3 It might be recalled, 

however, that at no time since April had there been a cessation 

in the raiding parties entering from Indonesia which Nasution 

openly admitted were trained by the Indonesians. 4 The Brunei 

revolt had heralded the commencement of a period of quite intense 

diplomatic activity for those governments interested in the formation 

of Malaysia. In lata September the Government of Malaysia had 

causa to regard the events of the proceeding nine months with mixed 

feelings. 

During 1963 the negotiations on Malaysia between those party 

to the plan had progressed satisfactorily and the various differences 

had bean settled by compromise. Malaysia had come into existence 

with more widespread support and acceptance from those within its 

borders than might earlier have been anticipated. The problems 

presented by Indonesia's opposition to the Federation were lass 

easily resolved. During 1961 and 1962, although both the UK and 

1 
Problem of Malaysia, pp.48-52. 

2 
Ibid •• 

3 
UN Report, pp.ii-iii. 

4 
NYT, 3 Sept 1963 • ........ 
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Malaya had consulted Djakarta, Indonesia had denied that it had 

any direct interest in the Malaysia plan. The Brunei revolt served 

to transform that situation. Indonesia's reaction to the revolt was 

hardly justified. Although Indonesian sympathy for a movement 

designed to overthrow a highly traditionalist political system 

and block a Federation apparently opposed by the majority of the 

people in Brunei may have been predicted, Djakarta's acceptance of 

Azahari as the popular leader of northwest Borneo seems attributable 

to more devious motives. It is at least possible that Indonesia 

helped instigate the revolt. If Azahari ~d been accepted as a 

popular leader only in Brunei, confrontation against Malaysia could 

not have been justified in the same terms, particularly after 

Brunei did not join the Federation. It would seem that Azahari's 

revolt provided the occasion not the cause for Indonesian policy. 

Indonesia's contention that Bornean opinion had not been 

properly consulted is more difficult to deal with. In politically 

primitive conditions it is difficult to define what proper 

consultation amounts to. 1 Despite the reservations which may be 

expressed about the findings of the Cobbold Commission, the elections 

and the UN Report, Malaysia does seem to have been acceptable to 

most Bomeans providing their conditions were met. In 1963 their 

conditions were met. 2 

It was largely on these grounds that Indonesia demanded to be 

consulted in 1963. At that time the adTanced stage of the Malaysia 

negotiations prevented Kuala Lumpur from pursuing a completely 

flexible policy. It would have been difficult for Malaya to have 

made the considerable concessions which would have beon required 

to make Indonesia's acceptance of the new Federation oven possible. 

In any case the inauguration of rnilitar,y confrontation in Borneo 

did little to encourage Malaya to attempt to mollify Indonesia. 

Although the British may have been unneccessarily awkward during 

the observers' dispute, the reasons for the difficulties involved 

in further delaying the formation of Malaysia may be appreciated. 

It would seem that the parties to the Malaysia plan had adequately 

satisfied Indonesia's demands to be consulted on the matter. 

1 
A senior Australian Government official informed the author that 

the Indonesians were well aware of the opportunities for predetermining 
election results in primitive areas. He said that Nasution had told 
him, 'we've had elections here you know', interview, Sydney, 
Februar,y 1967. 
2 
The Indonesian argument might have been better applied to Singapore, 

but in 1963 it was not. See Chapter Five, infra, pp.167-9• 



Indonesian policy was attributable to other motives, however, 

particularly the attraction of confrontation for certain political 

groups and the opportunity it offered for Indonesia to assert her 

new-found power. It seems that Malaysia was unacceptable to 

Indonesia on any terms other than the tacit recognition of Indonesia's 

dominance of the region. During the next two years this was to 

become clearer. 
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CHA.Pl'ER FOUR 

Australia, Malaysia and Confrontation. 

In order to assess Australian 90licy towards Indonesia's 

confrontation of the states party to the Malaysia plan, it is 

necessar.y to examine aspects of Australianforeign policy from 1959 

to 1962. Although some attention was paid during that period to 

events in Singapore and Malaya, Australia was most concerned with 

Indonesia's efforts to establish its control of West Irian. 

Canberra's policy towards both these areas reflected the Australian 

strategy of defence in depth. Australia was apprehensive at any 

indication of 'instability• 1 in Southeast Asia, anxious that no 

Government sympathetic to communism, and particularly to China, 

should establish itself in the area, and was determined to maintain 

a forward defence perimeter. These attitudes were largely a function 

of Australia's fear of Chinese expansion. A barrier between Australia 

and China should if possible be established, a barrier made stronger 

if reinforced by the forces of America and Britain. 

The states of Malaysia and Singapore had long held a key 

position in Australian defence strategy. The debacle of 1942 had 

only modified that situation. At the time of the Tunku's merger 

proposal, Malaya contained the only significant Australian militar,y 

establishment overseasa 2 its presence was dependent on the· Malayan 

Government's willingness to accept it. The Australian forces had 

come to be regarded as a de facto SEATO reserve to be used against 

communist aggression; their operations against the Malayan terrorists 

had become incidental to this major function. They were an integral 

part of Australia's strategic contril::ution to the containment of 

China. Australian policy towards the Malaysia plan was formulated 

with this strategy in mind. 

furing its years of opposition, the P.AP had been regarded by 

many observers as a party of the extreme left with at least 

ideological sympathy for China.3 Differences between the 'moderates' 

and 'extremists' within the party were neither so obvious nor so 

great as they were later to beoome. The English educated leadership 

1 
I.e. any threatened alteration in the status guo detrimental to 

Australian interests. 
2 
Consisting in August 1962 of 2,838 men (statement by Townlay, 

CPD,HR, vol.36, 7 Aug 1962, p.76). 
3 
See Chapter Two, supra •. 
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flaunted its hostility to European colonialism and its intention 

to oust the British political and military presence from the island.
1 

The PAP's over.vhelming victor-J in the 1959 election was regarded 

with some apprehension in Australia. The 13.~leti:t:! feared that the 

PAP was controlled by 'young hot-heads' and that its victor,y 
1 represents another advance of the iron curtain tC71Vards us. Singapore 

has retired to the fringes of t he camnunist jungle' • 2 The Government 

appears to have been of a similar frame of mind, although in public 

:Ministers expressed it less openly. 3 One ex-member of the Department 

of External Affairs has reported that the Australian representatives 

in Singapore refused to have any contact with the PAP.4 Canberra 

feared a pro-Peking Government in Singapore, and the eviction of 

the British bases from the island which might result. 5 

The PAP soon shC71Ved that such Australian evaluations of its 

position and intentions were inaccurate. The party's leadersbip 

expressed its willingness to allow the British bases to r emain, 

and revealed that it had no intention of establishing a camnunist 

Singapore. From being seen as a possible outpost of Peking, the 

PAP Government came to be regarded in Australia as the last hope 

in a state vital to Australia's forward defence perimeter: its 

collapse would lead to a communist, or at best an anti-Western 

Gover nment. 
6 

Menzies reported, after having talks ·with the PAP, 

that the party was more 'moderate' than had been anticipated.? The 

apprehension with which Australia had greeted the PAP Government 

n~ be contrasted with the satisfaction it expressed on the return 

of the Alliance to p ower in Kuala Lumpur. 8 

1J~~sman in ~m, 17 Feb 1959. 
2 
}3~~~ti!l1 10 June 1959. 

3 
Stv.ill, 1 June 1959, for statements by Casey and lvicErren on the PAP's 

electoral victory. See also P .J .Doy ce: 'Australia and Malaya: A 
Prel:i.n1..i.nary Study in Ccmmonwealth Relations, 1941-61' (Ph.D. thesis 
Duke University, 1961) pp.83-4 and 210-11. 
4 

Gregory Clark: 'Is Asian Can.'Ilunism a Threat to Australia?' 1 in 
J / !ilkes (ed): C~sm~sia, pp.142-3. 
5see Henrys. Albinski: 'Australia's Defence Enig}DB- 1 , Orlli, 
~'/inter 1961, p.463. 
6 
~lli , 6 June; Denis Warner in Melbourne .!i~1 10 June;Sydney 

.Pa:i}Y Tel~el:~h, 11 June; G.L.Pleet in ~7eat A~stral .1...!!I1, 18 and 
19 June; B.~, 20 June. 
7 

CPD, ~IR, vol.24, 13 Aug 1959, p.191. 
8 . 

Adelaide~~ 20 Aug; Hobart Mercury, Adelaide Adverti~e£, 
~~ 21 Aug 1959. Compare the official reports of the "tv-10 
elections: ~' Aug 1959, pp.377-82 for Singapore, and 
CNIA, .Sept 1959, pp.475-81 for Malaya. 
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By 1960 J.ustralia had accepted that the PJ.P was not a. seouri ty 

threat, although it was still thought that threats to Australian 

interests could emanate f'ran the island. In March 1960 the official 

J~ustralian publication, Current N~, published one o£ Lee Kuan 

Ya'Y-.• s speeches in which he claimed to be a. 'revolutionary' 

inasmuch as he sought a radical transformation of Singapore's 

society. But he was not a. Ua.rxist, he said, and looked main~r to 
1 

private enterprise for the development of the state's eoan~. 

In July the same journal published an article on 'The State of 

Singapore' which may be taken to reflect official opinion an the 

subject. It accepted that the P~ leadership was non-communist and 

did not intend to oust the British base. Its tone was moderately 
2 

pro-PioP. 

The challenge to the Pl:.P leadership in 1961 was greeted with 

same consternation in Australia. The press was particularly 

concerned at the effect which this could have an the British bases. 3 

'rhe Tunku' s merger proposal, though viewed sympathetically, also 

aroused sane anxiety that restrictions might be placed an the use of 

the Canmornrealth forces stationed in Malaya. 4 Previously such 

restrictions could be circumvented by regrouping these forces in 

Singapore. 5 The oanmunique which followed the Tunku' s talks with the 

British Government in London November 1961 1 was greeted with sane 

relief. 6 It appeared that the Ccmnonwealth forces in both Malaya 

and Singapore would be unaffected by merger. Malaysia would continue 

to provide an effective bar..cier against communism, housing a mobile 

British and Commonwealth force. 

The Australian Government's reaction was little different from 

that of the press. No official statement was made for sane monthS 

after the Tunku' s original proposr-1.1, Canberra. preferring to a.wai t the 

announcement of specific arrangements before revealing its evaluation 

of the situation. On 17 November 1962, following the Tunku's departure 

for London, Menzies revealed that ' the Australian Gover~t 

was greatly interested in the concept of 

"1~ 

CNil~ 1 March 1 960, pp • 143-5. 
2-

Ibid., July 1960, pp.301-7. 
3 
Melbourne Herald, 15 July; Bruce Grant: Age 1 18 July; Douglas 

Wilki.e: Melbourne Sun-Na'Yvs Pictorial, 18 July; West J ... ustralian, 
24 July 1961 • -~-- · ,_ 
4 
!J£.~ 1 loielbourne Herald, J •. A.C. Macki.e: Natimi,23 Sept; -~' Hobart 

Met:,_c:uz:y, 3 Oct; Brisbane Courier-Mai];, 4 Oct; West l:.ustrali_~, 9 
Oct; Adelaide News,16 Oct; SMH, Melbourne Herald,18 Oct; Hest 
~·.ustralian, 22NoV 1961. - - -·-
5 
See Chapter Three, supra. 

6 
~~ Brisbane Courier-Mail, Hobart Mercury, Melbourne !Ier~, 24 

Nov; ~~ l~delaide .ndvertiseJ.'1 27 Nov; Sydney p_a.ily Mirr_2r,, 30 Nov. 
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Greater Malaysia. If it proved practicable, it would contribute 

significantly to stability and progress in an area in whose 

development and progress Australia was deeply interested'. 1 On 25 
2 November, following the London communique, Menzies issued a less 

reticent statement, 

We have throughout indicated our belief that the concept 
was a very good one and we hope it will include all the 
countries originally indicated by the Tunku. We know that 
the question of the use of the Singapore base is a very 
important one and we have emphasised this. Having been in 
close touch we welcome the agreement now made. 
We hope that the Malaysia proposal will reach full 
achievooont e. s soon as possible. As in the case of the 
Malayan Defence Agreement of 1957 ••• we will give 
consideration to Australia's association with the new 
agreement in appropriate form. 3 

These two statements revealed Australian policy at that time. 

Canberra had been careful not to commit itself until British policy 

was both clearly defined and public. The London communique showed 

that Britain was fully committed to the Tunku's plan and willing 

and able to continue to use the British bases at Singapore. 4 These 

assurances helped allay any Australian anxieties.5 The Australian 

Government was aware that the formation of the proposed federation 

was likely to involve considerable difficulties but felt that it 

should not be unduly delayed. This was for t wo broad reasons s it 

estimated that internal opposition might thus be minimised and that 

Indonesia, while concerned with West Irian, would be less likely to 

prove obstructionist, although in late 1961 the latter consideration 

was not foremost in the Government's mind. 6 The Malaysia plan was 

attractive for Canberra because it seemed likely to prevent the 

eviction of the British from Singapore, to prevent an extension of 

Chinese or communist influence in the region by placing Chinese 

radical groups under the control of the pro-Western Malayan Alliance 

Government, and to ehable Australia to continue in its forward 

1 
~' Nov 1961, p.14. 

2 
See Chapter Three, supra, 

3 
.Q.m, Nov 1961, p.14. 

4 

pp.67-8. 

,·,. 

This was reaffirmed in the 1962 British Defence White Paper (HMSO, 
London, Cnd. 1639) and by the British Defence Minister, Harold 
Watkinson, in talks with Townley, CPD,HR, vol.34, 27 March 1962, p.941. 
5 . 
It is to be borne in mind that in mid-1961 Britain had announced her 

intention to seek membership of the EEC, causing some apprehension in 
Australia. that Britain might withdraw from Southeast Asia.. With the 
French veto of January 1963 the fear abated, but the possibility had 
been raised. See H.G.Gelbers Australia, Britain and the EEC, (OUP, 
Melbourne, 1966). 
6 
Interviews with Australian Government officials, Canberra, July 1966, 

and Sydney, Fob 1967. 
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defence policy by continuing to provide a forward base from which 

her forces could operate. 

During 1962 there seemed no reason for Australia to alter this 

assessments the wis~es of the peoples of Borneo and Singapore were 

investigated, Indonesia was consulted and Australia was adequately 

informed of the plan's progress. Canberra could only complain that 

progress was too slow, 1 but the parties principal to the affair 

were concerned to ensure that the preparations were adequate. On 

21 August 1962 Sir Garfield Barwick, the Australian Minister for 

External Affairs, returned from overseas and reported to Parliament 

on talks he had in Malaya. He was clearly satisfied with the 

assurances he received from the Tunku and Razak 'of the Federation's 

continued wish to see Commonwe~lth forces stationed in Malaya', 

adding tha~ the Government was following the Malaysia negotiations 

'with sympathetic interest•. 2 Only a short time later, the train 

of events sparked by the Brunei revolt necessitated a reassessment 

in Canberra. But Australia's reaction to Indonesia's inauguration 

of confrontation against the Malaysia plan cannot be adequately 

examined without a review of Australia's policy towards the West 

Irian dispute. 

Australian policy towards Indonesia fro~ the time that the 

latter achieved independence until 1962 was dominated by the West 

Irian issue. 3 During the Indonesian revolt against the Dutch, 

particularly 1945-9, the Australian Labor Government had moved from 

a policy of passive sympathy to ono of active diplomatic support for 

the nationalists. 4 This was largely for ideological and sentimental 

1 
Interviews with Australian Government officials, Canberra, July 1966, 

and Sydney, Feb 1967. 
2 
~' Aug 1962, p.61 (Barwick's report tabled in Parliament). See 

also statements by Ba.rwick, ,gm, Aug 1962, p.81, and CPD,HR, 
vol.36, 18 Oct 1962, p.1769. 
3 
See Chapter Three, supra. A most thorough and critical analysle 

of Australian policy is to be found in J.A.C. Mackiea 'Australia 
and Indonesia, 1945-60', Chapter VI in G.Greenwood and N.Harper (eds)s 
Australia in World Affairs, 1956-6Q. Mackie comments that 
'Australia's overall policy towards Indonesia cannot be disentangled 
from her West New Guinea policy' (p.283). 
4 

See Mackie: op.cit., pp.275-8J Albinskii 'Australia's Search for 
Security', pp.222-34; Sissons and Harpers op.cit., p.283~ Beverley 
M.Male: 'Australia and the Indonesian Nationalist Movement, 1942-45' 
(M.A. (preliminary) thesis, ANU, 1965). 
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reasons but also out of strategic considerations:the Dutch had 

presented no barrier to a southward military thrust against 

Australia, whereas the Indonesians might. But the continuing Dutch 

control of West Irian after 1949 was to cloud tho good relations 

Canberra had established with Djakarta. 1 The strength of Indonesian 

feeling on the West Irian issue has already been referred toa 2 a 

similar feeling, for different reasons, existed in Australia. The 

Menzies Government was less sympathetic than the ALP with Indonesian 

aspirations at large, but both desired to prevent Indonesian control 

of the territory.3 Undoubtedly 'purely domestic considerations of 

sentiment• 4 affected this policy but Australia's concern for defence 

in depth was also influential. New Guina was not the outer defence 

perimeter but the last barrier before Australia, or so the Japanese 

advance had seemed to indicate. In 1950 Spender had reported that 

a military evaluation had declared New Guinea to be 'an absolutely 

essential link in the chain of Australian defence'.5 Because of 

this, asserted Spender, Australia had a right to be consulted on 

matters concerning the future political status of the islandg 

any arrangement which would alter the status of New 
Guinea ••• is no longer one merely for those two parties 
themselves •••• New Guinea is of vital importance to our 
security. It would, we think, be both unreal and 
unreasonable that any change in the status of the 
territory should occur which disregards the interests 
of the indigenous population and those of Australia. 6 

While the Dutch were prepared to retain control of West Irian, 

Australia would support their policy. 

1 
It is possible that Australia encouraged the separation of West 

Irian from Indonesia at the Round Table Conference held in 1949 
which led to Indonesian independence. 
2 
See Chapter Three, supra, pp.62-3. 

3 
CPD,HR, vol.208, 8 June 1950, p.3975 (Evatt), and 23 March 1950, 

p.1176 (Calwell). 
4 
Mackiea op. ci t. , p. 2;72. Ma.ckie quotes one politician, Senator 

O'Sullivan, as saying 'New Guinea has been sanctified by the blood 
and bones of our gallant boys who died there •••• That area is sacred 
to Australia', CPD,Senate, vol.202, 13 June 1950, p.4062. 
5 

CPD,HR, vol.206, 9 March 1950, p.633. 
6 
Statement of 8 June 1950, ~~ June 1950, pp.292-3. See also 

H.A.W.: 'The Indonesian Claim To New Guinea', Australia's Neighbours, 
July 1950. 
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Throughout the 1950s, Australia's attitude towards West Irian 

changed little. 1 Efforts were made to prevent Indonesia from taking 

the dispute to the UN, and when the matter did reach the General 

Assembly, Australia opposed Djakarta's claim. 2 Canberra made no 

secret of its moral support for the Dutch. 3 By the end of the 

decade Australia still considered New Guinea to be a vital factor 

in its security,4 as Subandrio appe&rs to have been told in Canberra 
r.:. 

in 1959.J But by that stage the character of the dispute had 

changed and Dutch-Indonesian relations approached a nadir as both 

parties tenaciously clung to their positions. In 1957 Indonesia 

seized Dutch property and severed diplomatic relations. In 1960, 

after the Dutch had announced a plan allowing for the independence 

of West Irian in ton years, 6 Indonesian leaders began to talk 

openly of a 'rebellion' to liberate the tarritory. 7 During a visit 

to Indonesia at that time Khrushchav voiced support for Indonesia's 

pursuing a mora active policy. 8 The Dutch were sufficiently 

concerned to send reinforcements to the area9 and the Defence 

Minister, Visser, hinted that the Netherlands would receive 

'international support' against the Indonesians. 10 With Indonesians 

increasingly infiltrating into West Irian, 11 it seemed likely that 

the degree of Australian support for the Dutch would be tested. 

1 
R.G. Casey: Friends and Neighbours, pp.136-45. 

2 
~' 4 Oct 1955 for Casay's activities; for Australian voting in 

the UN on the issue see statement by Barwick, CPD,HR, vo1.35, 
2 May 1962, p.1894. 
3 
See CNIA, Nov 1957, pp.882-3, for text of Australian-Netherlands 

administrative agreement on New Guinea. 
4 
See discussion in J.Andrews: 'Problems of Australian Foreign 

Policy, Januar,y to June 1958', ~' Nov 1958, pp.25-7; statement 
by Casey, External Affairs Press Release, no.124, 25 Oct 1958. 
5 
~' Fob 1959, pp.81-89. 

6 
~' 26 Feb 1960. 

7 
SMH, 29 Feb 1960. a-
Ibid •• 

9 
Ibid., 7 April 1960. 

10 
Ibid., 12 May 1960. 

11 
Ibid., 18 Aug 1960. 



111 

During 1961 Indonesian military pressure mounted, and on 19 

December Sukarno spoke of liberating West Irian by force. 1 The us, 
previously neutral and apparently uninterested, offered to mediate 

in the dispute and a settlement was negotiated in August 1962 

largely on Indonesia's terms. \~ere diplomacy had failed, Indonesian 

military and diplomatic pressure against the Dutch had succeeded• 

Australia had played no significant role in the resolution of the 

dispute. In view of the long interest shovm by Australia in the 

West Irian issue, this requires some explanation. 

In 1959 Subandrio had visited Australia and the communique 

issued om his departure gave rise to speculation that Australia 

had changed its policy towards West Irian. The communique stated 

that 'if any agreement were reached between the Netherlands and 

Indonesia as parties principal, arrived at by peaceful processes 

and in accordance with internationally accepted principles, Australia 

would not oppose such an agreemont•. 2 But as Subanrio reaffirmed 

at that time that Indonesia would not use force, 3 and Menzies stated 

that Australia would not urge the Dutch to negotiate,4 Canberra's 

position remained in fact unaltered. The Government did recognise, 

however, that if the Dutch did decide to transfer the territory, 

'what could or would an Australian government do, except recognise 

the new sovereignty as lavdU1? 15 In April 1961 Nasution visited 

Canberra with the avowed intention of seeking Australian neutrality 

in the dispute. The Government adopted a similar posture and 

declared that it would recognise any settlement peacefully negotiated 

without the use of force. 6 It seemed unlikely that the Dutch would 

leave New Guinea under such conditions. 

In December 1961', following a narrow win at the general 

election, Menzies appointed Sir Garfield Barwick as Minister for 

External Affairs. On 4 January 1962 Barwick issued his first public 

statement on the West Irian dispute and emphasised that 'there was 

no present occasion for inflammatory or exaggerated statements as 

1 

Ibid., 20 Dec 1961. Sea also Subandrio, Age, 21 and 22 Dec. 
2 
Casey-Subandrio joint communique, 15 Feb 1959, ~' Fob 1959, p.82. 

3 
~' Feb 1959, p.82 and p.96. 

4 
CPD,HR, vol.22, 24 Feb 1959, p.194. 

5 
Ibid., p.196 (Menzies). 

6 
Statement by Menzies, 27 April, ~' April 1961, pp.50-4. 
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to the affect of the dispute on Australia'. He added that he saw 

'no evidence whatever of any present threat to Australia or to any 

Australian territorial interest'. 1 A week later, on 12 January, 

the Prime Minister took a similar attitude. Ha explained that 

Cabinet had examined a review of the subject by. Barwick and 

considered 'we are not a party principal to this disputa ••• our 
2 great desire is for a peaceful settlement'. These two statements 

gave rise to the suspicion in the press that the Government had 

changed the emphasis of Australian policy and was prepared to accept 

Indonesian control of West Irian without demurs the press was not 

sympathetic. 3 

The Government was aware that such a change in posture would 

bring public disapproval. According to one observer, in January 

1962 'certain Australian journalists were privately called in by a 

minister, or ministers, and asked not to overdo the dispute before 

the public, since it was probably only a matter of time before the 

inevitable transfer would be effected'. 4 On 23 January the Melbourne 

Herald reported that the Government had changed its policy. The 

paper ignored the confidential nature of the briefing 'by a minister, 

or ministers'; as a result that briefing proved to be counterproductive 

and even greater attention was paid to the subject of West Irian. 

The following day most other papers carried the report, and it was 

felt that Barwick had introduced a new aspect to Australian policy.5 

Although Barwick denied this, he did reaffirm that 'the ultimata 

resolution of the matter is one for the parties thamsalves 1 •
6 

Following this episode Australia made little effort to influence the 

course of the dispute, reiterating that she was 'not a party 

principal in that matter•. 7 

There seems little doubt that at about the time that Barwick 

took office the tone if not the substance of Australian policy 

changed. Although by 1961, as shown by Menzies' talks with Nasution, 

1 
~' Jan 1962, pp.40-1. 

2 
Ibid., pp.41-2. 

3 
.§!!!., 5 Jan and 13 Jan. 

4 
Albinski~ Australian Policies and Attitudes Toward China , p.196. 

An interview in Sydney, February 1967, with a prominent official at 
that time substantiated this account. 
5 
Mercur~, West Au stralian c · M --" 962 

6 
• _!ll!rJ.er- ail, 24 Jan.-1 • 

Statement of 25 Jan, ~' Jan 1962, p.42. 
7 

CPD,HR, vol.34, 1 Mardh 1962, p.410 (Menzias). 
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Australia was stressing less her own strategic interests and more the 

wishes of the Papuans and her own desire for a peaceful solution, 

she remained pro-Dutch. With the Dutch committed to a policy of 

self-determination for the territory and refusing to negotiate 

their own withdrawal, Australian policy in fact supported the 

Netherlands. Menzies had made it clear that Canberra would not ask 

the Dutch to negotiate. But on 30 December 1961 Barwick sent a 

letter to both parties urging them to negotiate. 1 This, coupled 

with the tone of the subsequent statements, indicated that Canberra 

had adopted the posture of benevolent neutrality towards Indonesian 

policy which Nasution had sou&ht. 

Australia's preparedness to accept the incorporation -of West 

Irian into Indonesia may be attributed to a number of factors. 

Whether Australia's military appraisal of the significance of New 

Guinea altered between 1950 and 1962 is open to conjecture, but a 

comparison of Spender's statements in 1950 with that of Barwick on 

4 January 1962 would appear to indicate that it had. fut perhaps 

more importantly the strategic situation had altered. Barwick 

argued that, 'From Australia's point of view, the most important 

change in the world situation since the war has been the emergence 

of Communist China•. 2 Indications that Djakarta was becoming more 

friendly with the communist powers were regarded with some trepidation 

in Australia. Barwick warned: 

we must not lose sight of our major interest in reducing 
the spread of communism to our north west ••• and extending 
our friendship with the _poople of Indonesia ••• both 
peoples we would hope [are] bent on arresting the southward 
thrust of Communism. 3 

It was in Australian interests to prevent Indonesia from depending 

on communist support for the success of her West Irian policy. As 
Nation had earlier pointed out, while 'New Guinea is strategically 

important to this country [Australia] ••• the friendship of Indonesia 

is a matter of life or death'. 4 But perhaps most importantly, as 

1 
CPD,HR, vol.34, 15 March 1962, p.903 (Statement by Barwick). 

2 
Roy Milne Memorial Lecture, £m, June 1962, p. 37. 

3 
CPD,HR, vo1.34, 15 March 1962, p.908. 

4 
Nation, 1 Feb 1961. Subandrio had made this point earliera 

'Once Australia realises that Indonesia as a whole is more important 
than a Netherlands colonial enclosure in West Irian, then I think 
we will have achieved our aim', quoted in B. Beddies 'Problems of 
Australian Foreign Policy, July-December 1957', M.ffi, May 1958, 
p.145. 
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Barwick later admitted, 'in a real sense that result [Indonesia's 

absorbtion of West Irian] was beyond our control'. 1 This impotenqy 

was a function of Australia's isolation from her major allies, the 

UK and the US. The former appears to have been largely uninterested 

in the dispute; the latter was prepared to sponsor a settlement 

satisfactory to Indonesia, presumably with a view to avoiding 

Djakarta's alienation from the Weet. 2 

The repercussions of tho West Irian dispute in Australia 

affected the country's reaction to Indonesia's proclamation of 

opposition to Malaysia. Undoubtedly 'feelings of outraged 

nationalism• 3 pervaded the oountr.y, and criticisms of the Government's 

accommodation of Indonesia were widespread. 4 Such attacks were 

often anti-Indonesian in character and suspicions were voiced that 

Indonesia's expansionist mood would not be assuaged by the annexation 

of West Irian.5 Australia's inaction was widely attributed to 

US pressurea 6 it seemed unlikely that Canberra would again so 

lightly adopt a position of diplomatic isolation. Finally, the 

dispute and its ramifications were influential in emphasising to 

Australia its lack of military preparedness. 7 On 24 October Townley 

announced a new defence programme involving increased defence 

expenditure, and hinted that further increases might follow. 8 

Whether with justification or not, by late 1962 Indonesia had taken 

on in Australia the role of a prospective threat. It was with that 

legacy of the West Irian dispute that Australia greeted the Brunei 

revolt. As one commentator observed, 

1 
CPD,HR, . vol.36, 21 Aug 1962, p.517. 

2 
Australian Government officials have confirmed this point in 

confidential interviews. The thesis is developed further, infra, 
pp.138-9, and in Chapter Six. 
3 
Cha:des Grimshaw: 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, January­

June 1962', ~' Nov 1962, p.141. 
4 'S'ld-n~ ~I.J\'\ · \\e.ro.ld- 1 

~A.xt~A, 2 Aug; ,fl.tf»l 5 Aug; SMH, 20 Aug 1962; CPD,HR, vol. 36, 23 Aug 1962, 
. p:671 (Kent Hugnes). 

5 
CPD,HR, vol.36, 3 Oct 1962, p.1125 (Clyde Cameron), and p.1321 (Bur.y). 

6 
See Albinski: ~ustralian Policies and Attitudes Toward China. 

p.196; Grimshaw ~ op.cit., p.142; CPD,HR, vo1.36, 16 Oct 1962, p.1548 
(Bames). 
1 

See D.W.Rawsona 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July­
December 1962', AJPH, May 1963, p.84; ~' 15-19 Oct 1962; CPD,HR, 
vo1.34, 1 March 1962, pp.586-8 (Daly); vo1.35, 15 May 1962, p.2352; 
vol.37, 5 Dec 1962, p.2917; and debate on Townley's statement, vo1.37, 
25 Oct 1962, pp.1943-2014. 
8 

CPD,HR, vol.37, 24 Oct 1962, pp.1877-84. 



Unfortunately for the Indonesian image in Australia, 
Djakarta embarked on her • confrontation 1 with Malaya 
at the very time when wide segments of official 
opinion in the country [Australia] were somewhat 
sceptical of Soekarno's bona fides in West Irian and 
somewhat ashamed of Australia's ready accommodation 
of Soekarno's victory there. 1 
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It was apparent that Canberra wou_ld need to clarify Australian 

policy towards Indonesia, particularly in relation to those areas 

most likely to cause friction between the two statesa Mal~sia and 

llew Guinea. The first nine months of 1963 witnessed the efforts of 

the Australian Gove~ent to define its position, from the beginning 

of confrontation until the unilateral Australian declaration of 

support for Malaysia. The period brought a new interest in what 

was thought to be the inadequacy of Australia's defence establishmantJ 

it also saw the growth of anti-Indonesian sentiment. Both became 

important electoral issues, a fact soon recognised by Government and 

Opposition alike. As the Sydney Morning Herald, Australia's most 
. 2 

consistently anti-Indonesian paper, pointed out: 

There is a certain irony in the prospect that the 
Australian Government, which repeatedly proclaimed 
the impossibility of raising a finger to resist 
Indonesian expansionism on Australia's own borders, 
may find itself committed to supplying military 
forces to resist Indonesian expansion in Borneo. 3 

In fact it was only after two years of hesitation that the Australian 

Government committed combat forces to the defence of eastern Malaysia. 

Before formulating its policy tho Australian Government 

clearly needed to assess the policies of those four countries which 

were, for Canberra, most immediately concerned with confrontation: 

Malaya, Indonesia, the UK, and the USA. The two months following 

Subandrio's announcement of confrontation4 were taken up with this 

task. 

The first Australian approach was made, perhaps necessarily, 

in Djakarta. The Australian Ambassador, Mr Shann, had an hour-long 

interview with the Indonesian Foreign Minister on 10 February. 

Little was said following this discussion, although both men 

confirmed that 'cordial relations' existed between their countries.5 

1 
P.J.Boyce: 'Canberra's Malaysia Policy', Australian Outlook, 

Aug 1963, p.149. 
2 
Ibid., p.150. 

3 
.§!![, 29 Jan 1963. 

4 
Indon.Herald, 23 Jan 1963. 

5 
Ibid., 11 Feb. Interview with Australian Government official, 

Canberra, Jul y 1966. 
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The tone of the interview may have been a little stronger in view 

of Subandrio's statement at a press conference two days later& 'if 

we have a common land frontier with a federation that is hostile 

towards us, the possibility of physical conflict would be difficult 

to avoid. I do not mean war but incidents - incidents of physical 

conflict•. 1 This received hostile publicity in Australia. 2 The 

Melbourne !:J!il, which had been disposed to view Indonesian intentions 

with some sympathy, 3 commented that Subandrio's 'veiled references 

to conflict will cause concern in Australia, which has ever,y reason 

to support our Commonwealth neighbours over Malaysia 1 •
4 There is 

little reason to believe the Government reacted differently. B.Y 

mid-Februar,y Indonesia's position had thus been clarified. 

In Washington the Malaysia project attracted little attention 

while it progressed smoothly during 1961 and 1962. Indonesian· 

hostility towards the planned federation presented the State 

Department with some difficulties, as the Administration attached 

some importance to maintaining friendly relations with Djakarta. 

In Australia there was some fear that the US would attach more 

importance to her connections with Indonesia than to the needs of 

Australian policy, as appeared to have happened in the West Irian 

dispute. The Canberra correspondent of the Economist expressed the 

view that 'no Indonesian regime short of a blatantly communist one 

would earn active American hostility, no matter what harm it did to 

national Australian interests~.5 Tho first indication that 

Washington might be better disposed to support . .Malaysia than it had 

been to support the Dutch in West Irian, was a statement by the 

State Department press officer, Lincoln White. He said that the US 

'would hope to see progress toward the Federation of Malaysia ••• 

[which] is the best means for promoting the political and economic 

progress of the poople involved, while bringing an orderly conclusion 

to colonialism in the area•. 6 There were also indications that 

outside the Administration American opinion was becoming more hostile 

1 
ST, 12 Feb. 

2 
Melbo~.; ... Herald, 12 Feb; SMH, 13 Fob; ·~,jdx West Australian, 14 Feb. 

3' 
Boyces op.cit., p.150. 

4 
~' 13 Feb. 

5 
Economist, 12 Jan 1963; also..§!!!, 15 Feb; Coral Bolla 'Australia 

and the American Alliance', The -World Tod~y, June 1963, pp.305-6. 
6 
Times, 30 Jan 1963. 



/ towards Indonesia. A New York Times editorial expressed the view 

that 

the Sukarno Government, having achieved big power 
military status through Russian arms aid ••• is now 
as irresponsible as it is ambitious •••• The best 
hope for stability in the area lies in the British­
Malayan plan. 1 

Official American policy was still unclear, however, when on 13 

February 1963 it was announced in Canberra that the Secretary of 
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the Department of External Affairs, Sir Arthur Tango, was to go to 

the United States. The official reason given for the trip was that 

Tange would confer with the Australian delegation to the United 

Nations. 2 In view of the short notice involved and the fact that 

Tango's itinerary included meetings with Dean Rusk, Averell 

Harriman and David Bell, a senior foreign aid administrator, the 

Australian press assumed that he was to seek American views on 

Indonesia's confrontation policy and possibly to urge the United 

States to declare its support for Malaysia.3 The Government made 

no effort to deny this. 4 Almost simultaneously the American 

position was apparently clarified. At a press conference on 14 

February President Kennedy was asked to explain American policy 

towards Malaysia. He repliedl 'We have supported the Federation 

of Malaysia and it is under pressure from several areas. But I am 

hopeful it will sustain itself because it is the best hope of 

security for that very Vital part of the world'.5 This statement 

was well-received in Australia where apprehensions were beginning 

to be felt that Indonesian policy towards northern Borneo might 

be duplicated in New Guinea. 6 Within days there were further 

reports that the US Ambassador in Malaya had re-affirmed American 

support for Malaysia? and that the Australian Minister for the Navy, 

Senator Gorton, then in Washington, had received similar assurances. 8 

1 
NYT, 6 Feb. 

2 
Age, 14 Feb. 

3 
Ago, 15 Feb. This interpretation was verified by a senior Government 

official in an interview with the author, Sydney, February 1967. 
4 

Boyce: op.cit., p.152. 
5 

NYT, 15 Fob 1963. 
6-

SMH, 20 Fob; Age, 19 Fob; Ad.News, 25 Feb; Advertiser r . .z~ .~bo 
1 
ST, 20 Feb. 

8 
Age, 20 Feb. 
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Despite these assurances it seemed unlikely that America would 

willingly provide Malaysia with military support. There had alroady 

been press reports that the US wanted her allies to play a greater 

role in Southeast Asia and sought to limit her own burdens. 1 On 

24 February 1963 a US Senate report on the region was published 

which added credence to such views. Although not a statement of 

official policy, the report's compilers were influential, including 

the Democratic leader, Senator Mansfield. In the event it appears 

to have anticipated US policy fairly accurately. Its main theme was 

that the United States should try to reduce its heavy military 

burdens in the area and seek graater aid and cooperation from its 

allies. 2 In this vein were the report's recommendations for US 

policy towards Malaysial 

The general principle of strict non-involvement ••• 
would appear to apply to the emerging Malaysian 
Federation ••• it would seem to be desirable ••• to 
continue to maintain the position of non-involved 
cordiality ••• there can be no justification for 
the kind of one-sided aid involvement which has 
appeared elsewhere ••• [any complications] would 
appear to involve in the first instance the 
Commonwealth nations. 3 

The following month the Clay Committee report on foreign aid also 

argued that the UK should assume primary responsibility for new 

Commonwealth nations. 4 The SydneY MOrning Herald termed the 

Mansfield report 'a rather tepid blessing' for Malaysia.5 An 

Australian academic observer was more specific, noting that 

1 

the Americans have reinforced the limited quality 
of the alliance [with Australia] by their policy 
towards ••• Malaysia ••• [the us] will not enter into 
the argument over the Borneo territories if she 
oan avoid doing so. 6 

west Aii s ,tr aii iitiJ).,_ 14. Fe"b ~ $ ydney ~ .. 19 Feb. 
2 
NYT, 12 March. 

3 
Vietnam and Southeast Asia: Report of Senators Mansfield, Boggs, 

Pall and Smith to the Committee on Forei Relations US Senate 
8th Congress, 1st Session, February 19 3 p.17. 

4 
Complete Report of Cl~y Committee, {USIS, American Embassy, Canberra) 

p.6. 
5 
.§!!!, 27 Feb. 

6 
Coral Bell; op.cit., pp.305-6. 
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But if Washington was reluctant to support Malaysia, American 

sympathy for Indonesia was also declining. The dlay Committee 

reported on that country that 'we do not see how external assistance 

can be granted to this nation ••• unless it puts its internal house 

in order ••• and refrains from international adventures'. 1 This strand 

in US policy was to become progressively stronger, as one American 

commentator anticipated' 

We are deeply concerned to see that a flanking movement 
shall not develop around our ••• position in South Viet 
Nam, and ••• we consider the best way of forestalling 
this is for Malaysia to be a success ••• [it is] 
primarily a British responsibility. But if attacked 
••• the U.S. would cease any and all aid to that 
[attacking] nation. 2 

B.Y March 1963 America was chiefly concerned with Vietnam and 

wished to avoid an open breach with Indonesia, but Washington 

would lend moral support to the Malaysia plan as long as the 

Commonwealth nations accepted primary responsibility for its success. 

This was a role that the British were prepared to accept, as firm 

statements by Mr Thorneycroft, the Minister for Dafence, 3 and Sir 

Richard Hull, Chief of the Imperial General Staff,4 had indicated. 

There was little opposition in Britain to this policy. 

In late February discussions wore held between the ANZAM powers 

in Canberra at a military level.5 Shortly before, it had been 

announced that Lord Selkirk, British Commissione~General in Southeast 

Asia, and Mr Cri tchley, the Australian High Commissioner to Malaya, 

would visit Canberra in early March for consultations with the 

Australian Government. 6 Having assessed the views of its major 

ally, the us, and of the potential protagonist Indonesia, Canberra 

was preparing to evaluate its policy in consultation with Malaysia's 

prospective guarantor. As the Brisbane Courier Mail pointed out 1 

The Federal Government ••• is very conscious of the need 
to remain friendly with Indonesia. Obviously, as in 
the case of the Dutch and West New Guinea, it will be 
the United States' attitude that will count most. 7 
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By early March both these factors seemed to indicate that a 

cautious policy on the part of the lmstralian Government tovvards 

Indonesia's confrontation of the potential members of the Malnysian 

Federation would be necessary. 

Within Australia the gr~ring interest in defence and foreign 

policy, already apparent by late 1962, accelerated after Subandrio's 

announcement of confrontation.1 Like the Gove:n'llllent 1 the .ALP spent 

much of 1963 trying to turn this to its electoral advantage. Calwell 

had alreaqy revealed his new L~terest in these subjects, if in an 

alannist manner, b.f asserting Indonesia's capacity to bomb, without 

fear of re·!;aliation, any l~ustralian mainland city. 2 Prcmpted bJ the 

n~r public interest, Labor decided at a Federal Executive meeting in 

Sydney, on 27 February, to hol~ a Special Federal Conference inMarch 

to clari~ its rather confused platforms on defence and foreign poliqy.3 
There ;7ere by March, therefore, indications that the Menzies Government 

would be, perhaps for the first time 1 under close scrutiny with 

regard tm its a&uintstration of defence and foreign policies. 

On 27 February Critchley left Kuala Lumpur for Canber~~ after 

long discussions with the Tunku. He stopped en route at Djakarta 

for talks with Subendrio, 4 talks which gave ~se to rumours that he 

might seek to mediate in the dispute.5 These rumours were quickly 

denied in Canberra~ It would seem rather that the purpose of 

Critchley1 s visit to Canberra was to report to Cabinet on the 

positions of the Malayan and Indonesian Governments.7 

On 5 March the Federal Cabinet met for the first time to 

consider the issue of confrontation. 8 Much of the J ... ustralian press 

was demanding, and the Indonesian Government was hinting, that 

T~~ 

See Boyce: op. ci t., p.149; l!ill 1 5, 15, 19 and 27 Feb; .t.delaide 
.£:.<!.'!~-i~~er, 5 and 22 Feb; ll;delaide News, 25 and 28 ]'eb; Hobart li~~~ 
23 Feb; .2!:Pberra Times, 27 Feb; Syd.pey §..~, 25 Feb; Melbourne H~~d, 
14 Feb; West Australian, 5 March. 
2 ~-'-'· - ·-

~\ffi, 29 Jan and 2 .b'eb; see also A.~~ .Calwell: Labor' s Role In Modern 
Sos._~e~..z (Landsdcmne Press, Melbourne, 1963) pp.187-8. ·- · -~~-·-~~-
3 
001, 28 Feb. 

4--
-~, 28 Feb. 

5 
ST 1 1 March; !.~ l>.ustralian, 2 March. 

b 
~ 1 2 lilarc.l).. 

7 
See Boyce: op.cit., p.154. 

8 
Ibid., p.153. 
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Australia's policy should be clearly delineated. 1 Sections of the 

press, however, felt that caution was necessary to avoid aggravating 

relations with Indonesia on a delicate issue. 2 It was rumoured 

that Sir Garfield Barwick, Athol Townley, and sections of the 

Department of External Affairs shared this view. 3 It had already 

been announced, on 2 March, that Barwick would attend the ECAFE 

conference at Manila later in the month. 4 There he was expected to 

have talks with Subandrio.5 Even if no public revelation was to 

be made concerning Australian policy, some decisions were necessary 

in order to brief Barwick. 

Cabinet deliberated all day on 5 March and Selkirk and Critchley 

were called on to give information. Only one short official statement 

was issued by Barwick. 6 In this the Minister said that Malaysia 

was 'primarily the concern of Britain'. But he conceded that 

Australia, 'apart from its interest in the prosperity and well-being 

of Malaya and its friendship for a close Commonwealth neighbour, 

has a direct concern in the stability of the area'. He added that 

the Malaysia plan deserved support as a 'major act of orderly 

de-colonisation'. But this was far from being an unequivocal 

declaration of Australian support for Malaysia. Almost concurrently, 

however, it was announced that further Australian naval craft would 

join the Commonwealth Strategic Reserve and that the Australian 

battalion would remain stationed in Malacca following the formation 

of Malaysia.7 Probably the most firm conclusion which may be drawn 

is that 'Cabinet is believed ••• to have committed Australia less 

conditionally to the defence of the Malaysian area•. 8 The Sydney 

Morning Herald came to a similar conclusion, one of its editorials 

applauding tho fact that 'the Australian Government has now, 'it 

seems, abandoned ••• the pclicy of appeasment of Indonesia'. This 

change of heart (as the paper saw it) was attributed to various 

1 
Indon.Horald, 5 March 1963. 

2 
I:Ulletin, 2 March; Mel'C!!C'jt2 March. 

3 
~a;u6NB:i'9iM"Cill Brisbane Courier-Mail,25 Feb; SMH, 5. March. 
4- - -

DEA Press Release, No.28, 2 March~963. 
5 

See CNIA, March 1963, p.31. 
6 
Reprinted ibid., March 1963, p.36. 

7 
SMH, 6 March 196 3. 
8-

Boycea op.cit., p.154. 



factors: British representation, Camnonv1ealth ties with Malaya, 

Labor and press demands for a finner, clearer policy, the growth 
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of canmunist influence in Indonesia, and apprehensions about the 

defence of J ... ustralian New Guinea.1 These factors were probably 

influential, but Canberra had certainly not abandoned its desire for 

friendly relations with Djakarta. 
2 

Canberra supported the Malaysia plan as a relatively 

straightforward solution to the problems which Singapore and the 

Bo1~~eo territories seemed likely to pose. The possibility of the 

plan's arousing Indonesian hostility had been given relatively little 

consideration. During the later stages of the West Irian dispute, 

the Government had came to place oansidereble emphasis on the 

retention of good relations with Djakarta. Although there vms 

little doubt that Canberra would continue to support Malaysia despite 

Indonesian opposition,3 Cabinet was hopeful that Djakarta might be 

pursuaded to accept the scheme. In consequence J ... ustralia.n policy 

appeared ambiguous. In fact the public reticence of the i:..ustralia.n 

Governr.ient was a. result of its desire to avoid disturbi:1g Djakarta 

too much by finnly declaring i~ustralia' s support for :Malaysia. 

The ambigtuties inherent in ~ustralia.n policy were clearly 

revealed t he following week. On 10 Harch Tunku J.bdul Rabman, at a 

rally in Malacca., asserted that .l~ustralia had pledged support for 

i.Ialaysia in the event of the Federation being attacked by Indonesia. 4 

The reason for his making this assertion is unclear as no such 

assurance had been given publicly, but he may have been seeking to 

force Canberra to further clarify its attitude.5 If this was the case 

he was unsuccessful for, despite encouragement by the Australian 

press, 
6 

Sir Robert Menzies merely rei tereted Ba.rvnok' s statenent of 

5 March. 7 The Tunku was forced to repudiate his statement, alleging 

that he had been misquQted.8 

T 
~~'!£!, 7 l:f.aroh, See also .i~ge, 6 :March; Adelaide i~dvertis~E' 6 March; 

Holla.rt Mere~, 9 March. 
2 
On 6 Na.roh Sir James Plimsoll made this clear in New York, M~~~ 

7 March. 
3 
Various Government officials made this point in intervier.rs and 

there s eems no rea son to doubt it, particularly in view of Ba.l'Vlick' s 
statement of 22 March, quoted~~ p.125. One official added, 
'But there was no reason to shout it fram the rooftops 1 , interview 
Canberra, July 1966. 
4 
~~~~ 11 Maroh.ST, 7 March had previously suge;ested this. 

5 
Interview with l\Ialaysian official, Kuala Lumpur, May 1966. 

6 
Melbourne Herald, 11 :March; West j~stralian, 12 March; SMH, 

12 March; Sydney Daily T~l:.~~!} , 12 March. 
7 
~,m 1 1 2 :Niaroh. 

8 
~~t~j3udw, 20 March; M_a.l&, Ma.:Q;, 12 March. 
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On 10 March 1963 Barwick arrived in Manila and during the next 

few days had conversations with Subandrio. On 13 March at a press 

conference he admitted that he had explained to the Indonesian 

Foreign Minister the Australian Government's attitude. He said 

'that the proposed Federation ••• was the best available practical 

solution to the problems which decolonising these territories would 

create'. He continued: 'whilst he remained convinced that Malaysia 

should be formed as planned, he would particularly like to commend 

the initiative of the President [of the Philippines] in suggesting 

talks between the three countries'. 1 This statement made it clear 

that at that stage the Australian Government was unwilling to 

commit itself, hoping that a negotiated settlement of the problem 

of confrontation, might evolve. The Australian press was also 

optimistic that a diplomatic solution was possible,2 particularly 

following the tripartite Manila talks. 3 

The role which Barwick played, during his visit to Manila, in 

initi~ting the discussions between Malaya and Indonesia, remains 

largoly open to conjecture. Perhaps the Australian press attached 

too much significance to the Minister's activities, one paper 

terming them the beginning of a 'new era in Australia's relations 

with Asia•. 4 Even a seasoned political observer felt that the 

Barwick-Subandrio discussions marked tho end of the 'Koala Line' in 

Australian policy towards Indonesia, a policy of 'fuzzy friendliness 

which was empty of all but the most generalised policies of 

noighbourliness',5 The assumption became widespread that 'under 

Barwick Australia is rethinking her foreign policy• 6 and embarking 

'on a refreshingly vigorous course of regional coexistence and 

diplomatic initiative•.7 It has also been suggested that, in 

accordance with the Australian evaluation of the situation, Sir 

Garfield played a significant role in pursuading Indonesia to attend 

1 
Statement to the Press b the Minister tor Extema.l Affairs at 

Manila on 13 March 19 3 DEA, Canberra • 

:Age, SMI!, 15 llarchl ~tiser,West A~~:: 
See Chapter Three, supra. 

4 
John Shaw in~ Sydney Sun-Herald, 17 March. 

5 
Bruce Grant in HJl, 16 March. 

6 
Times, 21 March. 

7 
Boycea op.cit., p.161. See also!!!, 18 March; FEER, 25 April, 

pp.215-6. 
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the tripartite meeting which :Macapagal had proposed. 1 It seems 

that Australia was moderately optimistic that, if Indonesia was 

adequately consulted and informed on the :Malaysia plan, it would 

accept the proposed federation. During March Barwick clarified 

Australia's position in a series of statements. 

On 15 March Sir Garfield Barwick gave a press conference at 

Sydney airport. In his opening statement he emphasised that 

Australia shared many problems of security with her northern neighbours 

and that 'we should regard ourselves as part of (toutheast Asia] 
' 2 

and not regard ourselves as standing outside'. To some extent this 

did introduce a new strand to Australian policy. In relation to 

his activities in Manila he said that he had 'put Australia's view 

that we had a direct :interest in the creation of Jlalaysia as 

planned- according to the timetable ••• that we had a great interest 

in seeing Malaysia created, without hostility between the three 

countries directly concerned'. He then described Australia's 

reaction to the proposed tripartite talksa 

On the footing that this conference was not intended 
as a delaying tactic or an attempt to torpedo 
Malaysia, I thought it should be supported and I 
said so. I felt that it could very well make a 
BT&at contribution to removing misunderstandings 
Land] misconceptions. 

He later added 'there is reason to think that Malaysia could come 

into existence with at least much less opposition and perhaps an 

absence of it ••• we can say that Australia's part has been useful 

in this connection'. Finally, Barwiok was reluctant to admit that 

Australia was obliged to assist in Malaya's defence in the event of 

her being attacked by Indonesia. He termed questions on the 

subject 'hypothetical', denied the existence ofa1formal obligation' 

to Malaya and only when pressed agreed that the 'strategic reserve 

••• is defending Malaya'. From a refusal to be drawn on a 

'hypothetical question•, the Minister moved to an admission that 

Australia had a de facto commitment to the defence of Malaya. His 

reluctance may be attributed to his knowledge of Indonesian 

sensitivity and his desire to avoid aggravating Australian-Indonesian 

relations. 

1 
Suggested in interviews with officials in KUala 

Canberra, July 1966, and Sydney, February 1967. 
supra, p.89. 
2 

ll.unp1r, May 1966, 
See Chapter Three, 

Press Conference Given by the Minister for External Affairs, •• at 
Sydney, 15 Jlarch 1§63 (DEA, Canberra). 
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A week later, on 22 March, Sir Garfield delivered a lengthy 

address to the Australian Institute of International Affairs1 in 

which he elaborated on hie press conference themes of the need for 

Australia to understand Asia and to aot as a part of the Asian 

region. He stressed that the Asian nations were re-emerging, 

'deeply conscious of their historical roots, of past grandeur•, 2 

and argued that their actions should not be interpreted as if they 

were in a European context. In Australia, he continued, 'we must 

adjust our thinking to the notion that for purposes of security ••• 

we are part and paroel of the Asian region•. 3 Perhaps his central 

theme was that 

we must learn to live with the countries from which 
they [Asians] come •••• We must appreciate that these 
countries have hopes and aspirations which may be 
different from ours, which may even at times clash 
with ours ••• we must not c.ondemn them because their 
political systems differ from ours. The fact that 
one country has a parliamentary system and another 
has not ••• doas not make one morally better than 
another. Australians should avoid crude moralising 
about the systems. 4 

He continued that 'among peoples who have bad to fight for their 

independence, anti-colonialism is a deeply and sinceroly felt 

emotion'.5 Barwick later admitted that the problem of Malaysia 

had recently been foremost in Government thinking apd that Cabinet 

had 'after close consideration decided that it favoured the creation 

of Malaysia as planned ••• not~withstanding the expressed opposition 

of Indoneeia and the Philippines•. 6 Ha conceded that his visit 

to Manila had been made largely to t alk to Subandrio but insisted 

that 'Australia has not cast itself in the role of mediator'. He 

summed up Australia's difficulties: 'we have a special relationship 

with Malaya ••• as a Commonwealth country •••• We also have a particular 

interest in the friendship of Indonesia'.? That basic dilemma of 

two potentially conflicting objectives pervaded Australian polioy 

towards confrontation for the next three years. Perhaps Barwick, 

of all Cabinet ministers, was most aware of its existence and 

implications. 

1 
Full text printed~' March 1963, pp.23-35. 

2 
Ibid., p.23. 

3 
Ibid., p.25. 

4 
Ibid., p.26. 

5 
Ibid., p.28. 

6 
Ibid., p.29. 

7 
Ibid., p.31. 
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On 26 March the Parliamentary session opened. On that day 

Barwick admitted that Australia, while having no formal alliance 

with Malaya, regarded 'its security [as] ••• of direct significance 

to us'. 1 The following day, replying to a question om notice, he 

elaborated on this point. For the first time the exchange of 

letters of 1959, associating Australia with the Anglo-Malayan 

Defence Agreement, 2 was made public. Sir Garfield again said 

Malaya was regarded as of vi tal importance to Australian security, 

a fact which would be borne in mind were the Federation attacked. 

He concluded by sayinga 'What the position will be after Malaysia 

comes into being has not yet been discussed with the Malayan 

Government•. 3 

On 28 March Barwick made a Parliamentary statement on 'recent 

developments on Malaysia•. 4 He said that the Government had viewed 

the Malaysia project 'with sympathetic interest' and regarded 

'Malaysia as the best solution for the future of the Borneo territories 

and Singapore'. He added: 'It is in Australia's interests that the 

Federation shoul d come into existence and we have framed and conducted 

over diplomacy accordingly'• He reviewed progress towards the 

formation of the federation, reiterating that Australia supported 

it despite the effects this might have 'on our relationship with 

s~me of our Asian neighbours'. But he was optimistic that such 

effects might be minimal as the 'problems which have arisen over 

Malaysia are political and regional ones which are susceptible to 

diplomatic handling and solution'. 

Sir Garfield had again made a cautious statement, unwilling to 

formally commit Australia while the position remained fluid and a 

negotiated settlement seemed possible. Both the Melbourne HeraldS 

and the Sydney Morning Herald6 applauded this as a 'clea:r statement'. 

Boyoe was probably more accurate, writing that the statement 

'amounted to little more than a recapitulation of previous benedictions, 

together with a useful precis of the Cobbold and La.nsdowne reports 1 .7 

1 
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By the end of March it appeared that Sir Ge.r.field was 

niainta:U-Jin g a flexible posture with respect to confrontation. He 

was prepared to give sane consideration to I ndonesia's accusations 

against Malaysia and, at least in public, he did not sUIIina.rily 

dismiss I ndonesia's charges as indicative of duplicity on the part 

of Djakarta. There were also indica tions that the Minister, with 

support from the Department of External Af f airs, sections of the 

press and perhaps from within Cabinet 1 was anxious that Canberra 

should maintain, in the interests of regional security, a rapport 

vdth Djakarta. These are factors helping to account for Australia's 

reluctance to be drawn, at that stage, into a finn decla..:cation of 

support for Malaysia, a declaration sought by Britain and Malaya.1. 

At the same time, the concept of Canmonwealth collaboration in 

Southeast Asia, centred on AN~ and the Strategic Reserve and 

evoking emotive overtones, demanded less hesitancy of Australian 

policy. During the next six months, as ..:~ustralian opinion became 

more vociferously anti-Indonesian and it became more difficUl~ 

for Australians to understand and sympathise vli th Indonesian 

policy, ll.ustralian foreign policy became more clearly pr~alaysian. 

During March 1963 the .£U..P had also been seeld.ng to clarify its 

defence and foreign policy platfonns. .1~fter the 1955 Hobart 

Conference the party had been largely uninterested in these topics 

but in 1962 had been prepared to r eact with vigour to apparent 

Indonesian bellicosity. In 1 963 it was quick to realise the 

potentialities a 'strong defence' platf'onn seemed to offer as a 

vote-wi nner. On 18 March a special federal conference was 

convened in Canberra to discuss defence and foreign policy. Many 

members of the Parliamentary Labor Party, including its leader, 

Mr Calwell, were anxious to adopt a firm platform on t hese issues 

to enable them to attack the Government for its vacillati ons in 

foreign policy and the weaknesses it had allov1ed to develop in 

the anned forces. The other sectign of the party, largely the 

left wing, was less inclined to alter the tone of Lab or's platfonn. 

This division of opinion became apparent at the conference and as 

a result Labor' s Malaysia policy, like that of the Government, 

remained unclear until later in the year. 

Interview·s with officials in Kuala Lumpur, May 1966, Singapore, 
February 1966 1 Canberra, July 1966, and Sydney, February 1967. 
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On 6 March Calwell had, for the first time, voiced ALP support 

for Malaysia, while saying that the UN was the proper place to 

settle the problems of confrontation. 1 Only four .days later, 

however, his reaction to the Tunku 1 s statement at Malacca revealed 

that his support was only moral, and that the ALP platform of 
2 withdrawing troops from Malaya still stood. Nonetheleee the 

Economist was probably correct in asserting that, fearing an early 

election, Calwell was reluctant to stand on an essentially left-wing 

defence platform.3 

The Special Federal Conference convened in Canberra on 18 March 

1963, and the Standing Committee on Foreign Affairs presented its 

report. 4 A division of opinion within the party was immediately 

evident in that two reports were presented by the Committeea a 

majority report signed by three members from the right-wing state 

branches of New South Wales and South Australia, and a minority 

report more critical of the Government 1 s policy. The former 

differed from the latter in that it would accept the Naval 

Communications Station, which the Government proposed to allow 

America to build and control in Western Australia, provided that 

'Australian sovereignty were maintained'. As the Station was for 

communicating with US nuclear armed submarines, it had excited 

some controversy. The majority report also passed its judgement 

on ANZAM. The relevant section read: 

Labor does not believe that Australian forces should 
be committed overseas except subject to a clear and 
rublic treaty which ••• gives Australia an effective 
voice in the common decisions of the treaty powers. 
See Labor policy on troops in Malaya. 5 

Fortunately the last sentence was clarified. Mr C.T.Oliver, a 

signatory of the majority report, said that it did B2! mean that 

the Committee rejected item eight of the Hobart Declaration (which 

had committed the ALP to withdraw Australian forces from Malaya). 6 

1 
§M!!, 7 March. 

2 
Ibid. , 11 March. 

3 
Economist, 16 March. 

4 
Australian Labor PartyiOfficial Report of the Prooeedi~ of the 

Special Comnonwealth Conference on Foreign Affairs and Defence, 
Canberra, 18 March 1963. 
5 
Ibid., p.22. 

6 
Ibid., p.7. 
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On the key issue of the Naval Communications Station the 

majority report's recommendations were accepted by a slim 19 to 17 

majority. On the ANZAM-Malaya issuo even this slim margin could 

not be repeated and deadlock resulted. Oliver proposed the 

recommendation of the majority report but accepted an amendment by 

C.R.Camoron that 

the last section of the proposition be deleted and the 
following be inserted in lieu thereof& 'Labor policy 
is to oppose the use of armed forces in Malaya which 
we believe will gravely injure Australian relations 
with our Asian neighbours while in no way contributing 
to the prevention of aggression•. 

This amended motion was lost, eighteen votes to eighteen. 1 As the 

rejected motion was in fact item eight of the Hobart declaration, 

the ALP's policy on Australian forces in Malaya was, to say the least, 

confused. The Government made good use of this confusion. 

The Australian press, which had almost unanimously expressed 

the hope that the ALP would clarify its policy towards Malaysia, 2 

was divided in its opinions on the results of the conference. The 

Sydney Morning Herald criticised 1factionalism' and 'ambiguities' 

and decided that the ALP was 'committed to a policy of appeasement 

of Indonesia'.3 More surprising was the fact that the West Australian 

and the Age were prepared to accept that Labor was moving towards 

a more 'sensible' policy on Malaysia but that in such a fluid 

situation a firm declaration was unwarranted.4 

The Parliamentary session began in 1~rch with the ALP prepared 

to attack the Government on issues of foreign policy and defence but 

unable to clearly state its own position.5 This Labor line of 

attack was facilitated by the increased coverage given to these 

issues by the Australian press which was also, in varying degrees, 

pro-Malaysia. The results, of a Public Opinion poll conducted in 

April indicated that this might have fairly reflected Australian 

public opinion. Asked if Australia should fight to defend Malaya or 

the North Borneo states if they were attacked by Indonesia, 55 per cent 

1 
Ibid., pp.12-13. 

2 Adelai~ 18 ~~vertisert 18 March; Melbourne 
Dailt.Mirror, 15 March; ~lfiXllfJ~J!xUMIS_JOOa!IHnJ, 

Herald, 19 March; SMH, 19 March~ Age, 20 March 1963. 
3 

SMH, 22 March. 
4 
~· West Australian, Age, 22 March. 

5 . 
See R.G.Neale~ 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, January­

June 1963', AJPH, Nov 1963, p.137 ff~ and D.W.Rawson: 'Australian 
Political Chronicle, January-July 1963', ~' Nov 1963, p.242. 
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of the sample replied yes, only 22 per cent, no. 1· 

On 2 ApXfl Calwell proposed a motion of no confidence in the 

Government, placing unusual if not unprecedented emphasis on defence 

and foreign pplicies. 2 Envisaging a future election fought partly 

on these issuas, 3 he warned the governing parties that tactics of 

trying to smear the ALP as sympathetic to communism and opposed to 

the US alliance would not be sufficient to win votes as 'the ALP 

is pledged to maintain the American alliance 1 •
4 (In fact the 

Liberal and Country parties did adopt such tactics, with apparent 

success, from that time until the Federal election held in November 

1963). During the debate Government supporters were eager to 

emphasise that 'one of the greatest differences between the ••• 

Government and the ••• Opposition is in relation to their defence 

policies'.5 On Malaysia, the Government, instead of defending its 

own policy attacked that of the Oppositimn. Malcolm Fraser, later 

Minister for the Army, fairly represented its positions 'At the 

Labor Party Conference of 1963 the question of troops for Malaysia 

was left unanswered •••• Does this mean that the old policy of 

withdrawing troops from Malaya stands? ••• the Leader of the Opposition 

made a strong statement supporting the establishment of the federation, 

but the conference issues some vague statement. It made no mention 
t6 of support for the Malaysian federation •••• Why is there ambiguity? 

The Prime Minister was also eager to drive home this line of attack, 

asking 

where does it [the ALP] stand on Malaya? •••• It is 
important to know where Labor stands on Malaya which 
happens to be a British countr,y of the Commonwealth 
of Nations, not so ver,y far to our north, friendly 
and loyal. 7 

If the final sentence represented Sir Robert's opinions, and was 

not merely for debating purposes, his line of approach would seem 

to differ from Barwick's. There ware later other indications of 

such a difference of opinion. 

1 
Australian Public Opinion Polls (APOP) Nos.1676-1687, May-Juna 1963. 

2 
CPD,HR, vol.38, 2 April 1963, pp.259-266. 

3 
There were already suggestions in the press that there might be an 

'early' Federal election fought in 1963 on foreign policy and defence 
issues. E.g., Alan Reid: 'A Foreign Policy Election?' Bulletin, 
6 April. 
4 . 

CPD,HR, vol.38, 2 April 1963, p.266. 
5 
Ibid., p.320 (Dean). 

6 
Ibid., vol.38, 3 April 1963, p.299 and 300-1. 

7 
Ibid., pp.342-3. 



The ALP response to these accusations was predictable. Labor 

supporters, like those of the Government, found it difficult to 

state their own position clearly and relied almost solely on 

criticism of their opponents. Gray expressed a typical ALP 

contention which, without its emotive overtones, contained more 

than a grain of truth: 1 'our entire defence activity is organised 

on the assumption that we shall simply be part of a general defence 

foroe•, 2 'we are organised to defend ourselves as a lackey of 

somebody else'.3 On Malaya E.G.Whitlam, Deputy Leader of the 

Parliamentary Labor Party, voiced the core of what was to become 

official ALP policy: 

what are the arrangements under which Australian troops 
are in Malaya? ••• under which the RAAF ocoupiea the 
Butterworth Base and last month went to Brunei? The 
arrangements are completely vague and veiled ••• the 
whole world ought to be informed what are the actual 
obligations in this regard. 4 

The Goverrunent survived the motion but the basis of the debate 

on Australian policy towards Malaysia had been laid. 

From 8 to 10 April the annual SEATO conference was held in 

Paris,5 and afforded Barwick, who led the Australian delegation, 

his first opportunity to discuss the confrontation of Malaysia 

with Britaiaarl. .America at a ministerial level. The Australian 

press appears to have agreed with the ALP's assessment of SEATO 

and gave little publicity to an organisation which the Bulletin 
. 6 

described as a 'sorr.y farce'. One Australian observer felt: 

It is not too ridiculous to classify this [the SEATO 
Conference] as a minor matter of foreign policy ••• 
recognising its decline in recent years the press 
tended to agree it was obvious that SEATO had become 
a 'pallid and palsied instrument of defence' ••• it had 
been superseded in US policies against communism. 1 

In early 1963 this judgement on the organisation appeared to be 

justified. 8 Nonetheless the conference gave Barwick the chance to 

1 
See Chapter One, supra. 

2 
Op.oit., p.310. 

3 
Ibid., p.311. 

4 
Ibid., vol.38, 4 April 1963, p.420. 

5 
CNIA, April 1963, pp.15-18. 
6-
Bulletin, 20 AprilJ see also 27 April. 

1 
Neale1 op.oit., p.135. 

8 
The US commitments in the area, e.g. to Thailand and Vietnam were 

increasingly organised on a bilateral basis. See lleuohterlein: 
Thailand and the Struggle for Southeast Asia. The :Brit~ sh commitment 
to Malaya and Malaysia was similarly outside SEATO. 
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visit London where he had talks with Mr MacMillan, Mr Heath and 

Foreign Office officials, with whom it was reported that he discussed 

'ways of promoting' Malaysia. 1 In Paris and the US he saw Dean 

Rusk and other US officials and, while Malaysia was not publicly 

mentionod, it would seem likely that the subject was discussed. 

US policy ·had changed little since February, however, and according 

to one experienced observer, 

Washington likes to believe that President Sukarno's 
fear of losing U.S. aid has at least some relation 
to his new caution •••• The Administration has chosen 
to keep alive its influence at Djakarta and restrain 
the Indonesians at crucial moments. 2 

Having visited Malaya during his return journey, Sir Garfield 

gave a press conference at Sydney airport on 19 April. 3 This 

conference proved more informative than the speculative press 

reports published during his absence. He admitted that his 

discussions in London particularly concerned Malaysia. 4 Kr Calwell's 

apprehensions that the Govenrumant would seek to portray ALP policy 

as inimicable to the US alliance, were shown by Barwick to be well 

founded. When asked whether US officials had expressed concern 

about Labor's policies, Sir Garfield gave the following replya 

It is perfectly clear that the Labor Party's view is 
that joint control [of the u.s. Naval Communications 
Station] must be insisted upon and that is going to 
have a tremendous effect on American views about 
Australia, enormous effect. 5 
[ ... ] 
If you carry the Labor Party's view to its extreme, 
America can't come into this area for its own purposes 
or even to defend themselves under Anzus and you 
wouldn't expect America to be so interested in us under 

- those circumstances. Would you? 6 

Expressing his optimism that the tripartite talks, then being held 

on Malaysia,7 could solve the problems of confrontation,8 Barwiok 

1 
Times, 5 April. 

2 
Max Frankel, !!!!, 5 April. 

3 
Press Conference 

19 April 1963 DEA, 
4 
Ibid., p.2. 

5 
"T:bid., P•4• 

6 
Ibid., p.6. 

7 
See Chapter Three, supra, p.89 ff. 

8 
Op.cit., pp.4-5o 

.Affairs ••• 
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denied that he had discussed the growth of communist influence in 

Indonesia with American officials. 1 Sir Garfield was also emphatic 

that SEATO did not expect any trouble from Indonesia because 'the 

Manila Treaty, at least primarily, is directed against communist 

aggression•. 2 This was essentially the same optimistic position 

as he had taken the previous month. He was also anxious to deny 

that the US felt that it was carrying too heavy a burden in Southeast 

Asia and that its allies were not doing enough. 'Whilst no doubt 

the Americans are doing a great deal', he said, 'there are others 

of us doing much too'.3 Finally, on a natter which was to arise 

again later in the year, he fi:nnly asserted that 'East New Guinea 

is within Anzus and the American Ministers always say so quite 

clearly and unambiguously 1 •
4 

On 1 May Indonesia took over control of West Irian from the 

interim UN administration. This, coupled with the apparent renewal 

of Indonesian bellicosity (evidenced by the guerrilla raid on 

Tebedu in Sarawak) and the visit of Liu Shao-chi to Indonesia,5 

tended to increase Australian concern about Indonesian adventures. 

While ther e was much support in the press for a policy of seeking 

a rapport with Djakarta,6 particularly over New Guinea, this concern, 

coupled with the widespread debate on the Naval Communications 

Station,7 increased public interest in Australian security. 8 On 

22 May the Prime Minister announced the third increase in defence 

expenditure in eight months. From that time it appears to have 

been accepted that defence and foreign poli cy would be a major 

issue in the next federal election and that, with the economy sound, 

the Government might well hold an early election to exploit what 

it considered to be its advantages in these fi elds. 

1 
Ibid., p.6. 

2 
Ibid., p.7. 

3 
Ibid., P• 5• 

4 
Ibid., p.6. 

5 
Bee Chapter Three, 

6 

P , 

supra. p.82. 

Adelaid.e Ad v ertiser , 1 May; . Adelaid e News , J. MayJ_: "Ase ,-Brisbane 
Courler~Mail , ~ MaJ; Hobart Mercur y, 6 May; Melbourne Herald , 6 Ma 

7 
Sea Albinski: Australian Policies and Attitudes Toward China, p.241. 

8 
!:J!&., 2 May ; Sun-Herald, 5 May; ~' 4 May. 
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On 2 May, Mr Galvin, a Labor member, expressed pop.1lar feelings 

when in the House of Representatives he urged the Government •to 

let them [the Indonesians] know that we will not tolerate any 

venturos ••• over the border •••• Australia can no longer say •defence 

does not matter• •••• We now have right on our doorsteps ••• a ver.y 

strong military power'. 1 He reminded the Government that the UK and 

the US 'were not much concerned' about the West Irian dispute, adding 

'it was our problem'. He concluded that 'today wo should be looking 
2 more to defence than any other problem'. 

In the interests of long term Australian security, Barwick was 

less inclined than most Australians to condemn openly Indonesian 

policy. He remained optimistic that the Malaysian question could 

be settled by diplomacy, and on 30 April discounted ile stationing 

of 1,500 Indonesian troops in West Irian as a threat to East New 

Guinea. 3 On 7 May, he expressed the opinion that Djakarta was 

'turning to the question of economic development•. 4 Rumours were 

circulating that Barwick, supported by Townley, was leading a group 

of 'Indonesian sympathisers' in the Department of External Affairs. 

The Economist reported that he had •earned some criticism for his 

readiness to excuse Indonesia'.5 The Hobart Morou;x want further 

in contending that Barwiok was leading the 'strong view held in 

his department that conciliation between Canberra and Djakarta 

[could] ensure peace with Indonesia', while Townley had been 'strong 

in his public statements that Indonesian cordiality [could] be held 

by friendly understanding and economic help'. 6 There is no evidence 

to substantiate the claim that there was a division of opinion 

within the Department of External Affairs. Rather, it appears that 

Barwick, who was at that stage directing Canberra's Malaysia policy, 

was acting upon the view of his Department. That view appears to 

have become increasingly unrepresentative of Australian opinion 

during the following months. 

Amid the concern with Australian security and the defence of 

Australian New Guinea, on 9 A~ Barwick presented a bill in Parliament 

to approve the US Naval Communications Station Agreement.7 Such 

1 
CPD,HR, vol. 38, 2 May 1963, p,_1001 •. 

2 
Ibid., p.1002. 

3 
Ibid., 30 April 1963, p.815. 

4 
Ibid., 7 May 1963, p.1035· 

5 
Economist, 11 May 1963. 

6 
Hobart ~ercury, 4 May. 

7 
CPD,HR, vol. 38, 9 ~ 1963, pp.1223-9 •. 
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leglslat:l.on was constitutionally unnecessary but politically useful. 

Referring to ALP policy Sir Garfield stated that the Station would 

be 'under the sole control of the United States Government' because 

joint control was 'impractical'. 1 He stressed that the Station was 

for communications only and was part of the obligations inourred 

under the ANZUS Treaty. Both his contentions and the Station were 

accepted by the Australian press, on two groundst 1) the Station 

would strengthen the US military capacity, 2 and 2) it engaged 'the 

United States on this oontinent•. 3 There was little support for 

tabor's policy. 

During the debate on the bill, which Calwell opened on 16 May,4 

concern about Indonesian intentions was evidenced, particularly 

fear of the Djakarta-Peking axis which appeared to be evolving. 5 The 

Government generally felt that, in view of the threat to Australia 

that this appeared to represent, US protection was vitalJ the ALP 

concurred that the threat existed but argued that US protection 

might not be forthcoming, and was certainly not guaranteed. 

Mr Holten, a Gove~ent baokbencher, portrayed the threatt 

'if we need anything further to demonstrate the fact that the need 

may arise in South-East Asia for instant action ••• we have only to 

study the joint statement issued by President Soekarno and the .. 
Chairman of the People's Republic of China ••• [its]. double talk 

is characteristic of the communist regime•. 6 For the first time 

since the inauguration of confrontation a Cabinet Minister was 

prepared to relate Australia's Malaysia policy to that threat. Mr 

MacMahon, Minister for Labour and National Service, stateda 

We have stationed our forces in Malaya, because We 
know that the independence of Malaysia ••• will be a 
guarantee of our independence.... 7 
We believe in defence in depth. We believe that 
while our foroes are stationed in Malaya ••• and while 
we are a party to SEATO we have a seoond and forward 
line of defence ••• as well as that provided by ANZUS. 8 

This appears to have been Government policy. 

1 
Ibid., p.1226. 

2 
8MB., Ad¥er-'tis~, Ager ·Her!ld• Dail;v;.Mifr'oh• Canberra. Times, 10 May. 
j -
:SMH, jdvertiser, Mercury, Courier-Mail, 10 May. 

4 
CPD,HR, vo1.38, 16 May 1963, pp.1480-5• 

5 
See Chapter Three, supra, pp.82-3. 

6 
Ibid., p.1500. 

7 
Ibid., p.1507. 

8 
Ibid., p.1510. 
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The ALP position is best represented by statements by two of 

its most prominent members, Whi tlam and E.J. Ward. The De:p1ty 

Leader said that the ALP 1accepts the station as a grim and awful 

necessity'. He explained: 

The Labor Party wants alliances, Above all it wants 
an alliance with the United States of America. It 
wants all alliances to be clear and mutuai. Some 
alliances like Anzam are not olear and are not mutual 
•••• Anzus however is a clear and mutual alliance. 1 

Whitlam thus accepted Oliver's unamended motion from the .March 

conference and anticipated the platform adopted by the July 1963 

Federal Conference. Ward, like Galvin, recalled the precarious 

Australian position during the West Irian dis~te and wamed: 

'An Indonesian attack on Australia might be regarded as not being 

Communist aggression and assistance from the u.s. might not be 

forthcoming to us' • 2 Although it ignored the provisions of the 

ANZUS Treaty, this apprehension was widespread. 

Thus, by mid-May, defence and foreign policy had become 

important issues in Australian politics. .Australian opinion, the 

press, the JJLP and Government alike saw two chief means for 

safeguarding Australian security under the prevailing circumstances• 

1) by cementing Australia's alliances, especially that with the 

us, and 2: by building an independant defence capacity which the 

Government had neglected since the mid-195Qs.3 The Naval Communications 

Station was seen as part of the first policyJ during 1963 Canberra 

began to ~rsue the second• 

On 22 May Sir Robert Menzies announced a new defence programme. 4 

He began by pointing out: 

the condition of an effective defence programme is that 
it should be based upon as accurate an assessment as oan 
be made of the probable sources and nature of the 
apprehended attack, the area of possible conflict and the 
nature of the operations f and the nature and extent of the 
cooperation from ••• our allies. 

His statement did much to elucidate the Government's assessment of 

these issues: Indonesia was clearlY regarded as a potential 

threat. This became apparent when Sir Robert continueda 

1 
Ibid., vol.38, 21 May 1963, p.1598. 

2 
Ibid., p.1612. 

~ 
Ibid., 22 May 1963, pp.1669-72. 

3 
Bee Chapter One, supra. 



We have noted ••• the conflicts which exist over the 
creation of the new Federation of Malaysia and the 
events in and concerning West New Guinea •••• we have 
made our review in the light of our treaty 
arraneements, but particularly in refel'ence to the 
seouri ty of our own country and of the Territories 
of Papua and New Guinea. We will defend these 
territories as if they were part of our mainlandf 
there nust be no mistaken ideas about that. 
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The new plan allowed for an enlargemont of the a~ from 21,000 to 

28,000 and of the Pacific Islands Regiment from 700 to· 1 ,400. The 

RAAF was to get forty more Mirage fighters, two new air control 

units, eighteen Caribou transports and eight Bell Iriqueis helicopters, 

while new air:t'ield programmes would be undertaken as ~. Amberley, 

Williamatown, East Sale, Townsville and Wewak. Finally a team of 

'qualified experts' would be sent overseas to evaluate possible 

replacements for Australia's strike-reconnaissence force of Canberrao, 

which were already coming under criticism for being obsolete and 

inferior to their Hussian-built, Indonesian counterparts. Without 

the replacement for the Canberra, planned defence expenditure before 

and after the review, stood as followsa 

1962-3 
1963-4 
1964-5 
1965-6 
196~7 
1967~8 

:Before Review 

£m. 212.2 
219.2 
220 
222 
220 
220 

New Programme 

Lm. 212.2 
237.5 
253.4 
269.6 
277.0 
269.5 

The Prime Minister concluded• 'such force& will provide a significant 
! 

and welcome addition to any allied effort •••• ~t they will do more 

in that they will provide a capacity for independent action'. Even 

with these extensive increases in defenoe expenditure ~trali~ 

would still l?e spending a smaller percentage of her National Income 

on defence than most developed Westem nations, and much less than 

her major allies, the USA and Britain. 1 

The defence review was- greeted by the Australian press with an 

enthusiasm tempered onll by ooaments to the effect; that it 'was not 

as far reaching as some cri tics of earlier p6licies would have liked'. 2 

1 
See T.B.Millara Australia'·s Defence, ~1.7), tor -table en comparative 

' mili taey cpendi ture. 
2 

Ad.ve£tiur, 23 KayJaee also !!!!,, 23 Jla3J West Australian, 24 and 25 Mayo 
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Some editorials linked the review with the Indonesian takeover of 

West New Guinea, 1 many applauded the pledge on Papua-New Guinea, 2 

and there was widespread approval of the intention to create an 

independent militar.y capacity, which the Economist described as 

'a new departure' in Australian policy. 3 Probably influential in 

that process had been American hints that Australia was not pulling 

her weight within the Western alliance. 4 The review of 22 May was 

a step in a programme of rearmament which Australia was to pursue 

over the following years. 

During the early part of June, events occurred which appeared 

to improve Australia's diplomatic position in relation to her 

policies towards Indonesia and Malaysia: 1) Indonesian bellicosity 

seemed to decline9 2) the US affirmed unequivocally that Australian 

New Guinea was within the area encompassed by the ANZUS Treaty~ and 

3) the ANZUS Council deliberated in Wellington. 

In Tokyo during May representatives of American oil co~panies 

had been negotiating with Indonesian officials after President 

Sukarno had warned the companies that, unless th~y complied with 

certain yet-to-b&-announced restrictions, they would be nationalised. 

The US State Department was thought to want to keep a connection 

with Djakarta, but there wore known to be pressur~s .in Congress to 

. out the Indonesian aid programme.5 During the negotiations Mr 

Wyatt, the chief American negotiator, threatened such a reduction 

of aid9 the Indonesians threatened to treat with China. 6 On 2 June 

the parties reached a settlement which was widely construed as an 

Indonesian concession made in the face of US pressure. 7 With the 

apparently successful conclusion of the Manila tripartite talks, 

it seemed that Indonesia was moving towards a renewed detente with 

the West and a negotiated settlement on Malaysia. Barwick was 

sufficiently optimistic to accept such an interpretation. 8 

1 
Advert!tt;23 May. 

2 
Age, Merc&~r:'D8.ill 3~!grgw.,2i May• West Australian, 24 May. 

3 
Economist, 25 May; also SMH, 23 May. 

4 
Times, 31 May. 

5 
See Clay Report; Times, 30 May; ,m, 30 May. 

6 
Times , :fJ May; NYT, 30 May. 

7 
Times, 3 June~ ST, 7 June; Times of Vietnam, 12 June; S.China Morning 
~' 11 June; NY Herald-Tribune, 8 July; fulletin, 22 June; ~' 
13 June and 20 June. 
8 
Press Release, No.58, 12 June (DEA Canberra). 
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The ANZUS Council met in Wellington 5-6 June, but before 

~ttending, the American delegate, the Assistant Secretar.y of State 

for Political Affairs, Mr Averell Harrimant paid a brief visit to 

Australia. During his stay, on two occasions, he reaffirmed Barwick's 

earlier contention that Australian New Guinea was covered by ANZUS 
~o'l"'''>c.c:L '-'e...- c.o......_-:,\-.,..eAJ.: tQ\...dp 1 

and that the US we~la fi~•Jto defend it. Legally this had never 

been in doubt, as Article V of the ANZUS Treaty specifically included 

'the island territories ••• in the Pacific' of the signatory powers. 2 

This reaffirmation by an important US official, however, was a useful 

reassurance for Australian public opinion and was warmly applauded 

by the press. 3 

The final comrmmique of the ANZUS Council confirmed that 

'anything that happens in the Pacific area is of concern to all 

three [ANZUS powers], and ••• a threat to any of the partners in the 

area, metropolitan and island territories alike, is equally a 

threat to the others•. 4 The communique also showed the degree of 

similarity between the Australian and American positions on Malaysia 

in that, while it expressed sympathy for the projected new federation, 

it said that the three ANZUS powers hoped that the federation's 

problems could be solved by 'diplomatic discussion'. Finally, the 

plan for a nuclear-free zone in the southern hemisphere, supported 

by the ALP, was condemned as 'not only illusory but positively 

dangerous'. 

J.G.Starke contends that under the Kennedy administration new 

importance •as attached to the AN~JS Treaty by the US as the 

Alliance's role in global strategy increased in significance. The 

establishment of the Naval Communication Station, he argues, 'must 

inevitably tend to transform Anzus from an alliance that has been 

primarily defensive ••• into one with a strong element of global 

deterrence'.5 The New York Times also felt that 'recent developments 

in the South-West Pacific [Indonesia was later referred to] have made 

this year' a Anzus meeting the most important for some time'. 6 The 

1963 ANZUS declaration must be read in conjunction with the 22 May 

defence review;7 they appear to have strengthened Australia's 

1 
!X!,, 4 June. 

2 
~'July 1961, p.404. 

3 
MelbGUr_n~· Herald, 5 June; Ag_g, 6 Juneo 

4 
~' June 1963, p.5. 

5 
J.G.Starkea The Anzus Treaty Alliance, p.3. 

6 
m,, 15 June. 

7 
See Nealea op.cit., p.135. 
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position in New Guinea. By ],ate June the reasons for Australian 

apprehensions concerning Indonesiru1 adventures, and the apprehensions 

themselves, seemed to have become less significant. 1 

If Australian concern about Indonesia decreased, interest in 

defence did not. · On 1 June 1963 the Queensland State elections 

were held, in which the Country-Liberal Parties' Government retained 

its large majority. One analysis of the elections contends that 

The Communist bogey ••• was used effectively •••• In its 
attack ·on the ALP the Liberal Party in particular 
emphasised that Australian security essentially 
depended upon continued support for the policies 
advocated by the Liberal and Country parties in 
defence and foreign affairs. 2 

The Government parties also emphasised 'those current federal 

issues of defence and foreign affairs on which the ALP could be 

labelled irresponsible'. The analysis concludes: 

the coalition parties' campaign against the ALP left 
wing on the federal issues of foreign affairs and 
defence ••• was undoubtedly successful. The decision 
of the federal Liberal-Country party -government to 
hold a federal election a year early ••• on these 
issues appears to stem partly from this suocess. 3 

At the same time the ALP was making clear its intention to attack 

the Government parties on their defence and foreign policy records. 

At the New South Wales ALP Conference, Calwell launched a vigorous 

attack on the Government. He asserted that the ALP would rest its 

defence policy on four pillars: 1) increased sel~-reliance, 

2) industrial expansion, 3) expanded regular forces and CMF, and 

4) greater defence for western and northern Australia.4 In this 

speech he was anticipating the ALP election platform. The NSW 

President, Mr Oliver, another right wing Labor spokesman, also 

attacked the inadequacies of the Government's ~efence programme, 

in an essentially anti-Indonesian speech.5 By mid~~e _ it was clear 

that both Government and Opposition were prepared to treat defence 

and foreign policy as significant, if not major, election issues. 

1 
Economist, 6 July. 

2 
Margaret N.Lettice and Clair Skerman Clark: 'The 1963 Queensland 

State Election', AJPH, Nov 1963, p.19Q. 
3 
Ibid., pp.199-200 • 

.1. ----
§M.J\, •. lO•._J ,un eor; ri¥eTki9 u·r .ne Herald, 11 June • 

5~ - - ___.. . -
Sy~ !?ey · §unday T-elegraph, 9 June. 
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Later in the month Sir Robert Menzies visited London where he 

had talks with Mr Thorneycroft, the Minister for Defence, Mr Butler, 

the Foreign Secretary, and Mr Sandys, the Secretary of State for 

Commonwealth Relations. 1 He left for Washington on 6 July. On 9 

July the Malaysia Agreement was signed in London. The following 

day President Bukarno, contending that the Agreement was a breach 

of the previous understanding reached with Indonesia, announced the 

renewal of confrontation. 2 

On 14 July Sir Robert returned to Australia where he gave a 

press conference describing and interpreting these events. 3 He 

agreed that in London 'the principal things that I discussed with 

them [the British] had relation in South East Asia, in particular 

Malaysia and the developments of that new Federation'. He continued: 

As far as Malaysia is concerned, the idea has been 
actively supported by the United Kingdom, supported by 
us as a matter of principle quite clearly, and 
supported by the United States as a matter of principle1 
the one reservation being made by the United States 
to the effect that any defensive arrangement in 
relation to Malaysia seems to the United States to 
be essentially a Commonwealth matter at this stage. 

Washington was continuing its policy of regarding the region covered 

by the ANZAM arrangement as primarily a Commonwealth responsibility 

and, as the Mansfield and Clay reports had recommended, would regard 

Malaysia as being within 'British sphere of influence•. 4 Referring 

to Indonesia's renewed hostility, the Prime Minister commented, 

'this is all very odd'. 

The renewal of confrontation again presented the Australian 

Government with the need to clarify its policy towards Malaysia. 

Broadly two issues presented themselves : should the Australian 

commitment to Malaya be extended to Malaysia, and if so under what 

sort of arrangement should the commitment be made? B.y July there 

was a widespread assumption within Australia that the commitment 

would be extended. Such a policy would be greeted with approval.5 

On the second issue there was some controversy. There were reports 

in the press that officials in the Department of External Affairs 

felt it would be unwise and unnecessary for Australia to enter into 

1 
Times, 20 June. 

2 
Indon.Herald, 11 July; see Chapter Three, supra, PP•99-100. 

3 
Text, CNIA, July 1963, pp.58-61. 

4 
Interview: US Embassy, Kuala Lumpur, May 1966. 

5 
Only Outlook expressed opposition to such a policy. See Malaysia: 

An Outlook Publication (Sydney, 1963). 
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a binding treaty with Malaysia when a further exchange of notes 

would give Australian policy more flexibility and place the major 

responsibility for Malaysia's defence on the UK. 1 That this proved 

to be Australian policy adds some credence to these rumours. There 
2 was much support in the press, however, for a treaty, and there 

had already been indications that the ALP was likely to adopt such 

a policy. 

On 29 July the ALP Federal Conference opened in Perth. JB in 

March there wore broadly two sohools of thought on foreign policy 

issuess the right wing, including many cf the Parliamentary leaders, 

favouring a votErwinning policy of strong defence and a 1hard line' 

towards Indonesia, and the left, strangely quiet since March, which 

preferred the Hobart platform and was more sympathetic towards 

Indonesian aspiratione.3 In July the central themes of each view 

were expressed by representatives from each group, Whitlam for the 

right, and J .Keefe, then ALP Federal President, for the left. 

On 9 July Whitlam delivered the Fourteenth Roy Milne Memorial 

Lecture at Armidale. 4 In an essentially 'moderate' address he 

anticipated the vote catching tone of subsequent ALP policy. He 

began by emphasising Labor's support for the US alliance. He 

continued by describing the Malaysia plan as 

an ingenious attempt at orderly decolonisation ••• 
[Britain] rushed ahead without taking into account 
the attitudes of Indonesia and the Philippines ••• 
consultation ••• could have avoided much of the later 
hostility. Australia was neither consulted nor 
interested until an outbreak of hostilities seemed 
imminent. 5 

Ha denied that Australian forces in Malaya helped Australian 

security, saying that Australia's commitment to Malaya's defenoe 

was too vague. In this analysis he differ~d little from his left 

wing colleaguesa it was on policy recommendations that a difference 

of opinion became apparent. Whitlam felt that 'Australian troops 

should not be stationed overseas unless Australia has an effective 

1 Courier-Mail, 
West Australip, 13 and 17 JulyJ71!11, 17 July; SMH, 16 July. This was confirmed 

in interviews with denior officials in Canberra, July 1966. 
2 Courier-Mail, 

West Austra~an, 17 and 30 July;fiJII, 17 July; Age, 23 JulyJ ~' 30 July. 

See J. F. Cairns s Living With JBia ( Lansdowne Press, Mal bourne, 
1965) asp. pp.76-103, for a comprehensive statement b.Y one of the 
left wing leaders. 
4 
E.G.Whitlams Australian Foreign Policy 1963 (AIIA, 1963). 

5 
Ibid., p.13. 
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voice in the policies of the countrl0s where they are stationed'. 

Thus under certain conditions the Deputy Leader of the Parliamentary 

Labor Party favoured maintaining the Australian contribution to 

the Commonwealth Strategic Reserve. 

Keefe delivered the opening address to the ALP Federal Conference. 1 

While prepared to criticise the Government's 'criminal neglect of 

the defence of Australia', his tone was reminiscent of the ALP of 

the 1950s, imbued with the sentiment that 'at heart, all socialists 

are pacifists'. He was prepared to place great reliance on the 

UN. Specifically on the Australian commitment to Malaya, he said& 

the Menzies Administration has squandered a substantial 
portion of the defence vote to keep Australian troops 
in Malaya. The decent Malayans don 1 t want our troops 
in Malaya and the ALP does not Vlant to keep them 
there. 2 

This view was clearly incompatible with Whitlam's. 

As the Times pointed out, there was 'widespread interest in 

the country in diplomatic and defence decisions taken by the ALP 

••• it is f elt that Labor1 s approach to these matters will have a 

big influence on its chances at the next Australian general 

election•. 3 The Conference was no doubt aware of this, unanimously 

carrying a resolution providing for the 'provision of voluntary 

defence forces a) properly equipped ••• ,b) capable of great mobility 

within Australia and its environs, c) having sufficient range and 

strike power to deter aggressors, d) capable of being used as part 

of a UN force•. 4 This was essentially a vote catching, strong 

defence policy. Of Malaya specifically the conference made no 

mention, although the following recommendation was carried 

unanimously& 

Labor does not believe that Australian forces should be 
oommitted overseas except subject to ~ clear and public 
treaty ••• which gives Australia an effective voice in 
the common decisions of the Treaty powers. 5 

The conference also pledged Labor to 'honour and support Australia's 

treaties and defence alliances' partioularly 1NZUS. 6 As D.W.Rawson 

pointed outs 

1 

Ibid., p.7. 
3 
Times, 2 Aug 1963. 

4 
Op.cit., pp.1B-19. 

5 
Ibid., pp.23-4. 

6 
Ibid., pp.18-19. 



In retrospect it is easy to see many of the events of 
the latter half of 1963 as a background or prelude to 
the federal election ••• and in this case hindsight is 
more justified than usual since throughout this 
period there were constant reports that an early 
election would in fact be held. Such a likelihood 
must have certainly been a factor at the meetings 
of the federal conference of the ALP. 1 
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But Labor policy towards Malaya remained unclear. On 1 August 

the Sydney Morning Herald felt that the Hobart platform remained 

unchanged. 2 The following day the paper revised its opinion, 

deciding that the Conference had reversed the 'traditional tabor 

opposition to the stationing of Australian forces abroad in time 

of peace', due to the possibility of a federal election in the near 

future. 3 The West Australian pointGd. out that within the 1J;P there 

were different interpretations of the platform and there was no 

clear indication as to how the platform would be implemented. 4 By 

3 .Ausust the right wing of the ALP was contending that the Hobart 

platform had been rescinded when it was rejected at Canberra in 

March.5 The papers accepted this contention according to their 

bias. The Sund.av Telegraph felt that the ALP was still committed 

to the withdrawal of Australian forces, 6 the West Australian that 

Labor policy might have changed. 7 The !si was probably nearest 

the truth in saying that 'the conference attitude was to say the 

least confused and ambiguous•, with F.E.Chamberlain, the Federal 

Secretary, contending that policy had changed, Keefe that it had 

not. 8 

In fact the press was only reflecting the confusion within the 

ALP, which Calwell did something to clear up in an interview given 

on 8 August. In this interview he asserted that the 'party's plank 

on the withdrawal of troops from Malaya has been replaced. In its 

place is a new one ••• we will gladly defend'.9: 

1 
D.W.Rawson: 'Australian Political Chronicle, July-December 1963', 

M!!,!, ApMl 1964, p.96. 
2 

BMH, 1 Aug 1963. 
3 mm., 2 Aug. 
4 
~West Australian, 2 Aug 1963. 

5 
mm, 3 Aug. c-
~ Sydney Sunday Telegraph, 4 Aug. 

7 
~West Australian, 5 Aug. a-
Age, 5 Aug. 

9 
~ Brisbane Courier-Mail, 9 Augo 
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It would appear that the ALP was shifting to the right in 

preparation for a federal election. 1 Such a view was given added 

weight when Mr Daly defeated Dr Cairns in a ballot for place on the 

Federal Executive, 2 and Cyril Wyndham became Federal Secretary. 3 

Alan Raid, an experienced political observer, felt that, with the 

likelihood of an early election, neither wing wanted an open fight, 

and a vague, compromise resolution on Malaysia had provided an 

acceptable alternative with the interpretation of either group 

possible.4 That Calwell was eager to represent the ALP as pro-Malaysia 

and in favour of greater defence expenditure was understandable. 

Almost the whole of the press supported such views, only the Daily 

Mirror and the Nation voicing significant reservations.5 Further, 

in August, opinion polls revealed that only 22 per cent of the 

sample approached opposed Australia fighting Indonesia to defend 

Malaysia, while 69 per cent favo~red conscription. 6 It was clear by 

early August that if the Government decided to accept an obligation 

to defend Malaysia, such a policy would face little domestic 

opposition. 

Internationally, the situation was also moving to Malaysia's 

advantage and, with anti-Indonesian foroes growing stronger in the 

USA, restraints on a pro-Malaysian Australian policy appeared to be 

lifting. On 25 July, in Washington, the House Foreign Affairs 

Committee voted 17 to 12 to stop US aid to Indonesia unless the 

President considered it to be in the national interest. 

Representative Broomfield, a leading critic of Djakarta, complained 

that 'instead of curbing Sukarno our nation's foreign policy 

appears to be to placate him 1 .7 Again, in early August, while the 

Administration was reported to be enthusiastic about the Maphilindo 

agreement,8 a House sub-committee insisted that the Government 

1 Courier-Mail, West Australian, 
Walter Browns] .!!!• 24 Aug and.., 7 Sept. This was substantiated 

during interviews with senior members of the .ALP. 
2 
§ME, 22 Aug. 

3 
f&n'hSefix West Australian, 7 Sept. 

4 
'Labor's New Defence Policy', fulletin, 10 Aug; . tMa.laysia - Another 

Labor Split', Bulletin, 7 Sept. 
5 
Nation, 10 Aug; D.Kirror, 13 Aug. 

6 
~' Nos, 1698-1710, September-October 1963. Support for Malaysia 

had increased from 55 per cent to 58 per cent since April. 
1 

NYT, 26 July. 
8-

See Chapter Three, supra, pp.91-2. 
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should explain its aid policy towards Indonesia and the moaning of 

the clause in the Manila Accords concerning the temporary nature of 

foreign bases on the territory of the signatory powers. 1 Robart 

Trumbull appears to have expressed popular apprehensions when he 

wrotea 'Soekarno succeeded at Manila in establishing a new basis 

for sabotaging the emerging ••• Malaysia, for undermining SEATO and for 

eventually divorcing western military power from its principal 

defensive allies in this vital region•. 2 

During the rest of August and September interest in defence 

and Malaysia remained high in Australia. The Parliamentary session 

re-opened at the end of August when 1 the keenest debate was on the 

estimates for the defence departments with the Labor Party in the 

unaccustomed role of vociferous advocate of more affective, even if 

more expensive, defence•. 3 This attitude on the part of the ALP 
was expressed by Oalwell who, in his opening speech during the 

debate on the estimates, oriticised the Government for spending 

only 2.7 par cent of the National Income on defence, and asserted 

that the 1952-3 level of 4.3 per cent should be returned to. 4 

MacMahon was probably correct when he contended that the ALP had 

favoured a cut in defence expenditure until it became olear that 

the electorate favoured an increase.5 The Government defended 

itself largely by drawing attention to the ambiguities of Labor•s 

1. . 6 po l.Cl.eS. 

If there was in Australia by September a widespread consensus 

that increased defence expenditure was necessary, and this was 

related to apprehensions about Indonesian intentions, it did not 

translate itself into a policy of, or even a desire for, confrontation 

of any sort with Djakarta. There remained a strong section of 

opinion, perhaps best represented by the Bulletin,7 which advocated 

1 
.m~~. , 8 Aug. 

2 
Ibid. ' 10 Aug. 

3 
D.W.Rawson: cp.cit., p.98. 

4 
OPD,HR, vo1.39, 20 Aug 1963, pp.305-6. 

5 
Ibid., pp.310-11. 

6 
Ibid., vol.39, 22 Aug 1963, Po456 {Jess); 29 Aug 1963, p.628 

{Haworth). 
1 
E.g., Bulletin, 7 Sept. It has been suggested to the author that 

the than editor of the Bulletin was in close contact with the 
Department of External Affairs and that on Malaysia the journal 
often reflected the Department's views. 
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a greater effort on tha part of Australia to tr,y to understand 

Indonesia. At the same time it would appear that Barwick was anxious 

to prevent 'the Malaysia issue ••• [from driving] a permanent wedge 

between Indonesia and Australia'. 1 In part these sentiments may be 

attributed to a fear that the UK would withdraw from the region 
2 leaving Australia 'more and mora to hold the Tunku's awkward baby'. 

In Parliament the Government refused to be dra\~ on its Malaysia 

policy until the now federation was inaugurated. 3 Backbenchers from 

both sides of the House expressed various degrees of sympathy for 

Indonesia's economic troublos4 and only Sir Wilfred Kent Hughes 

was openly hostile, calling Sukarno 'the petty Hitler of the 

Pacific'.5 Under these circumstances it was announced on 9 September 

that Barwick would visit Djakarta en route to Kuala Lumpur for the 

Malaysia Day celebrations of 16 September, to fully explain 

Australia's position and to ass~ss that of the IndoneSitan Government. 6 

On 16 September the Federation of Malaysia was inaugurated 

amidst celebrations in l.ts constituent states and hostile rioting 

in Djakarta. 7 The Australian press was almost universally 

enthusiastic about the new state, while the Djakarta riots only 

served to increase anti-Indonesian feeling. 8 It had become necessary 

for the Australian Government to declare its policy and remove the 

apparent ambiguities of the previous eight months. 

Barwick's visit to Djakarta, and his talks there with Sukarno, 

Subandrio and Nasution attracted little attention. It has been 

suggested that the visit did much to dispel Barwick's sympathy for 

Indonesia. Press reports at the time did little more than agree 

that Ba~'ick had some 'unpleasant' interviews and that he firmly 

stated the Australian position.9 Barwick himself gave little 

indication of what had occurred, except admitting, on his return to 

1 
Economist, 1 Sept 1963. 

2 
Times , 13 Sept. 

3 
CPD,HR, vol.39, 10 Sept 1963, p.745. 

4 
Ibid., 12 Sept 1963, pp.948 (Bur.y), p.954 (King), pp.963-5 (Jess). 

5 
Ibid., p.959. 

6 
~' 10 Sept 1963. 

7 
See Chapter Three, supra. 

8 . 
Dai]y Telep})b,18 ,S~p1;,29 ~p:~,;Weet,;"!ustreHan, 19 Sept; Age , 20 Sept~ 
~' 21 Sept. 
9 

Bruce Grant~ Age, 16 Sept; Guy Harriott: .§.!!!, 16 Sept. 
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Sydney, that he and Su ba.ndrio had 1 an agreement to disagree 1 
• He 

felt that under the circumstances 'the important thing is to keep 

your bridges up'. 1 The following April at a press conference he 

elaborated a little. When asked if the Indonesians knew that the 

ANZUS Treaty applied to Australia's involvement in Malaysia's 

defence, he replied: 'Oh, yes, th~y know. You know this goes back 

to when I saw Sukarno last September. This was made plain and he 

himself said to me that he knew he would be opposed by the British 

and by us and by the Americans. He know that then•. 2 

It appears that during the first seven months of 1963 Australia 

favoured making concessions to Indonesia in order to lessen her 

hostility to Malaysia. 3 At the same time Canberra wished, as did the 

US, to warn Djakarta discreetly of the consequences if confrontation 

was continued. Some Australian officials considered that the UK had 

not tried sufficiently to ameliorate relations with Indonesia4 and 

it appears that Canberra suggested that London pay more attention 

to Indonesian objections, particularly with respect to the dispute 

over tho observers of the UN investigation and the date for the 

formation of Malaysia. But it seems that during his visit to 

Djakarta in September 1963 Barwick became convinced that by that 

stage Malaysia could not be formed without incurring Indonesian 

hostility.5 Australia's efforts had been unsuccessful. 

On 17 September the Prime Minister indicated in the House of 

Representatives that the previous defence arrangement with Malaya 

would be oxtendod to Malaysia. 6 The press approved the proposed 

commi. tment but there was some controversy as to whether it should 

'be on the same vague and unsatisfactory basis', or explicitly 

defined in a treaty. 7 Barwick clearly favoured an exchange of 

1 
SMH, 21 Sept. 

2 
Press Release (DEA Canberra) 17 April 1964. 

3 
Much of the information in this paragraph has come from interviews 

with Government officials, but its contents may be partly deduced from 
information presented earlier. 
4 

One official felt that 30 Indonesian observers should have been 
admitted to the Borneo states and Malaysia's formation delayed at 
least until 1 Oct. 
5 

As he admitted on his return to Sydney, SMH, 21 Sept. 
6 

CPD,HR, vol.39, 17 Sept 1963, p.1026. 
7 
~' 18 Sept; see also Ad.News, 19 Sept. 
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notes, arguing that 'this flexible Commonwealth arrangement allows 

you to make your political decisions in the current circumstances 

according to their need', 1 . The significance of this statement 

became clearer during the following eighteen months. The Canberra 

correspondent of the London Times assessed the position in the 

following tenns a 

Events in Djakarta have hardened Australian opinion 
towards Indonesia, whose government has boon trying 
for a long time to keep the policies of Australia and 
Britain towards it as far apart as possible. There 
is certainly a strong disposition here [in Australia] 
not to underwrite completely the Tunku's policies by 
giving him unquestioning support in all the 
territories of the Federation. Thero is also a 
reluctance to cormni t Australian soldiers in the 
Borneo territories, in case Indonesia retaliates by 
fermenting trouble along the border with New Guinea. 2 

As the Age pointed out, under these circumstances the Government 

preferred not to have a treaty in order that it might act as it, 

and not other signatories, saw fit.3 However, with the exception 

of the Adelaide News,4 the rest of the Australian press favoured 

a clearer arrangement.5 

The reaction in America to the events accompanying the inauguration 

of Malaysia, was similar to that in Australia. On 22 September, 

during a television interview, David E.Bell warned that 'the United 

States is able to assist other governments only when they behave 

sensibly in international matters•. 6 Two days later the US 

Government announced that it would not start any new aid programmes 

to Indonesia. 7 On the same day Dean Rusk had talks with Subandrio 

and was reported to have cautioned him. 8 It would appear that, as in 

the case of West Irian, the US had been prepared to mako considerable 

efforts to avoid alienating Indonesia.9 Although this policy had 

1 
~' 21 Sept 1963. 

2 
Times, 23 Sept. 

3 
Age, 23 Sept, 

4 
Ad.News, 19 Sept. 

5 
Adver:tiser~ercw::r-;wpat J.ustral.i~19 .Sept ;Canberra. Ti.Dlesi§ua,2&·Septo 

...;., . -;; . 

0 

!!!, 23 Sept. 
1 
Ibid., 25 Sept. 

8 
Ibid. , and Times .t 25 Sopt. 

9 
See Chapter Six, infra, for a more extensive treatment of this theme. 



not been abandoned, by lata September 1963 American sympathy for 

Indonesia was rapidly withering. 
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On 25 September the Prime Minister formally announced Australia's 

support for Malaysia in the House of Representatives. 1 He first 

referred to the long standing Australian conJnitment to Malaya, which 

he clarified: 

The establishment of the Commonwealth Strategic Reserve, 
of SEATO - to the functions of which the Reserve was 
relevant - the negotiations of the Anzus pact, are all 
on the same pattern •••• Thero has been some suggestion 
that our forces in Malaya wont there primarily for the 
purposes of internal security. This is not so. A/3 I 
have indicated, they went there and are there as part 
of a strategic reserve ••• as a contribution to the 
defence of the South-East Asian area. 

Referring to Malaysia he went on tn say that 1we have publicly and 

unambiguously said that we support Malaysia which is, never let it 

be forgotten, a Commonwealth country'. The Prima Minister also 

thought it necessary to explain why a bilateral treaty had not been 

signed, sayings 'The Government of Malaysia has said clearly that 

this exchange [of letters] is complete~y satisfactory to it. But 

it has not been the normal practice of Commonwealth countries to 

spell out in detail their sense of mutual obligation, nor to confine 

themselves to legal formulae'. Sir Robort made Australia's commitment 

to Malaysia explicit in the final sentence of the statement& 

I therefore, after close deliberation by Cabinet, and 
on its behalf, inform the House that we are resolved 
and have so informed the Government of Malaysia, and 
the Governments of tke United Kingdom and New Zealand 
and others concerned, that if, in the circumstances 
that now exist, and which may continue for a long time, 
there occurs, in relation to Malaysia or any of its 
constituent states, armed invasion or subversive 
activity - supported or directed or inspired from 
outside Malaysia - we shall to the best of our powers 
and by such means as shall be agreed upon with the 
Government of Malaysia, add our mili tar,y assistance to 
the efforts of Malaysia and the United Kingdom in the 
defence of Malaysia's territorial integrity and political 
independence. 

At the same time the Prime Minister tabled the Anglo-Malayan and 

Anglo-Malaysian defence agreements and the two exchanges of notes 

which associated Australia with those agreements. 2 

1 
CPD,HR, vol.40, 25 Sept 1963, pp.1338-9. See Appendix Five, infra, 

for text. 
2 
See Appendices Two and Four, infra, for texts. 
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As Professor Miller ~as pointed out, three aspects of this 

statement need to be considered: 1its immediate reception, its 

apparent meaning and its relation to subsequent events'. 1 At this 

stage only its reception will be analysed. As M~ller continues: 

Its immediate reception was almost entirely favourable • 
••• There seems no doubt that Sir Robert had caught the 
public mood: impatient at Indonesia's harrying of the 
new state; anxious for some new definition of the 
Australian position; convinced that some kind of 2 military guarantee wae necessary to encourage Malaysia. 

Newspaper editorials expressed almost complete approval of the 

statement and adopted a clearly anti-Indonesian posture. 3 But the 

statement did not represent an Unequivocal Australian commitment to 

the defence of Malaysia. The Times contention that 'it made clear 

for the first time that Australian forces would fight for Malaysia 

if necessary in the Borneo territories•,4 while literally accurate 

suggested a misinterpretation of Canberra's priorities. Australia 

would avoid such a commitment if possible. 

Later, on the same day, Calwell opened a short debate on the 

statement.5 He said: 'The Labour Party supports the concept of 

Malaysia and welcomes its creation. We believe that this experiment 

in nationhood should be given its chance, free from attack or 

interference from other nations, to prove itself'. He stressed that 

the ALP attached great importance to the findings of the UN mission 

to the Borneo territories and contended that 'the proper forum for 

disputes that may arise in the futuro about Malaysia is ••• the United 

Nations'. He again criticised the fact that the functions of the 

Australian forces in Malaysia were not clear and recommended a 

clear treaty with tha.t country. He pointed out that Labor policy 

was to negotiate such a treaty, not to withdraw the forces. 

Four other members spoke in the debate. The crucial point at 

issue, with both sides of the House supporting Malaysia, concerned 

the treaty proposal. Paul Hasluck, then Minister for 'l'erri tories, 

made the Government's most telling point in asking 'will it [the ALP] 

withdraw its support if it does not get its treaty?• 6 For the ALP 

1 
J.D.B.Miller: 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July..December 

1963!, ~' April 1964, p.11. 
2 
Ibid •• 

3 
The Mirror and Bulletin were partial exceptions. 

4 
Times, 26 Sept. 

5 
CPD,HR, vo1.40, 25 Sept 1963, pp.1365-70. 

6 
Ibid., p.1377. 
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Qnly Whitlam had answered that question in the affirmative. 1 On this 

occasion, as on many others, it went unanswered. Despite this, and 

although Menzies' statement received widespread endorsement, there 

was 'considerable support for the declaration by Mr Calwell ••• that 

Australia ought now to have an equal voice in Anglo-Mala.vsian 

diplomacy 1 • 
2 

Two aspects of the Parliamentary discussion of the commitment 

would appear to require some explanation. The first feature was the 

united stand presented by the three Labor speakers. The ALP left 

wing had agreed to remain quiet on the Malaysia issue and Calwell 

had chosen two right wing speakers in Makin and Beazley. 3 

Considerations of electoral advantage had overridden intra-party 

divisions of opinion.4 Again, the absence of Barwick from the 

House, although he was still in Australia, and although Menzieo had 

indicated previously that Barwick would make the statement,5 deserves 

some cormnont. It was suggested in the press that Menzies, like 

Calwell, was having to paper over the cracks to present a hard line 

on Malaysia, for ''Sir Garfield's attitude to Indonesia and that of 

several of his advisers has tended to be a soft-pe-da1 1
•
6 Menzies 1 

explanation was that Barwick had t-o leave for the UN as soon as 

possible after the ·statement had been drafted by Cabinet. 7 There 

seems no good reason for not accepting the Prime Ministeris 

explanation. Nonetheless it did appear that whi-le Barwick was 

stressing the need for Australia to make every effort to preserve 

her good relations with Indonesia, Menzies, :at least in public, was 

more concerned to emphasise Australia's support for Malaysia. 

In Australia, the reaction to the creation of Malaysia and 

associated events had occurred a.t a. variety of levels in the body 

politic. Before 1963 it had been the 'Government which had shown 

the greatest interest in the project and had supported it because 

it seemed likely to create a friendly state, the structure of which 

would allow for t ·he ·Oontainment, if not the suppression of anti­

Western forces within its boirders. Canberra 'ha:d accepted an 

1 
., 

Ibid., vol. 39, 10 Sept, p. 765 .• 
2 
Times, 27 Sept. 

3 West Australian, 
See M.C.Urena 11&} 28 Sept; Alan Raid: ~ Dai1y Telegraph, l'8ci• 

4 
Senior members of the ALP substantiated this in interviews with the 

authol'. 
5 

CPD,HR, vo1.40, 24 Sept, p.1261-. 
6 
~ Brisbane Courier-Mail, 28 Sept. 

7 
CPD,HR, vol. 40, 25 Sept, ·P• ~ 335. 
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obligation, which it had reaffirmed in 1959, to assist in the defence 

of Malaya as part of a general strategy designed to prevent the 

extension of Chinese and communist influence. In 1961 and 1962 with 

the same purpose in mind Australia had been prepared to extend that 

obligation to Malaysia. Djakarta's announcement of its opposition 

to the plan presented Canberra with the prospect of being in conflict 

with Indonesia. This was unfortunate, for Australia desired good 

relations with both Malaysia and Indonesia, at least partly in order 

to contain Chinese influence. In the hope that Indonesia was neither 

immutably expansionist nor unalterably opposed to !lalaysia, Australia 

sought to help reconcile the differences between the two states. 

This objective was pursued by discreet diplomacy, Barwick in 

particular being careful not to make statements which might be 

construed in Indonesia as being inflammatory. Whether suoh a policy 

could be pursued for long was open to question, particularly as 

Australian opinion beoame increasingly vooal on the Malaysia issue. 

The solution to the West Irian dispute seemed to present the 

Australian Government with the opportunity to establish lasting 

amicable relations with Indonesia. It would appear that Barwiok 

in particular was hopeful that that could be aocomplished. Australian 

public opinion was more inclined to view the West Irian settlement 

as a defeat for Australian diplomacy, a factor which contributed to 

the hostility shown in Australia towards Indonesia's opposition to 

Malaysia. Malaysia received considerable favourable publicity and 

was given all but unanimous support by the Australian public. At 

the same time there was a growing concern in Australia about the 

security of the country and an anxiety about the apparent inadequacy 

of its defence forcesa these were largely responses to the 

apprehensions felt about Indonesia. The ALP revised its foreign 

polioy and defence platforms rather than risk the loss of electoral 

support. 

Menzies' statement of 25 September took account of these various 

factors. It appeared sufficiently firm for Malaysian and domestic 

opinion to take comfort in Canberra's determination to oppose 

Indonesian confrontationJ it was sufficiently qualified to permit 

Canberra to continue to pursue a friendly relationship with 

Djakarta. It was the implementation rather than the declaration of 

policy which would reveal Canberra's intentions. 
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'Ma.la.vsia~ Confrontations, Internal and External 

In September 1963 Malaysia came into existence in the face of 

Indonesian and Filipino opposition. It is possible that Djakarta's 

hostility oould .have been avoided, for example by mor~ thorough 

explanation of the Federation or by more amenable policies towards 

Indonesia during 1963. But this is open to question and it would 

appear that Indonesian acceptance of Malaysia was only to be bought 

at a price unacceptable to Kuala Lumpura recognition of Indonesia's 

regional dominance. In addition the readiness with which Indonesia 

resorted to force and yet vociferously denounced the reaction, and 

even the presence, of the foroes of Malaysia's allies, seemed to 

render disputable the bona fides of her ostensible intentions. 

Indonesian actions had led to the strengthening of British forces 

in the area. In this respect Indonesian policy appeared to be 

countel'-productive. furing the first year of Malaysia's existence 

Indonesian demands became less flexible and less acceptable to 

Kuala Lumpur, and it became increasingly likely that confrontation 

was the result of Indonesian domestic politics. The contentions 

of Kuala Lumpur and some Western observers, that Indonesian policy 

was increasingly directed by the PKI and so less susceptible to 

modification, are not to be treated lightly. Indonesian attitudes 

did appear to move closer to those of Peking. Although Djakarta 

continued to insist that it merely sought the tull implementation 

of the Manila Agreements, PKI opposition to both those Agreements 

and to compromise in general, served only to increase the scepticism 

of observers. It began to appear that Malaysia was unacceptable 

to Indonesia on any terms except in tutelar.y. relationship with 

Indonesia. Whereas in early 1963 KUala Lumpur had been prepared 

to make concessions in the hope of ameliorating Indonesian hostility, 

following the creation of Mal~sia it became less willing to do so. 

furing the first nine monthl!l of the Federation 1 s existence the 

situation hardened and the positions of the disputants became more 

rather than le-ss disparate. 

In addition to being beset b.y Indonesian confrontation, Malaysia 

was facing the strains perhaps inevitable in a new federation. The 

constitutional framework was an adequate starting point but clearly 

the Federal Government would have to adjust to its new role: UMNO 

would have to handle carefully the various regional and communal 
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aspirations. · That neither ~TO nor tho~e aspirants ware liberally 

endowed with the spirit of comprOmise soon became appatent, ~ 

mid-1964 it was clear that negotiations were Unlikely to solve the 

problem of confrontation, and compromise unlikely to resolve 

smoothly the Fede~tion's internal disputes. 

The first repercussions of the inauguration of Malaysia were 

perhaps predictable. Riots ensued in Djakarta and the British and 

Malaysian Embassies were attacked, the former being burnt and sacked. 

Both Indonesia and the Philippines refused to extend recognition and 

on 17 September the Malaysian Oabinet decided to sever relations with 

the two states, who were asked to withdraw their missions within a 

week. 1 Shortly after, Sukarno announced an embargo on all Indonesian 

trade with Malaysia. 2 Whether this would harm Indonesia (of whose 

total exports of: ~us 600 million, 98 million went to Malaysia, while 

Singapore dealt with entrepot trade to the value of a further 

. ·168 million) more than Malaysia, was debatable. But only the 

severity of the effect of this move on the latter's economy was 

open to question.3 In September Lee estimated that as a result of 

Indonesia's trade embargo two thousand Singaporeans would: lose their 

jobs;4 later estimates were more pessimistic. Sukarno then ordered 

the breaking of air links with Malaysia5 and. in November the taking 

over of Malaysian assets in Indonesia. 6 The rationale for Indonesian 

hostility remained the same: Malaysia was a neo-colonialist plot 

and the wishes of the Bornean people had not been properly 

ascertained.? Coupled with the continuation, indeed intensification, 

of guerrilla raids into Sarawak, these events mnly served to increase 

the hostility between the two states. 

The issues at dispute were clearly shown during the 1963 

session of the UN General Assembly. HaVing on 17 September objected 

to the seating of the Malaysian delegation,8 on 27 September the 

1 
ST, 18 Sept 1963. Suadi, the Indonesian Ambassador to Australia, 

attributed the refusal to grant recognition to the power held by the 
Chinese in Malaysia and Indonesia's fear of an extension of Peking's 
influence. This explanation may have just been for the benefit of 
\7estern audiences, Age, 18 Sept 1963. 
2 
]!!, 22 Sept 1963. 

3 
Economist, 21 Sept 1963. 

4 
§!, 1 Oct 1963. 

5 
NYT, 26 Sept 1963. 
6-
.§!, 30 Nov. 

7 
NYT, 26 Sept. 

8-
0:f:fioial Reo.orde of the UN General Assembly, 18th Seedon, vol.1, 

Meeting 1206, 17 Sept 1963, p.2. 



156 

Indonesian representative, Pa.lar, deli vererl an ox.ten~i ve cri tic ism 

of the British propensity to federate ex-colonies, pointing out tho 

list of failu res in this regard, and continued by describing Mala~rsia 

as a British designed, enforced and promulgated plot. He alleged 

that Kuala Lumpur had accepted the :c:in.nila Agreements; and was then 

forcod by Britain to break thorn. He attributed this to Britain's 

fear that she might be asked to vacate her military bases in 

Malaysia. Palar insisted t hat if Bornean opinion was shovm to 

favour Malaysia , his Government would welcome the Federation. 1 The 

Malaysirul delegate roi teratcd his ('l()vernment 's position. 2 
'l1he 

British delegate, Lord Home, argued that the UK was anxious to grant 

independence to colonies, but only to viablo units within the 

frrumework of self-determination. 3 On 30 September Palar extended 

his attack, criticising Malaysia as part of a plot to maintain the 

'Pax Brittannica 1 in Southeast Asia,4 cleiming 'what we want there, 

and what we are cmti tlod to have is a Pax Indonesia. in our territory 1 • 5 

He later described the Brunei revolt as an insurrection popular 

throughout Borneo~ which had been suppressed by the British. Ho 

admitted that thousands of rebels had fled to Kalimantan only to 

return to attack the British. 6 Despite his activity Palar failed to 

get Malaysia's right to a UN seat challenged, even within the 

Afro-Asian caucus. 7 

The months following the establishment of Malaysia witnessed 

various efforts to get the disputants to resume negotiations. In 

September 1963 the Philippines approached Kuala Lumpur and Djakarta 

with this end in view. Sukarno was amenable providing there wero 

no preconditions. 8 The Tunku, conversely, agreed to talks providing 

three conditions wore fulfilled: any agreement should be honoured, 

Malaysia should be recognised, and attacks on Borneo should be 

ended and Indonesian forces withdrawn.9 Similar efforts b,y the 

1 
Ibid., Meeting 1219, 27 Sept 1963, pp.3-12. 

2 
Ibid., pp.16-8. 

3 
Ibid., pp.18-9. 

4 
Ibid., Meeting 1221, 30 Sept 1963, pp.18-9. 

5 
Ibid., p.15. 

6 
Ibid., Meeting 1237, 10 Oct 1963, p.8. 

1 
ST, 25 Oct 1963. 

B-
Ibid., 21 Sept; Nation {Burma) 7 Oct. 

9 
.§!, 21 Sept. 

.( 
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Prime Minister of Japan, Mr Ikoda, during his tour of Southeast Asia1 

met with a lack of success, the Tunku expressing the same reservations. 2 

Ikeda abandoned his efforts3 as did the Japanese Foreign Minister, 

in November, after encountering a similar impasse. 4 A third 

prospective mediator appeared when Thailand proposed a summit 

meeting at Bangkok,5 but the Tunku remained unwilling to participate 

while military confrontation continued. 6 Dut from 12 to 18 November 

the Colombo Plan conference of Foreign Ministers was held in 

Bangkok; Razak, Subandrio and Lopez attended. 7 Despite Thanat 

Khoman's efforts neither Subandrio, nor Razak, who repeated 

Kalaysia's conditions, appeared enthusiastic to reconvene 

negotiations. 8 The three parted, agreeing that a more congenial 

atmosphere was needed before talks could be resumed. 9 

These efforts at mediation revealed the degree of polarisation 

in the dispute. Malaysia was reluctant to negotiate while Indonesia 

continued to use force. 10 But Kuala Lumpur does appear to have 

largely rejected by that time the possibility of successfully 

negotiating a settlement, viewing Djakarta's policy as part of a 

long term plan for expansion11 and as being communist directed 

and so implacable. 12 The Tunku on one occasion said that only the 

overthrow of the Indonesian Government would prevent its expansionist 

ambitions being fulfilled. 13 This was an ~nfortunate but 

understandable reaction to Indonesian pressure. The gulf between 

1 
Japan Times, 20 Sept. 

2 
Nation, 27 Sept. 

3 
.§!, 30 Sept. 

4 
Dj. D. Mail, 20 Nov; Japan Times, 21 Nov. 

5 
ST, 2 Oct 1963. 

6-
Ibid •• 

7 
Ibid., 9 and 13 Nov; Bangkok Post, 10 Nov. 

8 
.§!, 18 Nov. 

9 
Dj. D • . Mail, 19 Nov; Daniel Wolfstone and Bernadino Ronquillo: 

'Malaysia's Mediators', ~' 30 Jan 1964, p.203. 
10 
ST, 28 Nov. 

11 
MPD,HR, 11 Doe 1963, cols.1949-69. 

12 
ST, 15 Oct 1963. 

13 
Ibid., 4 Oct 1963. 
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the two states' positions was growing and a strong initiative would 

clearly be required to bring negotiations. This initiative was 

provided by the US. 

American policy towards Indonesia was ambivalent. Although 

Sukarno was increasingly unpopular in the us, Washington was anxious 

to prevent Indonesia from being drawn into the communist bloc. The 

US was prepared to make considerable efforts to maintain friendly 

relations with Djakarta, and desired a negotiated settlement to the 

Malaysia dispute. If possible, open US support for Malaysia was 

to be avoided. 1 Following reports that America was considering 

mediating in the dispute, 2 and the despatch of a note from President 

Johnson to Sukarno expressing concern at the latter's polioies,3 

it was announced that Robert Kennody, the US Attorney-General and 

brother of the late President, would visit Tokyo for talks with the 

Indonesian President. 4 Probably seeking to capitalise on US foars, 

on arrival in Tokyo Subandrio warned that Indonesia might be forced 

to seek aid from Peking against Malaysia.5 Certainly Kennedy was 

more than cautious, saying that the problem 'must be decided, 

resolved and determined by Asian countries, not by outsiders•,6 and 

being careful to avoid committing the US to support for Malaysia. 7 

He met Sukarno and proposed that Indonesia implement a cease-fire 

in Borneo and that negotiations then be resumed. Sukarno agreed 

to this proposal and Konnedy appeared to be impressed with his 

reasonableness. After visits to Kuala Lumpur, Manila and Djakarta, 

Kennedy got an agreement that there would be tripartite talks in 

Bangkok following a cease-fire in Borneo. 8 

S~~rno appears to have pursuaded Kennedy of Indonesia's value 

as a bulwark against Peking, perhaps within the Maphilindo framework.9 

Others were less optimistic than Kennedy. The British ware olearly 

1 
See Chapters Four and Six for more detailed treatment of US policy. 

2 
Nation, 21 Sept and 5 Oct. 

3 
See Chapter Six, infra, p.216. 

4 
NYT, 15 Jan 1964. 

5 
Ibid., 16 Jan. 

6 
Tlimes, 11 Jan. 

1 
Ibid., 18 Jan. 

8 
Ibid., 23 Jan. 

9 
Ibid., 28 Jan 1964. 
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sceptical during Kennedy's subsequent visit to London. 1 The 

Malaysians were even less pleased, one official complaining that 

'when Kennedy said Asia for the Asians he meant Asia for the 

Indonesians, that the Indonesians should solve the problem. How 

should we survive without the British?' He roundly abused Kennedy's 

efforts to mediate. 2 An American diplomat was more subtle: 'Kennedy 

thought that when Sukarno nods his head, he agrees. In fact it 

only means that he understood what you said'. He said most US 

officials in the area thought the trip to be a mistake, the result 

of domestic politics.3 Considering America's extensive military 

presence in Asia, Kennedy's attitude did appear to be inconsistent. 

After visiting Manila, where he received some support for his 

position, Sukamo again saw Kennedy in Djakarta and on 23 Januar,y 

ordered a cease-fire. 4 The Tunku agreed to aocept Kennedy's 

proposals, with a cease-fire to be the only precondition to talks, 

although as San~vs pointed out this would not prevent further 

reinforcements (a battalion of Gurkhas) being sent to Malaysia. 

Kuala Lumpur was to 'talk softly but carry a big stiok'.5 Although 

both sides had moderated their positions, the likelihood of a 

negotiated settlement remained remote, particularly when on the day 

after the cease-fire was announced, Sukarno revealed that confrontation 

would continue. 'Indonesia may change its tactics', he added, 

'but our goal will remain the same', to crush Malaysia. 6 

After various discussions with Thanat Khoman it was agreed 

that the talks begin at a ministerial level in Bangkok on 5 Februar.y,7 

and that a series of meetings would be necessary. On 10 February the 

talks ended with Indonesia refusing to withdraw her forces but 

agreeing to continue the ceasa-fire.8 KUala Lumpur was becoming 

increasingly disenchanted with the negotiqtions for not only had 

no advances been made at the talks but the cease-fire gave no 

indication of having been implemented. 

1 
Ibid. , 1 Feb. 

2 
In an interview with the author, Kuala Lumpur, May 1966. 

3 
In an interview. Times, 6 Feb, reported that the US realised that 

it had been a mistake to send Kennedy without consulting the UK. 
4 

Indon Herald, 24 Jan, 'as part of a general cease-fire implemented 
by all parties concerned'. 
5 
Times, 24 Jan. 

6 
~' 25 Jan. 

7 
Bangkok Post, Times, 3 Feb. 

8 
.§!, 11 Feb. 
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The talks had neither improved relations between the states nor 

defined their differences. 1 The Indonesian delegation had asserted 

that the difficulties arose 'from the improper implementation of the 

Manila Agreements', and 'that Indonesia would welcome Malaysia 

providGd the wishes of tho people of Sarawak and Sabah are ascertained 

in the way laid down in the Manila Agreements•. The difficulties 

were attributed to 'certain outside forces' causing the observers' 

dispute and the precipitate implementation of Malaysiaa Sukarno 

had been 'treated lightly'. The Indonesian delegation denied that 

there was any urgency, and when asked to specify Indonesian 

grievances argued that the delegations 'should exchange points of . 
view and not stress so much on points of disagreement'. At a later 

stage the Indonesians contended that the British were at fault and 

objections were raised to the 'presence of British bases'. 

These objections were vague and, given Indonesian assumptions, 

difficult to refute. Clearly Djakarta was far from accepting the 

two conditions which Malaysia deemed essential for a settlements 

'a) Indonesia must take into account Malaysia's territorial 

integrityJ and b) Indonesia must acknowledge and respect the national 

existence and sovereignty of Malaysia'. The Malaysian delegates 

were in a frustrating position; assailed by confrontation they were 

unable precisely to ascertain Indonesian desires. As one delegate 

pointed out, 

The impression is that whatever Malaysia does it has 
never been satisfactory to Indonesia •••• Tomorrow you 
will create a new difficulty, a new prriblem. We have 
done nothing which is acceptable to you. Now what do 
you really want? 2 

While the Malaysian case was not watertight, the frustration was 

understandable. Many of Indonesia's objections stemmed from the 

British military presence, which Malaysia was clearly unwilling to 

have removed, at least in the short term. 3 As Razak pointed out, 

the British were there to oppose aggression, although 'if Malaysia 

was satisfied that it could live in peace .with its neighbours, the 

Anglo-Malaysian defence treaty could be reviewed'.4 

1 
The following account is based on information obtained from 

official sources in Kuala Lumpur. 
2 
Ibid •• 

3 
Times, 8 Feb. 

4 
Ibid., 6 Feb. 
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Malaysia was thus growing increasingly sceptical of the value 

of further talks. Indonesia not only refused to withdraw forces 

from Borneo but wanted to supply them by military aircraft, desiring 

first a 'political solution'. 1 Further, the PKI made no secret of 

its hostility to compromise. 2 The second round of talks wore 

delayed while Indonesian forces remained active in Borneo.3 RAF 
units wore sent to Borneo, at Kuala Lumpur's re1!Uest, · to prevent 

t:-ne '3~'\\u 4 Indonesia supplying .-.}. Finally it was agreed that talks would 

begin on 3 March in Bangkok. Both sides maintained their positions 

and within two days the talks collapsed. It appoa~)d that tho 

cease-fire period had endod.5 

Throughout this period the Philippines had taken an almost 

neutral stand, approving neither confrontation nor Malaysia. 

Manila continued to work for negotiations and on 17 March announced 

that a compromise formula had bean agreed upon for talks to be held 

after the Malayan elections, due in late April. Indonesia would 

withdraw her forces under Thai supervision, talks would begin 

simultaneously and a summit meeting would follow. 6 Subandrio 

agreed to this.7 

Negotiations still centred around the preconditions for talks, 

not for a settlement to the dispute. Sukarno continued to demand 

a Bornaan plebiscite,8 Malaysia to refuse one. At this time one 

rationale for Indonesian policy was presented by Subandrio in an 
interview for the Times at the Hague.9 He argued that both the UK 

and Indonesia wished to contain Peking's influence but differed in 

their proposed means. Malaysia would be dominated by the Chinese. 

Suggesting that the British bases were not a threat to Indonesia 

but that they did increase tensions in the area, he voiced four 

objections to ~~laysia: 1) that it was not clear that Bornaan 

1 
Indon Herald, 19 Feb. 

2 
Harian ~at, 17 Jan 1964. Alex Josey; 'Aidit And Malaysia', ll'EER, 

20 Feb 1~ p.422, quotes Aidit in an interview as saying that ho 
was pushing Sukarno against Malaysia. See van der Kroef l ~ 
Communist Party of Indonesia, pp.282-3. 
3 

SMH, 20 Feb 1964. 
4 
Times, 21 and 26 Fob. 

5 
Seo Times, 5 March 1964; and~' 6 March for statement by Lopez. 

6 
.§!, 19 March. 

7 
Ibid. , 26 March. 

8 
Age, 28 April. 

9 
Times , 6 April. 
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opinion favoured the Federation§ 2) Malaysia could be used to subvert 

IndonesiaJ 3) the British had both tho economic and military power 

to control Malaysia; and 4) the Manila Agreements had not been 

properly implemented. It seemed unlikely that ho would use the 

sa.me arguments in Peking or to the PKI. 

B.y April 1964 the possibility of a negotiated settlement seemed 

remote. But confrontation, though an irritant, seemed unlikely to 

threaten Malaysia's eKistonce while British forces continued to 

protect the Federation. At that stage Djakarta waa avoiding an 

escalation of the military conflict while making efforts to 

exacerbate the very real internal difficulties of Malaysia. The 

Federation w~s not only beset with inter-regional differences, but 

also with the problems inherent in such a racially and politically 

pluralist society. It did seem that within each of the component 

states a majority of the population approved the Federation. 1 But 

it became clear during Malaysia's first year that the various 

political groups had differing images of how Malaysia should develop 

and that these groups had different political aspirations which 

might well prove incompatible. A1 though the most important of 

these problems related to Singapore, it is most conv.uient to deal 

with the Borneo states first. 

It was eastern Malaysia that was most affected by confrontation. 

Sarawak suffered constant mili tar.y harassment, raiding parties from 

Indonesia regularly infiltrating the state. In December 1963 Sabah 

experienced its first serious attack when some 150 Indonesians 

crossed the border Dear Tawau and inflicted a number of casualties 

on the Security Forces, including eight Malay soldiers, before 

withdrawing. 2 But Malaysia brought problems other than 

confrontation to Borneo. 

Bornean interests and aspirations did not always coincide with 

those of Malaya. The dislike of Malaya, a · legacy of the Dicwee_.. 
e~\' ''~<' 
~·-- Brunei llalay empire in Borneo and apparently widespread 

among natives and Chinese alike,3 extended to a fear of domination 

by Malaya - a fact which the Cobbold Commission had been at pains 

to point out. In Malaya, efforts were being made to eliminate the 

1 
For this purpose Malaya may be viewed as one state; in fact in 

September 1963 Kelantan had sought to secede. 
2 . 
~~ 31 Doe 1963. Malaysian forces had only joined British foroes 

in Borneo that month. 
3 
See Tom Harrisson (ed)a The Peoples of Sarawak; ~nd North Borneo, 

Brunei and Sarawak (Human Relations Area Files, New Haven, 1956). 
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vestiges of British rule in wo spheres: by the Malayanisation 

(in faot the Malay-isation) of the government services and by the 

adoption of Malay as the national language. In Borneo different 

policies were being pursued. The education systems had been moving 

towards the adoption of English as the general medium of instruction, 

while government services were being Borneanised.1 Expatriate officials 

would retain their positions until Borneans could replace them, 

Malayans would not be used. These differences appeared to be minor, 

but in the course of time they were oanpounded m. th others of religion 

and culture. 2 In September 1963, for example, Kuala Lumpur had 

insisted that the Sarawak Governor be a :Malay.3 At the root of the 

problems of Bornean-federal relations (and they were to grc::m rather 

than diminish) was the patronising attitude adopted by the Malayan 

il.llianoe Government. The Malayan JJ.liance parties had helped 

create Bornean politics in their cwm ccmnunally based image. This 

was unfortunate 1 but perhaps inevi. table in any case. The Ma.layan 

tendency then to treat the Bornean Alliances as offshoots of their 

o;m .l'..llianoe and to ignore their disparate interests was ha.rdl.y wise. 4 

In this respect confrontation does appear to helped paper over the 

oraoks.5 

Borneo's other major internal problem was the armed insurrection 

of a section of Sarawak1 s 6hinese. Passing reference has alrea~ 

been made to this situation but to the extent that it represents a 

facet of Mala,ysia1 s central problem, that of the future of the 

Nanyang Chinese, it is deserving of more intensive investigation. 

The manifestations of the Chinese revolt were clear: emigre 

Chinese guerrillas returned and led Indonesian raiding parties 

into Sarawak and resident Chinese sanetimes gave them aid. Occasionally 

1 
. See R.H.K.Wong: 'Education and Problems of Nationhood', in Wang Gungwu 
( ed): MJ:la,ysia. See also statements by Ningkan, Sarawak by the i7eek, 
3/64 and Sarawak Trib~, 9 July 1964. Tuan Syed Nasir bin Ismail , 
Director of the Language and Literature .. ~gency, said, 'I run afraid 
expatriate officers in the Borneo territories are trying to split 
the unity of Malaysia.ns on the language issue', Sarro:Iak b.z_ the Week, 
27/64. . ---
2 
Particularly Islam as the national religion and a Malay Sultan 

as the ,monarch. 
3 . 
-~~awak !tribune, 13 and 14 Sept 1963. 

4 
Abdullah .iJJna.d, Tun Raza.k' s Secretary 1 described to the author 

hem Ibans were just a partiaular sort of Malay and spoke a similar 
language, mutually intelligible. J~s o. • l:1a1ay party Pl!Nt.':.S was 
pa.rticul~y concerned at the possibility of UMNO danination, 
~awak by the Week, 43/63. 
4 
Nin.gkan believed this to be the oase, Borneo Bull.etin, 31 Oot 1964. 
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the Chinese also ccmmi tted acts of terrorism within Sarawak, though 

these rarely reached ala.nning proportions. Sane bcmbs were thrown 

in Kuching and on at least one occasion an uncooperativs Chinese 

was trie.t and punished by a 'people's court' •1 The reasons for the 

Chinese revolt are mare difficult to establish. The Government's 

explanation, couched in terms of s communist conspiraqy,
2 

while 

superficially perhaps accurate, is not entirely satisfactory. 

Insurrections existed before camnunists: Marxism is probably an articulatio 

rather thail a creation of grievances conducive to revolt. 

In contrast to those of Sarawak, the Chinese of Sabah, while 

retaining their communal cOhesiveness in terms of voting behaviour,3 

gave every indication of being integrated into the political system. 

Certainly no equivalent of the COO existed. As the situation in the 

two states appeared to be ccmpa.rable in other respects, this fact may 

be useful in an explanation of the CCO activities. Canmunism, or 

Peking oriented Chinese chauvinism, was certainly strong in Sarawak 

and was perpetuated by the Chinese language press and education system. 

Its adherents until 1 963 appeared to be prepared to use consti tutianal 

methods to further their ends; the opportunities offered by Indonesian 

policies were not neglected. But this does not explain their specific 

grievances. Clearly they had lost the battle to have Chinese language 

education under Government auspices, but so had they in Sabah. Certainly 

political discrimination against and under-representation of, the 

Chinese was greater in Sarawak, but this was largely a result of their 

massive support for the radical SUPP. The less assertive and non­

radical Sarawak Chinese Association4wwilded undue influence for its 

poor electoral support. Under-representation of the Chinese was a 

result of, not the reason for, their r~icalism. Again, the Chinese 

of Sabah appear to have been more inclined to look to Taiwan for their 

cultural and educational facilities.5 Reasons for this are difficult 

to establish. The suggestion6that Sabah's security service was more 

effective in the 1950s in detecting and isolating the apostles of the New 

China might be a clue towards providing 

1 
Sarawak Tribune, 17 Dec 1963. 

2 
See The Danger Within; and The Camnunist Threat to Sarawak (Government 

Printer, Kuching, 1966). 
3 
Gliok: 'The Chinese C cmmuni ty in Sabah' • 

4 
A member of the Sarawak Alliance. 

5 
Times, 23 Dec 1963. 

6 
Voiced to the author by a Sabahan official in an interview in 

Jesselton, June 1966. 



an answer, as might Kuching 1s proximity .to and links with Singapore, 

where the Yalayan Conmnnist Party is rep.1ted to have its headquarters. 

Another explanation is more intriguing and more plausible. 

The eastern Divisions of Sara.wak have a large population of 

densely settled Chinese smallholders, most of whom produce cash 

crops. Numbering some one hundred and fifty thousand in 1960, 

these Chinese can hardly be accurately described as rural insofar as 

they have access to urban facilities, particularly newspapers and 

education systems. 1 It was among these Chinese that CCO support was 

most widespread. During the Malayan Emergency it was among a similar 

group of Chinese, the squatter communities fearful for the security 

of their land tenure, that the terrorists received much of their 

support. 2 Similarly it seems that it was from the Singapore 1 rural' 

Chinese that the Ba.risa.n received greatest support in the 1963 

elections. (This group was possibly concerned that Malaysia might 

bring with it the introduction of Malay special rights with regard 

to land tenure). To utilise such groups for communist purposes 

corresponded with 1~o Tse-tung's theories on insurrection, 3 

presumably well known to overseas Chinese communists. In the case 

of Sarawak the opportunity was almost classic: the Chinese were 

politically aware, culturally attuned to the New China. and easily 

reached by communist cadres and propaganda. Their grievances (and 

what rural community does not have grievances against an urban, and 

in this case culturally alien, government?) were easily found, The 

Chinese were being discriminated against politically, culturally and 

linguistically, In addition the land holding laws reserved much 

of the state to the natives. Mixed land, or that which the Chinese 

might own, extended only to a limited distance each side of the 

major roads. 4 This area the Chinese settled intensively, surrounded 

by largely unoccupied native reserves. The CCO had little difficulty 

in articulating the aspirations of these Chinese. In 1963 it had 

taken to arms. In the rural areas it found that both the terrain and 

population provided favourable conditions. In the urban areas the 

1 
L.W.Jonesi Sarawak Census of Population 1960, Additional Tables p.29. 

2 
Sea Clutterbucka The Long, Long War. 

3 
See Stuart R. Schra.m: The Political Thou t of Mao Tse-tun 

(Praeger, New York, 1963 particularly the introduction. 
4 
See Sarawak Annual Report, 1962, pp.51-4 and map. .Perhaps 

significantly COO support was greatest where this situation was 
most acute: Serian Road and the lower Ra.jang. 
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radical Chinese were largely content to express their dissatisfaction 

by political methods, generally by supporting SUPP, although some 

joined the rural insurrection. 

The relationship of the CCO to SUPP also requires investigation. 

At a local branch level there is little doubt that SUPP ia often 

heavily infiltrated by, and sometimes synonymous with, the CCO. 1 

This is understandable and not very vehomently denied by the SUPP 

leadership. 2 The SUPP leadership, however, is composed largely of 

moderates who claim (probably accurately) to be eooialists3 and 

without whom the extremists within the party could not function 

legally. The relationship of the leadership to the mass base is 

more difficult to evaluate. Stephen Yong on a number of occasions 

asserted that SUPP accepted Malaysia once the Federation had been 

created, but it appeared that such sentiments were not popular 

throughout the party.4 Again, when the National Service bill 

was presented to the Council Negri for approval, two of the SUPP 

members present voted against it while others expressed approval.5 

In 1965 the tenuous control which the moderates had over the mass 

base, was to be p.tt to a much more vigorous test. 

Sarawak presented the Malaysian problem in miniature. The 

Gove~ent would not prevent the Chinese from retaining their 

language and culture but would make every effort to encourage the 

growth among the Chinese community of the local media. To participate 
6 in the public affairs of the state, English would have to be learnt. 

'"' This might have been disadvatageoue for the Chinese but seemed an _.. 

acceptable solution to the problem of interoommunal communication. 

However, to that disadvantage has to be added the undoubted 

discrimination practised against the Chinese politically, culturally, 

in gove~nt employment, in land holding and (or eo it may have 

1 
arawak by the We~ 20/64, the SUPP Lundu branch was proscribed for aiding the 

.i.nc:.lonesians with the help of smallholders. See also Robert 0. 
Tilmana 'The Sarawak Political Scene', Pacific Affairs, Winter 
1964-5, PP• 412-25, and Justus lL van der Kroef a 'Communism and the 
Guerrilla War in Sarawak', World Toda,y, Fob 1964, pp.50-60. 
2 

~awak by the Week, 26/64, p.10 ff (Ong Kee Hui)• Interview with Stephen Yong, 
Kuchirl8, June 1-966. 
3 
Ibid •• 

4 m:, 13 March 1964J MPD,HR, 22 May 1964, ool.481 (Ong Kee Hui). 
5 

~ak by the Wee,, 11/64, pp.1-2, and 16/64, p.1. 
t> 
The Malaysia Agreement provided for the implementation of Malay 

at a later stage. 
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seemed to the Chinese) by the security police. 1 In Sabah the 

Chinese were prepared to accept this systemJ in Sara.wak the rural 

Chinese in particular were not. (The difference may have been due 

in part to Sabah' s long standing eGonomic boom and labour shortage. 2) 

The COO took advantage of this situation and created a mass based 

communal movement. One may sympathise with Chinese grievances but 

tho extreme cormmmal solution (and such it was) offered by the CCO 

was no answer. The colonial and then the native dominated governments 

may be criticised for creating discontent among the Chinese but in 

a fuller perspective the Chinese were prospering. To have allowed 

the competitive process full reign would have meant relegating the 

natives, the majority, to a position of inferiority, which would 

have than bean no more of a long term solution than that of the 

CCO. The COO revolt was not, as the Ba.risan contended, a national 

war of liberation like that of Algeria, China or Viatnsm.3 It was 

a part of a larger intaroommunal struggle for position and power 

within Sarawak and an expression of sectional interests. 

The creation of Malaysia may be at least partly attributed 

to the problems (real or imaged) that the radical left wing in 

Singapore seemed likely to provide for Malaya. Paradoxically 

the problems which the Singapore radicals presented were quickly 

solvedJ those which had been generated by the creation of the 

Federation appeared to be more lasting. On 4 September the PAP 

announced that state elections were to be held and that nominations 

would be made on 12 September.4 On the latter date it was revealed 

that polling day woula be 21 September. The main contenders for 

power would clearly be the PAP and the Barisan, and although it 

seemed unlikely that the latter would gain an overall popular 

majority, its widespread support was not to be disputed. The 

Barisan campaigned largely on the following issues a oppoei tion to 

the Malaysia Agreement which, the party contended, relegated 

Singapore to second class status§ a demooratio, socialist llalaysia 

with proportional represontationJ abolition of the ISCf the removal 

of foreisn bases and the implementation of a neutral foreign poliOYJ 

and greater recognition of Chinese language educational aohiovaments, 

75 por cent were 

23 Doe 1963. 



------------- ------- --

168 

particularly Na.nyang UniverSity degrees.i 1 The PAP 1s campaign 

emphasised its material achievements ahd the eommunist/Barisan 

threat to Singapore. If tho Barisan won, it suggested, Kllala Lumpur 

would bo forced to suspend the constitution and take repressive 

action, a possibility that the Straits Times agreed was likely~ 2 

The P.AP wont on to argue that the Bariean might win by default if 

the moderate and right wing voto was split, thus all who opposed 

the Barisan should vote for the PAP. On one occasion Lee jibed 

'voto for corruption, vote for decadent government - vote for the 

Alliance ' • 3 

The result of thE"1 election was a victory for the PAP which won 

47 per cont of the popular vote and 37 of the 51 Assembly seats. 4 

Of th0 other major parties the Barisan won 33 per cent of the votes 

and 13 seats, the UPP seven per cent and one seat and the Alliance 

eight per cent and no seats. The result was hardly an overwhelming 

victory for the PAP. The PAP had won all eight of those seats won 

by the right wing parties in 1959, including those constituencies 

most clearly describable as non-Chinese.5 There seems at least 

somo evidence for contending that the Barisan's support was greatest 

in tho rural and Chinese speaking areas. 6 In communal terms, if 

these assertions aro accepted, the PAP had shifted from its 1959 

position of being an amalgam of the Chinese educated and the 

socialist English edaoated, to being an alliance between the latter 

and Singapore's racial minorities, with limited Chinese educated 

support. The Barisan's emphasis on Chinese education and the 

support which it received from Na.nyang University tend to confirm 

this point. As tho Chinese educated seemed likely to become an 

increasingly smaller proportion of the Singapore electorate, as the 

products of the growing English language education stream reached 

maturity, the new PAP mass base, if it couldJbe retained, appeared 

to be at once a more viable and in many respects a more realistic 

long term solution to the problems inherent in Singapore's communal 

society. But, as in the 1962 referendum, it would be idle to contend 

1 
Ibid., 13 Sept? Plebian Express, 16 Sept. 

2 
§!, 21 Sapt; Plebian Express, 16 Sept. 

3 
ST, 13 Sept. 

4 
Singapore Gazette Extraordinaty, 24 Sept 1963. 

5 
The Southern Islands was probably the most clear example, being in 

1957 69.2 per cent 'Malaysian' and only 25 per cent Chinese. See 
M.K.Soni 'The Geographical Distribution of Population in Singapore' 
(Unpub.thesis, University of Singapore, 1959) p.18. 
6
see Osborne: op.cit., pp.35-39~ amd Abdul Rahim 1in Karim: 'The 

Left Wing in Singapore', Eastern World, Jan 1964, pp.?-8. 
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that the PAP's victory was attributable solely·to the intrinsic 

appeal of its electoral programme. Many Barisan leaders had boon 

effectively removed from the political process in operation 'cold 

store•. The PAP had also carried out an extensive 'election campaign' 

throughout 1963, its leaders having visited every constituency. In 

addition almost simultaneously with the annou~cement of the election, 

the PAP froze the funds of seven pro-Barisan unions who could have 

been expected to have contributed heavily to the party's elootion 

expenses. 1 In subsequent years by similar tactics the PAP was to 

disarm the Barisan and effectively convert Singapore's into a one 

party electoral system. 

This process was begun shortly after the formation of Malaysia. 

On 22 September proceedings ware begun to dapri ve Tan Lark Sye, 

Chairman of Nanyang University and a vocal Barisan supporter, of 

his citizenship, and various Nanyang Unive~ity students and 

graduates were do,ained. 2 The PAP was careful to issue a statement 

explaining that this was a move against communism and not against 

Chinese education, but the latter was later to be quietly assailed. 

The Government then sought to reduce Barisan influence in the rural 

areas and dissolved the Singapore Rural Association and the 

Singapore Country People's Association.3 The Barisan rallied their 

most affective source of support, the unions, and on 7 October 

Bani announced that SA'lU was to hold a strike in protest against the 

PAP threat to deregister its member unions. 4 The strike etarted on 

8 October but the Government, by arresting 14 of the strike's 

leaders and declaring it illegal (thus subjecting its pickets to 

police harassment) induced some wavering in the strikers' ranks. 5 
On 10 October the strike collapsedJ the unio~s were later 

deregistered. Deprived of mch of its legi tima. te support the 

subsequent history of the Barisan was one of decline ~ssisted by the 
6 occasional arrest and accompanied by the occasional protest. 

1 
.§!, .10 Sept 1963. It seems that the PAP also used its rehousing 

schemes to ensure a more effective distribution of its voters, ~~d 
its control of teacher rocruitm~bt to increase its support among new 
voters. 
2 
Ibid~, 27 Sept. 

3 
Ibid., 4 Oct. 

4 
Ibid., 8 Oct. 

5 
Ibid., 9, 10 amd 11 Oct. 

6 
B.y 1966 the party was boycotting the electoral process and the 

Assembly, and was experiencing serious repercussions of the Red 
Guard upheavals in China. 
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In order for Malaysia to survive the undoubted regional, 

racial and ideological conflicts that existed withip its framework, 

considerable tolerance would be required. Sarawak's dissident 

Chinese, perhaps understandably, were unwilling to practise such 

tolerance and resorted to arms. With regard to similar Chinese 

in Singapore, both the Alliance and PAP Governments were willing 

to utilise their extensive constitutional powers to prevent similar 

developments. B.y 1964 it appeared unlikely that either situation, 

unless considerably exacerbated by Indonesian or other activity, 

would disrupt the fundamental equilibrium of Malaysia. But while 

the Barisan militants and the CCO (and at the ~ther extreme, Azahari) 

represented elements outside the central Malaysian political spectrum, 

there were forces within it, the interplay between which could lead 

to such a disruption. Early 1964 was to witness their evolution. 

It became clear that there existed a segment of Malayan opinion 

opposed to Malaysia, and that within the remainder there existed 

divergent views of the optimum structure of the future Malaysian 

polity. The Malayan elections of April 1964 crystallized these 

problems. 

Among the major opposition parties it was the Socialist Front 

that was expected to make the best electoral showing. Certainly, 

one of its spokesmen was optimistic that the party might win control 

of three state legislatures, Penang, Selangor and Malacca. 1 

Claiming to be, like the Alliance, non-communal, the Front attacked 

all other parties for being communal and the Alliance for its 

subservience to the British and for its lack of socialism. 2 But 

as Tan Chee Khoon, a prominent member of the Labour Party, pointed 

out, 'the issue of Malaysia has come to dominate this general · 

election1 •
3 The Front opposed the method by which Malaysia had 

been formed and pledged that it would ascertain the wishes of the 

Bornean people. 4 It criticised the Government for taking the 

attitude that to negotiate with Indonesia was to surrender.5 

If the Socialist Front opposed Malaysia for reasons of principle, 

the PMIP was more concerned with racialist arguments. For most of 

the FMIP supporters neither Malaysia nor Indonesia appeared to be 

attractive units to joinz its supporters envisaged a tranquil, 

1 
Enche Abdul Az~iz bin Ishakz Broadcast, Radio Mala..ysia, 15 April 

1964. 
2 
Ibid., and broadcasts by Miss P.G.Lim, 22 March, and Tan Chee Khoon, 

19 April. 
3 
Tan Chee Khoon: op.cit •• 

4 
Manifesto of the Socialist Front for 1964 General Election. 

9 
Miss P.G.Lim: op.cit •• 
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traditional Islamic Sultanate. As one of the ~rty' s leaders pointed 

out: 

Oar main objectives are: to establish, to preserve, 
to protect and to strengthen our roligion and society. 
Islam and the society which professed Islam existed 
in Malay~ before people from other lands c~me hero, 
before the advent of imperialism and colonialism, 
before the coming of socialism and communism •••• Our 
hospitality has bean trampled under the feet until 
we become helpless and impotent, giving away our 
rights ••• until we become foreigners in our own l~d ••• 
it would be wrong to separate religion from politics 
, •• support the Isle~c party. 1 

PMIP appeal was clearly communal. 

The third political group was the pro-Malaysia opposition, 

best represented by the PAP. The relationship that the PAP would 

have with the central government had, while relations were good 

in 1961 and 1962, bean given little consideration. During 1963 

those good relations had deteriorated. The bad feeling between 

the PAP and the MCA, probably unavoidable in view of their competitive 

positions, erupted into open conflict. 2 In addition, the PAP's 

precarious domestic position had forced it to champion forcefully 

Singapore's interests. It struck a hard bargain in the later 

stages of the Malaysia negotiations,3 openly criticised KUala Lumpu~'s 
attempted appeasement of Indonesia (which it rag~rded as pursuing 

'internation~l blackmail') 4 and made no secret of its hostility to 

Maphilindo.5 Finally, rather than accept the delay in the 

formation of Malaysia required by the Manila Agreements, the PAP 

declared Singapore's independence on 1 September 1963. 6 None of 

these activities endeared the PAP to the Alliance. The position 

was worsened when, during the Singapore elections, Lee attacked 

the Singapore Allie~ca as 'corrupt' and 'decadent' and the PAP 

completely eliminated Alliance representation in the Singapore 

Assembly. The 'runku made no secret of his disappointment with the 

election results.? 

1 
Dr furha.nuddin Al-Helii\Y: Broadcast, Radio Malaysia., 20 April 1964.-

2 
!!,, 18 and 20 May.\'\b3. 

3 
See Osborne: op.cit., pp.43-6; Michael Leifera 'Singapore in 

Mala3Biac The Politics of Federation', JSEAH, Sept 1965, pp.55-6. 
Sea also Chapter Three, supra,pp.92-3. 
4 
.§!, 10 Aug 1963. 

5 
Ibid., 28 Sept 1963. 

6 
Times, 9 Sept. An UMNO meeting strongly condemned this move, 

Leifer: op.cit •• 
7 
.§!, 28 Sept. 
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The PAP was a dynamic party whose modus operandi could well 

conflict with that of the less urgent Alliance, and its status 

within ~.laysia had yet to be established. Before the first 

sitting of the Malaysian Parliament the PAP was told there would 

be no 'cross benches' in the Dewan Ra'ay~ta 1 the 12 PAP members 

would have to sit with the opposition parties who, with tho 

exception of PANAS, had opposed Malaysia. 2 

furing his first speech in the House·; on 21 December 1963 in the 

budget debate, Lee clarified his p~rty's position. 3 He delivered a 

mild attack on the budget presented by Tan Siew Sin, the leader of 

the MCA, an attack which presented the kernel of his differences 

with the Alliance. He argued that 'this is not a budget to which 

any of us with aspirations to build Malaysia into a more equal 

society would give unqualified support•,4 and that greater 

redistribution of wealth would be needed to accommodate the coming 

'social revolution' in Malaysia. The PAP's intended future course 

of action was revealed in the following comments about the Alliances 

I do not know how long this curious partnership between 
a party of the 'have note' in the rural areas [UMNO] 
with a party of the 'haves' in the urban areas [MCA] 
will go on for the benefit of the 'haves• •••• ! 
believe that ultimately a party of the 'have nota' 
in the rural areas will find its kindred soul in a 
party of the 'have note' in the urban areas. 5 

He envisaged an UMNQ...PAP coalition at the expense of the MCA, but 

such a partnership would also bring a reduction in Malay political 

dominance. 

On ~other occasion PAP intentions were made even more specific~ 

In a·speech to the Cingapore Legislative Assembly, Lee predicted 

that the 1964 elections would show a decline in MCA urban support. 

UMNO would recognise this decline and subsequently align with the 

PAP. 6 This prophecy, though upsetting the MCA considerably, does 

not appear to have caused the UMNO leadership undue consternation. 

In early 1964 Lee led a Malaysian mission to Africa, to offset 

Indonesian propaganda, and seemed likely to lead a similar mission 

1 
Ibid., 26 Oct. 

2 
The Barisan provided Singapore's other three members. 

3 
MPD,HR, 21 Dec 1963, co1.2939. See Peter Polomkaz 'Mr Tan or 

Mr Lee?',~' 5 March 1964, pp.515---7. 
4 . 

MPD,HR, 21 Dec 1963, col.1940. 
5 
Ibid., co1.2953. 

6 
Sj~,Debs, 9 Dec 1963, col.139 ff. 
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to the UN. 1 On 1 March 1964 the whole position was radically 

changed when the Chairman of the PAP, Toh Chin Cbye, announced that 
. 2 

the party would contest selected seats in the Malayan elections. 

The UMNO reaction to this announcement, although Toh specified 

that the PAP would not oppose UMNO candidates, was immediate and 

hostile. Khir Johari, tho Minister for Agriculture, declared that 

the Alliance would fight the PAP,3 Enche Ghaffir, the UMNO Vice­

Preoident, that the PAP was attacking UMNo. 4 On 4 March the PAP 

leaders entered Malaya to prepare the campaign, on 10 March the 

party was registered. On 19 March the PAP manifesto was published 

and argued that 

Since the MCA cannot rally the masses in urban areas ••• 
the danger of a pro-communist and anti-Malaysia party: 
like the Socialist Front winning by default is 
considerable •••• The task of the PAP is to ensure that 
protest votes in urban areas do not vecome votes 
against Malaysia and for Sukarno. 5 

The party's long term objective was the 'building of a united, 

democratic and socialist Malaysia, eased on the principles of 

social justice and non-communalism•. 6 

furing the campaign the PAP was ~.nxious to reaffirm that it 

regarded UINO's leadership as 'vital to the survival and success of 

Malaysia' although 'tho Chinese leadership in the Alliance is 

replaceable'.? In its opinion, 

A Government of Malaysia which combines the strength 
of UMNO, with its rural Malay-mass base, with the 
effectiveness of PAP policies in subtly and 
intelligently countering Communist surversive activity 
in the town is the best answer to the clallenge which 
communism poses to us. 8 

The existing Alliance was inadequate, for greater socia~ist 

legislation was needed. The UMNO leadership was indispensable 

but its policies needed to be changed.9 The MCA made no attempt 

1 
~' 12 March t964. 

2 
Ibid., 2 March 1964. 

3 
Ibid •• 

4 
Ibid. , 3 March, and Tali b in ..§!, 7 March. 

5 
Election Manifesto of the PAP: 'Help PAP crush Enemies of the 

People'. 
6 
Ibid •• 

7 
ST, 16 March (Lee Kuan Yew). a-
Ibid., 6 April (Lee). 

9 
Ibid., 23 March. 
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to get the Alliance to do this • and so rally urban support, and 

because of its passivity the MCA was aooeptable to UMNo, 1 B.Y 

showing its potential support the PAP could push uMNO in the right 

direction. 2 The Tunku needed to be protected from his f~iends, 
warned Lee. 3 

The PAP decision to contest the Malayan elections was a crucial 

one in the evolution of Malaysia. The party's arguments were to 

be shown to be valid, and undoubtedly if it wished to prove this 

to UMNO before 1969,4 it had to contest the elections. But by 

not anticipating the strong hostility shown on the part of UMNO 

to its move,5 the PAP must bear much of the blame for later events. 

Although in the long term its approach seemed commendable, insofar 

as it offered a means of politically integrating Malaya's urban 

masses, this was decidedly a case where more haste meant less speed. 

The reaction of UMNO requires some explanation. The party's 

Secretary-General' Syed J~'afar Albar, accused the PAP of sparking 

off communalism,6 and UMNO Headquarters issued a statement in which 

it said that the PAP, having crushed the MCA, would then turn on 

UMNo. 7 The attack on the MCA was regarded by UMNO as an attack 

upon itself. 8 The Tunku, who later contended that the PAP's move 

was a breach of an understanding that it would confine its activities 

to Singapore,9 reacted similarlya 'What the PAP wants is to displace 

the MCA. They say they want to join UMNO but we don't want them'. 10 

He later added that 'the MCA have served the Chinese interest so 

well ••• that even if there are only five members of the MCA left I 

will still support this organisation'. 11 

1 
Ibid., 14 April. 

2 
Ibid., 18 March. 

3 
Ibid. , YJ l4arch, See Harvey Stockwina 'A House Divided' , !et 

4 March 1965. 
4 

When the next Malayan elections were due to be held. 
5 
Our First Ten Years, (PAP 10th Anniversary Souvenir, Singapore, 1964) 

p.111. 
6 
!!!_, 26 March. 

7 
Ibid., 21 March. 

8 
Despite the PAP's withdrawal of support from two candidates in 

Johore when UMNO announced it would contest the seats. 
9 
~' 22 Sept 1964. If true, this seems inequitable as it was not 

reciprocal. 
10 
Ibid., 15 March. 

11 
Broadcast, Radio Malaysia, 23 April 1964. 
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The crux of the PAP's argument was that the MCA was doing little 

to represent the interests of the urban non-Malays within the Alliance, 

and so its support was declining. Although the PAP claimed to be 

non-conmmal, its appeal was essentially to non-Mala3s• For UMNO 

this was dangerous because the PAP was promising to take a more 

assertive posture vis-a-vis UMNO and so reduce Malay political 

dominance. - Although at an organisational level the PAP was olear1y 

inadequate, the performances of its leaders at rallies, particularly 

Lee who addressed large crowds in three languages, augured greater 

support for the future. The tranquili ty of seven years of Alliance 

government was being threatened by a far from acquiescent non-Kalay 

cpposi tion party. The apparent sympathy of the PPP and United 

Democratic Party1 for the PAP only emphasised this position. 

The Alliance campaigned largely on a platform of firmness 

towards Indonesian confrontation, which did something to obscure 

other issues. 2 In an open letter to the voters, the Tunku claimed, 

'I have concrete evidence that opposition parties in Malaya are not 

prepared to fight in the defence of our beloved nation•. 3 Tan 

Siew Sin was also anxious to make this point: 'The issue is no more 

and no less than our right to live as a nation ••• whether we want an 

Indonesian Malaysia'.4 The election results appeared to justify 

the Alliance's strategy.5 The large increase in the Government's 

electoral support was greater than anticipated. The increase was 

widely viewed as a 'vote for Malaysiai and, while it should be note~ 

that some 30 per cent of the electorate voted for parties which 

opposed Malaysia, this explanation appears satisfactory.7 But from 

the standpoint of domestic politics it is more important to determine 

the source of this increased support. 

1 
Formed in 1962 by ex-members of the MCA who had resigned in 1959· 

See Chapter Two, supra, p.)6. 
2 

Broadcasts, Radio Malaysia, Dr Ismail, 15 April; Tan Siew Sin, 17 
April; Lim Swee Aun, 19 AprilJ Sambanthan, 20 April. 
3 
To A Greater and Happier Malaysia (Alliance Headquarters, 1964). 

4 " 
.§!., 1 April. 

5 
The PMIP was also 

appeals to votersa 
Polomkaa 'Martyrs 
6 

hindered by legislation preventing religious 
MPD,HR, 13 Dec 1963, col.2226 ff. See Peter 

for the Malay Cause?'~' 9 Feb 1964, pp.312-4. 

Fra.ncis L.Starner: 'The Tunku and the Voters', ~' 16 April 1964, 
pp.166-8; and Times, 13 Dec 1963 and 23 April 1964. 
1 
~' 27 April. See also T.E.Smitha 'Malaysia After the Elections•, 

The World Today, Aug 1964, pp.351-7J and Stamer: 'Malaysia's First 
Year'. 
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Table 1 Jl Results of th~ ~l~~an Elections 1 1~~~ and 1~6~ 

1959 1964 

Party seats % of seats % of 
contsd won vote contsd won vote 

All. 104 74 51 104 89 58 
UMNO 70 52 36 68 59 39 
'MC A 31 19 15 33 27 18 
SF 38 8 12 63 2 16 
PMIP 58 13 21 50 9 14 
ppp 19 4 6 9 2 3 
PAP 9 1 2 
UDP 27 1 4 

UMNO had madQ inroads into PMIP support among Malay voters and 

superficially it appeared that MCA support in urban areas had 

increased. Yet the MCA's total vote increased only in proportion 

to the extra seats it contested. 1 Also it seems that in some 15 

of those constituencies that it won, the MCA's victory was due to a split 

vote among the opposing. Chinese parties and/or to the Malays. 2 

Finally, whereas in 1959 non-Malays had composed 44 per cent of the 

electorate of which 19 per cent had voted for non-Alliance non-

Malay parties, in 1964 the fi~lrAs were 46 and 26 per cent. 3 On these 

grounds it does appear that the Alliance was becoming increasingly 

Malay supportad at the PMIP's expense and was losing votes among 

non-Malays. The PAP's influence on this development had been slight 

but it could grow in importance, particularly once the common threat, 

confrontation, had been removed. 4 

The seemingly decisive ·victory of the Alliance did little to 

alter the plane of any of th8 parties. UMNO members continued to 

rebuke the PAP,5 the Socialist Front continued to put forward a five 

point plan for a negotiated peace (which included direct elections 

in Bomeo)6 and the PAP, despite the Alliance ' s reaction, continued 

to press its caso. 'Although the formation of Malaysia was inevitable', 

argued Lee, 'its success is not inevitable•. 7 He suggested that his 

1 
See Table 13. 

2 
See Table 14. 

3 
Bee R.K.Vasila 'The 1964 General Elections in Malaya', International 

Studies, July 1965, pp.57-61. 
4 
The Alliance was strongest when such a clear rallying cr.y existed. 

In 1955 it had been merdeka, in 1959 Alliance support had declined. 
5 

MPD,HR, 21 May 1964, col.362 ff (Ali bin Haji Ahmad). 
6 
Ibid., cols.38o-5 (Tan Chee Khoon). 

7 
Ibid., col.408. 
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party had somo sympathy for the UDP and PPP and hinted that the three 

parties might form 1a large opposition~ loyal to Malaysia 1• They 

would 'check the la~es of political administrators;, 1 for Lee feared 

that 

the new lease on life they~he Alliance]have been 
given for another five years could well be frittered 
and squandered away if they interpret the results 
as a. blanket approval for carrying on in tho same 
old way. 2 

He wamed that comnrunalism would have to be eradicated and argued 

that the MCA was losing its support among the urban non-Ma.lays. 3 The 

PAP had opted for a. position of opposition to the Alliance and had 

olearly calculated the source of its support. 

In the realm of domestic politics the PAP, motivated by ambition 

and conviction, was seeking to modify the Alliance's policies and 

improve its own position. A similar situation existed with regard 

to Malaysia's foreign policy. The PAP had a long standing interest 

in foreign affairs and was aware of the need to propagate Jlt:ilaysia' s 

case abroad, particularly among the Afro-Asian nations where 

Indonesia had been ve~J active. 4 In November 1963 the Malaysian 

r;Jpresentative at the UN had warned that Indonesia was getting 

considerable sympathy for her position from the neutralist states, 5 
and the following month Algeria had jo,.ned the Soviet Union in 

expressing reservations about their acceptance of Malaysia's 

credentials at the UN. 6 In his 1964 New Year's Day message Lee 

had urged KUala Lumpur to be more active diplomatically7 and later 

he wamed that 'if our only friends in A.fro-Asia are South Korea 

and South Vietnam then even Australia and New Zealand may find it 

difficult to be actively oommi tted to our side 1 • 
8 Largely as a 

result of PAP prompting it was announced in December 1963 that Lea 

1 
Ibid., col.4l1-

2 
:§'£., 22 May 1964. 

3 
MPD,HR, 21 May 1964, eo1.419. 

4 
Peter Boyce~ 'Policy Without Authority: Singapore's External 

Affairs Power', JSEAH, Sept 1965, pp.~7-103. 
5 

ST, 2.2 Nov 1963. 
6-
Ibid.., 16 Dec 1963. 

7 
Ibid. 1 1 Jan 1964. 

8 
Ibid.. , '20 Je;n. 
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TABLE 14 : THE MCA AND THE 1964 MALAYAN ELECTION 

C onst,ituency Racial Composition Urban-(2) MCA(3) Votes Polled hi Parties (4) No. of Total Turn-
of Electorate {1~ isation -- Voters Vote out 

A. Seats Won by MCA Ma~y Chinese Other MCA Socialist Front UDP PAP ppp Other(5) 
bfo ---r1fO N~ % No. % No-.-% No.- % No. o/o ~% o/o 

1. Malacca Tengah 64.0 33.2 2.8 su + 18,568 74.1 5,241 20.9 1,236 4.9 30,569 25,045 81.9 
2. Kulim Bandar Bahuru 54.4 30.7 14.9 R 0 15,077 68.7 4,585 20.9 2,261 10.3 30,135 21,923 72.7 
3. Alor Star 52.5 40.2 7.3 u 0 14,749 64.7 1. 747 7.7 2,695 11.8 3,608 15.8 33,772 22,799 67.5 
4. Muar Pantai 43.4 54.4 2.2 MU 0 16,578 73 . 0 6,137 27.0 30,032 22,715 75.6 
5. Batu Pahat 38.3 59.9 1.8 MU 0 12,505 60.5 5,647 27.3 2, 422 11.7 (6) 25,314 20,674 81.7 
6. Bruas 37.0 49.6 13.4 R + 10,587 53.3 6,719 33.8 2,550 12.8 26,270 19,856 75.6 
7. Tanjong Malim 34.9 46.4 18. 7 R 0 9,983 66.2 2,328 15.5 (7) 20,849 15,064 72. 2 
8. Larut Selatan 34.3 53 . 4 12.3 MU 0 18,906 63.2 3,185 10.7 5, 080 17.0 2,734 9.1 40,909 29,905 73.1 
9. Se pang 30.9 52.3 16.8 R 0 9,438 63.5 5,429 36.5 18,581 14,867 80.0 

10. mu Selangor 30.3 53.0 16.7 R 0 9, 412 69.2 4,199 30.9 17,750 13,611 76.7 
11. Bag an 30.1 54.9 15.0 MU + 8,925 51.5 6,564 37.9 871 5.0 983 5.7 22,793 17,343 76.1 
12. Bentong 29.2 62.8 8.0 R 0 12,832 65.7 6,686 34.2 23,614 19,518 82.7 
13. Telok Anson 27.7 56.3 16.0 MU + 12,251 57.1 9, 204 42.9 29,130 21,455 73.7 
14. Segamat Selatan 27.5 56.3 16.2 R 0 11,355 63.3 4,956 27.6 1,619 9.0 22,678 17,930 79.1 
15. Seremban Barat 27.2 56.4 16.4 MU + 10,163 53.9 6,686 35.5 2,005 10.6 24,785 18,856 76.1 
16. Kampar 26.8 64.8 8.4 MU + 12,964 48.5 4,403 16.5 9,357 35.0 34, 215 26,724 78.1 
17. Sitiawan 26.7 61.3 12.0 su + 11,136 60.4 7, 299 39.6 23,877 18,435 77.2 
18 . Kluang Utara 25.7 64.9 9.4 su + 9,138 53.5 6, 674 39.0 1,276 7.5 21,503 17,088 79.5 
19. Setapak 25.3 62.3 12.4 su + 12,292 50.4 7,888 32.3 4,214 17.2 37,365 24,394 62.3 
20. Ulu Kinta 25.3 61.8 12.9 su + 7,351 46.3 2,172 13.7 6,345 40.0 19,729 15,868 80.4 
21. Penang Utara 24.6 65.6 9.8 su + 16,686 52.2 10,148 31.7 5,149 16.1 39,072 31,983 81.9 
22. Seremban Timor 24.1 59.6 16.3 su + 9,604 44.0 ~ 5,124 23.5 1, 670 7.7 5,410 24.8 29,001 21,808 75.9 
23. Kluang Selantan 23.1 69.4 6.5 su 0 11,926 65.0 6,434 35.0 23,164 18,360 79.3 
24. Batu Ga]ah 20.2 69.2 10.6 su + 9,843 51.3 9,127 48.7 23,723 18,790 79.2 
25. Bukit Bintang 20.1 72.0 7.9 u + 9,107 42.5 5,000 23.3 6,667 31.1 650 3.0 33,636 . 21,424 63.7 
26. Bandar Malacca 15.6 76.2 8.2 u + 13,789 49.4 10,658 38.2 3,461 12.4 33,148 27,908 84.2 
27. Damansara 13.6 67.7 18.7 u + 9,148 43.7 8,602 41.1 3,191 15.2 30,093 20,941 69.6 

B. Seats Lost by MC A 

28. Dato Krama! 24.6 65.6 9.2 u • 7,707 29.6 10,102 38.8 8,236 31.6 31,304 26,045 83. 2 
29. Batu 13.9 78.5 7.6 u • 9,774 43.7 10,122 45.3 2,459 11.0 32,364 22,355 69.1 
30. Menglembu 12.5 80.5 7. 0 LU • 16,246 40. 1 3,457 8.6 20, 367 50.7 4;),994 40,070 87.1 
31. Ipoh 10.9 72.8 15.3 u • 8,897 35. 6 2,280 9.1 13,800 55.3 33,261 24,977 75.1 
32. Bungsar 9.4 79.8 10.8 u • 9,761 27.2 12,686 35.3 13,494 37.5 58,262 35,941 61.7 
33. Tanjong 3.6 85.9 10.5 u • 6,271 20.4 8,516 27.7 12,928 42.1 778 2.5 2,219 7. 3 34,731 30,712 88.4 



Notes to Table 14 

1 
See Vasila op.cit., p.63; and~' in the weeks preceding the 

election. 
2 
These classifications are intended as a guide to the extent of 

urbanisation in each constituency and are derived from the J22l 
Po lation Census= Re rt of the 1 6 Parliamenta and State 
Elections Government Printer, Kuala lumpur, 19 4 ; ;md J. C. 
Caldwellz 'The Population of Malaya' {Unpub. Fh.D. Thesis, ANU, 
1962). The constituencies are classified as followsa 

U An urban electorate; 
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MU A largely urban electorate with extensive sub-urban and 
densely settled rural areas; 

3 

SU A predominantly sub-urban electorate containing urban and 
rural voters; 

R A predominantly rural electorate with no large urban 
settlements. 

The performance of the MCA classified in the following manner; 

4 

0 An MCA victory probably attained with the support of the 
majority of the non-Malays; 

+ An MCA victory probably attained as a result of Malay 
support and/or a split in the no~Malay vote among the 
opposition parties; 

* An MCA defeat. 

Report of the 1964 Elections; and ST, 27 April 1964. 
5 

PMIP unless otherwise indicated. 
6 
Independent Malay candidate. 

7 
Independent Chinese candidate polled 2267 votes or 15.1 per cent, 

and Independent Mala.y candidate polled 486 or 3. 2 per cent. 
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would lead a mission to Africa to offset Indonesian propaganda. 1 

It appears that the mission was financed chiefly by the Singapore 

Govemment. 2 

For five weeks during January and February 1964 the mission 

visited twelve African countries. Its eueeess is difficult to 

assesss Lee claimed it was oonsiderable3 but the Ind~neftian Observer 

made out a ease that this was an exaggeration. 4 fut Malaysia was 

beginning to move into Afro-Asia and was later to reap the benefit 

from this change of heart.5 On his return it was planned that Lee, 

Malaysia's most articulate defender, should lead another mission to 

Washington and the UN; the PAP's intervention in the Malayan elections 

led to the cancellation of this projeot. 6 

In May the Philippines sought to reconvene the neeotiations 

disrupted in Ma.rch.7 !cpez visited Kuhla IA.unp.tr and Djakarta with 

this end in view. The difficulties remained the samea Jlal~sia 

would not agree to talks while guerrilla raids into Borneo continued, 

and Indonesia would not agree to the withdrawal of her forces as a 

precondition to talks.8 It was finally agreed, however, that a 

withdrawal should ~ake place under Thai supervision• as soon as the 

Thais verified the withdrawal negotiations would begin in Tokyo.9 

Sukamo's announcement that a brigade of the Indonesian army. was 

being sent to Borneo and that Malaysia would be crushed before 1965 

hardly augured well for the talks. 10 Nonetheless by mid-June the 

three states had delegations in Tokyo and on 15 June it was agreed 

that talks should start when the Thai checkpoint in Borneo signified 

1 
Times, 27 Dec 1963. 

2 
Boycea op.cit., p.99. This was also suggested to the author by a 

senior Singapore Government offici•1 in an interview, Singapore, 
February 1966. 
3 
!!!~ 27 Fe b.& q b1'. 

4 
Ibid., 6 Feb. 

5 
:Marga.ret Roff: 'Malaysia Revisited 1 t Australia 1 s Neie;hbours, 

May-June 1965, pp.1-4; 'Malaysia's Search for Identity',~' 
13 Feb 1964, p.354. 
6 
~' 12 March. 

7 
am.' 9 March. 

Ibid., Times, 16 May. 
9 
~' 19, 21, 25 and 26 May. 

10 
Times, 21 May. 



that the Indonesian wi thd.rawal had started. 1 The following day a 

serious incident involving raiders in Sarawak appeared to jeopardize 

the talks blt the Indonesian claim that its forces had been ambushed 
. 2 

while in the process of withdrawing seems to have been aoeepted. 

On 18 June the Foreign Ministers met and it was again agreed that a 

summit meeting would follow a withdrawal. 3 

The course of the Foreign Ministers' meeting4 once mora revealed 

the extent of the divergence in approach between the parties. Razak 

opened the meeting insisting that a solution was dependent on t~e 

withdrawal of Indonesian forces. Subandrio's reply, which followed 

a general tirade against the OLDEFO, was not untypical• 

It is important that Malaysia should realise we cannot 
expect the guerrillas to obey our orders, due to the 
status of the guerrillas. The guerrillas and 
volunteers have a deep political consciousness •••• The 
only basis for this question is to regard it as a 
political problem not a mili.tary one. 

Thus, he contended, a complete withdrawal was impossible. While 

Malaysia was an imperfect political arrangement and a degree of 

indigenous insurgency existed in Sarawak, this argument of Indonesia 

was unacceptable unless unilateral armed intervention in the affairs 

of other states is to be regarded as desirable and legitimate 

international activity. Razak conceded that Malaysia would attend 

the talks if 'a general intention to withdraw' was shown. The 

following dAy the Thais reported that 32 Indonesians had retired to 

Kalimantan and the Tunku agreed to negotiate.5 

On 20 June the Foreign Ministers met preliminary to a summit 

meeting, and the previous arguments were repeated. The Heads of 

Government then entered. Sukarno repeated his claim that the 

Manila Agreements had been broken due to British intervention, the 

Malaysians that the Agreements had been fully implemented. Sukarno 

asserted 'I say one thousand times that I cannot accept 1h!! 
Malaysia' and after vague references had been made to an Afro-Asian 

commission of conciliation, he left to attend a pre-arranged press 

conference. He returned only to join in the final communique 

1 
Indon Herald, 16 June. 

2 
!!,t, 17 JuneJ Indon Herald, 18 June. 

3 
Times, 19 June. 

4 
The following account is based on information obtained from official 

sources in Kuala LumJ:Ur. 
5 
Times, 20 June. It s eems possible that this group of Indonesians 

crossed shortly before in order to be verified as 'withdrawing'. 
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announcing that the talks had collapsed, Subandrio announced that 

confrontation would continua1 and within days the biggest clash to 

data was reported in Sarawak, involving some one hundred Indonesians 

and the death of five members of the Security Forces. 2 

As the last significant Malaysian attempt to negotiate a 

solution to confrontation with Sukar.no's Indonesian government, 

the Tokyo discussions require examination, 3 The Malaysians expected 

little from the talks. Their participation may be attributed to a 

desire not to appear instransigent, a willingness to make every 

reasonable effort to negotiate a settlement and, perhaps most 

important, to the opportunity to have the presence of Indonesian 

forces on Malaysian territory verified by an independent authority. 4 

The attempt may have been worthwhile for 'to many friends of 

Indonesia, Sukamo 1 s stand [was] taken to confirm Indonesian 

belligerence and insinoerity'.5 What the Indonesians expected, or 

sought, from the talks is more difficult to ascertain. Certainly they 

had achieved little, while their laok of flexibility, Sukarno's 

flippancy and the tacit admission that Indonesian controlled forces 

were in Sarawak, did little to improve their ease. 

There is good reason to regard mid-1964, along with December 

1962 and September 1963, as a turning point in the evolution of 

Malaysia. By June 1964 the dispute with Indonesia had reached an 

impasse and the possibility of a negotiated settlement, not likely 

since the previous September, had become more remota. Internally 

the dispute between Kuala Lumpur and Singapore had worsened and 

Malaysian politics had polarised mora firmly around a communal axis. 

The elections turned the PAP-Alliance rivalry into a communal 

dispute. Despite its poor electoral showing, the PAP made it clear 

that it intended to build up its organisation on the peninsula and 

baooma a major political foroe. 6 Its opposition to the MCA was 

rapidly evolving into opposition to the Alliance. Malay political 

1 
Ibid., 22 June. 

2 
§!, 23 June. 

3 
See Razak's report to Parliament, MPD,HR, 6 July 1964, cols.638-45. 

4 
Miohael Leifera 'Indonesia and Malaysia: the Diplomacy of 

Confrontation', The World To4ay, June 1965, pp.252-3J Starnera 
'Malaysia's First Year', p.115J interviews with senior Mala.ysian 
Government officials, Kuala lAunpur, May 1966. 
5 
Editorial, FEER, 2 July 1964. 

6 -
~' 29 April. 



leaders, in an effort to offset this challenge, began to campaign 

among Singapore's Malaya, suggesting that they should be given the 

special rights enjoyed on the mainland. 1 Given its preponderantly 

Chinese electorate, the PAP could hardly agree to this demand. 

Despite PAP efforts to placate the Malays,2 who had been hard hit 

by the consequences of economic oonfrontation, 3 communal tensions 

grew, a process encouraged by some UMNO members, including, it has 

been suggested, Syed Ja 1afar Albar. 4 A Malay religious procession 

served to igni to the powder keg and on 21 July 1964 Singapore 

experienced its first race riot since 1950.5 Incidents ooourred for 

the next few days and on 2 September a further riot of lesser 

magnitude errupted. B.Y that stage the communal die was irrevocably 

oast. 

Malaysia had been created largely to control the Chinese left 

wing of Singapore. It was apparent by 1964 that the Singapore 

Government itself was best fitted for that task, while the Alliance 

could offer only suppression. In Malaya the PAP was, despite its 

claims, a communal party unlikely to attain much support in the 

rural areas. Malaya was faced with the problem oomnon to manY 
Asian countries r development of the rural areas to a degree of 

sophistication similar to that of the urban areas. In Malaya the 

problem assumed racial overtones. The PAP and the Allianoe were 

products of ~ different environment, and offered {imperfect) solutions 

to different problems. In llal~a a. rural/urban and non-Mala.y,/Malay 

partnership was necessary for political stability. The PAP solution 

might appeal to one section of the community, but only the MCA 

was acceptable to the other. 

During the first nine months of Malaysia's existence the 

problems which the Federation's creation had brought into being 

beoame more clearly discernible. The prolonged and unsuccessful 

1 
Ibid., 13 July. 

2 
Times, 25 JulyJ ~' 21 July. 

3 
In fact Singapore was recovering by thana SLA,Debs, 28 Nov 1963, 

ool.76, Gob Kong Swee thought Singapore would lose 8.2 per cent of 
her national income due to Indonesia's trade boyoottJ ~' 11 Fob 1964, 
Lee thought 15,000 might lose their jobsJ SLA,Debs, 10 June 1964, 
ools.11-16, Gob reported on 30 May only 2,545 were unemployed due to 
confrontation. 
4 
Miohael Leifarr 'Communal Violence in Singapore', Asian SurveY, 

Oot 1964, p.1115J interviews Singapore, Februa.r.y and March 1966. 
It appears that the PMIP may have cooperated with UMNO in this task. 
5 
Leiferr op.oitr; ST, 22 July 1964. 
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negotiations with Indonesia shed light on the latter's motives and 

objectives in p1rsuing confrontation. Djakarta had been giVen ample 

opportunity to retreat from her belligerent posture on terms which 

would not have involved loss of face. But Indonesia's attitude 

towards the negotiations, particularly on the issue of guerrillas in 

Kalaysian Borneo, oast serious doubt on her desire to negotiate a 

settlement. Similarly Indonesia's reasons for confronting Malaysia 

seemed to change during the period. Although Subandrio claimed that 

Indonesia, like the Western powers, wished to check China's influence 

in the region (despite the Sino-Indonesian detente), and reference 

continued to bo made to Indonesia's objection that the Manila 
more 

Agreements had not been properly implemented, it beoame1likely that 

Indonesr~5~}~cted to the Western presence in the region and opposed 

Malaysia as a manifestation of Western influence. It also became 

clearer that Indonesia was pursuing a policy of international 

aggression unsusoeptible to diplomatic solution. 

Although Indonesia seemed intractable, Malaysia's resistance to 

Indonesian confrontation was proving successful. Despite indications 

of limited escalation, Indonesia's military campaign in Malaysian 

:Borneo remained a nuisance rather than a serious threat. It seemed 

·unlikely at that stage that it was intended to be anything more than 

a harassing tactic, as had Indonesia's military confrontation of 

the Dutch in West Irian. While Britain continued to assist the 

Federation, and there were no indications that the UK intended to 

do otherwise, Indonesian aggression could be contained. Similarly 

in the diplomatic sphere Malaysia was faring better than the Dutch. 

Malaysia had .been admitted to the UN and her efforts to gain support 

among the non-aligned nations seemed likely to be successful. Her 

reasonable attitude towards negotiations appeared likely to win 

support, not least of all from the US. 

Within the Federation more deep rooted problems had evolved. 

The problems which the strength of the Barisan in 1961 and 1962 had 

seemed to pose had been largely solved. But the problems presented 

by the Chinese in Malaysia were not, as Kuala Lumpur bad seemed to 

assume, just those of communist subversion. Malaysia's problems were 

communal. While the COO insurrection in Sa.rawak - partly racial, 

partly oonmmist in origin - seemed likely to prove an irritant of 

unpredictable proportions, it was the PAP-Alliance rift which was 

most central to Malaysia's existence. The communal riots of July 

-



had made the communal problem insoluble in the short term. 

For Australia these developments were hardly attractive. The 

possibility of Indonesia's ending confrontation had become unlikely 

and an intensification of that policy more probable. The increasing 

anti-Western orientation and militancy of Indonesian policy, and so 

its increasing divergence from that pursued by Canberra, made 

Australia's objective of friendship with her neighbour more difficult 

to achieve. Also the Federation for which Australia had expressed 

approval as a means for checking Chinese influence in the region was 

itself creating grave problems of instability, problems perhaps 

greater than those which it had been designed to solve. But there 

were no indications that any but a small minority of Mal~sia 1 s 

population did not support the Federation and oppose Indonesia. It 

was against these developments that Australia's policy towards 

Mal~sia evolved and that Menzies' statement of intent was implemented. 

• 
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CH.AP.l'ERSIX 

Australian Graduated Response - I 

Australian policy before the inauguration of Malaysia was 

designed to avoid serious rupture with Indonesia, and to tr,y to make 

the proposed federation acceptable to her. It became subsequently 

a policy of 'graduated response'. 1 In so describing Australian 

policy, Sir Garfield Barwick did not specify to what Australia would 

gradually respond. An examination of Australian policy suggests that 

the escalation of Australia's commitment to Malaysia was in response 

to the defence needs of the latter as interpreted by the former. 

Menzies' statement of 25 September 1963 appeared to commit Canberra 

firmly ~d unequivocally to the defence of Malaysia. The Prime 

Minister had described the role and importance of the Commonwealth 

Strategic Reserve in the defence of Malaysia; he had emphasised the 

significance of Commonwealth ties; he had pointed out that Malaysia 

complied with the principle of self-determination of peoples; and 

he had later declared that under the existing circumstances a formal 

treaty with Malaysia was unnecessary. The declaration had covered 

all possible kinds of aggression against Malaysia and had pledged 

that Australia would help Britain and the Federation resist. In the 

event, 'confrontation' did not involve conventional or positional 

warfare with clear points of intervention by potential combatants, 

the situation was more subtle. Despite the apparent firmness and 

clarity of Menzies' statement, Australia retained considerable room 

for manoeuvre. The ~ualification •in the circumstances that now 

exist', the reference to Australia adding her forces, quite apart 

from the absence of a formal treaty, enabled Canberra to pursue a 

flexible policy. It may be assumed that Sir Robert was aware of 

these implications, particularly as he later claimed that the 

statement was the most precise tha.t he had made. 2 Thus, while the 

statement was applauded in Australia for its firmness, the policy 

which stemmed from it was more ambiguous, revealing Australia as 

being reluctant to be drawn too deeply into the dispute while a 

negotiated settlement seemed possible. This policy was permitted, 

but hardly suggested, by the original statement of intent which 

21 April 1964, p.1276. 
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appeared to be an unqualified promise of aid. 1 During the following 

seven months Australia's own diplomatic efforts became less 

significant and its support for Malaysia much clearer. The reasons 

for the apparent differences between intent and action were also 

clarified. 

Australian activity continued to be influenced by American 

policy. Although during late 1963 there were few announcements from 

official American sources concerning US policies towards 'confrontation', 

there does appear to have been a reluctance on the part of the 

Administration and the State Department to oppose Djakarta too 

firmly. The chief reason for this policy was fear of an increase 

of communist influence in Indonesia which might result from a 

worsening of US-Indonesian relations. 2 The US Government's main 

hope for retaining a moderating influence in Djakarta lay in the 

adroit uso of its aid programme, but it was unable to use thia tool 

to full effect owing to the mounting anti-Indonesian feeling in 

Congress. 3 This is not to say that the US supported the policy 

which Indonesia was pursuing; indeed Rusk waa reported to have 

expressed to Sir Alae Douglas-Rome, the British Prime Minister, 

his concern over Indonesian policy,4 while David E. Bell had warned 

Indonesia of the likelihood of a cut in US aid.5 US policy was also 

reflected in the absence of American statements of support for 

Malaysia, the American Ambassador in Kuala Lumpur, Mr Baldwin, 

providing a rare exception. 6 But there ware indications by November 

that the US was beginning to view Malaysia with greater favour, as 

the New York Times reported on the occasion of the reoall of the 

American Ambassador to Indonesia, Howard Jones, to Washington for 

discussions. 7 The death of President Kennedy, who was reportedly 

sympathetic with general Indonesian aspirations, and his replacement 

as President by L.B. Johnson, reportedly less sympathetic, served 

only to hasten this process. 8 In November the Senate voted that the 

1 
Millera ~ 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy' ,p.12. 

2 
Dean Rusk, statement before Senate Committee on Foreign Relations: 

US Dept of State Bulletin, 1 July 1963, vol.XLIX, No.1253, pp.24-5. 
3 
Leiferl ..-nw::tt'TlxPJ""rin 'Diplc::macy of Confrontation' 1 p.161 • 

4 
ID!, 28 Sept 1963. 

5 
Age, 24 Sept 1963. 

6 
.§!, 19 Oot 1963. 

7 
NYT, 4 Nov 1963. a-
This at least was the assessment of one senior Australian official 

in an interview in Canberra, July 1966. 
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US should stop aid to any state 'engaging in or preparing for 

aggressive military efforts against the US or any country receiving 

its aid'. 1 Indonesia was included in that category, the debate on 

her aid programme provoking considerable hostility among the Senators, 

one of whom, Wayne Morae, described Sukarno as 'one of the most 

corrupt men on earth•. 2 Members of the Administration were not 

pleased at the restrictions placed on the use they might make of 

the aid programme, Rusk asserting that a flexible policy was 

essential with circumstances constantly changing. 3 President 

Kennedy had been more specific, indicating that by use of the US aid 

programme the Government hoped to restrain Indonesia's pursuit of 

her confrontation policy. 4 Shortly after, following complaints in 

Kuala Lumpur and from British sources that the US was helping 

Indonesia to wage her limited war in Borneo by providing her with 

military equipment, Washington revealed that all military aid to 

Indonesia had been stopped in September.5 Almost simultaneously 

the Tunku announced that Baldwin had assured him that the US would 

start no new aid programmes to Indonasia. 6 Even before the death 

of Kennady there were indications that there were limits beyond 

which the US was not prepared to go in the pursuit of Djakarta's 

friendship. 

furing October 1963 three senior Australian Ministers visited 

the United States - Barwick to attend the eighteenth seasion of the 

UN General Assembly, Townley to discuss the purchase of military 

aircraft, 1 and the treasurer, Harold Hol t, for the World Bank 

meeting of Finance Ministers. 8 Each was reported to have discussed 

1 
!!!,, 8 Nov 1963. 

2 
Congressional Record, CIX, No. 18o, 1 Nov 1963. 

3 
Rusk at News Conference, 8 Nov 1963: US Dept of State Bulletin, 

25 Nov 1963, vol.XLIX, No.1274, p.811. 
4 
!!!, 15 Nov 1963. 

5 

6 
Ibid., 20 Nov 1963. 1 
Times, 21 Nov 1963. ; 

1 I 

Townley arranged for the purchase of the oqntraversial TF.X, later 
redesignated the F-III. There seem to be a4equate grounds for seeing 
that p.1rchase, at least in part, as a facet '.of the Government's 
electoral strategy of emphasising security issues. See T.B.Millar: 
Australia's Defence, p.5, The present author has examined that issue 
at some length in an unpublished paper, 'The Politics of Defence: The 
TFX Decision', given at the Australian National University, 24 Oct 1965. 
8 
Hol t met President Kennedy and Roger Hilsman: !82,, 5 Oct 1963. 



the Malaysia dispute with senior US officials. In view of this and 

later events there seems little doubt that Canberra was fully 

informed on American attitudes towards Malaysia. 

Barwick, the Minister most immediately concerned with the 

problem, was at pains to reiterate his Government's support for 

Malaysia during his address to the UN General Assembly on 3 October. 1 

Welcoming Malaysia to the UN he said 'it is sufficient for me to 

say that it became clear to my Government that the establishoa • 

criteria for self-determination were fully satisfied. It was on this 

basis that the Australian Government gave its public support to the 

concept of Malaysia'. He described earlier Australian policy as one 

of encouraging the disputants to meet 'as a means of removing 

misunderstandings and of enabling Malaysia to be created with the 

good will of its neighbours'. He limited his criticisms of Indonesian 

policy to saying that it filled him with 'misgivings'. In reiterating 

Australia's pledge to aid in Malaysia's defence he repeated Menzies' 

phrase 'add our militar,y assistance', saying that Australian support 

'springs from our firm conviction that the new nation as the .. ' 

expression of self-determination ••• should be free to develop itself 

in peace'. Subsequently Barwick had discussions with President 

Kennedy and the Secretary for Defence, Robert McNamara, during which 

the subject of Malaysia was reported to have been raised. 2 

On his return to Sydney, Barwick at a press conference3 reported: 

Throughout the conversational had in Washington I found 
a continuing and uniform note of firm approval of 
Malaysia •••• The Prime Minister's announcement that 
Australia ••• had offered ••• to add our military assistance 
to that of the United Kingdom in defending Malaysia 
was warmly received by the United States Government 
who are glad to see Australia's readiness to play her 
part in maintaining the peace of the area. 

He added that he was ver,y pleased that Malaysia had been admitted 

to the UN as Indonesia could be more clearly restrained by the 

Charter, while other member states, 'including the United States of 

America', would have definite obligations with regard to any 

aggression against Malaysia. He continued: 'I discussed Indonesia 

1 
Official Records of the General Assembly, 18th Session, Plenaey 

Meetings, Vol.1, 1226th Meeting, 3 Oct, pp.5-9. Reprinted~, 
Oct 1963, pp.34-43. 
2 
!&l, 18 Oot 1963. 

3 
DEA, Press Releaee, 20 Oct 1963. 
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and made it plain how much Australia deplored the Indonesian policy 

of confrontation •••• Both our Governments [in Washington and Canberra] 

sincerely hope that Indonesian policies will be reviewed'. 

At that time both Australia and the US were anxious to restrain 

Indonesia and to retain hor friendship. Australia placed greater 

emphasis on the former objective and was, in consequence, prepared 

to take a firmer line with Djakarta. One observer contends that 

'Australia pressed the U.S. ver,y hard to use economic aid to 

Indonesia as leverage in the hope of bringing Sukamo to his senses'. 1 

America's refusal to uso its aid programme with greater severity may 

be partly attributed to Washington's assessment that such action 

would not put much pressure on a state whose econo~ was largely 

dependent on subsistence agriculture, and partly to the fact that 

America saw the situation in a somewhat different light. The 

Australian Government had supported efforts to negotiate a settlement 

but by October 1963 was not optimistic that, under existing 

circumstances, a diplomatic solution to confrontation was possible. 

This was attributed to Indonesian intransigence. The US Government 

was less prepared to accept that Sukarno did not wish to negotiate 

and was trying to establish a balance between suasion and friendship 

in its relations with Djakarta. But the effective attainment or 

determined pursuit of the one goal could well mean the sacrifice 

of tho other. During the following two years Washington moved 

gradually to place greater emphasis on restraining Djakarta than on 

retaining her friendship. 

During Barwick's absence in the United States the Prime Minister 

had announced in Parliament that the federal election would be held 

on 30 November 1963, a year before it was required. 2 Sir Robert 

pointed out the Government's tenuous position with its majority, 

after providing the Speaker, of one. He went on to assert that with 

Australia's 'unfirm 1 international position and with the Opposition 

differi_ng fundamentally from the Government's foreign policy, a 

clearer mandate was necessary. He singled out in particular the 

issues of the Naval Communication Station and 

1 

Our pledge to Malaysia [whioh] has attracted wide 
international attention and is clearly of crucial 
importance in Australian foreign and defence policy. 

Albinski s Australian Policies and Attitudes Towards China, p. 204. 
Government officials substantiated those points in interviews with 
the author, Canberra July 1966 and Sydney February 1967. 
2 

CPD,HR, vo1.40, 15 Oat 1963, pp.1790-95· 



It is most important that the other nations concerned 
should know whether it carries the clear backing of the 
Australian people. 1 
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A seasoned observer of Australian politics declined to accept this 

explanation for the elaction being held early, arguing rather that ' 

the decision was made following the revelation that unemployment 

was at its lowest since 1960, 1Blld that domestic prosperity, 'made 

probable a non-Labour victory 1 •
2 

As previously indicated,3 there had long bean rumours that the 

Government would hold the federal election in late 1963 and that 

defence and foreign policies could be major issues. By October 1963 

Malaysia was the central issue of Australian foreign policy and the 

Government's attitude towards it appeared to be both firmly 

established and popular. The Prime Minister in announcing the 

election took advantage of this. Asserting that Malaysia, as a 

non-aligned country, would refuse a treaty with Australia, he asked 

Is it better for AustT&lia to have a simple but clear 
declaration of intention on our part which in its very 
nature, preserves our own judgement as to the nature, 
extent and disposition of forces to be deployed, or 
for us to deliberately enmesh ourselves ••• which would 
limit our own freedom of action while conferring on us 
no reciprocal rights? 4 

In this fashion Menzies mada it clear that Australia was not 

prepared to accept an open ended commitment to the defence of 

Malaysia. A treaty with mutual obligations, which the ALP had 

proposed, would, he suggested, involve such a commitment. Even if 

Kuala Lumv~r would accept a treaty, it was to be avoided. 

Despite the Perth Conference,5 the ALP's policy towards 

Malaysia was not clearly defined. Two major questions remained 

unanswered: 1) what sort of treaty would a Labor Government seek 

with Malaysia? 2) if Malaysia refused a treaty, would Australian 

forces be withdrawn? The issue was further confused when the journal 

of the Queensland Labor Party, New Age, p.tblished an article on 

25 September advocating that Australian forces should be withdrawn 

from Malaysia. 6 The article received considerable publicity in 

1 
Ibid., pp.1793. 

2 
D.W.Rawsona 'Australian PolitiQal Chronicle, July-December 1963', 

.AJPH, April 1964 ,. PP• 99-100. 
3 
Chapter Four, supra. 

4 
CPD,HR, vo1.40, 15 Oct 1963, P• 1,794• 

5 
See Chapter Four, supra, pp.142-3. 

6 
'Malaysiaz A Stop Backwards', New Age, 25 Sept 1963. 
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the press1 and was read out in full in Parliament by a Liberal 

membar. 2 As one correspondent pointed out, it was 'a tailor made 

issue for the Menzies Government to exploit in asking whether Labor 

really knows its mind'.3 Natio~ was more charitable to Labor in 

asserting that the differences between the parties were essentially 

procedural. 4 JAJ.ring the next six weeks this became apparent. Jbt 

Menzies had caught Labor on a weak point in hie opening salvo. His 

emphasis on foreign policy may be explained by the apparent 

weaknesses of the ALP's position and by the expected significance 

of the issue on the election results. 

From the date of the announcement of the elections, both the 

Government and the Opposition wore eager to clarify, and show the 

validity of, their attitudes towards Malaysia. In electoral torms 

it was apparent that a clear pro-Malaysian attitude was necessary. 

An Opinion Poll conducted in October indicated that 62 per cent of 

the electorate felt that Jnstralia should aid Malaysia in the 

event of her being attacked by Indonesia, while only 17 per cent 

opposed such action.5 Menzies' ' was the easier taska his only 

problem to establish that a separate treaty was unwanted by Malaysia. 

He did not use again the argument (probably the main one) that a 

treaty was inadvisable for Australia. In retrospect the argument 

he did use lacks conviction. Malaysia, he contended was non-aligned 

and did not want treaties with 'con:mitted1 nations. 6 When questioned 

about the Anglo-Malaysian Defence Agreement he asserted t~t it 

was 'different' because the UK was the ex-colonial power.7 At no 

point was his assertion that Malaysia did not want a treaty, 

contested. (At a later date Malaysia would have accepted a treaty 

but Australia made no effort to conclude one. 8) In any case at 

that stage it was not known what sort of treaty the ALP envisaged. 
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On 21 October Oalwell clarified Labor policy. In a television 

interviow1 ho explained that in the long term the ALP opposed the 

commitment of 'Australian troops to the defence of 1lal8\Y'sia, 

without a clear open treaty' but 'in an emergency' a Labor Government 

would go to Malaysia's assistance without one. As to the terms of 

the proposed treaty, 'it ImJ.st have some ImJ.tuality about it. In 

other words if we are to go to the defence of Malaysia if it is 

attacked, then Malaysia must do something for the defence of 

Australia if we are attacked'. 

Late October and early November witnessed the preliminar.y 

sparring between the parties prior to the election campaign proper. 

Foreign policy and defence received extensive attention, the 

assumption at that stage being widespread that, with the econo~ · 
2 sound, these would be major election issues. On 22 October, 

during the debate on the Appropriation Bill, Oalwell outlined the 

ALP's defence plans, adding, 'If defonoe is to be an issue in the 

coming election ••• when tho issues are finally joined ••• we will 

prove that wo havo a far bet.ter defence policy than this Government 1 • 
3 

Other speakers from both sides of the House laid similar emphasis 

on this issue4 and tho following day Mr Fairhall, acting for tho 

Minister for Defence, answered a question concerning the possibility 

of an Indonesian attack on Australia.5 Outside Parliament security 

issuos also received attention, the Government boing eager to 

exploit apparent ALP vacillation. 6 Boforo the campaign formally 

started the two parties' viows on policy towards Malaysia were cloar 

and on 27 October in separate telecasts, the rival leaders set 

them out. Menzios contended that as Malaysia would not agree to a 

treaty it was not clear that tho ALP would support the FedorationJ7 

1 
The Australian Labor Party a Speakers' Notes, 1963 Federal 

Elections, p.71. The telecast was made in both Sydney and 
Melbourne. 
2 

~e.s\: ~"' ~tc-p;~" 1IJ, 25 Oct 1963J M. Herald, 28 Oct 1963 (ode) f Economist, 19 Oot 1963. 
3 

OPD,HR, vo1.40, 22 Cot 1963, pp,2064-71. 
4 
Ibid., p.2084 (Whitlam), p.2082 (Jose), pp.2095-6 (Boazley), 

pp. 2098-2100 (M. Frasor). 
5 
Ibid., 23 Oot 1963, p.2186. 

6 
Bulletin, 26 Cot 1963. 

1 
M.Horald, 28 Oot 1963. 
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Calwell declared that the ALP would not aid Malaysia unless it were 

clear that she in return would aid Australia. 1 Unfortunately for 
2 

Labor, the press, which had previously tended to favour a treaty, 

had swung to supporting the Government's posi 1don. 3 

On 6 November Calwell opened the ALP campaign in Melbourne. 4 

He devoted only about a quarter of his speech to defence and foreign 

policy. On defence, broadly ALP policy was for an increase in 

expenditure. On foreign policy, the party advocated joint control 

with America of the US Naval Communication Station, an attempt to 

get a nuclear free zone in the southern hemisphere, and recognition 

of the Peoples Republic of China. With regard to Malaysia he said 

that a Labor Government would seek a clear treaty, but pending its 

implementation would help defend Malaysia against aggression 

under the terms of the UN Charter. He criticised the Gover.nment for 

seeking to make Malaysia an election issue, 'to force the nation 

to divide on a question on which it is not fundamentally divided 1 .5 
The press generally interpreted the speech as an indication that 

the ALP was unwilling to contest the election on foreign policy, 
6 preferring to concentrate on its impressive social welfare programme. 

Editorials expressed sympathy with this strategy. Thus 

there were indications that issues of security might not play a 

primary role in the elections. 

On 12 November the Prime Minister opened the Gover.nment's 

campaign. 7 Menzies paid only marginally more attention than Calwell 

to foreign policy and defence. After an initial attack on Labor's 

extra-Parliamentary policy formulating machinery ('the thirty-six 

faceless men'), Menzies pointed out how his Gover.nment had 

negotiated the ANZDS Treaty, sent forces to Malaya 'under SEA'ro', 

and 'will join the United Kingdom' in defending Malaysia. On these 

1 
Ibid •• 

2 
See Chapter Four, supra, p.142. 

3 
The Srdney Morning Herald, in an editorial on 29 Oct for example, 

conceded that a treaty would be preferable, but argued that in its 
absence it was still in Australia's interests to defend Malaysia. 
4 
Labor's Policy (ALP pamphlet, 1963). 

5 
Ibid., p.22. 

6 
Hera;ltl , Advert:i.aer, Canberra Times, Da:il:r;Mirror, , O~e:r-Kaill( •~, r-.. ~,. See also. 

D.W.Rawson: op.cit., p.100. 
7 
Y.!' 13 Nov 1963. 
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issues he suggested that the ALP was ambivalent. H01rever, sane two 

tbird.s of his speech was devoted to dcmestic policy, and like 

Calwell he made pranises of substantial increases in sooia.JL welfare 

benefits, particularly in the field of education. The Govermnent 

was not going to be outbid by the ALP on social welfare; further, 

its offer of' aid to non-government schools extended the principle 

of' 'state aid' to the majnly Catholic private schools. The Catholic 

vote, traditionally Labor, could be swung.1 

The press approvingly interpreted the speech as making security 

a major issue. 2 For the next few days Goveronent leaders pressed the 

ALP on the issue.3 Barwiok was perhaps the most forcefUl, contending 

in Adelaide that 'Labor is trying to obscure the fact that foreign 

affairs is the ~t issue in the election. The domestic issues are 

comparative~ unimportant•.4 Menzies continues this assault, using 

Malaysia as one of' his major weapons.5 The Government was successfUl 

if' its intention was to force the ALP on to the defensive on these 

issues, for Calwell felt it necessar,y to emphasise that the ALP would 

·keep forces in Malaysia. 6 Perhaps significantly he stressed this in 

Brisbane where he shared a platf'onn with Keef'e.7 

The election campaign had clarified the parties' stands on security 

issues, and had to some extent led the ALP to adopt a position closer 

to that of the Government • On Malaysia it had became clear that the 

differences between the two parties were not great, as Menzies admitted 

on 15 November. 8 But the Government had propagated its case better. 

By the time of the final addresses Menzies was stressing seouri ty 

issues; Calwell concentrated on domestic issues.9 

1 
Rsson: op.oi t., p.1 00. 

2 
.§!£!, 13 Nov; West Australian, 14 Nov; Daily Mirral!', 13 Nov was again 

the exception. 
3 
See speeches by Menzies at Brisbane (Courie~ail, 15 Nov), Evans 

(Daily Telegra.ph, 16 Nov), and Melbourne (~, 14 Nov); by Bury in 
Canberra (Canberra Times, 14 Nov); by Spooner at Tumut (Canberra. Times, 
14 Nov); and by Fairbairn at Wagga. (Daily Telegraph, 14 Nov). 
·4 
Adelaid.Advertiser, 15 Nov. 

5 
West Australian, 19 Nov; !!!!!, 20 Nov. 

Age, 15 Nov; Daily Telegraph, 19 Nov. 
7 
Times, 20 Nov, for an extensive -report. See Chapter Four, supra, 

for Ieefe's views. 
a 
!!£!, 16 Nov. 

9 
Ibid., 29 Nov 1963. 
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On 30 November 1963 Australia voted. The results revealed 

that the Government had won an unexpectedly large majority of 

twenty two seats. Subsequent interpretations of this result have 

tended to assume that this victory was because 'our responsibilities 

in South-east Asia, particularly our commitment to the new 

Federation of Kalaysia ••• would be more adequately safeguarded by 

the Menzies Government'. 1 Both Starl<:e2 and Sir Alan Watt3 have 

assumed that the election result might be interpreted as a clear 

mandate for the Government to pursue its foreign policy which, 

according to another observer,4 the Prime Minister chose as 'the 

main issue' in the elections. The New York Times came to a similar 

conclusion, attributing the result to 'President Sukarno's neo­

oolonialism [whioh] has raised new apprehensions in the area•.5 

The Government was later to make similar assertions. 6 While it 

would be idle to deny that foreign policy and defence were issues, 

it seems unlikely that they were the only major issues. The Times 

saw the result as a consequence of affluence moving traditionally 

radical voters to the right a its editorial made no mention of 

securit.Y matters. 7 The extent to whioh security issues affected 

the result of the election must remain, however, in the absence of 
8 evidence, open to conjecture. 

But the issues engendered by the election campaign were 

significant. On Malaysia, both Government and Opposition supporters 

had been eager to establish their policies, the former criticising 

the ALP for its ambiguity on the subject. The Government had been 
.. 

firm in asserting its intention to aid Malaysia and if Menzies' 

statement of 25 September had left observers in any doubt the 

election campaign appeared to remove all signs of equivocation. 

1 
Ibid., 2 Dec 1963 (ed). 

2 
Statket op.cit., p.204. 

3 
Wattt op.cit., p.ii. 

4 
A.G.Lowndesa 'Introduction', in John Wilkes (ed)a Australia's 

Defence and Foreip.n Policy (AIPS, Jlelboume, 1964) p.1. 
5 . 

NYT, 2 Dec 1963. 
election. 

On 20 Nov the NYT had predicted an anti-Indonesia -
6 
Sir Garfield Barwick's Statement at the 0 

Conference 13 April 19 4, DlllA, Canberra , 
1 

Times, 2 Dec 1963. 
8 

the Seato 

Rawsona op.cit., p.100. See Colin A.Hughes and John S.Westernt 
The Prime Minister's Polio -8 eoha A Case Btu in Televised 
Polities ANU Press, Canberra, 19 • 
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Although Liberal-Countr,y Party spokesmen had care~lly described 

Australian intentions 'to add our assistance to that of the UK', 

the image of an Australian Government resolutely prepared to defend 

Malaysia had been created on 25 September and sustained at the 

hustings. This was not borne out in its policy, 

During the election campaign Canberra's policy towards 

confrontation was, it seems, internationally dormant. At this time 

the brunt of the Indonesian assault was being felt in Malaysia's 

Borneo states and there were indications that the war there was 

escalating. Apart from Menzies' pledge of 25 September, by Dacecber 

1963 Australia had done nothing to respond to Indonesia's harassing 

of Malaysia. The Australian contribution to Malaysia's defence 

remained the forces established in Malaya since 1955. The Borneo 

states were being defended by British and, after December, also 

by Malaysian forces. The Australian announcement of 25 September 

had been warmly welcomed in KUala Lumpur and London; the absence 

of accompanying action was less well received. Australian forces 

had neither been increased nor moved from their bases in Malaya. 

Malaysia was undoubtedly subjected to 'subversive activity - supported 

or directed or inspired from outside Malaysia' but Canberra was 

doing little to assist her defence. On the evo of the Australian 

election the London Daily Mail had passed the opinion that while 

Australia had more interest in the integrity of Malaysia than the 

UK, it was doing much less to preserve it. 1 Such sentiments were 

to become more widespread in London. 

furing early December the United Kingdom found it necessa:cy to 

reinforce its Far Eastern force, and moved V-bombers and more 

troops to Malaysia, 2 The Australian press began to publish reports 

of British hints to Australia that the latter should contribute 

more to Malaysia's defence, particularly by assisting in the defence 

of Kalaysian :Borneo. 3 Editorials, despite the distinctly pro­

Malaysia flavour of the Australian press, were not inclined to view 

with favour the despatch of Australian troops to Borneo, except in a 

1 
Daily Mail, 29 Nov 1963. 

2 
.§!!!!, 3 Dac 1963 and 5 Dac 1963. 

3 
D.Kirror, 2 Dec; §!!!!, 5 Deo and 9 Dao; Advert, 6 DacJ ,!!, 7 Dec. 
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case of absolute necessity.t By mid-December there were clear 

suggestions in the London press that J .. ustralia should send her 

battalion at Malacca to participate in the defence of Eastern 

Mnlaysia2 and such a move was ·widely expected.3 These reports were 

reinforced when the Ma.laysia.n defence minister, Tun Abdul P.azak, 

announced that he hoped to discuss proposals for further J.ustralian 

defence aid with Australian representatives.4 l~d further press 

reports fran London~ the Times contended that in view of the firm 

support the J~ustra.lian Government had expressed for Malaysia in the 

recent election campaign, an early decision on further aid to 

Malaysia was expected, probably in the na.t\We of token forces being 

sent to Saba.h. 6 There were indications that the Indonesians also 

expected such a move.7 

By the end of Decer.1ber these activities appeared to be caning 

to a head and the Straits Times suggested that Australian forces 

should be sent to Borneo. S Raza.k, while declaring there were 

sufficient troops in Borneo, admitted that, a.l though the sending 

of .Australian troops had not yet been discussed with Australian 

authorities, the matter was 'under review' •9 In early January 1964 

the British Minister for Defence, Peter Thorneycroft, arrived in 

Malaysia for discussions and it was expected that Australia would 

receive a request for further assistance.10 On 2 January the 

Malaysia.n Cabinet met and was reported to have considered making 
11· such a request to Australia. · The following day ~he Tunku told 

1 
~.M_i~, 2 Dec; Advertiser, 6 Dec; Courier-Meil, 7 Dec; 
B~lliti~, 14 Dec; J~ge, 20 Dec. Vlest l.ustralia.n, 7 Dec, proved 
to be the exception. 
2 
Guardian, 10 Dec • 

3 
!2,st li.ustralian, 14 Dec, Gary Barker reported from Singp..pore 
that 'it is considered likely that Australia and New Zealand 
will be asked for direct militar,y help in keeping terrorists out 
of Sarawa.k and Saba.h 1 ~ 
4 
Ibid., 18 Dec. 

5 
Daily Telegraph, 23 Dec. 

6 
,!?.m.£!!, 23 Dec. 

7 
Indon Observer, 23 Dec. 

8-
~. 25 Dec 1963. 

9 
li.ge, 24 Dec. 

10 
lilerCllr';, 31 Deo 1963; ~~ 2 Ja.n 1964; HP..ra.ld, 3 Jan. 1964. 

11 
Age, 3 Jan. 1964 



Parliament that Canberra had offered further aid to Malaysia in the 

event of an Indonesian attack. 1 The Economist reported that London 

had been hinting to Canberra that Australian forces should be sent 

to the Borneo states, rut that Australia was reluctant to do this, 

not wishing to alienate Sukarno unnocessarily. 2 The journal's 

Canberra correspondent thought that any increased Australian 

assistance was more likely to take the form of financial aid, 

equipment and training facilities. . It was an accurate predio:tion. 

Following the meeting of the Malaysian Cabinet and its 

discussions with Thorneycroft, speculation was ended when the Tunku 

announced in Jessoltona 'I have not asked and will not ask for 

military assistance from either Australia or New Zealand unless 

there is war •••• I don't think we need to'.3 At the same time 

Thorneycroft said that 'between uB, Britain and Malaysia, we have 

sufficient forces to do the job that confronts us'.4 

B.Y 6 January it was clear that Australia would not be formally 

asked to send forces to Borneo. There followed reports in the 

Australian press that both London and Kuala Lumpur did not expect 

to have to ask.5 Whether this was the case is difficult to assess. 

The Straits Times thought that Australia's non-participation in 

Borneo was unfortunate and feared that Djakarta might interpret 

Australian inactivity as indication of lack of Australian support 

for Malaysia. The paper thought than any diplomatic initiative 

Canberra retained was of negligible importance. 6 FUrther, 

Thorneycroft, then in Borneo, said that though the situation was 

serious, Australian troops would not be requested 1 but that more 

(non-Australian) troops would be sent if necessary. 8 The Times in 

an editorial, 'The Defence of Malaysia', felt that though more 

forces wore needed 'it is reasonable to expect that Britain should 

not have to go cap in hand to two members of the Commonwealth to 

seek support in defending another. a~inst attack'. It realised 

1 
MPD,HR, 3 Jan 1964, vol.V, No.37, col, 3955. 

2 
Economist, 4 Jsn 1964. 

3 
~. 7 Jan 1964• 

4 
Ibid •• 

5 
C.Times, 8 Jan, Times, 7 Jan 1964. 

6 
m:,, 8 Ja.n 1964. 

7 
Ibid., 9 Jan 1964. 

8 
Times, 13 Jan 1964. 
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that Canberra was trying by diplomatic means to restrai~ Djakarta 

but thought there was little indication that this policy had been 

at all influential. 1 The Bulletin aleo thought that Australia had 

been approached but that she had held back from deep involvement while 

there was still a possibility of Indonesia being restrained. 2 

The Straits Times was probably correct in assuming that the 

almost unanimous call of the London press for increased Australian 

aid to Malaysia was due to 'gentle Whitehall prompting 1 •
3 The 

Australian press had also come to this conclusion and the Gove~ment 

made no attempt to deny it, nor did it in Parliament when Calwell 

made the same accusation. 4 It seems that after preliminary 

soundings by the .British, Australia gave no indication that she 

wished to be asked for more aid, possibly explaining the reasons 

to London and Kuala wmpur, and the matter was dropped.5 One 

authority suggests that the usual procedure was for KUala Iumpur 

to hint that aid would bo welcomed and then for Australia to make 

an offer. The exchange would then be formalised. Malaysia would 

not formally request aid unless it knew it would be forthcoming, 

although both she and the United Kingdom would have welcomed 

Australian foroes in .Borneo. In this case it appears that the 

request would not have been met. 6 

It has been suggested earlier that- on the issues of confrontation 

and Malaysia, the views of the Department of External Affairs were 

often reflected by the editorials of the 'well-served' Bulletin.7 

On 11 January 1964 the journal succinctly described Canberra's 

positions 

The time may come when the clash [in .Borneo] becomes 
open warfare and Indonesian infiltration a full-sized 
operation, in which case Australia and New Zealand 
must, in the interests of self-defence as well as in 
honourable fulfilment of their understand.ings with Kuala 
Lumpur, help Malaysia with full military aid. That time 
is obviously not yet. To commit Australian troops to 

Interview with the author in Kuala lump.1r, March 1966. 
1 

See Chapter Four, supra, p.146• 



Borneo is an irrevocable step •• eit should not be taken 
whila.~.the pipeline between Canberra and Djakarta is 
still open and while Indonesia.t's increasingly severe 
economic situation may persuade Djakarta that the game 
isn't worth a candle. Avoiding a break with Indonesia 
- whioh posting Australian troops to Bo~eo would 
surely precipitate - and seeking mutual accommodation 
of our conflicting interests are sensible foreign 
polioy aims. 1 
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The Australian Government had been silent during this course 

of events. On 16 January Federal Cabinet met for the first time 

since the election. In the statement issued by Konzies after the 

meeting, the section dealing with Malaysia was in fact a defence 

of the Australian policy of not sending forces to Borneo, appearing 

to indicate that there had been at least unofficial requests for 

auah a move. In view of its signifioance the statemoot meri ta 
2 fairly extensive quotation. The relevant sections road& 

1 

. The Government has had tho military and poli tioal 
situation between Indonesia and Malaysia under constant 
attantion ••• including various activities in Sarawak and 
Sabe.h •••• 
Our Australian military advisers ••• have given the 
Government their assessment as to the adequacy of 
the military forces already available to Malaysia ••• 
the Government earlier concluded, and still concludes, 
that there is no immediate need for further Australian 
assistance •••• 
Australian forces of all arms already are ••• in Malaysia 
- placed there for, among other thinss, the defence of 
that country, which comprises not only Sarawak and Sabah 
but ••• Mal~a and Singapore. 
The Australian Government is main:ta.ining close and 
most harmonious consultation with the Malaysian and 
British Governments ••• coneerning the need for any 
further assistance from Australian forces. In addition 
to this, the Gove~ent is consulting with the 
Ma.lEcy"sian Government to see what it can do to 
contribute to the development of Malaysia's own defence 
effort. 
The Government believes that there has been and is 
considerable scope in the diplomatic field to try to end 
border incidents •••• We havo been most active in these 
matters. We have, in particular, mado our poaition 
abundantly clear to the Indonesian Government, emphasising 
that, although we sincerely desire friendly relations 
with Indonesia ••• we also stand firmly for the political 
and territorial integrity of Malaysia ••• ~ statement of 
25 September 1963 ••• remains unaltered. 

Bulletin, 11 Jan 1964. 
2 
.Q!.!!, Jan 1964, pp.61-2. 
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The reference to the 'diplomatic field', in keeping with Australian 

policy generally, was clarified in the final paragraph& 

The Government welcomes the forthcoming conversations 
between President Sukarno and ••• Robert Kennedy. We 
are most hopeful that the discussions will lead to a 
olearer understan~ing on the part of President Sukamo 
of the seriousnessi;hich the United States and her 
allies regard present developments on the Indonesian­
Ma.laysian border in Borneo. 

The next edition of the Bulletin1 posed what it called 1The 

Big Question' in an article comparing the two Menzies statements of 

September 1963 and Januar.y 1964, asking whether they were incompatible . .. 

The article concluded they were not. Relevant to the examination of 

this issue, which entails a general review of Australian policy 

towards confrontation, is a letter written by the Prime Minister of 

New Zealand, Mr Holyoake, to Subandri.o in Januar.y. Referring to 

the despatch of New Zealand troops to Borneo, a step which Wellington 

like Canberra had not taken, Holyoake saidl 

That is a step which we have been most reluctant to 
take because we realise the effect it could have upon 
relations between Indonesia and New Zealand. It is 
nevertheless a step from which we would not shrink if 
further serious deterioration in the situation in the 
Borneo states should follow from continuation of the 
confrontation policy. 2 

There is ever.y reason to believe that Canberra shared these 

sentiments and communicated them to Djakarta.3 

The Bulletin provided a rational answer to the cri tics of 

Australian policy who felt the two statements were incompatible. 

The journal contended that 

1 

In the first place these critics have not paid attention 
to the Prime Minister's September 25 statement which 
stated quite clearly we would .2.B!.l 1 add 1 our forces to 
those of Britain which by reason of its power, prestige 
and coumi tment remains the mili tar.y guarantor of Malaysia. 
In the second place it also stated that we would do this 
if we were asked formally. We have not yet been asked. 
If Britain finds it can no longer oope ••• with the 
situation we will undoubtedly be asked to furnish direct 
military aid and will undoubtedly respond. Until that 
time- except for those who relish the possibility 
of severing Australian relations with Indonesia ••• caution 
over military commitment is eminently sensible. 4 

Bulletin, 25 Jan 1964. 
2 
Extemal Affairs Review (Dept. of External Affairs, Wellington, 

Now Zealand) (NZEAR) vol.XIV, No. 4, April 1964, p.24. 
3 
This was substantiated in interviews with senior Australian Government 

officials in Kuala lump.tr, March 1966J Canberra, July 1966; Sydney, 
Febr.yary 1967. 
4 
Bulletin, 25 Jan 1964. Emphasis added. 



In fact, as the Bulletin indicatedt 'the use of the word "add" ••• 

implied that Australia ••• [would] only step in when Britain and 
. 1 

Malaysia were fully extended'. 
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Menzies' statement of 16 January was more moderate in tone and 

more representative of Australian policy than that of the previous 

September. It more clearly indicated Australia's desire to retain 

some room for diplomatic manoeuvre, to retain a friendly relationship 

with Djakarta and to allow for the different approach taken towards 

confrontation by the US. One may also speculate that with the . 
federal election handsomely won the Government no longer felt the 

need to represent the more bellicose elements of public opinion so 

accurately in tone if not in substance. 2 

From these events between September 1963 and January 1964 it 

is possible to discern and to evaluate the basic premises and 

objectives of the Australian Government's policy towards confrontation 

and Malaysia. Canberra clearly regarded ::Britain as the primary 

guarantor of Malaysia's security. Thus, throughout, Government 

spokesmen were anxious to emphasise that Australia would 'add' her 

forces to those of Britain in defence of Malaysia. A mmber of 

reasons for this attitude may be given. In the first place Ju.tstralia 

would be unable to defend Malaysia alone in the event of a British 

withdrawal from Southeast Asia. Canberra was concerned to ensure 

that Australia was not left in such a position. The use of the 

word 'add' indicated that Australia would not automatically accept 

that obligation in the event of a British withdrawal. For similar 

reasons Australia's obligation with regard to Malaysia's defence 

was made only in association with that of the United Kingdoms 1 t 

placed on Australia no direct obligation to Malaysia. Partly for 

these reasons a seps.ra.te treaty was to be avoided. In addition, as 

Barwick3 and Menzies4 had indicated before the 1963 election, a 

separate treaty, particularly of the nature advocated by the ALP 

(that is one involving a degree of legally binding mutual obligation) 

could have deprived Australia of the ability to make decisions 

entirely alone. Whether the operation of a treaty would have led 

in pre.otice to such a situation is diffioul t to determine, but 

Australia might have found the hints of December 1963 more difficult 

to ignore. The Australian Government wished to be involved only to 

the extent that it, rather than its allies, deemed necessary. 

1 
Millera op.cit., p.12. 

2 
Ibid., p.15. 

3 
~' 21 Sept 1963. See Chapter Four, supra, P·149• 

4 
CPD,HR, vol.40, 15 Oct 1963, p.1794. See p.191.supra. 
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By January 1964 it seems unlikely that Canberra thought that its 

own diplomatic efforts could substantially aid a diplomatic settlement 

of the disp.~te, and it was less optimistic that such a settlement was 

possible. Growing American involvement in the role of a mediator 

did little to revive that optimism. 1 Djakarta had differentiated 

between its policy towards Australia and its hostility towards the 

United Kingdom and Malaysia, 2 and Canberra was eager to retain the 

friendly links with Indonesia for as long as possible. It was feared 

that the despatch of Australian forces to Borneo would precipitate 

a rupture of these amicable relations. The Australian Government also 

sought to avoid the involvement of Australian forces unless Malaysia 

and Britain oould not cope with the military situation. Since 

independence, Kuala Lumpur had spent little on its armed forces and 

these were fully extended b,y confrontation. 3 Canberra felt that for 

the immediate expansion of the forces defending Malaysia~ the 

Federation should look to its own resources. The first task for 

Australia would be to assist this process and aid the expansion 

of Malaysia's own defence capacity.4 The statement of 16 Janua.ryl'\b<\ 

served to make this position clear. The Australian press recognised 

the Government's attitude and was sympathetic.5 

On 28 January the Australian Cabinet met again and 'gave further 

consideration to the question of assistance to Malaysia in the 
' ' 

development and expansion of its own forces'. The Malaysian 

authorities thought 'that certain assistance in the fonn of material 

and training would be useful', so Cabinet 'proposed to send a 

mission to KUala Lumpur to discuss and assess what items within 

Australia's capacity to supply, may be needed'. 6 Shortly after, 

the Tunku revealed that he had asked Australia, New Zealand and 

Canada for further aid in the form of training facilities and 

1 
Sir Gar:field Barwicka 'Australia "s Foreign Relations', Chapter 1 in 

~ohn Wilkes (ed) I Australia's Defel\~e aForeip;n Policy, p.21. 

In September 1963 Indonesian forces had guarded the Australian 
Embassy while the British and Malaysian missions were attacked by 
rioters. 
3 
See Chapter Three, supra,pp.87-8• 

4 
This was indicated by subsequent Australian policy and substantiated 

in interviews with Australian officials in Kuala I.ump.~r, Karch 1966; 
and Canberra, July 1966. 
5 
Edi toria.le a D. Mirror, Advert, ~' D.Tel, M. Herald, !&!,, 17 Jan; 

Bulletin, 25 Jan 1964. 
6 

CNIA, Jan 1964, p.69. -



equipnent. 1 In Australia only the Daily Kirror of the mass 

circulation newspapers did not express approval, suggesting that it 

was inappropriate at a time when negotiations were proceeding between 

Malaysia and Indonesia. 2 Conversely, the Sydney Moming Herald 

reported that the Ma.la.ysian request was known before 16 January but 

Canberra had delayed, and was now further delaying, its sending of 

aid while the us-sponsored negotiations proceeded.3 

On 25 January Barwick addressed the Aust:t'alian Institute of 

Political Science4 and elucidated much of the basis of Australian 

foreign policy. Having outlined his own belief in the value of 

quiet, personal diplomacy, Sir Gartield went on to give an 

interprotaticn of the recent events in Southeast Asia. He referred 

to the 'high degree of sensitivity' to be found in the ex-colonial 

states of Asia, a sensitivity which was 'the direct product ••• of 

emotional reactions to newly acquired political freedom, unsupported 

by adequate economic strength •••• A manifestation of this deep 

emotional satisfaction on accession to freedom and independence is 

the great and understandable desire to see others similarly freed'. 5 
He talked also of the traditional animosities existing between some 

Asian states, and the problems faced by some of them to maintain 

their unity and their vary existence with internal racial and regional 

diversity. In this situation, for Australiall 'the goal must be a 

tranquil area, steadily rising in political and economic strength, 

accepting us as a co-operative member of the region'. 6 In pursuit 

of that goal, 'our method ••• must be predominantly by diplomacy'. 

It was with this philosppQy that Barwick was approaching the 

problems of confrontation. Ha examined this issue more specifically& 

We shall no doubt from time to time find ourselves 

1 

supporting one of our neighbours rather than another 
••• because we believe that the views and policies of that 
one which we support are right and more conducive to a 
goal of peacefUl co-operation •••• Eut ••• we should only 
make such a choice after the most extensive efforts 
to comprehend the conflicting views and claims and ••• 
to encourage the parties themselves to find some 
grounds for aooommQdnting them ••• after a period of 

Times, 31 Jan 1964. 
2 
D.Mirror, 31 Jan; also §!!!., f!#r;i~l;;cn!i,~dr!Wra.Ph, 30 Jan. 

3 
.§!!!!, 29 Jan 1964. See Chapter Five, supra., p.158 ff. 

4 
Barwiokr 'Australia's Foreign Relations', pp.3-27. 

5 
Ibid., p.15. 

6 
Ibid., p.16. 



careful evaluation and of conscious effort at underet~ding 
and ••• of encouragement of efforts by the parties ' 
themselves to find a solution of differences - we have 
announced our support of one nation, Malaysia, though 
that support could involve us in conflict with Indonasia.1 
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He want on to point out !ndonesia's difficulty of maintaining national 

unity, her leaders' aou te sensi ti '1/i ty and her desire • for reoogni tion 

on the international field 1 •
2 Faced with this situation, Sir 

Garfiald argued, 

the policy we should follow is clear- it sould be a 
policy of friendship pursued with patience and understanding 
and without easy discouragement. At the same time 
wherever the vital interests of ourselves or our allies 
or our friends are concerned we should be firm and 
unequivocal ••• we should not &coapt the view that these 
difficulties [of Indonesia] justify un&cceptablo 
international conduct. There must be no interference 
in the affairs of others and no expansionism. Our 
own territorial integrity and that of our terri toriee 
••• must be clearly indicated as inViolable, These 
two lines of policy we have been :rursuing. It may, 
of course, amarga that seeking friendship ••• and 
pursuing an inflexible determination to defend what 
and whom we believe to be right may .on occasions 
prove incompatible. If they do the latter must prevail 
and we shall find ourselves on a collision course. 
I would hope that day does not arrive. 3 

The fundamental thesis propounded by Barwick was that Australia 

should be careful in judging the behaviour of states with different 

cultural and normative patterns which she must make ever,y effort to 

understand. In the case of Indonesia this had been done, and her 

activities in relation to Malaysia viewed with considerable sympathy, 

but they remained unacceptabla to Canberra. .Australia sought 

amicable relations with Indonesia, but such relations would be worth 

little if Djakarta proved to be intractably aggressive or expansionist. 

With some reluctance, Canberra had decided it could not sacrifice 

Malaysia in the interests of retaining Indonesian goodwill. This 

attitude is to be seen against a background of a fear of the larger 

threat from China, which Barwick described in the following terms& 

'We must accept ••• for the present that China constitutes the greatest 

threat to the security of the region in which we live. Indeed there 

is no other major threat at this time'.4 Australia supported 

1 
Ibid. , p. 17. 

2 
Ibid., pp.18-19. 

3 
Ibid., pp.19-20. 

4 
Ibid., p.22. 
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Malaysia because it was 'in the interests of the security and 

stability of the region'. 1 China constituted a threat to all states 

of Southeast Asia (and Australia) and disputes between Southeast 

Asian states only reduced the capacity of the region to resist 

Chinese pressure. Australia would reluctantly support Malaysia 

mili tarily if it became necessary, to preserve long-tenn regional 

stability and to discourage aggression. 

Following Menzies' statement of 16 January 1964 the Australian 

Government made little reference to confrontation while negotiations 

were being carried on between the dis~tants. 2 It was hopeful, but 

thought it unlikely that a settlement could be negotiated. 3 The 

apparent collapse of the talks in March led almost immediately to 

Australia breaking its silence and announcing increased assistance 

to Malaysia. In the interim the Parliamentary session was opened. 

On 25 February the Governor-General delivered his opening speech 

to Parliament. He described the mounting throat posed to Australia 

from the north evidenced by confrontation and conmnmism, and said& 

My Government will continue to support the political 
and territorial integrity of Malaysia •••• Australian 
relations with Indonesia have of course deeply 
concerned my ministers. Government policy towards 
Indonesia continues to be one of friendship, pursued 
with patience, frankness and realism. fhe major 
interests we have in common should if possible be 
preserved. :But my advisers continue to make it 
clear to Indonesia that we have commitments in 
relation to Malaysia which we will honour. 4 

At question time this policy was elaborated a little. Asked by 

J .F.Caims whether, after claiming to be seeking during the previous 

election a mandate for a firm policy towards Malaysia, the Government 

was now vacillating on its commitment to Malaysia, Menzies replied 

that a clear policy was being pursued but that provocation of 

Indonesia was being avoided.5 

The debate on the Governor-General's speech revealed the breadth 

and variety of opinion to be found in Parliament towards the issue 

of confrontation. Broadly two themes were discernible a that 1) it 

was in Australia's interests for Malaysia to be preserved, and that 

1 
Ibid., p.20~ 

2 
See Chapter Five, supra, pp. 159-62! 

3 
Barwicka op.cit., pp.20-1. 

4 
CPD,HR, vol.41, 25 Feb 1964, p.11. 

5 
Ibid., p.24. 
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2) although Indonesia might be pursuing a dangerous policy at present, 

in the long run friandship with Djakarta should be Australia•s 

objective. Thus an ALP member could criticise Indonesia, asserting 

that the PKI dominated its foreign policy, 1 while a Govonment 

backbencher could contend that Djakarta was really concerned about 

aggression from Peking and its long term interests were similar to 

Australia's. 2 Further, it was an Opposition member who was most 

appreciative of Barwiok's policy, arguing that 

Australia is fortunate to have a Minister for ~ernal 
Affairs who ••• retains a great deal of balance on the 
question of our relations with !ndonesia. We must 
have a great deal of patience. 3 

Another ALP member also felt that Australia should avoid a direct 

confrontation with Indonesia, saying that 'the dispute ••• should go 

to the UN'. However, he was more concerned with Australia's 

military weakness than Indonesian friendship. 4 Finally, Sir Wilfred 

Kent-Hugbes, one of the most vociferous anti-communists in the House, 

alleged that there was a carefully planned pincer movement between 

Peking and the PKI. to conquer Southeast Asia, and asserted that 

Indonesia had only agreed to the Bornean cease-fire in order to 

send reinforcements to the area.5 

A diversity of opinion was thus to be found on the issue on 

both sides of the House. At this time Labor was still far from 

united in its policy but Calwell does seem to have expressed 

majority opinion within the party when he claimed that the Government, 

having taken a strongly pro-llalaysian stand during the election 

campaign, had then moderated its publio stance. 6 His contention 

that Australia 1 s coiiiili. tment to Malaysia was not clear {as evidenced, 

he argued, by the Govemment 1 s reluctance to become involved in 

.Borneo) and his con.olusion that a treaty was therefore necessary, 

would appear to have been founded on a misinterpretation of Canberra's 

diplomacy. He asserted that the Government had based its policy on 

the assumption that Britain would retain its military presence in 

Southeast Asia. .Arguing that the UK was likely to withdraw, he 

contended that Australia should oonolude a separate troaty with 

1 
Ibid., 26 Feb 1964, p.59 (Duthie). 

2 
Ibid., p.83 (Jess). 

3 
Ibid., p.79 (Cross), 

4 
Ibid., 5 March 1964, p.)02 {Benson). 

5 
Ibid., 4 March 1964, pp.261-5. 

6 
Ibid., 3 March 1964, pp.191-6• 
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Malaysia to allow for that contingency. In fact the Government had 

taken account of such an eventuality and had based the nature of 

its formal commitment to Malaysia largely on this consideration. 

It would seem that the Government's associatiott with Britain was a 

more effective method of avoiding being left with a bilateral 

obligation ~o defend Malaysia after a British withdrawal than would 

be a formal ~aty, which could remain in force after such a 

withdrawal. Calwell summed up his position: 

It has now become clear that the Prime Minister's 
treatment of the Malaysia ieeue during the election 
campaign was little short of an electoral fraud ••• 
he took the pose of a strong man ••• he claimed that 
the Labor Party did not believe in Malaysia •••• To 
that accusation I replied ••• that we support ••• 
Malaysia to the extent that it will promote ••• 
stability in South East Asia and will strengthen the 
area against Chinese aggression •••• But Indonesia's 
policy of confrontation cuts across these objectives. 
We need an anti-communist Malaysia, but we also need 
an anti-communist Indonesia. 1 

The objectives which Calwell was advocating for Australia differed 

little from those which the Government was pursuing& only the means 

differed. By the following year these divergences were to diminish 

and a bipartisan approach to Malaysia, already developing in 1964, 

evolved. 

The reluctance to be directly involved in confrontation was not, 

then, limited to the Government but included the ALP and sections 

of the press. 2 fu.t broadly the idea prevailed that while the 

negotiations, then taking place in Bangkok, 3 had some chance of 

success, 'Australia can do no more ••• than to reaffirm her determination 

to stand by Malaysia. This country hopes to retain friendly 

relations with Indonesia •••• What Indonesia has to undereta.nd is that 

Australia means what she says•.4 Canberra was aware of the danger, 

that in attempting to placate Djakarta, the latter might interpret 

Australian policy as indicating an intention to avoid opposing 

Indonesia at all costs.5 

By 6 March 1964 the Malaysia-Indonesia-Philippines negotiations 

being held at Bangkok had apparently reached an impasse. This was 

regarded as sufficiently serious in KUala Lumpur for the Cabinet 

1 
Ibid., pp.191-2. 

2 
Ad. News, 5 March; .Herald, 5 March. 

3 
See Chapter Five, supra, p. 161. 

4 
~' 4 March 1964, editorial. 

5 
Interview with senior Australian Government officials, Canberra, 

July 1966. 
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to implement the National Service scheme arranged the previous 

year. 1 It was most unlikely that this was done without consultation 

with the .ANZA.M powers, in view of Malaysia 1 s limited training 

facilities. 2 It was considered that negotiations were unlikely to 

bring an end to confrontation. 

On 11 March ::Barwick in a long Parliamentary statement described 

the .Australian Government 1 s attitude to the situation. 3 Having 

outlined the events leading up to the :B&ngkok talks, he continuedl 

The facts are not in dispute. There are in the Malaysian 
ritates of Sabah and Sarawak ••• infiltrators from Indonesia 
••• over the period of the cease-fire ••• new infiltrations 
have occurred •• ,. These elements have been brought 
together, grouped, trained and supplied by Indonesia •••• 
The Indonesian Government has acknowledged responsibility 
for these groups •••• Indonesia has thus resorted to the 
use of force to achieve its aim of preventing the 
successful creation of Malaysia which [does not] ••• 
threaten Indonosia ••• [this is] a breach of the [UN] 
Charter • 
••• Indonesian policy now seeks to use the continued 
presence of the guerrillas as a tactical weapon to 
secure advantage and concessions in any discussions 
•••• This is a situation which Malaysia, as I think 
rightly, believes it cannot accept •••• Without firm 
and acceptable arrangements for their withdrawal it 
is difficult to see how a discussion can take place • 
••• It is greatly to the credit of the Malaysians 
that they have been willing to take part in 
ministerial talks to arrange a proper or effective 
cease-fire. Their patience ••• merits our full 
conmenda tion. The course which Indonesia is following 
merits international disapprobation. 

The Australian Govemment regarded with approval the policy 

being p.1rsued by Kuala kunpur. ::Barwick went on to describe 

Australian policya 

1 

I am sor17 thus to speak of Indonesia • . I have 
constantly sought to promote the friendship of 
the two peoples and have been astute to seek and to 
study Indonesia~s point of view. But Indonesia 
cannot expect that Australia can do other than 
condemn breaches of accepted international ••• conduot • 
.Australian policy towards Indonesia will continue to 
be one of seeking to promote sound., friendly relations 
without sacrifice of Australian vital interests •••• 
We have publicly stated our support for Malaysia 
and our disapproval of Indonesia's polioies •••• We 
have made Australia's position quite clear through 
diplomatic channels and by direct communioation.4. 
with Ministers in Indonesia, ••• Britain, America. 

J!r., 19 Nov 196 3, and 11 March 1964. 
2 
Times, 11 March 1964. 

3 
CPD,HR, vol.41, 11 March 1964, pp.472-86 • . 
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This stP.tament was rather firmer in tone with regard to 

Indonesia than those proviously made by Ba~ick. . The press generally 

saw it in this light, applauding Sir Ge.rfield 1 s • firm but friendly 

wamings •1 and appreciating his 

taking a stance devoid of the clubbish prejudices which 
have characterised the Prime Minister on the international 
scene and at the same time more farsighted than the 
domestic electioneering of his party would lead one to 
expect. 2 

The Government was also thinking in terms of United Nations 

involvement in the disp.1te. But its approach was rather different 

to that of the AiiP. Barwick pointed out 'that the Mal~sia.ns have 

already notified the Secretacy-General of the United Nations of 

Indonesian breaches of the ••• cease-fire 1 • He thought this to be 

'a wise oourse' , particularly as the dispute might later be 

considered by the UN', but wamed that the 'timing and nature of ........ 
an approach to th~·· uhl. ted Nations is clearly a matter for Malaysian 

decision'. Again the germs of a bipartisan policy ware to bo 

discernod. 

That Barwick's statement of 11 :March did represent a shift in 

the Government's position towards a more tangible commitment to 

Mal~sia became clearer when, within a week, the first additional 

Australian aid to Malaysia, aid specifically in response to the 

needs created by confrontation, was announced. On 17 March the 

Minister for Defanoe, Paul Hasluc~,3 told the House of Representatives 

that in accordance with Menzias' statement of 28 Januar.y a defence 

missions had left Australia on 9 Februar.y and after two weeks of 

discussions in Malaysia had informed the Australian Government of 

'the types of assistance that the Mal~sian authorities considered 

would give them the earliett and most direot support'.4 He 
continued• 

1 

After considering the report the Government has 
deoided to provide substantial quantities of 
anmmi tion, engineering equipnent, general stores 
and various small sea-eoing craft •••• Training 
courses will also be provided in Australia on a 
greatly increased scale for Malaysian ••• [armed 
forces'] personnel. 

ieeteAd~;._m-aliials,~ Ase, Dail.j Mil:Tor-, Herald,~ Advertiser, Swi; Courier-Ma£1, 12 March; 
es I.LO~or an, 13 March; )iull.etin, 21 March -

2 
Nation, 21 March. 

3 
Hasluck had taken over the portfolio following Townley's death 

in 1963. 
4 

CPD,HR, vol.41, 17 March 1964, pp.522-3. 



It would appear that Canberra had avoided any increase in its 

commitment so long as Indonesia appeared prepared to negotiates 
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the apparent collapse of the talks brought esaalation. In conformity 

with the general direction of kustralian policy described earlier, 

the first Australian effort was designed to assist in increasing 

Malaysia's own capacity to resist an attack. As suggested by the 

original Australian commitment of 25 September 1963, it was only 

when this capacity was fairly fully extonded that Canberra was 

prepared to use Australian forces. The new Australian assistance 

was welcomed by the press on two groundsa that it was an additional 

commitment 1 and that by increasing Mala3sian capacity it might 

help prevent the necessity for Australian forces being sent to 
2 Borneo. 

On 19 March Calwell opened a short debate on Barwick's statementJ 

inevitably the debate encompassed that made by Hasluok. 3 Calwell 

repoated his contention that 'as far as the Menzies' Govenrument is 

••• concerned foreign policy is an instrument of electoral strategy'. 4 

fut the broad agreement between the two sides of the House was again 

revealed, Calwell advocating that while Australia should seek to 

remain on good terms with Indonesia1 it sould also defend Malaysia. 

His criticism of the Government was that after seeking to make 

Malaysia an election issue it had done little to implement its 

declared policy. Did the recently announced £3 million aid require 

a mandate, he asked. 5 The theme was IJlU'BUed by Beazley who 

contendeda 'The proposed sending of 1.3,000,000 worth of equip:nent 

to Malaysia is an anti-climax to the picture of strong support and 

positive policy suggested during the election campaign'. 6 lbt if 

the Government was still open to accusations of ambiguity in its 

attitude to Mala3sia (a position here contended to be inherent in 

the subtle nature of its commitment); the ALP was far from 

unanimous in its approach, a fact which the press was quick to 

publioise. 7 Thus in the debate, while Benson could criticise 

1 
Eds, ~' 

2 

Courier-Mail, 
18 JlarohJ ~' l.':Q1 Ad.News, 

fulletin, 
3 

21 March 1964. 

CPD,HR, vol.41, 
4 
Ibid., p.677. 

5 
Ibid., p.680. 

6 
Ibid., p.686. 

7 

19 March 19641 p.676. 

19 Karch 1964. 

E.g • .Alan Reida 'Two Labour Foreign Policies?', Bulletin, 28 March. 
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' . 1 . Australia's giving militar.y training to Indonesia, and both he and 
. 2 

Coutts could complain at the paucity of Australian aid to Malaysia, 

Cairns asserted that Indonesia was not hostile to, and posed no 

threat towards Australia. 3 

Until that time Indonesian criticisms of Australian policy had 

been limited. The new Australian aid to Malaysia announced on 

17 March provoked from Indonesia the sort of cormnent, albeit 

restrained, which Australian policy was seeking to avoid. Suadi, 

the Indonesian Ambassador in Canberra, accused Australia of interfering 

in Asian problems which IIIlBt, he said, be solved by Asians. 4 A few 

days later Subandrio, on a visit to Paris, said the friendly 

relationship which existed between Indonesia and Australia could 

not be expected to continue if Australia followed Britain's lead 

in the Malaysia dispute.5 But the repercussions on Indonesian­

Australian relations of Australia's increased aid to Malaysia were 

limited. This was not to be the case so clearly the following 

month, when a more substantial Australian contribution to Malaysia's 

defence was announced. 

On 16 April Hasluck announced in Parliament further Australian 

assistance to Malaysia, 'in response to a request received from the 
6 Malaysian Government'. He pointed out that in pursuit of the 

Gove~ent's policy to help defend Malaysia, 'Australian forces 

stationed in Malaya as part of the strategic Yeserve have already 

undertaken appropriate task:e in :rnrsuance of this policy'. The 

fighter squadrons of the RAAF stationed at BUtterworth 'were placed 

some time ago on operational readiness for air defence', RAN vessels 

had been available 'for patrol and escort duties' and 

1 

Elements of the JLU.stralian aruw battalion in Malaya 
have just completed a further tour of duty in 
security operations against terrorists in the 
northern border region of Malaya, thereby freeing 
Malaysian forces for other tasks. 7 

CPD,HR, vo1.41, 19 March 1964, pp.693-4. 
2 
Ibid., p.700. 

3 
Ibid., p.726. 

4 
Mercy"(,7 April 1964. Both the ~' 8 April, and!!!!!, 11 April, 

critic1sed this statement, indignantly pointing to Australia's 
direct interest in Asian affairs. 
5 
~West Australian, 9 April 1964. 

6 
CPD,HR, vol.41, 16 April 1964, pp.1192~3. 

7 
In 1960 the Australians had suspended their activities on the- Thai 

border, see Chapter One, supra, pp.22-3. Their reinvolvement 
reflected Canberra's desire to have Malaysia.n forces tully committed 
to opposing Indonesia. 
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While Malaysian air space had been violeted over the peninsula, 1 

and sporadic acts of piracy had occurred in the Malacca Straits, 2 

these incidents appeared unlikely to become so serious as to require 

the intervention of Australian forces. Those forces were a part 

of the deterrent against significant escalation by Indonesia. In 

the same way the activities of the Australian army were of the 

nature of indirect assistance to Malaysia in her struggle against 

Indonesia. But the Government had increased its commitment. 

The Malaysian govenrnment ••• sought assistance by 
Australian forces in countering the threat of 
seaborne infiltration of insurgents along the coasts 
of Sarawak and Sabah, for engineering construction 
in the :Borneo States ••• and for some air transport 
support. 

In response to these requests Australia announced that 'two RAN 

coastal minesweepers will be made available at once for patrols 

off the coast of the Malaysian Borneo states', 'an a~ engineer 

squadron ••• will be provided to corastruct air strips, roads and 
bridges in the Borneo states', four RI~ helicopters would be used 

on the Thai-Malaysian border in anti-terrorist operations and air 

transport assistance would be given in 'freight flights from Malaya 

to :Borneo'. 'rhe :Minister concluded by saying that the moves were 

being made 'not because of any lack of desire on our part to live 

in a neighbourly fashion with Indonesia, but because ••• we support 

the political independence and territorial 1ntegrity of Malaysia'. 

Australian editorials generally viewed these moves with 

approval3 but only the DailY Mirror realised immediately that they 

introduced a qualitatively different element to Australia's support 

for Malaysia. 4 In Indonesia this fact was more quickly appreciated, 

Subandrio warned · that any war over Malaysia could no longer be 

localised: for this he blamed Australia.5 The Indonesian Herald 

in an editorial reiterated this view warning that 'Australia's var,y 

existence hinges on the good will of Indonesia•. 6 Suadi said that 

though these moves were seen as a threat to Indonesia she would not 

1 
See Table 15. 

2 
See Indonesian ~esion Against Malaysia, vol.I. 

3 West Australian, 

4 
Sydney !!!!:!, M. Herald, !!!!!, 17 April? J1if 18 April 1964. 

Dailt.Mirror, 17 April 1964. 
5. 

Sun-Herila, 19 April 1964. 
6 
Indon Herald, 20 April 1964. 
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1 retaliate. The qualitative difference evoking this stronger 

reaction involved the fact that Australian forces would now be 

engaged in Borneo where they might come into combat with Indonesian 

TABLE 1~a 

Indonesian Activities A~inst Malalsia, 

April 1963 - April 1964 2 

Period Land Incidents Sea Incidents Air Incursions 

Sarawak Sabah Borneo West Bomeo West 
Malalsia Mal~y;sia 

.122J 
April 3 1 

May 1 1 

June 4 
July 5 1 

August 10 1 

September 7 
October 6 

November 2 1 4 
December 2 2 5 

.1.2M 
1-24 Jan 9a 8 1 5 
25 Jan-5 Feb 2 4 8 8 

6-28 Feb 8 1 6 8 

March 1 1 9 4 1 

1-16 April 3 3 1 3 

aincluding one landing by sea. 

forces. Such a conflict appeared to be covered by the terms of the 

ANZUS Paot. Before examining the repercussions of the new measures 

it is necessar,y to look at US policy towards the Malaysian-Indonasian 

dispute. 

On 11 June 1963 Dean Rusk had described the basis of US policy 

towards Indonesia before the Senate Committee on Foreign Relations& 

Indonesia occupies a strategic position of crucial 
importance •••• Its natural resources ••• are among the 
most extensive in the free world. The Sine-Soviet 

25 April 1964. 



bloc is making a major effort to draw Indonesia 
within its orbit •• ;.It is within this oontext 
that US policy towards Indonesia must be considered 
•••• Our best policy objectives towards Indonesia 
are to work, •• to prevent cormnunist control. 1 
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During 1963 Washington had regarded Malaysia as the responsibility 

of the l.NZAM powers. During his visit to the US in April 1963 

Razak had received only vague moral support, while later the US 
2 appeared to show greater enthusiasm for Maphilindo than for Malaysia. 

Although Indonesian confrontation of Malaysia appeared to temperany 

US enthusiasm for Sukarno, Indonesia remained for Washington a 

strategically vital state and ono to be kept if possible on friendly 

terms with the us. 
US active involvement in the dispute began after Howard P. Jones 

had completed his discussions in Washington during November and 

Dooomber 1963. 3 Jonas was widely assumod to be sympathetic with 

Sukarno. Another member of the diplomatic corps in Djakarta 

described Jones' attitude in the following termsa 

Jonos was acutoly aware of the fact that if your 
country disagreed with or cri ticisod Indonesian 
policies, President Sukarno would bo most upset 
and possibly unfriendly. Jone~ 1 remedy was to 
avoid all disagreement and criticism. 4 

On his return to Djakarta J ones handed Sukamo a no to from President 

Johneon. At the time it was thought that the note contained a 

warning to Indonesia to moderate her policy. 5 Dean Busk was la tar 

to tell the House Foreign Affairs Committee that the note did warn 

Indonesia that the US viewed her policy with disfavour. 6 This, 

combined with the extension of the activities of the US Seventh 

Fleet to the Indian Ocean, 1 appeared to indicate that Washington, 

fearing an intensification of the dispute, was moving towards 

intervention. 

1 
US Dept of State Bulletin, 1 July 1963, vol. XLIX No.1253, pp.24-5. 

2 ' 
Ibid., 15 July 1963, vol• XLIX No.1255, p~82 (U.Alexis Johnson)J 

ibid.~ 9 Sept 1963, vol. XLIX No.1263, p.392 (Roger Hilsman). 
3 
Jones saw President Kennedy on the eve of the latter's assassination, 

then remained to consult with President Johnson. 
4 
Interview, July 1966. A subordinate of Jones agreed with this 

interpretations interview, Kuala lumpur, May 1966. 
5 

NYT, 3 Jan 1964. 
6-
Age, 25 March 1964. 

1 
Times., 23 Deo 1964 • . 
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On 13 January 1964 the US National Security Council met in 

Washington and discussed conf'rontation. Af'ter the meeting it was 

announced that the Attorney General, Robert Kennedy, was to go to 

To~o to meet Sukar.no and discuss the issue.
1 

The choice of 

Kennedy would appear to have been partlY a result of domestic 

politics, but Kennedy had met Sukarno before when attempting to 

mediate in the West Irian dispute. 2 In any case the conf'lict does 

appear to have become more serious and Thorneycroft spoke of the 

likelihood of war. The US may have feared being drawn into such·\.8. 

conflict by her ANZUS allies.3 The priorities of the UK and the 

US at that stage were different: the former was chiefly concerned 

to protect her ex-colonies, the latter to contain communist 

influence in the area. As previously indicated, and as evidenced 

by Menzies' statement of 16 January, the Australian Government, 

although viewing the Kennedy mission as being unlikely to succeed, 

was prepared to give the US attempt to mediate every support, a 

negotiated settlement being the aim of both Washington and Canberra. 

Only the Mirror of Australian papers rated the mission's chances 

of success very highly: 4 other editorials expressed doubt that 

Indonesia could be persuaded to moderate her policy.5 

Throughout 1963 there had been press reports that the US was 

pressing Australia to p~ a greater role in Southeast Asian 

military affairs. During Roger Hilsman' s visit to Australia in 

Januaryo1964 he had made public hints to this effect. 
6 

At the same 

time the US was inclined to see Indonesia 1 as a strategic counter­

bala.nae to China. The inadequacies of Sukarno' s Administration 

were admitted, but it was assumed not to be perpetual, meanwhile 

it had to be suffered Up to a point'. 7 It would appear that the 

point was being reached. Australia was playing an increasingly 

active role in the affairs of her Near North but in the British 

1 
~' 14 Jan 1964. See Chapter Five, supra, p.158 ff, an the 

Kennedy trip and subsequent negotiations. 
2 
Robert Kennedy had met Suka.rno in February 1962, before the 

Dutch-Indanesian negotiations began in the US. 
3 
Daily Telegraph, 13 J an 1 964. 

4 
Daily Mirror, 28 J an; Sydney Sunday Mirror, 1 9 J an (editorials) • 

5 
Courier-Mail, 17 Jan; Mercury, Canberra Times, 23 Jan; Age, SMH, 

24 Jan; West Australian, 25 Jan; SMH, 29 Jan. -
6 -
Times, 27 Jan 1964. See speech by itilsman to the Australian 

Institute for Political Science, in Wilkes: Australia's Defence 
and Foreign Policy, especially p.47 ff. 
7 

Times, 6 Feb 1964. 
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rather than the AmQ~Qan sphere of int~re~t. TQ~t such a division 

of spheres existed was indicated after Douglas-Rome visited 

Washington. The joint communique, which he and President Johnson 

issued on 13 February, contained the following passage: 

The Prime Minister ~emphasised the United Kingdom's 
support for the United States' policy in South 
Vietnam. The President re-affirmed the support 
of the United States f or the peaceful national 
independence of Malaysia. 1 

The V{ashington correspondent of the Times reported that 'the 

anxieties he [Douglas-Homa] had about the US approach to Malaysia 

have been allayed'; it was thought that if the talks initiated by 

Robert Kennedy failed an4 Indon~~~a ~enewed cpnfrontation, then 

the US would stiffen its policy towal'ds Indonesia. 2 ~t this 

proved to be the course ot events adds credence to the report. 

To the extent that the US was recognising the significance ot the 

position of the ANZAM powers it appeared that it accepted the 

increased effort of Australia in Malaysia. But Washington felt 

that ever.y effort should be made to achieve a negotiated settlement 

and was optimistic that the Bangkok talks might produce the 

desired result. 3 The aims of the ANZUS powers were similar, their 

positions differed. America would avoid a direct commitment to 

Malaysia but would not discourage a restrained Australian commitment 

to the embattled Federation. 

In early April it was announced that Barwick would attend the 

SEATO Council meeting to be held later that month in Manila. 4 The 

presence of Dean Rusk would provide the first opportunity for 

Australian-American-consultations at a ministerial level since the 

Australian elections and the accession of President Johnson. On 

the eve of his departure, Barwick conceded that Malaysia would be 

one of the topics raised at Manila and that the situation with 

respect to Indonesian confrontation 'had deteriorated' since he last 

spoke on the subject, on 11 Maroh.5 Public statements at the SEATO 

1 
US Dept of State Bulletin, 2 March 1964, vol.L No.1288, p~337~ 

2 
Times, 14 Feb 1964. 

3 
Rusk on 14 Feb 1964, US Dept of State Bulletin, 2 March 1964, 

vol. L No.1288, p.334. 
4 
mm, 2 April 1964. 

5 
Press Conference, 10 April 1964 (DEA, Canberra)• 
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Conference oast little light on the problem of Malaysia. On 16 
I 

April Barwick gave a press conference at Manila on completion of 

the Conference. He was asked about the applicability of the ANZUS 

Treaty to the Australian commitment to Malaysia. Barwick, who was 

aware that Australia was to commit an engineer squadron to Borneo, 

replieds 

The ANZUS Treaty says that if Australians are 
attacked in the Pacific area, and Borneo is in 
the Pacific area, the Treaty comes into operation 
•••• I did not need US assurances on this. I have 
had conversations with the Americans long since. 
It is quite clear this situation ••• both Australia 
and ••• Indonesia are quite clear on what I just 
said to you on the operation of the Treaty. 1 

On his return to Sydney on 17 April both Barwiok's statement 

at Manila and that of Hasluok in Parliament were known to and had 

been well publicised by the Australian press. At his press 

conference in Sydney Barwick was again questioned on the applicability 

of ANZUS to Australian foroes in eastern Mal~sia. He replied: 

I said [at Manila] that the Treaty expressly covered 
attacks on Australian military personnel or aircraft 
or ships in the Pacific area. Borneo was for this 
purpose within the Pacific area ••• ~America is not 
in doubt about this. 2 

He was careful to point out that if the Australian engineers in 

Borneo were fired on this would not bring automatic American 

involvement, but he said that Washington had been given prior 

notification of the move and he agreed that it did increase the 

chances of US involvement. He added that he had told Sukarno 

of this during his visit to Djakarta the previous September. The 

Minister repeated most of these points in a television interview 

that evening. 3 

The first reaction of the Australian press was of firm approval, 

the assumption being made that Barwiok had received assurances, 

with regard to US policy, from Rusk at Manila.4 Only the Daily 

Mirror questioned this interpretation, positing that perhaps 

Barwick was trying to involve a reluctant US in the dispute. 5 The 

1 
Press Conference b Sir Garfield Barwick at Manila 

(DEA, Canberra • 
2 
Press Conference 

(DEA, Canberra • 
3 

SMH, 18 April 1964. 
4 S1.1D-He9 19 April; .§M!!, 18 Apri17 C.Times, 21 AprilJ Douglas Wilkie 
in lbourne Sun, 20 April. 
5 

Dad.ly) .Mirror, 21 April. 



ALP took up this theme in Parliament and on 21 April Barwick was 

asked by Labor members whether the US shared his interpretation 

of the ANZUS Treaty. On each occasion the Minister repeated that 

there was no difference of opinion, but did not divulge whether 

Washington had specifically informed Canberra of this fact. 1 

On the s~~e day Barwick made a statement on the SEATO 

Conference. He made no reference to ANZUS, but did elaborate on 

Australian policy towards Malaysia. Discussing the new defence aid, 

he said: 

These necessar,y developments do not in any sense reduce our 
determination to support efforts for a peaceful 
settlement. But all the s~ll and middle powers 
of South East Asia have, with Australia, a vital 
interest in upholding the principle of non-interference 
in the domestic affairs of another countr,y and 
the principle of respect for the political and 
territorial integrity of other nations •••• 
Australia's own decisions are governed by ••• [thess] 
principles ••• and not by any intrinsic hostility 
to Indonesia or its peoples. 2 

Calwell opened the short debate on the statement and, having 

censured SEATO, again criticised the Government's Malaysia policy 

as an 'election-time, ersatz for one'.3 He continued with a 

detailed criticism of that policy which 

is based on three assumptions each of them false and 
inadequate to the point of disaster •••• No government 
should publicly acknowledge and encourage the 
assumption that it will act automatically on the 
request of another government not bound to it by 
any treaty •••• Is the Australian response graduated 
to an Australian appraisal of the situation, or to 
the Yalaysian Government's appraisal of its needs? 

Calwell was mistakenly asserting that the Australian Government 

would accede to any request made by Kuala Lumpur. In fact Canberra 

had carefully framed its diplomacy to enable Australia, not her 

allies, to make any appraisal neoessar,y. But again Calwell's 

objectives were little different from those of the Government. A 
second assertion of Calwell 1s was similarly ill-founded: 'Any 

policy based on the assumption that Britain is, or may be, or can 

be or wishes still to be a military power in South East Asia is 

bound to fall to the ground'. The Government was carefully 

1 
CPD,HR, vol.42, 21 April 1964, pp.1231 (Cairns), 1234 (Harrison), 

1235 (Uren). 
2 
Ibid., p.1262 ff. 

3 
Ibid., pp.1271-6. 
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guarding against such a contingency. His final criticism was that 

the Government appeared to believe that it could rely on US support 

for its Malaysia policy, but that 'the .American Government just does 

not see the Malaysian dispute as coming under ANZUS, or even 

involving it'. This contention will be later examined in more 

detail but it is ~orth recording the views which Menzies expressed 

during the debate. 1 Having reaffirmed Australia's policy based on 

his statement of 25 September 1963, the Prime Minister asserted 

that the US had always supported Malaysia but had seen its defence 

as primarily a Commonwealth rettoneibility. He repeated Barwiok's 

interpretation of ANZUS, reading relevant sections from the Treaty, 

but warned that 'it is a great mistake to talk dogmatically of 

what the United States of America will do'. 

These further statements of Barwick and Menzies only appeared 

to emphasise the qualifications necessary to the contention that 

ANZUS was applicable to the Malaysian dispute. The following day, 

in an editorial, the Sydney Morning Herald asked whether Rusk ~ 

given any assurances on the matter at Manila. 2 In Parliament 

Labor members asked further questions which received answers 3 from 

Barwick similar to those of the previous day. Alan Fraser referred 

in the House to press reports from the United States that Washington 

was reluctant to be drawn into the dispute and was concerned at 

Australian forces being sent to Borneo.4 

The controversy was terminated on 23 April. At question time, 

replying to Calwell, the Prime Minister gave what appears to have 

been the definitive version of the Australian Government's position.5 

He said that the US had been 'advised' that Australia was sending 

men to Borneo and that 

at the conference in Manila, ¥r Rusk ••• expressed 
satisfaction at it. There is no reason whatever 
to suggest that the United States government does 
not want our forces there. There is every reason 
to believe that it does. 

Referring to reports that US State Department officials had declined 

to comment on what they described as a 'hypothetical situation', the 

1 
Ibid., pp.1278-80. 

2 
lfll SMH, 22 ApriLf iee also D.Mirror, 22 April. 
3 

CPD,HR, vol.42, 22 April 1964, p.1303 (Reynolds), 1306 (Galvin). 
4 
Ibid., pp.1368 ff. Reports in C.Times, ~' 23 April 1964. 

5 
CPD,HR, vol.42, 23 April 1964, p.1381. 
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Prime Minister pointed out that they had indicated the same sections 
1 of the Treaty as he had, 1and said that they covered the matter'. 

But he gave no indication of a specific assurance b.Y Washington 

that the US thought ANZUS applied to Australian operations in 

Mnlaysia. 

On the same day, 2 3 April 1964, it was announced that Ba.rwick 

had resigned his portfolio to become Chief Justice of the High 
2 Court. The Adjournment Debate in the House that evening centred 

on that topic. Calwell, who opened the debate, contended that 

'the circumstanoes in which Sir Garfield Barwick has been appointed 

••• are unusual and remarkable'. Ha oonceded that Barwick was 

well suited for the appointment but felt that 'the appointment 

could have been delayed' particularly as he (Barwick) had already 

arranged an important overseas tour. Calwell concluded that 'there 

will be speculation, connecting this ••• decision with the controversy 

in which the Minister has been engaged, namely the American 

commitment under the ANZUS Pact•. 3 There was indeed to be such 

speculation i~ the press, the tone of which Cairns anticipated 

that evening, saying 

I submit ••• there is a significant difference of 
view between ••• Barwick and the Prime Minister 
••• and the goveDrument of the United States of 
America in relation to the presence of Australian 
troops in Borneo. 4 

It was because of this, Cairns argued, that Barwick had to resign 

to show Washington that his opinion did not necessarily represent 

that of the Australian Government. Alan Fraser was more succinots 

'Barwick made a mistake and had to pq the price' • 5 

The Government gave but one answer to these criticisms and 

allegations. Menzies explained that once having decided on Barwick's 

appointment, the Government deemed it wrong for him to be kept in a 

politically controTersial position any longer than necessary. 6 But 

1 
Articles IV and V. 

2 
~' 24 April 1964; 

3 

CPO.ttt, v•\.4-3., 

See lf'llt.INJJJ21 April 1964, p.1280 and p. 221, infra. 

CPD,HR, vol.42, 23 April 1964, p.1463 (Menzies). 

CPD,HR, vol.42, 23 April 
4 

1964, pp.1464-6. 

Ibid., pp.1467-8. 
5 
Ibid., p.1470. 

6 
Ibid., pp.1466-7. 
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the statements by Australian Ministers on the ANZUS Treaty and the 

subsequent resignation of Barwick evoked a brief controversy, 

examination of which throws much light on Australia's position with 

regard to Malaysia by April 1964. 

On his return from Manila Barwick had described Australian 

policy in the following terms: 

the course that the Government has followed has been 
out of graduated response as it were to the situation 
and I have maintained diplomatic conversations with 
the Indonesians and have pointed out progressively where 
all this might end up •••• If this thing grows I am 
sure Australian involvement will inc~ase. I have 
tried to make it very plain to Indonesia diplomatically, 
in the hope that it will deter them. 1 

At this level it would appear that the defence moves of 16 April 

1964 were designed to be part of a graduated Australian response 

to Indonesian aggression. One observer represented the movee as 

'a qualitative change in Australia's commitment, "escalation" in a 
2 word'. To what extent did the moves announced by Hasluck on 

17 April represent a change in Australia's commitment to Malaysia? 

Hasluck revealed that the RAAF forces had been put in 

operational readiness to defend Malay~ but this had been cited by 

the Government as one of the primary tasks of the Commonwealth 

Strategic Reserve since its inauguration in 1955. 3 There had been 

minor violations of Malaysianair space and territorial waters by 

Indonesia, but these activities were hardly serious enough to 

warrant the involvement of the Commonwealth forces. The use of 

Australians on the Thai border was, similarly, only a continuation 

of the anti-guerrilla activities they had been engaged in periodically 

since their arrival on the peninsula.. As to the forces in Borneo, 

Hasluck had previously revealed in Parliament that 19 Australian 

officers had served there with the British forces since 1962 and 

that three were there in April 1964. 4 But Djakarta had viewed 

the new Australian posture as being significantly different. 

Both Britain and Malaysia seemed anxious to involve Australia 

as much as possible, particularly in Borneo, partly to diversify 

the forces defending Malaysia, partly because they were aware of 

1 
Barwick Press Conference at Sydney, 17 April 1964 (DEA, Canberra). 

2 
Peter King: 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, January-June 

1964', Mffi, Dec 1964, p.282. 
3 
See Chapter One, supra, pp.i9-22. 

4 
CPD,HR, vol.41, 9-10 April 1964, p.993. 
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the implications this would have with regard to the US position 

owing to the ANZUS Treaty. 1 It is worth speculating on the military 

necessity for such action. As indicated in Table 15 all violations 

of Malaysian air space occurred in Borneo until March, at which 

time the RAAF was alerted. The incidents on the peninsula were 

minor, however, involving the dropping of supplies. 2 Similarly the 

use of the RAN in Borneo waters was probably not urgently required 

in military terms. The only case of sea infiltration in Borneo had 

been recorded in January 1964 and, though serious, was not repeated. 3 

It was the dispatch of Australian arrnw engineers to Borneo which 

attracted most attention. In the underdeveloped Borneo states 

there was no doubt of the need for the sort of construction work 

they were to undertake; it is their immediate military utility 

whioh needs to be questioned. Could their redeployment be attributed 

to political motivations, perhaps connected with ANZUS? 

On 4 June, 180 Australian army engineers were landed in Sabah 

to help construct a road from Keningau to Pensiangan in the Interior 

Residency. 4 It was reported that the Department of External 

Affairs had said they had orders to return the fire if attacked. 5 

Presumably because Indonesian forces were most active in Sarawak 

it was assumed that in Sabah the Australians would be unlikely to 

become involved in hostilities. 6 This was hardly the case. Although 

up to April all but two of the incursions into Sabah had occurred 

near Tawau on the east coast, one of these had been near Pensiangan. 7 

On 16 February two groups of Indonesians, 21 and 11 strong, were 

located mo·,;ing north across the border. On 19 February they were 

intercepted near Pensiangan by Security Forces and were repelled 

leaving two dead and two captured. The prisoners admitted that 

they had known of the cease--fire agreement and had infiltrated after 

it had been concluded. 8 At the same time there were reports of a 

1 
Interviews, Kuala Lumpur, May 1966 and Singapore Feb 1966. 

2 
Indonesian Aggression Against Malaysia, vol.I, p.82. The supplies 

seam to have been dropped to noa-existent forces. 
3 
Ibid., p.11. 

4 
Jl¥!)UXJXBDXU'U Dad.1y Telegra.ph, 5 June 1964. 

5 
Ibid •• 

6 
Kinga op.cit., p.285. 

1 
Indonesian Aggression Against Mal~ysia, vol.I, pp.71 and 83. 

8 
See Chapter Five, supra, pp.159-61. 
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build up of Indonesian forces at Lumbis and Labang, about four 

miles inside the Indonesian border. 1 Pensiangan was about 15 miles 

from the frontier and the main settlement in the region. Its only 

access route was by 'bridle path' from Keningau (itself well connected 

by road and air) some 60 miles to the north. In 1963 the Sabah 
2 Government planned to build a road between the two villages. In 

view of Pensiangan's isolation and its vulnerability, the military 

desirability of such a road would seem clear. Further, the 

Australian forces would hardly be in a 'safe' region. In fact on 

6 September a group of Indonesian regular soldiers moved towa~ 

the village and, in a fight with Security Forces, lost five dead 

while wounding four members of the Security Forces. 3 The 180 

engineers were serving a definite, though l~mited, military purpose 

in a dangerous area. 

Both Barwick and Menzies had been careful.to assert only that 

the ANZUS Treaty applied, not that the United States would act. 

The sections of the Treaty relevant to such a contingency reads 

J..rticle IV 
Each party recognises that an armed attack in the 
Pacific Area on any of the Parties would be dangerous 
to its own peace and safety and declares that it 
would act to meet the common danger in accordance 
with its constitutional processes ••• 

Article V 
For the purposes of Article IV, an armed attack on 
any of the Parties is deemed to include an armed 
attack on the metropolitan territory of any of the 
Parties, or on the island territories under its 
jurisdiction in the Pacific or on its armed forces, 
public vessels or aircraft in the Pacific. 4 

From these articles it would appear that the only contestable 

assertion in the Australian statements was whether Malaysia, and 

so Borneo, fell within the 'Pacific Area'. Barwick had asserted 

that it did. This was not indisputable, however, particularly 

since during the 1958 Formosan crisis Menzies had said that the 

Formosan region (though clearly within the Pacific Area) was not 

considered as coming under the ANZUS Treaty.5 

1 
Indonesian Aggression Against Malaysia, vol.I, p.62. 

2 
Sabah, Annual Report, 1963, pp.166-7 and map facing p.166. 

3 
Indonesian Aggression Against Malaysia, vol.II, p.44. 

4 
~'July 1951, pp.403-4. 

5 
Menzies, Press Conference at Canberra, 10 Sept 1958 (P.M. Dept). 
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Barwick's statement of 16 April was not the first on the 

subject of ANZUS and Malaysia. On 19 March, Jeff Bate had asked 

the Minister whether /~stralia had 'definite treaty arrangements• 

with the US 'for mutual support in the event of Australia being 

committed to action in accordance with ••• Australia's assurances of 

support for Malaysia'. Barwick replied: 

In various statements I have pointed out the strength 
of the ANZUS Treaty ••• which covers this country not 
only in the event of Australia itself being attacked 
but also in the event of ou~ troops, naval vessels 
or service aircraft being under attack in any part of 
the Pacific area. I would have thought that those 
statements would answer ••• the question. 1 

But after the despatch of forces to Borneo it seemed possible that 

Australia might seek to invoko the Treaty in a situation not 

previously envisaged and not in accord with US policy. This was 

really a 'hypothetical question' as the US had suggesteda the 

possibility of Indonesian activity reaching the stage where US 

military assistance was required (in 1~laysia, not New Guinea which 

was already explicitly covered) or would be requested seamed to be 

remota in April 1964. 

In view of Barwick's resignation and the allegations concerning 

the reasons for this act an investigation of his statements seems 

useful. At a later date, 20 May 1964, Paul Hasluck, Barwiok's 

successor as Minister for External Affairs, when questioned on the 

relevance of ANZUS to Australia's commitment to Malaysia, referred 

to Menzies' statement of 23 April 1964. Questioned by Cairns on 

the subject he replied that 

The Prime Minister made a carefully considered statement 
on behalf of the Gover.nment setting out the position 
as it was seen by Australia • . We have received clear 
indications from the United States that the Prime 
Minister's statement accorded completely with American 
views. 2 

It was Menzies' statement which was seen as being definitive. The 

simplest explanation for this would seem to be the seniority of his 

position. But in one respect his statement did differ from those of 

Barwicka the Prime Minister did not specify that Borneo was within 

the Pacific area, and so covered by the ANZUS Treaty • . But he did 

hint that this was the case and there seems no reasonable grounds 

for arguing that Barvdck and Menzies expressed different interpretations. 

Barwick's contentions wore neither modified nor repudiated, either 

1 
CPD,HR, vol. 41, 19 March 1964, p.655. 

2 -
Ibid., vol. 42, 20 May 1964, p.2118. 
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by Canberra or Washington. It appears that Washington did accept 

that its obligations under the JJlZUS Treaty related to the 

Australian commitment to Malaysia. 1 But, as Whitlam was later to 
2 report, the US was not pleased that the Australian Goverrunen t 

had made such an issue of the matter. Private diplomatic warnings 

of US support for Malaysia were thought to be more useful than 

public statements involving the sort of controversy which Barwick 

had, however inadvertently, excited. 

The final issue with regard to the events of April 1964 that 

requires examination is the assertion that Barwick, by voicing his 

opinions on ANZUS, was seeking to put pressure on the US to adopt 

a more forceful posture towards Indonesia. The original Australian 

statement of support for Malaysia had been made after consultation 

with the us3 and in December 1963 Dean Rusk was reported to have 

expressed US approval for Australian policy towards Malaysia. 4 

Washington was aware of the significance of Canberra's policy for 

the American position. Following his visit to Southeast Asia, 

Robert Kennedy was asked at a White House press conference on 

28 January 1964 whether he saw 'a possibility that the US will be 

unwillingly drawn in' to the Malaysia dispute. He replied, 'wo 

have treaty obligations under the 1~8 Treaty and I think that the 

war has been escalating ••• and will spread if it continues. But I 

wo~'t go beyond that'.5 At the same time, in Australia Roger 

Hilsman was showing even more clearly US appreciation of the 

situation, saying that 'America would come to Australia's aid if 

Australia were attacked while honouring its undertaking to defend 

Malaysia'. 6 On another occasion he asserted similarly that 'if 

there is aggression on Australian troops in the treaty area then 

the United States would be committed to Australia's aid'.? In 

addition there is Barwick's testimony that he told Sukarno in 

September 1963 that !merica could become involved in Malaysia's 

1 
At a press confe~nce at Canberra on 19 July 1964, Menzies, who 

had just returned from the us, said that Washington accepted his 
statement as 'definitive' (P.M. Dept 2 Press Release). 
2 
Interview with E.G.Whitlam, 12 4ugust 1964 (ALP Press Release). 

3 
CPD,HR, vo1.40, 10 Oct 1963, pp.1653-4 (statement by Menzies). 

4 
Times, 23 Dec 1963. 

5 
US Dept of State Bulletin, 17 Feb 1964, vol. L No.1286, p.241. 

6 
Jb'lrdc~o~.Daily Telegra.ph, 29 Jan 1964. 

7 
Quoted by Ian Allen, CPD,HR, vol.42, 21 April 1964, p.1285. 
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defence. 1 It would seem that Australian policy was not out of 

step with that of the US. In May this bocamo clearer when the 

semi•official Indonesian Herald reported that both Australia and the 

US had warned Djakarta that the ANZUS Troaty might be invoked if 

the Malaysia dispute escalated. 2 The movement of Australian troops 

to Borneo was at least partly a warning to Indonesia that the US, 

however vicariously, would oppose Indonesia's policy towards 

Malaysia. 

The implications which had been attributed to Menzies' statement 

of 25 September 1963, that Australia would firmly support the UK 

and Malaysia in resisting Indonesian pressure on the Federation 

(and Government statements during the oloction crumpaign appeared 

to reaffirm those implications), wore not borne out by subsequent 

Government policy. During the first seven months of Malaysia's 

existence Canberra pursued a cautious policy. Certainly, Australian 

forces remained in Malaya, but this was only a limited indication 

of a resolve to defend Malaysia. The inclusion of the Borneo 

states in the Federation was at that time the major ostensible 

reason for Indonesian opposition to the plan, and it was mainly 

in the Borneo statos that military confrontation was being waged. 

The reasons for Australia's reluctance to commit forces to Borneo 

lay in the reasoning that Britain was primarily responsible for 

Malaysia's defence and (as Holyoake publicly admitted in the case of 

New Zealand) in the nature of Canberra's relationship with, and 

assessment of the situation in Indonesia. The extent to which 

Canberra's desire to remain on good terms with Djakarta was a 

product of Barwick's being Minister for External Affairs cannot 

be properly assessed. Certainly he had placed considerable emphasis 

on the need for Australia to understand and befriend Indonesia in 

his public statements and diplomatic activities during both the 

West Iria:13 and Malaysia disp.1tes. Whether a similar estimation 

of Australian interests would have been arrived at by Cabinet 

without his influence is difficult to determine. His successor to 

the portfolio, Paul Hasluck, proved to be more reticent, which, 

ooupled with the change, indeed deterioration, in circumstances 

1 
Sir Garfield's press conference at S~ey, 17 April 1964, quoted 

Chapter Four, supra, p.148. 
2 
Indon Herald, 18 May 1964. 

3 
See Hanno Wiesbrod: 'Sir Garfield Barwick and Dutch New Guinea', 

Australian Quarterly, June 1967, pp.24-35. 
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makes direct comparison between the policies pursued by each 

impracticable. Barwick had pursued a policy which led, after 

his retirement from politics, to direct Australian military 

intervention in the defence of Malaysia. It seems unlikely that 

had he remained in office a significantly different policy would 

have been pursued. 

Before the creation of Malaysia, Australia had been optimistic 

that Djakarta could be persuaded to ~coapt Malaysia; subsequently 

Canberra placed greater emphasis on deterring and warning Indonesia. 

Australia adopted a position somewhere between that of Britain, 

which was providing an effective military deterrent against major 

escalation on the part of Indonesia, and the US, which was 

reluctant to become materially involved in the dispute but was 

prepared to use what political pressure it could to restrain Djakarta. 

Australia, with whom both Britain and America were associated under 

separate arrangements {both of which were applicable to Malaysia), 

was satisfied with and would assist the determined military efforts 

of Britain, and would encourage greater diplomatic pressure from 

the US. In practice Australia did not immediately become a 

guarantor of Malaysia; Australia increased its material aid to 

Malaysia as indications mounted of increased Indonesian diplomatic 

intransigence and military activity. This Australian policy would 

be likely to carry more weight if it were known to be militarily 

underwritten by the US. The dispatch of Australian engineers to 

Sabah placed the US in a position of vicarious military support 

for the Borneo states. But the parallel policies which both the 

US and Australia were pursuing, although with differing emphases, 

of seeking to retain a friendly link with Djakarta and to use that 

link to moderate Indonesian policies, contained the seeds of 

confliot and incompatibility. This was later to become clearer, 

particularly in the case of the USa in order to make one of the 

policies successful it was necessary to jettison the other. During 

late 1964 Washington came to place greater emphasis on seeking to 

modify Indonesian policies, and US-Indonesian relations deteriorated. 

In this respeot Howard Jones' assessment of the situation was accurate. 

In Australia, Barwick had laid down the guidelines for such a 

situation: Australia sought Indonesia's friendship but would not 

sacrifice her own interests or those of her friends to that objective. 

In 1963 Australia had been anxious to use compromise, suasion and 

diplomacy to settle the Malaysia dispute; in 1964, less convinced 

that Indonesia could be porsuaded to accept Malaysia, Australia 

assumed a greater direct responsibility for preserving the integrity 

of Malaysia and deterring open Indonesian aggression. 
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CH.API'ER SEVEN 

Australian Graduated Response - II 

B.y mid-1964 the principal features of both the Malaysian issue 

and Australian policy towards it were apparent. During Barwick's 

tenure of the External Affairs portfolio, Australia had sought to 

avoid direct military involvement in Malaysia's defence against 

Indonesian confrontation. Following, but probably unrelated to 

Hasluck's succession to Barwick, 1 this policy was modified. Factors 

largely beyond Australia's control contributed to the change in 

Canberra's posturea Indonesia became increasingly isolated 

diplomatically, the US adopted a more clearly pro-Malaysia policy 

and Indonesia became more inclined to align with the anti-American 

states of the region. Perhaps most importantly, moreover, Indonesia 

escalated the military aspects of confrontation and rendered it 

more difficult and less useful for Australia to continue her 

non-participation in the military defence of Malaysia. 

~ May 1964 Australian public opinion did not expect a diplomatic 

settlement to the Malaysia dispute, at least in the near futuro. 2 

Despite Hasluck's visit to Djakarta in June, the Government appeared 

to be of similar frame of mind.3 The collapse of the Tokyo summit 

conference4 was not greeted with surprise either by official or 

unofficial opinion, but was taken rather as further indication of 

Indonesia's lack of desire to reach a settlement and as a portent 

that confrontation might be intensified.5 

Against that background, Menzies visited the US in late June. 

The policy adopted by Washington was an important factor in the 

dispute, particularly while in Indonesia there existed some hope 

that Afro-Asian sympathy for Djakarta's policies might lead the US 

to intervene and seek a settlement to the Malaysian problem 

1 
Senator S.D.Paltridge replaced Hasluck as Minister for Defence on 

24 April 1964. 
2 
Age, Mel'9ftJ,15 June 1964~ M.Herald, 21 May; SMH, 25 May; Peter Boyce: 

C.Times, 17 June. 
3 
For the Press, Press Release 54, 21 June 1964 (DEA, Canberra). This 

point was substantiated by Government officials in interviews with the 
author, Canberra, July 1966. 
4 
Bee Chapt~r Five, supra, pp.181-2. 

5 
Age, SMH, C.Times, 22 June; ~West Australian, 23 June. 
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favourable to Indonesia. 1 Australia wished to dispel this assumption 

by sustaining the pro-Malaysia emphasis of US policy. To influence 

Afro-Asian opinion to Malaysia's advantage was largely beyond the 

power of Canberra, but direct dealings with the US were possible. 

During his visit Menzies pleaded Malaysia's case. On 25 June he 

met Johnson amid reports that he was seeking firmer US support for 

Malaysia and warning the US that Indonesian aggression was as 

serious a threat to the stability of the region as Vietnam. 2 That 

such reports were accurate became clear when Menzies addressed the 

American-Australian Association in New Yo~k, on 29 June. 3 Having 

asserted Australia's desire to be 'good neighbours' with Indonesia, 

he went on1 

Malaysia represents one of the frequent triumphs 
of British policy in this century ••• the classic 
example of how a colony achieves its independence 
and self-government ••• with a healthy economy ••• 
why should we have to listen to all these silly 
words like 'neo-colonialism'? •••• The only 
threatening party, I regret to say, is Indonesia 
itself. 

The Prime Minister continued by delivering a gentle warning to the 

US not to repeat its efforts at mediation along the lines of 

Robert Kennedy's conciliatory mission: 

Unless there is the utmost good faith on both 
sides, then [a] conference will hurt one and 
help the other - ~ such a conference may 
turn out to be, in itself, an appeasing process 
which gives an advantage to the aggressor. 

He then applauded the Tunku's readiness to negotiate, providing 

Indonesian forces were withdrawn from Malaysian territory, and 

continued by asking 

But what happens when the conference goes on? 
Does anybody here really believe that Indonesian 
forces are not still finding their way into Borneo? 
••• before we put too much pressure on Malaysia to 
concede something here or there, or go into 
unconditional conference, we ought to remember that 
there are conferences and conferences. 

Menzies, having sought a firmer pro-Malaysia policy in Washington, 

then continued to London to attend the Commonwealth Prime Ministers 

Conference. The Tunku had already made it clear that he would seek 

1 
Leiferg 'The Diplomacy of Confrontation', p.251. 

2 
Cob!1"z;;¥Jiil, Daiy. fl'!l.JIDEfu1 24= J.~r .Herald, qaDb~imes, .25 Junef 
3 

CNIA, June 1964, pp.47-50. 
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support from the Conferer.ce for Malaysia. 1 He envisaged diplomatic 

rather than military support2 and it was expected that his efforts 

would receive strong support from Australia.3 

The communique issued after the conference indicated that 

Malaysia had achieved at least a degree of symptithy. The communique 

declared that the delegates 

assured the Prime Minister of Malaysia of their 
sympathy and support in his efforts to preserve 
the sovereign independence and integrity of his 
country and to promote a peaeeful and honourable 
settlement of cu:-:rent differences between Malaysia 
and neighbouring countries. 4 

The impact of this rather tepid blessing for Malaysia5 was not 

improved by Ceylon's later refusal to allow facilities in that 

country to be used by British forces participating in the defence 

of Malaysia. 6 

The Australian role at the conference and the purpose of 

Menzies' overseas tour were elucidated by the Prime Minister on his 

return to Australia. At a press conference in Canberra, on 19 July 

1964,7 he admitted that American and Commonwealth support for 

Malaysia were issues that were 'very prominent in my mind and about 

which I spoke perhaps more than on any other single topic'. 8 With 

regard to his visit to Washington, he said: 

I did want to know first whether ~ statement on 
the ANZUS pact in the Parliament ••• was accepted 
by them, and the answer was yes, it was accepted 
by them completely and so far as the State 
Department was concerned, it had circulated it 
among its people as a definitive statement of 
the position. 9 

The Prime Minister went into greater length in describing the 

Commonwealth Conference at which he said there had been various 

1 
ST, 13 July 1964. 

2 
Ibid., 25 June and 15 July. 

3 
Daily Telegt:aPb:., SMH, 10 July. 

4 
CNIA, July 1964, p.26. 

5 
Leifer: op.cit., p.254f See also T.E.5mith: 'Further Troubles 

For Malaysia', The World Today, Oct 1964, p.415; Frances L.Starner~ 
'Malaysia's First Year', Asian Survey, Feb 1965, p.115. 
6 
ST, 6 Aug 1964. The facilities were also denied to Soviet assistance 

en route to Indonesia. 
1 

P.M. Dept., Press Release,\"' 'Ju\y \~"4\. 
8 
Ibid., p.10. 

9 
Ibid., p.9. 



disagreements: 

The first related to the problem of Malaysia. Now 
this of course has tremendous importance for us 
and I made a number of contributions on this point 
emphasising the importance of Malaysia and 
emphasising ••• we ought to make it clear that the 

· aggression against Malaysia was to be condemned 
and that we supported Malaysia in her resistance 
to ~t • 
••• I was emphasising ••• at least everybody should 
give moral aid to Malaysia ••• we got a result on 
that which I thought pretty good •••• There was a 
good deal of discussi~ about the word 'support' 
to which there was opposition originally in some 
quarters. 1 
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He had sought diplomatic support for Malaysia and felt that it had 

been given. 

Almost simUltaneously with the Commonwealth Conference, the 

ANZUS Council met in Washington with Hasluck representing Australia. 

Its communique gave some opportunity to assess the accuracy of 

Australia's interpretation of the relevance of ANZUS to the M~laysia 

dispute. The communique, having 'noted with grave concern the 

continuing threat to peace in South and South-East Asia posed by 

aggressive North Vietnamese and Communist Chinese regimes', went on: 

The Council reaffirmed its continuing support for 
Malaysia. It noted that two of its members are 
now giving aid, both in forces and material, to 
assist Malaysian defence. The Council recognised 
that in this region, as elsewhere, force must not 
be employed in violation of the territorial 
integrity of other nations. It expressed the hope 
that the independence of Malaysia would be respected 
and that peaceful relationships with neighbouring 
states would be restored. 2 

The communique, which was warmly welcomed in the Australian press, 3 

was the clearest declaration of US support for Malaysia yet made. 

But it was hardly a declaration that the US would participate in 

the military defence of Malaysia. As one experienced American 

commentator wrote, 'the cautious wording on Malaysia resulted 

not from any disagreement but from a wish to defer a decision about 

how and when the US would respond if that situation deteriorated'. 4 

To judge by the ANZUS Council communique and Menzies' statements, 

that interpretation was accurate. 

1 
Ibid., pp.1-2. 

2 
CNIA, July 1964, pp.40-1. See also Starkea The ·ANZUS.' Tr.ea.ty, Po~ 

3 Daily Telegraph, 
lest Austzrllicij,, . SMH,~ 20 July (ads); Bruce Grant in~' 20 July. 

4 
Max Frankel: NYT, 20 July. 
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The Tunku had made no secret of his desire for greater 

assistance for Malaysia from the US, stressing in particular 

Malaysia's need for finance, equipment, training facilities and 

helicopters. 1 After the Commonwealth Prime Minister's Conference 

the Tunku visited the US where his prime objective, he said, was 

not to seek aid but to elicit a firmer US policy towards Indonesia. 2 

But following his first meeting with the President the latter 

offered to discuss US military assistance to Malaysia at a future 

date.3 It appeared that Washington was moving towards a more 

clearly pro-Malaysian posture. 4 The joint communique issued by 

the President and the Prime Minister after their meeti~ of 22 

and 23 July indicated as much. It revealed that they 'reaffirmed 

their support of the cause of freedom in Laos and Vietnam'. The 

President thanked Malaysia for its assistance to the South 

Vietnamese Government and •made clear that all South-East Asian 

countries including Malaysia could rely on the firm intent of the 

United States to resist Communist aggression against free nations'. 

He also 

reaffirmed the support of the United States for a 
free and independent Malaysia, and for Malaysia's 
efforts to maintain her security, preserve her 
sovereignty [and] ••• agreed to provide military 
training in the United States for Malaysian 
personnel and to consider promptly and sympathetically 
credit sales ••• of appropriate military equipment 
for the defence of Malaysia. 5 
The communique, even more than that of the ANZUS Council, was 

interpreted as indicating a hardening of the US position following 

the failure of the negotiations initiated by Robert Kennedy. 6 The 

Malaysian Minister of Information and Broadcasting reflected Kuala 

Lumpur's satisfactiona 'if we had any doubt in the past of the 

American attitude or policy on the question of confrontation, that 

doubt has been entirely dispelled'.? In August a Malaysian mission 

1 
~' 1 July; ST, 13 July. 

2 
ST, 22 July. 

3 
Times, 23 July; ST, 24 July. 

4 
E£r. (ad) 24 July. 

5 
ST, 25 July. 

6 
Age, 24 July; ~' ~' 25 July; Bruce Grant~ ~' 28 July. 

1 
Siaran Akhbar, 8/64. 
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visited the US to evaluate military aquipment1 and during the next 

few months US support for Malaysia appeared to increase. 2 There 

were various possible reasons for thisa suspicions of Indonesian 

intransigence ware seemingly substantiated by the events leading 

to the breakdown of the Tokyo summit meeting; Djakarta concluded a 

new arms purchase agreement with the Soviet Union; and perhaps 

most importantly, Indonesia increased the scale of her military 

attacks on Malaysia. 

Shortly after the collapse of the Tokyo talks the British 

commander in Borneo alleged that Indonesia had increased the strength 

and activity of her forces in the area.3 In August such allegations 

appeared to be substantiated when Indones ia launched her first4 

attack on the Malayan peninsula, landing 40 infiltrators in Johore. 

Sukarno had already promised to crush Malaysia before 19655 and may 

have thought increased activity was necessary in order to attain 

that objective. The outbreak of commun~l violence in western 

Malaysia might have encouraged Indonesia to anticipate a cordial 

reception from sections of the Malay community. Above al~ the 

landings coincided with Sukarno's 1964 Independence Day Address in 

which he outlined a more anti-Western approach to regional security 

problems. 

B.Y August 1964 US-Indonesian relations were clearly becoming 

strained, particularly after the Tunku 1 s visit to the US. Indonesia 

began to move more openly into alignment with the anti-American 

cause in Southeast Asia. On 11 August the Indonesian Herald 

criticised America for evolving a grand Southeast Asian strategy, 

centred on Malaysia and South Vietnam, which ignored Indonesia. 

On the same day Indonesia raised her mission in Hanoi to Embassy 

status and Saigon severed relations. 6 In his Independence Day 

Address of 17 August Sukarno described the Indonesia position more 

thoroughly.7 Having declared his admiration for Mar.xism8 and 

1 
m:,, 28 Aug. 

2 
On 13 August the US Senate voted to stop US aid to Indonesia. 

3 
Times, 20 July. 

4 
There had previously been sporadic acts of terrorism b.y Indonesian 

agents. 
5 
I ndon Herald, 21 May 1964. 

6 
Ibid., 12 Aug. 

7 

A Year of Living Dangerously, p.8. 

President Sukamo, 17 Aug 
also Peking Review, 21 Aug 



revolutionary ardour 1 he went on to express his view of the 

1ia.laysia situation in rather a new light: 

We cannot talk about 'M~sia' without talking 
about the situation in South-east Asia as a 
whole ••• 1 t has now in f'act beccme the focal point of 
world contradictions. Contradictions between 
socialism and capitalism. 2 

The region was struggling for its independence and 'no devil can 

prevent Korea, Vietnam, Cambodia and Indonesia frcm becaning 

friends ••• Korea's "West Irian" and Vietnam's "West Irian" 1 namely, 

the southern parts of those countries, are not free as yet'. He 

said that he had previously told representatives of the National 

Liberation Front of South Vietnam that they had his support and 

that he condemned the US bombings of' North Vietnam f'ollorr.tng the 

incidents in the Gulf' of Tonkin. He admitted. 1 if there had been 

no Johnson-Tunku joint communique then I would never have voiced 

these words', but the US'prefers Mal~sia to the Republic of 

Indonesia' • Sukarno appeared to be dividing the powers of the 

region into two groups. The division depended essentially an the 

&tates' relations with Junerioa: on that criterion Indonesia and 

Australia were joining opposing camps. 3 

On 17 August :Malaysia infonned the UN Security Council that 

'a group of approximately 40 infiltators fran Indonesia made a 

clandestine landing on the western shores of Johore ••• in a clear 

act of naked aggression1 •
4 On 2 September, simultaneously with 

fUrther race riots in Singapore, possibly instigated by Indonesian 

!:a~s ;erovooateurs,5 30 Indonesian paratroops were dropped near 

Labis in Johore. In a further letter to the Security Council, 

Malaysia requested 'an urgent meeting of the Security Council under 

Article 39 of the Charter' 1 to consider the Indonesian act of 
1blatent and inexcusable aggression against a peaceful neighbour, 

an act which in itself is a breach of the peace and invalves a 

threat to the peace and security of the area'. 6 It appears that 

1 
A Year of Living D!l!8erous~, p.11. 

2 
Ibid., p.15, 

3 
See Justus M. van der Kroef: 'Indonesian Comnunism' s Expansionist 

Role in Southeast Asia', ]nternational Journal, 196~5, pp.188-205; 
and 'Indonesian Ccmnunism and the Changing Balance of Power' 1 op.oi.t. 
4 
Mala sian Camnunications with the United Nations Se~tz..Q.ouncil 

on Ind2!lesian Aggression Government Printer, Kuala Lumpur, 1965) 
p.3. 
5 
See Hyde: Confrontation in the East, p. 99 ff. 

6 
Mala,ysian Camnunicationswith the Security Counc_£, p.4. 
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the British (and Australian) Government had favoured such a move at 

an earlier stag~ but that Kuala Lumpur had been reluctant to risk 

a rebuff by the UN. 1 The new attack on Malaya, a state which 

Djakarta had recognised in 1957, made it more difficult for Indonesia 

to present her case in a good light. 

On 9 September the debate in the Security Council opened and 

Dr Ismail- efficiently argued Malaysia's case, in the course of which 

he produced captured Indonesian weapons. 2 In a typical defence of 

the Indonesian position, Dr Sudjarwo denied the validity of 'legal 

arguments, particularly when they are based on the so-called 

international law ••• of the colonial powers'. He admitted Indonesian 

complicity in the 2 September landings, but argued: 

our people rose to action. They volunteered as 
guerrillas ready and willing even to enter the 
enernw's territor,y ••• [they] have entered so-called 
'Malaysian' territory in Sarawak and Sabah. Thoy 
have been fighting there for some time. This is 
no secret ••• now this fighting has spread to other 
areas in 'Malaysia' such as Malaya •••• Indonesia's 
acts ••• for the cause of freedom, can certainly 
not be termed aggression. 3 

This public admission ~f Indonesian infiltration into Malaya, which 

had been anticipated by a similar statement by Nasution,4 seemed 

unlikely to win friends for Indonesia in the UN. 

The US was far from sympathetic with Sudjarwo's argument, Adlai 

Stevenson5 -saying ~it is this specific act of violence which my 

delegation specifically deplores'. He argued that 'this Council 

cannot condone the use of force in international relations outside 

the framework of the Charter' and should 'call for the cessation 

?f ar.ned attack on Malaysia'. While US support for Malaysia was 

important, it was the attitude of the non-aligned members of the 

Council, Brazil, Ivory Coast, Morfocco and Bolivia, that would 

largely determine the debate's outcome. On 14 September the 

Brazilian delegate said that Indonesia 'should not resort to the 
" threat of force'. Similarly the Ivory Coast Delegate thought that 

1 
ST, 8 Aug. 

2 
Mala sia's Case At The United Nations Council (complete 

record of hearings, Kuala Iumpur, 1965 
3 
Ibid., p.15. 

4 
h£!, 8 Sept 1964, for text of interview with Nasution. 

5 
The US representative at tho UN. 

6 
Malaysia's Case At The United Nations, p.37. 
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the Indonesian action was contrary to the UN Charter and that the 

Council should 'regret and deplore• it~ 1 Mor/Occo took a similar 

attitude. After efforts to produce a resolution acceptable to 

both parties had proved unavailing a draft resolution proposed by 

Norway was debated. It was opposed by the Indonesian delegation 

which particularly objected to the following two sectiones 

The Security Council •••• 
2. Deplores the incidont of 2 September 1964 •••• 
4. Calls upon the parties to refrain from all 

threat or use of force and to respect the 
territorial integrity and political independence 
of each other. 2 

The draft resolution was roaected by the Soviet veto, but it 

received nine affirmative votes.3 Though far from a clear 

condemnation of Indonesian policy, the results of the Security 

Council debate ware seen as 'a considerable victory [for Malaysia] 

in the wider diplomatic battle'. 4 The Tunku was reported to be 

'delighted'5 and the result was widely construed as a vindication 

of Malaysia's case. 6 

Although Malaysia had won a significant victory at the UN, it 

remained to be seen to what extent she would alter the 'lethargy 

and even Fpathy' 7 with which she had previously propagated her case 

among the Afro-Asian states. On 4 September Ghazali bin Shafie, 

Secretary to the Department of External Affairs, indicated that a 

greater effort might be made, complaining that 

the Indonesians appear to have succeeded to a large 
extent in misleading people in Asia, Africa and 
Europe and the Americas into believing that what 
is taking place hera ••• does not constitute acts 
of war and aggression. 8 ---

Whether Malaysia could effectively change this situation was put 

to the test in October. 

1 
Ibid., p.55. 
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In July 1964 at a.meeting of Foreign Ministers in Cairo, it 

had been agreed that a conference of non-aligned nations should 

be held in Cairo in October. 1 During that preliminary meeting 

Subandrio had made efforts to get support for Indonesia's policy 

towards Malaysia. 2 In October it was announced that Malaysia would 

not be invited to send a delegation3 but three members of the 

Malaysian Department of External Affairs went to Cairo for the 

conference, lobbying delegates and propagating their case in the 

local press. 4 In addition the Tunku sent a letter to the delegations 

requesting diplomatic support.5 Indonesia also did not ignore the 

Malaysia dispute. Sukarno, who led a delegation of about 140, 

delivered the first speech after Nasser's inaugural address. In a 

general attack on nee-colonialism and the West, he vehemently 

criticised Malaysia. 6 The conference would indicate the degro ~3 of 

Afro-Asian sympathy for the Indonesian position. The Times of India 

described a division of opinion between those delegations, including 

India, the UJLR and Yugloslavia, who desired a peaceful settlement 

to disputes (except those involving imperialism), and those 

delegatio~ less concerned with peaceful co-existence, led by 

Indonesia. The Indonesian deleg~tion declared that there could 

be no co-existence between noo-colonialist Malaysia and Indonesia. 8 

The resolutions passed by the conference represented a 

setback for Indonesian strategy. Although economic exploitation 

and foreign bases were condemned, the fina~ resolution was most 

significant. It declared that peaceful co-existence between states 

with differing social and political systems 'is both possible and 

necessary'. States should abstain from the use or threat of force 

1 
Indon Herald, 14 July. 

2 
~. 21 July, 

3 
~' 1 and 2 Oct. 

4 
ST, 5 Oct; Dj.D.Mail, 6~10,13 Octf Interview with a senior 

Malaysian government official, KUala Lumpur, May 1966. 
5 
ST, 8 Oct. 

6 
Indon Herald, 9 Oct. 

1 
Times of India, 9 Oct. 

8 
Indon Herald, 10 Oct. 
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against the territorial integrity of other statesl '! situation 

brought about by the threat or use of force shall not be recognised'. 

This was regarded by Malaysia's supporters as something of a triumph. 1 

The Indonesians also claimed that it supported, albeit tepidly, their 

own position. 2 It did seem that Kuala Lumpur had not taken sufficient 

advantage of the situation. 3 The extent to which Indonesian 

propaganda had been effective was indicated by an article in a 

Jugoslav journal.4 Its author, with iAformation both muddled and 

incorrect, supported tha Indonesian position. There was still some 

danger, though it was receding, that Malaysia might lose its case 

by default. 

Despite these reservations, in the latter part of 1964 

international support for Malaysia had increased. The US had become 

involved both directly and via her l~S allies, and greater l~ro­

Asian acceptance of the Malaysian case had been shown in New York 

and Cairo. For Canberra these points were important. US involvement 

was sought by .Australia for a number of reasonsa as a deterrent 

against Indonesia, as reinforcement for the .Australian position and 

to expand the terms of reference of the Ji.NZUS Treaty. Afro-Asian 

approval of Malaysia made US support for the Federation more likely 

and direct Australian military involvement less difficult.5 One 

Australian official argued that 'we ·did not want to commit Australian 

troops to fighting Asians in Asia unless we were sure that the rest 

of Asia understood and sympathised with our reasons•. 6 If the 

political reasons for Australian non-participation in the military 

dBfence of Malaysia were becoming lees important, Indonesian 

escalation of confrontation made Australian involvement more likely. 

1 
~' 17 Nov (Razak)J M.Herald, 12 Oct; D.Tel, 13 Oct1 Frances Starnars 
'A Role for the Non-Aligned', ~' 29 Oct 1964, pp.248-50J Leifera 
op,cit., p,256J G.F.Hudsons 'The Neutrals and the Afro-Asians', 
~e Wrrla Tod8y, Dec 1964, p.547; !ZEAR, Oct 1964, p.47. 

Indon He~ld, 12 Oct and 3 Nov. 3 I 4 • 

See Harvey Stockwim '9-2 Against?' ~' 15 Oct 1964, pp.131-3. 
4 
Al~s :Beblera J¥a,laya, 11alaysia and the Mala.yane', Review of 

International Affai~, Vol.XV Sept 20 1964, pp.12-13. 5 t'• • : • • .. • .'I (~ •· • i ' ' '~ • • 

~' 20 Jan 64, for ~o Kuan Yew's assessment, quoted Chapter 
Five, sqpra, p~177, 
6 , ' 
In an interview with the author, Sydney, February 1966. 

; · t 
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Following the collapse of the Tokyo summit meeting on 20 June 

1964, 1 it seemed possible that Indonesia would increase the level 
2 of militar,y activity and reports soon followed that the Security 

Forces in Borneo had sought permission from the civilian authorities 

to launch retaliatory strikes against Indonesian bases. 3 By Auguet 

it was estimated that thoro were 11,000 Indonesian troops and about 

2,000 Indonesian and Sarawakian volunteers in the Bomeo theatre of 

operations. 4 But it was the Indonesian attacks on Malaya which were 

t~e most serious aspect of increased Indonesian activity and seemed 

most likely to bring about Australian militar,y participation. On 

19 August the Australian Minister for Defence was asked whether 

Australian forces might be used to repel the attacks on Malaya. The 

Minister, having indicated that Malaysia had not yet requested such 

action, replied: 

Australian forces are stationed in Malaysia as part 
of the strategic reserve and have already undertaken 
various tasks in the maintenance of the territorial 
integrity of Malaysia ••• our forces would be available 
by the consent of the Australian government if requested 
by the Malaysian government to take part in assisting 
to deal with armed infiltration ••• at the present time 
the Malaysian forces have the situation well in hand 
and that ·stage has not yet arisen. I want to make 
it perfectly clear tQ the Senate that should such a 
request be made ••• the Australian government would 
acquiesce in that request. 5 

It seemed likely that Malaysia would make a request. Shortly .after, 

the Tunku said that Australi~ tro.ope might be used in a more active 
6 . . 

role and Critchley that Australia would send~ troops to 

Malaysia if asked.7 

The Australian press had reacted to both the likelihood of 

increased Indonesian activity in Borneo8 and to the landing of 

Indonesian forces in Malaya9 with unreserved hostility. The 

passibility of Australian military involvem~t, however diatastot.ul 

in itself, was viewed with approval. The landing o~ Indonesian 

1 
See Chapter Five, supra, pp.181-2. 

2 
Leifer: 'The Diplomacy of Confrontation', p.254. 

3 
Dennis Bloodworth: 'The War in Borneo', fulletin, 27 June 1964; 
~' 25 July. 
4 

'The Malaysian Campaign', Times, 12, 13, and 14 Aug 1964. 
5 

6 
CPD, Senate, vol.26, 19 Aug 1964, p.101. 

.§!!!!, 22 Aug. 
7 
Age, 24 .Aug. 

8 
.§!!!, 2 July J ~' 3 July; ~' 4 July~ 

9 
l..ge, 19 and 25 Aug; ~' 24 Aug; ~' 26 Aug (edtttgrials) • 
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paratroops on 2 September only served to increase such feelings. 

The Melbourne Herald, in an editorial typical of the press's reaction, 

estimated that the dispute had gone 'past the point where our deep 

desire to avoid a clash with Indonesia can keep us out of the Malaysia 

crisis without grave long-tenn ·risks 1 • 
1 A few editorials 

called for retaliatory action against Indonesia. 2 The landings of 

2 September also brought non-Bri tish units from the Camnonwealth 

Strategic Reserve, stationed near Malacca, into action. On 4 

September after a request from the Mala.)Tsian Government 1 New Zealand 

troops moved against the infiltrators.3 Australian forces were at 

that time on patrol near the Thai border: if they had been at 

Malacca they too would have been involved. 4 An Australian-Indonesian 

military engagement had been averted, or at least postponed, for 

the time being. 

The British regarded the Indonesian moves against the Malayan 

peninsula with same apprehension and sent reinforcements to Malaysia, 

including infantry groups tram Genna.ny, naval vessels from the 

Mediterranean fleet, and RAF units, including four Vulcan bcmbers, 

frcm the UK.5 Coupled with US attacks on North Vietnam, these 

redeployments increased suspicions that retaliatory action against 

Indonesia was imminent. 6 Although this was d~nied by the Malaysian 

Government, 7 President Johnson admitted that press repons 1 concerning 

great power involvement in the dispute' were accurate,8 and it appeared 

that the UK was considering retaliatory strikes. Dean Rusk was 

non-cormni ttal, 9 but Lee Kuan Yew taoi tly admitted that retallato:cy 

action was possible.
10 

In fact the tension abated, for there were 

1 
Herald, 4 Sept. See also editorials, Age, Daily Telegraph, Mercury, 

Courier-Mail, 4 Sept. 
2 
Canberra Times, 4 Sept; West Australian, 5 Sept; Age, 7 Sept. 

3 
Statement by the New Zealand Prime Minister, External Affairs 

Review (New Zealand), Sept 1964, pp.19-20. 
4 
Ibid.. See reports in Age, 5 Sept, and Suncl.ay Mail, 6 Sept. This 

was confinned by an Australian Government official in an interview 
in Kuala Lumpur, March 1 966. 
5 

ST, 10 and 11 Sept; Times, 11 Sept. 
b 

Times, 11 and 12 Sept; ~' 12 Sept. 
7 
Times 1 14 Sept. 

8 
,m, 14 Sept. 

9 
!i!! 1 15 Sept. 

10 
,m, 14 Sept. 
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no further Indonesian attacks on.Malaysia in September. B.Y early 

October the infiltrators had bean dealt with, only twelve remaining 

at large of the original 75 Indonesians and 21 Malaysian Chinese. 1 

Whether Britain seriously considered retaliatory action at that stage 

or the press reports were a result of delibarate leaks designed to 

warn and deter Djakarta, is difficult to determine. It was reported 

that Australia and the US did not favour such strikes, but this was 

not publicly admitted. Questioned by Calwell on the subject Hasluck 

asserted that 'we have been in close, constant and effective 

consultation with the government of the United Kingdom' and that 

'for our part in Australia we want to make it clear to the President 

of Indonesia that unprovoked aggression on the territory of Malaya 

must be countered and will be countered1 •
2 The distinction made 

between peninsular and Bornean Malaysia indicated that Canberra was 

lass reticent about becoming militarily involved in the defence of 

the former. 

Despite the open hints of retaliation, Indonesia further 

increased military activity in Borneo. On 5 and 6 October one of 

the biggest clashes of the entire campaign took place in Sarawak 

between some 120 infiltrators and Security Forces, the latter 

calling in artiller.y supp6rt. 3 At the same time, during his Armed 

Forces' Day speech, Nasution described the intensification of 

confrontation and warned that it was reaching a •critical point•. 4 

On 29 October this threat was translated into action when 52 

Indonesian troops and volunteers5 landed at the mouth of the 

Kesang river about 20 miles from Malacca. Malay fishermen notified 

the police almost immediately. In order to establish a cordon 

around the infiltrators the Seouri ty Forces moved quickly. The 

Commonwealth Brigade, stationed close at hand, went into action and 

within 36 hours, 50 of the group had been oaptured. 6 Australian 

troops were among the Commonwealth forces and, as Menzies pointed 

out, Australian troops had been deployed against Indonesians for 

1 
..§!, 6 Oct. 

2 
CPD,HR, vol.44, 30 Sept 1964, p.1628. Emphasis added. See Boyce: 

'Defence of Malaysia', p.7. 
3 
.§!., 7 Oct. 

4 
Indon Herald, 6 Oct • Dick Wilson 1 1 The Struggle For Borneo' , 
~' 15 Oct 1964, pp.134-6. 
5 
The force included two Malaysians. 

6 
Indonesian Aggression Against Ma.laysia·1 vol.II, p.5. 

; 
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the first time. 1 The Australian press again was in almost complete 

agreement with the Government's action, viewing it as regrettable 

but necessary, and apprehensively awaiting the Indonesian reaction. 2 

It is difficult to criticise this first military action by 

Australians. The Reserve had been in existence for nine years and 

one of its primary duties had been the defence of Malaya, and then 

Malaysia. Canberra had chosen to make a de facto distinction 

between those two responsibilities but could have hardly ignored 

the landings of 29 October. In a military sense the collision 

course Barwick had feared3 had been takena the clash had occurred. 

On 2 November Tun Razak announced that two and a half million 

pamphlets had been dropped on Indonesian territory in Sumatra and 

the Rhio islands, where the bases used by the infiltrators were 

located.4 This was the sum total of the Security Forces' retaliatory 

actiVities. The pamphlets were messages from the unsuccessful 

infil tratore captured in Malaya who portrayed the landings as 

failures and Indonesian propaganda about Malaysia as inaccurate.5 

The action had two general purposes: 1) to dissuade further 

volunteers fro'm landing in Malaya; and, more important, 2) to show 

Indonesia that air strikes could be quickly and effioiently mounted 

against its territory. The policy was applauded by the Australian 
6 press and Government. It seemed unlikely that retaliatory strikes 

would be mounted while the Indonesians maintained their limitations 

on military activity.7 

For Canberra the direct involvement of Australian forces was 

a significant landmark in the policy of graduated response. If the 

Australian pledge to Mal~sia was to mean anything, the action was 

unavoidable. The anticipated hostile reaction from Indonesia did 

not materialise. The Indonesian Herald made the most hostile 

comment in contending that Indonesia was fully encircled and that 

'the fortification of Darwin into an air-strike base makes the 

1 
Defence Dept., For The Press, No 1038, 29 Oct 1964; CPD,HR, vol.44, 

30 6ct 1964, p.2557. Senator Paltri~es For The Press, 30 Oct 1964. 
2 Sun- erald, 

-,~ <Editcrlla~;z ~' 30 Oct; C.Times, 31 Oct; ~' 1 Nov; Advertpr,2 Nov. 
3 
See Chapter Six, supra, p.206. 

4 
.§!, 3 Nov. 

5 
Pamphlets and information from Malaysian Government sources. 

6 
Age, M.Herald, 3 Nov; .§!!!, 4 Nov. 

7 
.§!!!, 6 Nov. 
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southern flank of Indonesia the more vulnerable'. 1 The Djakarta 

Daily Mail2 passed a similar opinion but relations between Djakarta 

and Canberra appeared to be unaffected. So far the Australian 

policy of supporting Malaysia while retaining good relations with 

Indonesia had succeeded. But Sukarno's command that confrontation 

be further intensified3 did not augur well for the future. 

During 1963 Australian interest in defence and foreign 

policy had increased significantly, largely in response to Indonesian 

activities. During early 1964 a similar process was discernible. 

In January the Australian Institute of Political Science held its 

annual summer school on these issues and the conference was both 

well attended and well publicised. There was general agreement 

among the conferees that Australia was inadequately defended. 4 

During the following months such diverse authorities as Alastair 

Buchan,5 the Democratic Labor Party, 6 and the Returned Servicemen's 

League7 argued that a largo increase in defence expenditure was 

necessary. There were indications that the Government was sympathetic 
8 to these arguments, and rumours that it was considering the 

intr»duction of a system of two years selective national service 

training.9 

In Parliament a similar concern with Australia's defence was 

evident and there ware frequent questions on the armed forces. 10 

Members from both sides of the House expressed their anxiety at the 

inadequacy of Australia's forces, and Government back benchers argued 

for the introduction of conscription. 11 These demands appeared to 

1 
Indon Herald, 6 Nov.1964. 

2 
Dj.D.Mail, 18 Nov. 

3 
Ibid •• 

4 
See John Wilkes (ed): op.cit •• 

5 
SMH, 24 March 1964. Buchan is Director of the Institute for 

Strategic Studies, London. 
6 

t aOanberik Times, 2 March. 
7 D~ele~h, 

rest AustraliNb 6 March. See 1 13 rch, for statement by the Graziers 
Association. 
8 
Age, 1 March, for Hasluck's reply to the RSL, and 9 March, for 

statement by Forbes, Minister for the Army. 
9 

.§.¥1!., 8 May ; .Age , 19 May. 
10 
For example, CPD~HR, vol.42, 5 May, p.1552 ff (Hayderi), pp.1556-8 

(Benson and Jones , p.1551 (Daly)J 6 May, p.1561 (Cairns); 20 May, 
p.2119 (Whitlam). 
11 
Ibid .• , vol.41, 26 Feb, p.75 (Turner); 3 March, p.169 (Cockle); 4 

March, p.268 (Falkinder); 5 March, p.293 (Reynolds); vol.42, 12 May, 
pp.1739-51 (debate on national fuel ~licy). 
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have some force as the Government admitted that its efforts to 

increase the size of the army were lagging. 1 On 18 June Paltridge 

announced the implementation of measures designed to remedy this 

deficiency, Conditions of service in the army would be improved 

and the CMF, which could now be asked to serve overseas, would be 
2 enlarged. The press expressed only partial approval of these 

measures, feeling generally that conscription would be necessary to 

raise the army's strength sufficiently. 3 And in a Gallup Poll 

69 per cent of those Australians approached favoured the introduction 

of two years' conscription, while only 24 par c~nt opposed such a 

measure. 4 

Except in relation to conscription, Labor's posture was in 

keeping with the public mood, This was of eome significance with the 

Senate election due to be held at the end of the year. Calwell, in 

July, was unequivocal in his demands for increased defence 

expenditure a 

We still await an explanation of how an unarmed Australia 
is to ~onour her commitment in Malaysia •••• If increased 
taxation is required to provide Australia with the 
defence she neads ••• and lacks at present, then that 
taxation must be imposed. 5 

He too was thinking in terms of the 'worsening international 

situation' with increased Indonesian activity against Malaysia. 6 

It seemed that a bipartisan policy towards Malaysia had been largely 

adopted, as Whitlam conceded at a press conference. 7 

But by August 1964 Indonesia was losing the unrivalled primacy 

that it had enjoyed in 1963 as a threat to Australian interests in 

the mind of both the public and the Government. Since the early 

1950s the potential threat of China had loomed large for official 

and non-official opinion alike. 8 Indonesia had provided something 

1 
Ibid., vol.41, 25 Feb, p.23 (Forbes); 26 Feb, p.38 {Hasluck)J 

vol.42, 12 May, p.1734 {Forbes). 
2 
DGfence Dept., For The Press, 18 June. 

3 
C.Times, ¥.Herald, ~' Ad,News, 19 June; Mere, 20 June; ~' 24 June. 

4 
.APOP, June 1964. 

5 ' 
S eeoh b A.A.Calwell to the ALP (ALP 

Information Release, 10.17 p.10. 
6 
Ibid., p.11. 

7 
Irite.rview with E. G. Whi tlam 

.Release, No.16 P•5• 
8 

(lJJ> Information 

See Albinskia Australian Policies and Attitudes Towards ChinaJ 
and Chapter One, supra. 
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of a diversion, The Commonwealth forces in Malaya, seen vaguely 

as a part of the g~d SEATO ~esign of preventing communist and 

Chinese expansion southwards, had been forced to counter pressure 

from a different direction. But in the backgro~nd loomed China. 

In this context Australia did not want to see an increase .in the 

power of the PKI, for that, Canberra reasoned, would mean an 

extension of Chinese influence. Until late 1964 the Australian 

Government had given little indication of fearing that Indonesia 

would become a communist state. By then the view of Sir Wilfred , 
Kent Hughes, that Peking and Djakarta would unite in a pincer 

movement designed to envelop Southeast Asia, 1 appears to have 

gained some currency. Concurrently, a new menace to Jrustralia's 

Southeast Asian strategy had developed. 

If Canberra had been seeking greater US support for Malaysia, 

Washington had similarly desired greater Australian assistance for 

its own efforts in Vietnam. In 1962 Australia had sent 30 

instructors to South Vietnem and had provided aid to the value of 

U3.5 mil1ion. 2 Since then, despite increased US involvement and 

American hints that her allies might do more in Southeast Asia, 

the Australian contribution to South Vietnam had not been increased. 

On 8 June 1964, Pal tridge announced that following a SEA'ro Council 

recommendation Australia would send another 30 instructors, 20 

advisers, six Caribou transports and a mission to investigate 

Saigon's non-military requirements. 3 On 21 June, Has luck, on his 

return from Southeast Asia, laid primary emphasis on the threat to 

South Vietnamz 

South Viatnam ·is absolutely vital for the peace and 
security of the whole South-East Asian region. Until 
this st~ggle is won there can be no lasting peace 
or development in the region •••• Thare can be no doubt 
that the North Vietnamese regime is directing, 
supporting and controlling the insurgency in South 
Vietnam. Part of this [is] simply Jumami te 
aggressiveness and the desire to dominate their 
neighbours, but part is the determination of China 
to establish Chinese hegemony throughout South-East 
Asia, working in the first plaoe through the 
agenoy of her North Vietnamese puppets. 4 

In Canberra's view the National Liberation Front of South Vietnam 

1 
CPD,HR, vol.41, 4 March 1964, pp.261-5. 

2 
~' May 1962, p.36 (statement by Townley, 24 May 1962). 

3 
~ 9 June 1964. . 

4 
CNIA, June 1964, p.45. 
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was analagous with Singapcire' s left wing and the Pia~ they 

threatened to extend Chinese influence. As such they represented 

a threat to Australian security and should, if possible, be 

contained. 

The conflict in South Vietnam had been steadil¥ escalating, 

although until 1964 the US maintained that it was providing only 

training assistance and equipment, not fighting forces, to the 

Saigon Government. In August 1964 the position changed dramatically 

when units of the US Seventh Fleet fought an engagement with North 

Vietnamese vessels in the Gulf of Tonkin and then attacked their 

bases. On 11 August Hasluck expressed Australian support for the 

US action, arguing that 'the incidents in the Gulf of Tonkin are 

part of a long sequence of aggression in South East Asia 1 and that 

'there is no current alternative to using force as necessary to 

check tho southward thrust of militant Asian communism'. 1 That 

the Australian commitment to Malaysia was a part of that policy 

may be gauged from Menzies' statement a week later: 'we have a 

particular interest in the preservation of Malaysia, having regard 

to the threat of Communist aggression which presses down on us or 

in our direction from the north'. 2 

During the debate on Hasluck's statement the Government's 

position was clarified. Menzies admitted that he had been trying 

to increase American interest and involvement in Southeast AsiaJ 3 

Malcolm Fraser spoke of Australia being prepared to 'stand up and 

be counted' with the US;4 and MoMahon arguod that 'if South Vietnam 

falls, the neighbouring countries ••• will come under tho political 

domination of Communist China' and so Australia would be threatoned.5 

At the same time as Indonesia wae moving t ,owards an anti-American 

position, Australia was adopting a position of gre~ter support for 

the US. Jeff Bate expressed the position ~ccinotly on 19 August: 



The Australian people want defence and security in 
depth. First, we want to stand firmly by Britain 
in Malaysia and to have Britain stand firmly by us. 
Secondly we want to stand by the Americans and to 
have the Americans stand by us. Thirdly we want to 
stand on our own feet and have a defence force of 
our own. 1 
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In August public demands for a greater defence effort continued
2 

and the Treasurer, Harold Hol t, warned that further taxation 

inc~ases in addition to the budget might be needed. 3 A~ 
recruitment was proving to be a matter for some concern, for though 

a target of 28,000 men by 1967 had been set, in August the army's 

strength was less than 24,000 and recruiting figures hardly gave 

grounds for assuming that the target would bo met. On 2 September 

Forbes revealed that the a~ had grown from 22,639 in June 1963 

to 23,493 a year later. 4 Recruiting figures for 1964 were as 

follows:5 

Intake Wastage 

Jan 568 188 
Fob 314 151 
March 258 193 
April 246 229 
May 168 215 
June 148 186 
July 280 273 

The situation was not improved when on 29 September Forbes revealed 
6 that during August wastage had exceeded intake by 212 to 166, 

During the Parliamentary session interest in defence persisted. 

As one commentator observed: 

1 

The ALP directed its attention throughout the session to 
attacks on the government's defence record. The 
spokesmen made it clear that this issue was to form 
the basis of the [Senate election] campaign later 
in the year and tried to develop an image of their 
party as a responsible force in matters of national 
security. 7 

Ibid., 19 Aug 1964, p.359. 
2 
!i!lJ., 19 Aug; Advert, 21 AugJ ~' 22 Augf SMH, 28 AugJ WA, 24 Aug§ 

Age, 20 Aug, reported two disquieted backbenchers. 
3 
~' 11 Aug,. 

4 
CPD,HR, vo1.43, 20 Aug, p.437. 

5 
Ibid., 2 Sept, p.929. 

6 
Ibid., vo1.44, 29 Sept, p.1613. 

7 
Ian Wilsonz 'Australian Political Chronicle, September-December 

1964', ~'April 1965, p,89. 
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Australian concern over the Vietnam situation was growing, 1 a 

process which appeared to be gathering momentum. In Parliament 

sympathy for Indonesia had decreased and ~pprehension at her 

policies had increased following the raids on Malaya. During the 

debate on the Appropriation Bill neither Government nor ALP 

supporters were inclined to excuse Djakarta's behaviour. 2 Galvin 

expressed a widely held sentiment, whan arguing for increased 

defence expenditure, that 'we are in danger today' and if Indonesia 

further escalated confrontation Australia had very little force 

with which to oppose her.3 

It was against this background that the Government carried out 

an extensive defence review and in late October it was revealed 

that its military advisers were about to present their report. 4 

In early November Cabinet considered that report,5 on 10 November 

Menzies announced in Parliament the results of the Cabinet's 

review. 6 

The 'Prime Minister preceded his announcement of the new 

defence measures with an analysis of Australia's strategic situation. 

Arguing that limited armed conflicts could break out at any time 

in Southeast Asia, he went ong 

the range of likely military situations we must 
be prepared to face has increased as a result 
of recent Indonesian policies and action and 
the growth of Communist influence and armed 
activity in Laos and South Vietnam. 

He expressed concern that Australian troops had for the first time 

been engaged in combat with Indonesiane, but was clearly satisfied 

that Malaysia had won some support for her case in the Security 
, 

Council and at the Commonwealth and the Cairo Conferences. 

Indonesia, he argued, was seeking to dominate northern Borneo and 

it might he necessary for Malaysia to strike back. As Sukarno 

moved to a more clearly pro-communist posture, Australia would have 

to accept the possibility of having to defend New Guinea. Menzies 

1 
Fred Alexandera op.cit., p.1. 

2 
CPD,HR, vol.44, 30 Sept' p.1669 (Uren)J 

(Calwell) and pp.1756-7 lM.Frasor). 
3 
Ibid., 20 Oct, p.2109. 

4 
Advert, 22 Oct. 

5 
Age, 5 Nov. 

6 
CPD,HR, vo1.44, 10 Nov 1964, pp.2715-24. 

p.1732 (Chipp); pp.1748-9 
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feared an extension of communist influence in Southeast Asia and 

while 'Malaysia is a non-communist nation, and is willing at all 

times to resist the Reds ••• we in Australia ••• want Malaysia preserved 

because we want the Communist powers as far away as possible'. In 

this light Indonesia should not be allowed to drive the Commonwealth 

forces out of Malaysia, but war with Indonesia would be~voided if 

possible as only the PKI would benefit. Overall, sinoe the defence 

review of May 1963, argued Menzies, there had been 'a deterioration 

in our strategic position•. 

Because of these political changes the Government had concluded 

that •we can expect a continuing requirement to make forces available 

for cold-war and anti-insurgency tasks' and needed to increase the 

a:rnzy' from 22,270 to 37,500 men. Recruitment had proven to be 

inadequate and so a system of two years selective conscription would 

be introduced. Various forms of equipment for the RAN and the RAAF 

would be purchased, and the PIR increased to 3,400 by m.id-1968. In 

view of the new programme, defence expenditure would be as followsa 

As of 1963-4 1964-5 196>-6 196&-7 1967-8 
22 May 1963 (estimated)• 237.5 253.4 269.6 271.0 269.5 
Revised due to new 

260.5b measuresaa 296.8 336.4 341.0 337.8 
Revised after 10 Nov 
1964 reviews 370.0 421.7 429.1 

a Purchase of 24 F-111s, financial aid to Malaysia, etc •• 

b Actual expenditure. 
All figures in £!millions. 

The review received an enthusiastic welcome in the press, most 

editorials viewing it as being designed to strengthen Australia's 

capacity vis-a-vis Indonesia. 1 The Australian, for example, argued 

that 'the Australian Government has never made such a firm and 

direct denunciation of Indonesia and her policies as was made by 

the Prime Minister last night'. 2 Bubandrio seems to have come to a 

similar conclusion and on 12 November wamed Australia not to try 

and bully Indonesia. 3 Generally the new defence programme was greeted 

'by some with relief if not enthusiasm, b,y others with resignation•.4 

1 
.Q:!, Age, D. Tel, C. Times • m!!_!, 11 Nov. Hol t argued similarly, 

CPD,HR, vol.44, 12 Nov 1964, p.2930. 
2 
Aa!!, 11 Nov 1964. 

3 
D.Mirror, 13 Nov; see also .§!!.!, 5 Dec. 

4 
Fred Alexander• 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July -

December 1964', M.ffi, April 1965, p.2. 
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The ALP reaction to the review was mixed. Calwell criticised 

the Government for allowing the country's defences to be so inadequate, 

and the review for the fact that its measures would not be implemented 

for two years ' or more. His criticism of conscxiption for overseas 

service was on more traditional grounds. 1 

The political climate, particularly with elections imminent, 

made some such increase in defence expenditure useful, if not necessary, 

politicly. The extent to which the situation in Vietnam rather than 

Malaysia, provided its strategic rationale is hard to evaluate: it 

would seem that the two conflicts were beginning to be seen as a 

part of a more general situation of instability in which it might 

be necessary for Australia to intervene. It had also been reported 

that Hasluck was 'more disposed to a firmer policy with Indonesia 

than his predecessor• 2 and that he might be more 'hard-headed'. 3 

He made no full length Parliamentary statement of his position for 

some time, but by the end of the year he had made known his views 

on Australian foreign policy. 

The October issue of Foreign Affairs contained an article by 

Hasluck. 4 He argued that Australia should resist any aggression in 

the region to her north and that 'peace and stability cannot be 

achieved by neutralism but by combining with like minded nations 

to defeat aggression'. Australia had no quarrel with Indonesia, but 

Djakarta's efforts to crush Malaysia had to be .countered, particularly 

as Australia was 'disturbed by the 

[the PKI] looking towards Peking'. 

rise of a strong communist party 

Similarly South Vietnam must 

be defended against aggression 'to halt the southward move of 

Mainland China', for 

if aggression succeeded in South Vietnam resistance 
throughout southern Asia would crumble and many 
countries, including Thailand, Malaysia, Indonesia 
and Burma could come under the domination of China •••• 
Behind all that is happening or will happen looms 
the fact of China. 

Due to the fact that 'at present no balance to the power of China can 

be found in Southern Asiat outside forces must create that balance. 

1 
CPD,HR, vo1.44, 12 Nov 1964, p.2926. 

2 
Alexander: op.cit., p.3. 

3 
King: op.cit., p.289. 

4 
Paul Hasluck: 'Australia and South-East Asia', Foreisg Affairs, 

Oct 1964, pp.51-63. 
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Australia could not afford to see Asia dominated by one power and 

so would support US efforts to create such a balanoe. The Australian 

interest in Malaysia (and Vietnam) was essentially to prevent the 

extension of Chinese influence, by helping prevent the rise of 

pro-Peking indigenous political forces and by encouraging the 

continuance of British and US policies. 

On 12 November Hasluck, who was in London for discussions with 

the new British Labour Government, p:~pounded a similar thesis. 1 On 

this occasion, with the Labour Government's desire to reduce defence 

expenditure making the reduction of British commitments in Asia 

possible, the Minister changed the emphasis of his argument. 

'Foreign policy and defence problems cannot be looked at simply 

in a regional context', he said. In Asia it was essential to 

contain China. Australia was aiding Malaysia and SEATO with this 

end in view and hoped to do so 'with Britain seeing herself as 

part of the world as well as part of Europe'. 

Continuing to Washington, he repeated the argument that China 

was the major threat to peace. 2 In Vietnam, he contended, there 'is 

an active struggle against the southward spread of Communist 

dominance in Asia'. He also discussed with members of the US 

administration problemeof 'unprovoked attacks by Indonesia against 

Mal~l;lia'. 

Australia was becoming more concerned at the threat which it 

felt from China and saw the insurgency in Vietnam as an aspect of 

Peking's expansionist policy. The explosion of China's first 

atomic weapon only increased that concern. 3 Mal~sia was to be 

defended as a firmly anti-Chinese-communist state. But Indonesia's 

friendship was to be cultivated due to that state'e strategic 

importance and to avoid giving the PKI an opportunity to increase 

its anti-Western influence. Unfortunately, as Australia became more 

womed about China so it seemed did Indonesia increase its sympathy 

for Peking. For the first time a member of the Australian Cabinet, 

Hasluck, had referred to Canberra's apprehensions at the growing 

strength of the PKI. 

1 
CNIA, Nov 1964, pp.)0-33. 

2 
Ibid., p.33-5. 

3 
Hints of Sino-Indoneaian cooperation in nuclear policy were hardly 

welcomed by Canberra. On the Chinese test see Hasluck's statement 
17 Oct 1964, CNIA, Oct 1964, pp.33-4; on Sino-Indonesian cooperation 
Ra'anan: .a:px'rtti~ 'The Cl-oup the Failed', pp.41-2. 
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Australian domestic politics continued to be increasingly 

centred on security issues. The Senate elections were to be held on 

5 December1 and both the press and the ALP predicted that de:f'enoe would 

be a major iasue • 2 The 1 0 NovEmber defenoe reviev; was regarded as 

}/Ienzies' opening salvo in the oampai.gn. 3 The All'' s readiness to make 

its opposition to conscription a major issue won the party little 

sympa tcy 1 the press regarding the measure as necessary in view of 

Indonesia's actions against Malaysia.4 Mciiahon anticipated a Government 

posture of great firmness when he asserted that 'we are not prepared 

to stand by and watch while unprovoked aggression is carried out 

against Malaysia' .5 

The campaign for the Senate elect~ centred more clearly on 

defence than that for the 1963 general election, an emphasis that 

had been anticipated by public opinion polls taken in November. 

Asked what they thought woulf' be the major issue in the ocming 

election, 30 per cent of the sample answered conscription, and a 

further 27 per cent,defence. In a second survey 76 per oent of 

those approached though it to be 'vary important' to prevent 

Indonesia crushing Malaysia, and another 10 per cent though it 

was 1 important'. 

On 19 November Sir Robert Menzies opened the Government's campaign. 

He heavily stressed security issues, refeiTing to the defence review' 

a£ 10 November and his opinion that in Southeast Aiia 'the position 

has deteriorated' • He particularly emphasised Indonesian attacks 

on Malaya, suggesting that at any time Indonesia might turn itt~ 

attention to Ea st New Guinea. 6 In general he seemed 'willing to 

contest the election simply on the record of his administration and 

the plans for defence as amended in the previous weeks'. 7 P.d.s 

approach received widespread press approva1.8 

-r·--
CP.D, HR, vol.44, 15 Oct 1964, p.2033. 

2 
.Q_ouriel"-Mai1,6 Oct(Whitlam); l!'!!!, 16 Oot (Calwell). See editorials, 

Canberra Times, 1 Oct; Australi..!:;!!1 17 Oct; J!lli, 19 an4 27 Oct • .Age, 
27 Oct, declared that 'problems of defence, thrOim into sharper 
foous by the unea,.sy developnents in Vietnam and the Malaysia dispute 
••• remain to be solved'. 
3 
See particularly, Daily Mirror, 11 and 12 Nov. See also, Mercury, 

16 Nov. 
4 
Q._ouri~ail, Advertiser, West Australian, 14 Nov; S~ Telegraph, 

15 Nov; Daily Mirror, 17 Nov; Herald, 19 Nov. 
5 
Australian, 17 Nov. 

6 
Sir Robert Menzies: Report to the Nation (supplied by the Prime 

Minister's Department). 
7 
Ian Wilsan: op.cit., p.91. 

8 
Daily Telegra~h, £!lli, Canberra Times, Advertiser, CourieMl:ail, 
~ge 1 20 Nov 19 4. 
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The following day Calwell opened the ALP campaign in Brisbane, 

placing similar emphasis on defence. 1 Asking for 'the nation to 

elect a "watchdog" Senate' to 'censure, check and challenge' the 

Government, he charged 

the Menzies Government with having allowed the 
defences of Australia to run down to danger 
point ••• with ~reating defence as a political 
football ••• with attempting to cover its neglect 
and deficiencies b.Y producing, at the 11th hour, 
a scheme to conscript the youth of this nation 
for overseas service in peacetime. The Labor 
Party opposes this proposal ••• as ineffective, 
inefficient, unwarranted, unjust, foolish, unfair 
and immoral. 

But the ALP's long-term objectives were little different from the 

Government's, it was the effectiveness of the Government's means 

that Calwell challengeda 

Australia should be able to fulfil its role, in 
partnership with its allies, the United States 
and Great Britain, in its own defence and in 
the common defence against aggressors •••• ! charge 
the Government with having .failed to develop 
a realistic foreign policy whereby Australia 
could play an effective part in countering the 
malignant activities of international communism. 

Although the press applauded Calwell 1s willingness to make defence 

a major issue, it was unsympathetic with his other proposals, 

particularly those for an obstructionist Senate and the abolition 

f . t• 2 o conscnp 1.on. 

As the campaign progressed defence became more cl~rly the 

major issue of the election. The Prime Minister talked of 'communist 

aggression from the north and aggression at present unhappily from 

Indonesia', adding 'we stand firm against it'. 3 He made various 

other references to the threat which he said that Indonesia posed 

to Australia and her territories. 4 The Minister for Defence adopted 

a similar posture, saying that 'the fact that Australian troops 

have actually been engaged in action in Malaya against Indonesian 

raiding parties apparently means nothing to Mr Calwell'.5 The 

Countr,y Party6 and the DLP7 laid similar emphasis on defence. 

1 
Protest! La.bor' s Leader's 0 

(ALP, 1964 • 
2 
C.Times, ID!!i' 21 Nov; Age, O-M, Advert, M.Herald, 23 Nov. 

3 
Defence Dept, Press Release, 23 Nov 1964. 

4 
Age, 24 Nov; SMH, 26 Nov and 1 and 3 Dec; !!~is!Ji, 27 and 28 Nov. 

5 
Age, 23 Nov. 

6 
C.Times, 24 Nov. 

7 
~' 25 Nov. 
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The election results brought few surprises. The ALP returned 

fourteen Senators and maintained its positionJ the Government also 

returned fourteen Senators but lost one soat to the DLP which 

returned two Senators. The popular vote of the Government was 

slightly larger than in 1963. 1 But the significance of the 

elections lay only partly in the results. Whether or not seourity 

issues had affected voting behaviour, tha major political parties 

had assumed that they would. Further, Indonesia's behaviour was 

viewed as part of a larger upheaval to Australia's north and, as a 

threat to stability, as a threat to Australia. The increase in 

defenoo expenditure, which had doubled in three years, was accepted, 

while the ALP attempt 'to stir up an emotional protest against 

conscription failed utterly 1 •
2 To the extent that the elections 

indicated a 'mood' in Australia, it was one of apprehension at 

events in Southeast Asia and determination to participate in them 

and affect their course. A firmer stand on Malaysia would be 

acceptable. 3 

During late 1964 the tendency for the international situation 

in Southeast Asia to polarise around the conflicts in Malaysia and 

Vietnam continued. Although the active participants in the two 

disputes remained separate, in Australia there was a tendency to 

directly relate the two issues. On 20 September Hasluck had 

indicated for the first time that the Government viewed the situation 

in Vietnam as the greater throat to Australian security,4 an opinion 

which tha press had generally endoreed.5 The NLF was viewed as 

being controlled from Hanoi which was in turn controlled by Peking. 

At the same time, the US was moving towards greater involvement in 

Malaysia's defence and during November an American mission visited 

Malaysia to discuss military aid. On 23 November a joint 

communique was issued in which the US offered to 

1 
Statistical Returns Senate Election (Commonwealth of Australia, 

1964 • The discrepancy between the Government's increased popular 
vote and reduced representation is attributable to the system of 
proportional representation. 
2 
Editorial: Age, 7 Deo 1964. Electorally this had probably been 

unwise of the ALP as a Gallup Poll in November had indicated that 
71 per cent approTed of conscription. 
3 
Alexander: op.cit., p.3. 

4 
I!B&., 21 Sept. 

5 Daily Telegra.ph, 
Da.il.t?.Mirror, 21 SeptJ Age,J~- ~' 22 Sept. 



(1) Assist in arranging for the purchase in the 
United States of military equipment, principally 
aircraft, on medium term credit arrangements, and 

(2) To provide training for a number of Army and Air 
Force personnel. 1 
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That the US was also beginning to liken the Malaysia conflict to 

that in Vietnam was indicated when the mission's leader, P.W.Mannard, 

excused the small American contribution to Malaysia's defence by 

citing the large US effort in Vietnam. This was, he argued, a direct 
2 contribution to Malaysian security. The Indonesian Herald viewed 

the mission's activities as an expression of US hostility towards 

Indonesia, and warned that relations with Washington might have to 

be reappraised.3 

December brought further indication of increasing US sympathy 

for Malaysia when the new British Prime Minister, Harold Wi1son, 

visited Washington for discussions. The joint communique issued o~ 

his departure included the following: 

The President and the Prime Minister reaffinned their 
detennination to contribute to the maintenance of 
peace and stability in the Middle East and the Far 
East. In this connection they recognised the 
particular importance of the military effort which 
both their countries are making in support of 
legitimate governments in South-East Asia, particularly 
in Malaysia and South Vietnam which ~eek to maintain 
their independence and resist subversion. 4 

As indication of US support for Malaysia this was no doubt 

reassuring for Canberra, but another section was equally auspicious. 

The US and the UK 'affirmed their conviction that the burden of 

defence should be shared more equitably among the countries of 

the free world'. 

On 28 December, Malaysian-US relations appeared to suffer a 

setback when Razak announced that Malaysia had rejected the US offer 

of credit for military purchases. He revealed that the tenns 

offered had been 5 par cent interest with repayment in four years; 

they had been rejected after being twice referred to Washington. 

Razak was clearly upset that they should have been basad, as he saw 

it, on profit motivation when Malaysia was 'almost the last bastion 

1 
US Dept of State Bulletin, vol.LII No.1334, Jan 18 1965, pp.75-6. 

2 
ST, 23 and 24 Nov. 

3 
Indon Herald, 26 Nov 1964. 

4 
US Dept of State Bulletin, Dec 28 1964, vol.LI, Bo.1331, p.904. 

:1' 
I 
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of democracy in this area•. 1 The US pointed out that the terms 

'were standard for the purchase of ~li tary equipment under 

arrangements whereby the US Gover.nment guarantees loans extended 

by banks'. With the US heavily committed in Vietnam and the ANZAM 

powers aiding Malaysia, Washington saw no need to change this 
2 arrangement. But the Malaysians were extremely unhappy about the 

American decision. The Straits Times lamented that 'staunch and 

friendly Malaysia had been told in effect that she is not worth 

helping'.3 An Alliance Whip, Senator Tan, accused the US 

Government of trying to make a profit from Malaysia, while the 

Malayeian People's Action Front, usually an ally of the Alliance, 

called for a boycott of US goods. 4 There were even anti-American 

demonstrationn in Kuala Lumpur.5 The Alliance Government was also 

upset, Razak complaining that Malaysia could be crushed while the 

US devoted her energies to Vietnam. 6 

Although this incident caused some acrimony in the short term, 

there is no reason to think that it indicated a lessening of US 

interest in Malaysia, particularly as the terms of the loan were 

later renegotiated. As McMahon said in mid-January on his return 

from the us, Washington was taking the threat to Malaysia more 

seriously. 7 The original US inflexibility may have been attributable 

to an ignoranco in Washington of the significance of the loan. 8 The 

intensity of the Malaysian reaction was probably due, conversely, 

to the importance attached by Malaysia to American support. 

As Malaysia was gaining increased support in the West and 

Afro-Asia,9Indonesia moved more clearly towards a pro-communist 

posture. In August 1964 for the first time a communist, Njoto, was 

1 
.§!, 29 Dec. 

2 
US Dept of State Bulletin, Jan 18 1965, vol.LII No.1334, p.75. 

See also ~' 30 Dec 1964. 
3 
.§!, 30 Dec ( ed) • 

4 
C.Times, 1 Jan 1965. 

5 
Age, 2 Jan. 

6 
ST, Times, 18 Jan. 

1 
SMH, 12 Jan. 
8-

Suggested in interviews with US officials. 
9 

Razak had led a second mission to Africa seeking, apparently 
successfully, further supports ST, 2 Dec. 
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brought into the Indonesian Inner Cabinet. 1 In October Sukarno 
2 visited Moscow to make further arms purchases and on 29 October 

it was announced that Czechoslovakia was to sell jet training 

planes to Indonesia.3 The following month Sukarno visited North 

Korea and in a joint communique with President Kim Il Sung, pledged 

opposition to Malaysia and support for a unified Korea devoid of 

foreign troops. 4 Later in the month Chen Yi visited Indonesia 

and amid many displays of cordiality~ pledged China's opposition 

to Malaysia. 6 During the visit Sukarno heavily attacked the UN 

demanding that the body be 1 re-tooled 1 .7 In December remaining 

British assets in Indonesia were taken over, 8 anti-US riots broke 

out in Djakarta9 and the PKI followed Peking in declining to 

attend a meeting of Communist Parties in Moscow. 10 

Indonesia's alienation from the West became mors apparent 

when on 31 December 1964 Sukarno announced her withdrawal from the 

UN. 11 Despite the protests of a number of African and Asian states, 

on 20 January 1965 lubandrio officially informed U Thant that 

Indonesia was withdrawing from the UN, 12 ostensibly because Malaysia 

had been elected for a half term to sit on the Security Council. 13 

Few states expressed approval of Djakarta's move; even the Soviet 

Union was reticent.. The Asian communist states, non-members of 

the UN, were enthusiastic and their ties with Djakarta appeared to 

be strengthened. 14 It was reported that Radio Indonesia had hinted 

1 
.§Ml!, 28 Aug. 

2 
SMH, Age, 2 Oct; 

3 
Times, 30 Oct. 

4 
Indon Herald, 5 

5 
C.Times, 30 Nov. 

6 

~' 4 Dec. 
7 
AB2.' 27 Nov. 

8 
.§Mli, 1 Dec. 

9 
AB2., 5 Dec. 

10 

C. Times, 3 Oct; ads: Wd!!t, .A'Wll:r!.U!.z9oD.aily Telegraph, 
5 Oct. 

Nov. 

~' 17 Dec. See John O.Sutter: op.cit., pp.531-4. 
11-
.Qm., Jan 1965, pp.40-1. 

12 . 
Ibid •. , pp. 41-3. 

13 
See Leifer: 'The Diplomacy of Confrontation', pp.256-7. 

14 
See Uri Ra'anan: op.cit., pp.39-43. Mongolia may be regarded as 

being in the Soviet bloc. 
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that a Peking-Djakarta military pact might be concluded.1 Suba.ndrio 

visited China in J a.nua.ry 1 965 saying he was seeking Chinese aid to 

defeat a British attack2 and at the end of the visit it was announced 

that China would give Indonesia developnental aid worth $100 million. 3 

The Australian press was alarmed at these events and anticipated 

an intensification of con.frorute.tion. In addition the spaotre of a 

Peking-Djakarta axis, with full military trappings was not relished..4 

The Govenm1ent was more reserved. On 9 January McEwen, the Acting 

Prime Minister, issued a statement expressing Australian 1 disappoin'bnent' 

at Indonesia's withdrawal from the UN5 but otherwise the Govenm1ent 

was silent. It appeared that the Govenm1ent was biding its time and 

awaiting developments.6 

One of the major reasons for Canberra's seeking to avoid milita.ryc· 

clashes with Indonesia had been 'the hope that Australia's future good 

. relations with Indonesia might not be prejudiced for all time by the 

Malaysia issue' • 7 In fact the clashes in Malaya had led to only mild 

criticism of Aud tralia in the Indonesian press, criticism whic had 

quickly abated. 8 In December HMAS Teal had been involved with sane 

seaborne infil tra tores and had killed three Indonesians. The incident 

received considerable publicity in Australia.9 Indonesia chose to 

ignore the action. But by December there were indications that the conflic 

in Borneo might escalate. During November the small-soale guerrilla 

raids had decreased and 6 November the Tunku warned that Indonesia had 

substantially increased her forces in Borneo. 10 Later in the 

11 
Age, 11 Jan 1965. 

2 
Ibid., 21 Jan 1965. See Sutter: op.oit., pp.533-4. 

3 
Age, 29 Jan. 

4 
~~ Advertiser, Courier-Mail, Dai£:J:Telegraph, Mercury, Australian, 

4 Jan; Emery Bares: 'Mao's Mussol ?' Bulletin, 23 Jan 1965. 
5 
~~ ~n 1965, pp.43-4. 

See 'When the Cock Crowed', Bulletin, 16 Jan 1965. 
7 
Alexander: op.cit., p.2. 

8 
The Indonesian Herald toned down after its edi toriall!i of 13 Octiber 

and mid-November. 
9 
Age, Mercury, Canberra Times, 15 Dec 1964; Australian 16 Dec. See 

Malaysian letter to the UN Security Council,31 Dec 1964, Ma.laysian 
Communications with the Security Council, p.17. 
10 
.§!, 7 Dec 1964. 



261 

month Razak reported that Indonesian reinforcements had continued 

to be sent and Dr Ismail suggested that in the event of further 

escalation Malaysia would be forced to retaliate.
1 

By January the .t..ustralian press thpu.ght it very likel.\)1' that 

Indonesia would increase her military pressure on the Federation. 
2 

London appears to have been of a similar opinion. The British 

Defence Ministry annonced that 'in view of Indonesia's 

intensification of her policy of attacking Malaysia' 1 the UK was to 

send reinforcements to the area. An infantry battalion was being 

sent to Borneo and more than a thousan:l troops would be added to 

the general Malaysian theatre, while six more naval vessels would 

would bring the strength of the fleet to sane eighty vessels.3 As the 

.k.ustralian asked, 1 how long can Australia continue its token 
-~ gg 4 

support without being asked to4 into action?' 

On 4 January the Malaysian Cabinet met to discuss the situation. 

Follmv.ing the meeting the Tunku issued a statement which indicated 

his Government's concern. The Cabinet had decided, he said: to 

'ask our allies under the defence agreement to review the latest 

position and send reinforcements i:t' necessary' ; to notify the 

UN of the latest developments; to increase Malaysia's defence 

effort; and to infor.m the Security Forces 'to be prepared to take 

retaliatory action under the rule o£ hot pursuit' ·.5 In a:ru;wer to a 

question he conceded that he had not yet discussed the matter with 

l;.ustralia but would 1 naturally welcome' greater assistance. 6 It was 

w.i.del.\)1' assumed that Australia would shortly be increasing her military 

canmi tment to Malaysia. 7 Both Senator Paltridge and Government officials 

in Canberra admitted that if' more aid were requested by Malaysia then 

the request would be favourably considered.8 

._1 __... .... ._.___. 
~~ 25 Doc 1964. 

2 
~~ J~ge, Canberra Times, MerOU%j", 1 Jan; Canberra ~~~ ~~ 

4 Jan; i:.lan Dobbyn in Sun-Herald, 3 Jan; Creighton Burns in ~ge 1 
4 Jan 1965. 
3 
Times 1 2 ,Jan. See also statements by Healey 1 tlliPD, .1!2 1 vol. 705 1 

19 J an 19o5, col. 35Q 1 and Wilson cols. 38-9Q. 
4 
l.~.ustrallan, 4 Jan. See also Mercury, 4 Jan; West 1-..ustral.ien, 

5Jan; ~~ 6 Jan 1965. · ---
5 
~~ .5 Jan. See also the Malaysian letter to the Securi ty Council 

6 print ed, Malaysian Ccmnunioe.tions Jrl.th the Securi~~@, p.2o • 

.i'i.ge1 5 Jan. 
7 

l:.:u.st~an, Mala,y Mail, 5 Jo:n; ~~ 6 Jan; Mercury, Canberra Times, 
Daily Telegraphl. .ii.Ustra.lial!, 7 Jan; Canberra Times, ~~' 9 J an; 
Sun-Herald, 1 0 J an 1965. 8 . 
fustrali~, 8 Jan; and ~. 5 J an 1965 .. 
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It was under these conditions that it was announced that 

Paltridge was to visit Southeast Asia. 1 On 19 January he left 

Sydney and was expected to report from KUala Lumpur on Malaysia's 

defence requirements. 2 At a final press briefing he said he 

expected Australian military involvement in Southeast Asia to 

increase in the forthcoming year but, significantly, stressed 

that Vietnam was the biggest problem in the area. 3 On 21 January 

Paltridge met Razak who said afterwards that he had told Paltridge 

that Malaysia would like Australia to send more forces. Paltridge 

said he would put tho request to Canberra after he had been to 

Borneo to observe the situation and had assessed whether the 

presence of Australian forces there was necessary.4 

While Paltridge was in Malaysia, Menzies went to London to 

attend the funeral of Sir Winston Churchill. On 29 January he 

met Harold Wilson and discussed the situation in Southeast Asia.5 

On 1 February the Cabinet Committee of Defence and Foreign Affairs 

met in Canberra and discussed Paltridge's report on Malaysia. 6 

The following day Menzies attended a working luncheon in London 

with Wilson, and Healey, Stewart and Bottomley, British Ministers 

for Defence, Foreign Affairs and Commonwealth Relations respectively. 

The New Zealand Prime Minister, who also attended the meeting, said 

later that confrontation was a major topic for discussion.? 

These activities culminated in a statement issued by the 

Acting Prime Minister, John McEwen, on 3 February. The statement 

revealed that 

1 

members of Cabinet had been closely following recent 
developments in the Malaysian area and ••• viewed with 
concern the substantial continuing build-up of 
Indonesian forces in Borneo and steady increase in 
infiltration ••• into Malaya and Singapore •••• The 
developments had already required.the British Government 
to deploy considerable reinforcements to the .araa • 
••• the Australian Government had concluded that the 
deployment of additional Australian field units into 
Borneo in the defence of Malaysia was now necessary •••• 

.§!!!, 13 Jan. 
2 
Ibid., 14 Jan. 

3 
Ibid., 20 Jan. 

4 
Ibid., 22 Jan and 27 Jan. 

5 
Aust, 30 Jan. 
6-
Ibid., 2 Jan. 

7 
Ibid. , 3 Jan. 



An Australian force is now to serve in this area, 
in oanpa..ny with Malaysian and British forces. This 
would be the Australian battalion in the Commonwealth 
Strategic Reserve in Malaya. On this a.n-angement 
this battalion would now serve in 'Borneo in rotation wi. th 
Malaysian and British units. In addition, an Army 
Special Air Service unit from Australia would be 
made available to carry out appropriate military 
tasks in the defence of Malaysia ••• further aid 
proposals for the developnent of the Malaysian 
Armed Services were also under examination •••• 
The Australian Government would continue to use 
all its influence for a peaceful outcome in full awareness 
that the progress and eoananio developnent 
of the region of, South-East Asia depended on 
oondi tions of ~eouri ty and stability. 1 
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The final step in the Australian policy of graduated response 

had been taken. 2 The press, which regarded the move as ' logical' 3 

and1 necessary1 , 
4 indicated that the new move was, as had been the 

entire policy, accepted within Australia. Sane concern was 

evidenced in editorials about the seemingly inevitable clashes 

which might occur with Indonesians 1 but the possibility was 

viewed with resignation.5 The Straits Times indicated Malaysia's 

satisfaction: 

The significance of Canberra's gesture ••• does 
not lie ~ in the physical reinforcement of 
our capacity •••• The underlying message is that 
Australia means to honour the pledge ••• to defend 
Malaysia to the hilt. 6 

.: ~:: The reasons for Caiiberra1 s decision to ccmnit troops to Borneo, 

a move which it had previously been reluctant to make, require 

examination. In the first place it dlid appear that the military 

situation had changed. Malaya had been attacked and it seemed 

likely that Indonesia would intensify the conflict in Borneo. 

According to the Malaysian Government, Indonesian forces in Borneo 

had been substantially reinforced by additional units from Java, 

until by late February they numbered between thir!;ly and forty 

thousand, of whan sane twelve thousand were on the Sarawak border. 

1 
CNIA, Feb 1965, pp.98-9. 
2-

See King: op.oit., pp.285-6. See also T.B. Millar: 'The Defence 
of Asia' 1 Bulletin, 6 March 1965. 
3 
Canberra Times, 4 Feb; Daily Telegra.ph, 5 Feb. 

4 
Age, 4 Feb. 

5 
.f!g!1 Herald, Mercury, 4 Feb;Australian, Daily Telegraph, ~ 

Australian, Advertiser, 5 Feb; Sydney Sunday Telegra.ph, Sun-Herald, 
7 ne 1965. 
6 
~~ 5 Feb. 



It thought this indicated a 'radical change in the pattern ot 

military "confrontation" 1 and was 

inconoistent with any attitude other than the 
launching of a large scale ope~.tion, which 
in the immediate present appears to be waiting 
for the seasonal monsoon rains to taper off 
which is due in a short time. 1 
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Kuala Lumpur feared that Indonesia might attempt to set up a 

'liberated area' in Sarawak. Paltridge agreed that a considerable 

Indonesian build-up had taken place, 2 and Subandrio later admitted 

this.3 With Indonesian forces more numerous and increasingly 

composed of seasoned regulars,4 the need for reinforcing the 

Security Forces in Borneo was clear. Also, in political terms, 

the dangers of a serious rupture in Australian-Indonesian relations 

seemed less likely in view of the mild Indonesian reaction to 

previous Australian actions. 

Again, the move was consistent with the stated intentions of 

Australian policy. Canberra had expected Malaysia itself to bear 

much of the military burden and the Federation had strengthened its 

defences with that objective in mind. On 26 November 1964, Tan 

Siew Sin had allotted 25 per cent of budgetary expenditure to 

defence,5 and Malaysian resources were clearly extended. In the 

same way Britain, Malaysia's guarantor, was being sorely taxed. 

The British Labour Party had emphasised its desire to continue to 

play a 'world role', had accepted its military responsibility to 

members of the Commonwealth and had approved Britain's commitment 

to Malaysia. 6 But the Labour Gove~ent had encountered a serious 

balance of payments problem and the ·Cabinet was concerned at 

Britain's large defence budget and the £stg 320 million which was 

being spent on overseas military comnrl:tmants ."7 British resources 

were being stretched, and the new Government was anxious to share 

• 

1 ~ '!.~a.~ Co ....... 6~eoi"'O<l~ 1011\:'M. t 
Malaya ian letter to the Security Council, 28 J an }129~655;, j!~~~r.;:;.;.:;~::.:.:.:::4 

.w;.\1 ci)\.)(\C::\.L ~ pp.22-4. Sea also statement by Bottomley, UKPD,HC, vol. 706, 
9 Feb 1965, cols.190-2. 
2 

C.Times, 25 Jan. 
3 
Age, 15 Feb. 

4 
Malaysian latter, op. ci t • .• 

5 
ST, 27 Nov 1964. 

6 
Times, 12 Sept 1964, for Labour's election manifesto.. See also .§!, 

18 Nov 1964, on Razak's discussions in London on the subject. 
7 
Economist, 21 Nov 1964. 
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rather than abandon its overSeas military and financial burdens. 

The 1965 Defence White Paper in February made this clearz 

It would be politically irresponsible.i.if our 
bases were abandoned while they were still needed 
to promote peaoe in the areas concer.ned •••• In meeting 
this world wide role we have a claim upon our allies 
•••• We aim at a wider recognition of our common 
interests and at closer cooperation with our allies 
in carrying out our tasks. 1 

Wilson later claimed that Australia deployed forces in Borneo after 

he requested it. 2 While this may have been unduly modest, Wilson's 

representations were no doubt influential. Australia thought it 

to be in her interests to encourage the British to remain in the 

area and in this context a stronger lulstralian conmi tment to 

Malaysia was useful. 

Similarly, US policy allowed Australia to become more heavily 

involved in Malaysia's defence. An American mili~ary presence in 

Asia had long been tho foundation stono of Australian policy, an 

American underwriting of Australi~~ coceitmcnts a sine qua non. 3 

Americ~'s tacit acceptance by 1965 of a commitment to Malaysia, 

particularly through her !NZUS Treaty obligations to Australia 

and New Zealand, was no doubt comforting for Canberra. 4 Further, 

it helped etave off domestic criticism, for Whitlam, on return 

from the US, conceded that Barwick's assertions concerning ANZUS 

were correct.5 Whitlam added, however, that Barwick 

was incorrect in the number of times he said it. 
There is no dispute that ANZUS would operate if 
attacks were made on Australian troops in any 
place where they are at present. The Americans 
feel, however, that it is not necessary for 
Australian External Affairs Ministers to say 
this as often as they do. 6 

Australia had wished to avoid full involvement in the dispute and 

to hold the threat of her own military engagement in reserve, 

partly for its deterrent value. 7 There was no indication that 

1 
Statement on Defence Estimates 1965 (HMSO, cmnd, 2592) p.9. See also 

T.B.Millar: ''Problems ·of Australian Foreign Policy, January-June 1965', 
~' Deo 1965, p.274. 
2 
UKPD,HC, vo1.705, 4 Feb 1965, col.1281. Sea also T.B.Millar: op.cit., 

p.268. 
3 
See Chapter One, supra, especially on the formation of the Commonwealth 

Strategic Reserve in 1955. 
4 
Sir Alan Watt: 'The Australia Commitment to Malaysia', World 

Review, July 1964, pp.3-12. 
5 
Whitlamz interview 12 Aug 1964, op.cit •• 

6 
Ibid •• 

7 
Peter King: op.cit., p.285-6. 
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an effective deterrent value had been achieved: if Australian 

pledges of military assistance wore not to lose their credibility, 

a firm stand had become necessary. 

It had been clear that the Government would encounter little 

domestic criticism if it took a firmer stand with regard to 

Malaysia. This had already been indicated in the press, Parliament, 
.. 

the elections and opinion polls. On 18 February 1965 the 

Parliamentary Executive of the ALP unanimously adopted a resolution 

which fundamentally endorsed the Government's policy. It contended: 

lndonesia is the aggressor against Malaysia and is 
not respecting 1~laysia's independenoe ••• the violation 
of Malaysian territory by force must bo opposed ••• .• 
The action taken by .Australia to ·assist Ma.la_ysia 'a 
defence up to this point is ,justified. 1 

The resolution went on to reaffirm the ALP's desire for a 'clear 

and p.1blic' treaty and suggested the Government should initiate 

further discussions between Kuala IA.unpur and Djakarta. But the 

differences between ALP and Government policy were slight: the 

J~P policy of seeking a treaty was being softened, 2 both agreed 

'that Indonesian-Australian friendship 'is not only possiblo but 

essential to the well-being of both countries', and the ALP 
proposal for 1a four power .guarantee of Indonesian sacurity• 3 

appeared to be but a temporary addition to Labor 1s platform. Tho 

ALP had swung full .circle from its Hobart resolution of 1955 and 

was accepting tan years ·later tho underlying assumptions of 

'defence in depth'. Whether this posture would prove acceptable 

to tho majority of the party remained to be tested ·at the 1965 

Federal Conference. 

During the latter part of 1964, although Malaysia had bean 

subjected to increased military .prassure, her international 

position had improved considerab~y. In July 1964 various 

Comnonwoalth nations had .been reluctant -to declare their .support 

for Malaysia~ 4 Later · in the year, prob~bly ·duo to ·_Indonesia's 

open attacks on Malaya, noiP-aligned .cstates ·had .shown greater 

sympathy for Malaysia at both the UN Socuri ty ··Council hearings 

and the Cairo Conference. Similarly the US had moved to a position 

' 1 
Indonesia and Malaysia (Information Release No. 3/65, 1~ 1965). 

2 
In interviews loading members of the ALP conceded that this was 

sought by sections of the party for electoral p.1rposae. 
3 
Op.cit •• 

4 
So0 P.J. Boyce and R.K. .Davis: 'Malaysia Tests the: C.oliiDOnwealth 1 , 

Australian Quarterly, Sept 1965, pp.59-68. 
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ot clearer support for Malaysia; as a consequence (or eo Sukamo 

claimed) Indonesia adopted a more militantly anti-Western posture. 

Thes\3 trends only served to increase .Austra.liata :readiness 

to support Malaysia mili tarily. It seems unlikely that Hasluok*s 

succession to Barwick significantly altered the course of 

Australian policy. Although Hasluck1s public statements lacked 

Barwick's frequent references to the need for Australia to 

understand and if possible befriend Indonesia, this was probably 

dua as much to the change in circumstances as to the change in 

personnel. n.tring 1964 the Western-supported Government in Saigon 

had suffered a steady deterioration of its position and the 

insurgents seamed likely to seize complete control of the country. 

Canberra again became preoccupied with a possible extansio~ of 

Chinese influence. Similarly, as Indonesia became more and more 

anti-Western and the PKI's influence grew, Australia bectdle more 

concerned to check Indonesian policy. This tendency was reflected 

during tho Senate election campaign when Government spokesmen 

linked the new defence measures to the threat which they contended 

Indonesia posed to Australia. They received widespread support for 

these contentions even from the ALP. 

McEwen's announcement, in February 1965, of Australia's 

intention to deploy combat forces in Mal~sian Borneo marked the 

culmination of Canberra's policy of graduated response. The 

'collision course' of which Barwick had been apprehensive had 

bean set and the clash had occurred. Under the circumstances of 

late 1964 and early 1965 it would have been difficult to avoid. 

It was a consequence of decisions taken much earliera the 

Australian decision to accept an obligation to assist in the 

defence of Mal~a and then Malaysia, and the Indonesian decision 

to confront Mal~sia. And in a wider SW1Be the two states were 

moving in different directions as a result of their policies 

towards China. Australia sought 'containment' of China, 

essentially by the USJ Indonesia was increasingly seeking the 

eviction of Westem influence from Southeast Asia and friendship 

with Peking. A collision course had resulted. 
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~EI~T 

Australia and Malaysia• Probiems of Regional Saeutity 

The situation which existed in Southeast ASia in early 1965 
presented an unpleasant prospect for AustraliaJ In Indonesia the 

power of the ~ appeared to be increasing and confrontation gave 

no sign of abating. In Malaysia the internal tensions engendered 

by the formation of the Federation had not aubsideda the Federal 

Government was at logger-heqds with that of Singapore while within 

Sarawak a less widespread but more violent conflict was being waged. 

Both situations had been inadequately .reported by the Aus~ralian 

press, and their significance underestimated by Government and 

Opposition alike. More consideration was given to the growing 

possibility that a long term British military presence in the area 

could not be counted on. Indications that the UK might reassess 

its commitments in the region were too numerous to ignore. Equally, 

Australia's relationship with the US required re-evaluation. The 

policy of s oaking a voice in US Asian policies, of cultivating 

American goodwill by support for those policies, and of urging on 

Washington greater attention to Southeast Asian security problems, 

seemed likely to involve greater burdens if it were to have hope 

of success. Whereas since the Korean War the alliance with America 

had demanded little of Australia, in the strictly material sense, 1 

in 1965 verbal declamations seemed unlikely to be sufficient 

indication of loyalty to the alliance: the insurance promium 

would havo to bo paid. Australia's increased defence effort, 

initiated in 1963 in response to Indonesian policies, assumed a 

new rationale. Australian apprehensions at Chinese policies, 

apprehensions which combined tho traditional concern about Asian 

throats to Australia with more recant fears of a communist movement 

monolithic and expansionist, wore again assuming a dominant role in 

Australian strategic thinking. The insurgents of South Vietnam wore 

regarded as part of a Chinese directed communist drive to conquer 

Southeast Asia. Malaysia was to be supported because its political 

system was designed to check the power of parties unsympathetic 

1 
See Chapter Ono, supra. 



with the West, because its Government was friendly to the West, 

hostile to Peking, and permitted tho stationing of Commonwealth 

troops on its territory, and finally because Indonesian aggression 

should not bo allowed to succeed. As Djakarta increasingly aligned 

with Poking, the PKI assumed a stronger vbice in determining policy 

and Sukarno moro clearly sought the expulsion of Western influence 

from tho region, so Canberra began to soo the Malaysia and Vietnam 

issues as aspects of tho same conflict. But while in 1965 it was 

Vietnam which occupied Australia's energies, political, military, 

and nervous alike, it was tho conflict in the archipelago which 

produced most startling developments. 

During 1965 ~ostorn policy in Southeast Asia was concerned 

with saiving three sots of problems, 'those of tho containment 

of Chinese power, those of the ambiguities and harassments of 

Indonesian policy, and those of the uncertainties and weaknesses 

of the minor countries'. 1 Concerned with both major conflicts in 

the region, the Australian Government aligned itself more clearly 

in 1965 with the position of the US and with that of Malaysia 

against Indonesia. In respect of Indonesia Australia retained, as 

Menzies s aid, a desire for cordial relations, but had boon forced 

to take a firmer stand to prevent the success of open aggression. 2 

The Indonesian reaction to the impending deployment of Australian 

forces in Borneo was, at least in the first instance, mild. 

Subandrio spoke of Indonesia being 1angered'; 3 the Indonesian Herald 

urged Indonesia to strengthen its southern defences;4 and Kosasih, 

the new Indonesian Ambassador to Australia , warned that the now 

deployment of Australian forces could increase tensions;5 but no 

serious protest was made. The Australian Government, grateful for 

this restraint, 6 could continue to pursue its policy of judicious 

firmness and a desire for friendship: Indonesia had not made those 

objectives contradictory. 

1 
Coral Bell: 'South East Asia and the Powers', Tho World Today, 

April 1965, p.137. 
2 
.§M!!, 6 Feb. 

3 
C.Times, 12 Fob. 

4 
Indon Her ald, 11 Feb. 

5 
SMH, 5 Feb. 
6-

Th is was admitted to the author by s enior Australian Government 
officials in interviews, Canberra, July 1966~ See also Millar: 
'Problems of Australian Forei gn Policy', p. 268. 
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But while Australia had increased its o6nm:i. tmortt to Ma.la.ysi.a1 

its participation in Vietnam; which Hasluck had argued was the 

more serious throat to A.ustmiian security, remained of a token 

nature. On his return from tondon 1 on 11 February, Manzies explained 

that he had offered further assistance to Malaysiaa 

I had occasion to point out in London that wo have ••• 
three or four or five particular interests in this 
part of tho world •••• I took tho opportunity of 
discussing with Mr 1Jilson and soma of his Ministers in 
London, ways and moans of reconciling the views [of and] 
, •• getting some order of priority as between Great 
Britain, the US, New Zealand and ourselves. Because 
thoro will arise times when you must balance an actuality 
like tho fighting in and around Malaysia with a 
contingency such as obligations that might arise under 
SEATO. 1 

Tho Prime Minister appeared to be arguing that ~ustralia should 

at that stage limit her active participation in the disputes of 

Southeast Asia and, by implication, that the Malaysia conmitment 

would be afforded highest priority. 2 A. majority of press 

editorials accepted this interpretation.3 Alone, the Sydney Morning 

Herald suggested that llll.stralia' s aid to Malaysia might havo to 

be partly determined by events in Viotnam.4 

During late February and March Australia's attention focused 

largely on Vietnam5 whore tho US had increased its involvement in 

the war by bombing North Vietnam. The annual ANZAM Defence 

Committee talks passed relatively unnoticed, the British roprosontativo, 

Lord Mountbatton, meroly roitorating Britain's intention to retain 

the East of Suoz policy, her dosiro for greater cooperation with 

her allies and her satisfaction with Australian efforts in Malaysia. 6 

Similarly Paltridgo, on his roturn from the US in March, reported 

that both America and Britain were 'satisfied' with the increased 

Australian defonco effort.7 The implication of the statement with 

1 
Press Conference by the Prime Minister, 11 Fob 1965 (Prime Minister's 

Dept.). 
2 
Bell: op.cit., p.147; T.B.Millarf 1 Tho Defence of Asia', Bulletin, 

6 March 1965. 
3 
In an editorial in tho Sun-Herald, 14 February, it was argued 

that 'thoro can be no doubt that the first priority must be to 
aid Malaysia against tho predatory Indonesians 1 • See also Age, 
12 and 16 Fob; Ad.vortif!:S12 Fob. 
4 

SMH, 12 Fob. 
5 
L.J .Hume : 'Australian Political Chronicle, January-April 1965', 

AJPH, Aug 1965, p.211 ff. r-
~. 3 March. 

1 
Ibid., 1 and 11 March. 
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regard to oarlior British and American opinions on tho matter went 

unnoticed. On 18 March the Australian battalion from Malacca 

relieved British troops :Ln forward positions in Sarawa.ki s First 

Division, 1 the Army Special Air Service unit having arrived in 

late Februar.y. 2 Austraiia was finally fully committed to maintaining 

what shb had long regarded as part of her fotward defence perimeter. 

It was against this background that, on 23 March 1965, Hnsluck 

gave his first full statement on foreign affairs to Parliament. 3 

During the speech ho made explicit the various trends already 

evident in Australian strategic thinking. Having expressed concern 

at China's now-found nuclear capacity and her actions which, he 

contended, had revealed 'an aggressive intention to dominate the 

life of other nations', he said: 

In many cases closer examination reveals that 
troubles which may seem local and trivial at first 
sight have boon promoted or expanded as the rosult 
of influences oentrolled by great powers. Whether 
or not any such incident in its beginning was 
purely local, it would bo unrealistic to assume that 
any great power ••• could ignore it. 

In that context 'South Vietnam is part of a pattern'; the insurgency 

was 'not a local rebellion caused by internal discontent but the 

application of the methods and doctrines of communist guerrilla 

warfare first evolved in China and then successfully usod in North 

Vietnam'. Hasluck contended that in the event of an NLF success 

similar revolts would break out elsewhere in Southeast Asia. In 

an exposition of the 'domino thoory 14 he declared: 

If the United States did withdraw, the same conflict would 
be ronewod somewhere oleo. Within a brief period the 
struggle now taking place in South Viet Nam would bo 
shifted to Thailand. If in turn thoro was abandoamoat 
of Thailand it would shift to Malaysia, to Indonesia, 
to Burma, to India and further. 

Australia fully supported US policy, for if America withdrew 'the 

Communist powers would be free to conduct a wider war on an 

advancing front of subversive guerrilla activity'. Australia sought 

friendship with a stable and developing Southeast Asia and would 

not oppose change of political systems if such changes had popular 

1 
ST, 19 March. 

2 
Age, 27 Feb. 

3 
CPD,HR, vo1.45, 23 March 1965, pp.230-8. 

4 
See Rhoads Murphey: 'China and the Dominoes', Asian Survey, Sopt 1966, 

pp.510-515. 
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support. But she was opposed to aggression whether by 'aggressive 

nationalism or aggressive commUnism' and would support the 

intervention of non-Asian states to oppose it; 

Hasluck's analysis of the Malaysia problem differed little• at 

first, from previous Government statements on the subject. •we wish 

to live in harmonious relationship with Indonesia', he declared, 

'but, unfortunately, Indonesia has embarked upon policies we are bound 

to oppose, and whioh we will oppose•. But ho also oxprossed concern 

at 

A now disturbing clement in the situation created by 
Indonesia's confrontation of Malaysia [which] has been 
created by some ovidonce of increasing contacts between 
the Indonesians and tho Chinese Communists ••• thoy aro 
a further reminder that, in all our thinking about Asia, 
we have to consider quite starkly the growing power of 
Communist China. 

From this it would appear that at the samo time that Indonesia was 

increasingly regarding the region as divided into two power blocs, 

so was Canberra; but whereas Djakarta was moving towards Poking, for 

Australia neutralism was 'not a practical choice ••• wo stand firmly 

with Britain and the United States•. 

From support for an 'orderly act of docolonisation', the 

Australian commitment to Malaysia had become also an integral and 

immediate part of Australia's strategy of containing Chinese 

influence, which was than seen as emanating from Indonesia. 

Hasluck's statement was favourably received by the prose, which 

particularly approved his emphasis on China as the primary threat 

to Australian security, 1 and to a lesser extent, his moderation on 

Indonesia. 2 On the same day that Hasluck made his statement the 

first Australian casual ties occurred in Borneo, an event hardly 

likely to improve Indonesia's image in Australia. But although 

one editorial suggested that it was •stupid' to continue to seek 

good relations with Djakartai thus a.greeingwith a Liberal back 

benchor who had threatened to resign unless all Australian aid to 

Indonesia was stoppod, 4 the Government's position remained unchanged.5 
' 

1 U:iltil~~"'-\bo 
~' 25 MarchJ C.Times, 24 March (ode). 

2 
~' 26 March. Yot on 24 March the Sydney Morning Herald 

complained that Hasluck had paid insufficient attention to tho 
Sino-Indonesian entente. 
3 
.§M[, 25 March. 

4 
Sir Wilfrad Kant-Hughos. 

5 
CPD,Im, vol.45, 24 March 1965, pp.259-60, for a statoment by Hasluck. 



'B.y and large, despite its undoubted hostilitY towards Indonesial 

the Australian community supported the Government • s efforts to 

avoid a complete break with Djakarta, but was increasingly 

pessimistic about its being successful in this regard. 
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The Parliamentary debate on Hasluok's statement was most 

informative for tho light it cast on tho ALP's posture. Although 

on 18 Febru~ry the ALP had expressed qualified approval for US 

policy towards Vietnam, 1 in his opening speech Calwell was more 

critical. He argued that while it was in Austra~ia's interests to 

maintain the American presence in the region, the US was likely to 

suffer a humiliation in Vietnam and might then withdraw from the 

region. Australia should work for a negotiated settlemont. 2 This 

ambiguity reflected a division of opinion within the party. As on 

the Malaysia issue in 1963, ALP policy on Vietnam was undetermined. 

The issue was further complicated by a growing struggle within the 

party on tho issue of Calwell's successor. On Malaysia, the ALP's 

approach was closer to that of the Government. Calwell agreed that 

Canberra should contribute militarily to Malaysia's defence and also 

contirruo her aid programne to Indonesia, but argued that Australia 

should tako a greater diplomatic initiative to ond the dispute• The 

Parliamentary debate revealed a general consensus of opinion on the 

Malaysia issue. Members generally supported the Government's 

policy,3 expressed varying degrees of concern at Indonesia's 

friendship with China and the increased power of the PKI,4 yet 

remained desirous of good relations with Indonesia.5 

:By W1arch 1965 the Government's policy towards Indonesian 

confrontation of Malaysia undoubtedly had the support of most 

articulate lulstralian opinion. .Although on the one hand mombers 

of the Parliamentary Liberal Party, particularly KGnt-Hughes6 and 

King, 7 and the Sydney Moming Herald cri ticisod the Government for 

1 
Vietnam CLP Information Release 18 Fob 1965). 

2 
CPD,HR, vo1.45, 23 March 1965, pp.239-41. 

3 
CPD,HR~ 23 March 1965, p.246 (Malcolm Frasor)f 25 March, pp.358-9 

(Holten , p.362 (Galvin), pp.363-5 (Chipp), p.372 (Bonson). 
4 
Ibid., 23 March, pp.243-4 (Malcolm Fraser)J 25 March, pp.358-9 

(Holten), p.372 (Benson), p.375 (Kent-Hughes), p.389 (MacKay) • . 
5 
Ibid., 25 March, p.362 (Galvin) 1 pp.391-2 (Bonson)j- p.395 (Haworth)~ 

6 
Ibid., 24 March 1965, pp.259-60. 

7 
Ibid., 30 March 1965, pp.4J0-1. 

-, 
\· 
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not being firm enough with Indonesia; and on the other hand the ALP 

sought a greater diplomatic effort, criticisms wore rarely fundamental. 

There was far less consensus r.bout, or appreciation of 1 the internal 

problems of Malaysia. 

On 26 February Hasluck announced that Lee Kuan Yew would visit 

Australia the following month, 1 and interest in Malaysian politics 

revived. The doubts which had been commonly, but not very strongly 

oxprossed in the Australian press during 1961 and 1962 regarding 

the possibility of Malaysia succeeding, had been forgotten during 

the following two years. Indonesian policy had attracted most 

attention. The riots in Singapore of mid-1964 had lod to a certain 

amount of reassessment but hardly on the scale suggested, perhaps 

proscriptively rather than descriptively, by the Bullotina 

The riots have at least had one salutary effect 
in this country in dampening sc•e of the mindless 
enthusiasm with which Australia continues to regard 
Malaysia as the most orderly trouble-free country 
in Asia. 2 

Thoro was little indication that the riots were seen in Australia 

as anything but an isolated racial clash unrelated to a significant 

political struggle.3 

In Malaysia, Loa particularly had not been so complacent. Always 

acutely aware of the fragile nature of Malaysia and its dependence 

on racial harmony for success,4 Lee was spurred by the race riots 

to intensify his political activities. He accused UMNO extremists 

of starting tho riots and warned that Malaysia could well lose 

international support as a result.5 The system of Malay political 

dominance could not be maintained indefinitely but had, he suggested, 

about a decade to adjust i'self~ 'if we lot those ten years run 

out, and nothing more permament is put in its place then I say the 

sands of time will have run out on us•. 6 He continued to make 

himself unpopular with the Alliance and in September introduced a 

1 
~' Fob 1965, p.101. 

2 
Bulletin, 8 Aug 1964. 

3 
See Chapter Five, supra, and 'New Confrontation', FEER, 6 Aug 1964, 

pp.225-6. 
4 
For example his address to Singapore National Union of Journalists, 

24 May 1963, in Malaysia comes of Age (Singapore, 1963). 
5 
Address of 30 July 1964, in Malaysia Will Succeed (Singapore, 1964). 

6 
Address to University of Malaya, 28 Aug 1964, in Some Problems in 

Malaysia (Singapore, 1964) p.11. See also other speeches ·in same 
volume. 
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new bono of contention. Visiting !Urope for the centenary of tho 

Socialist International, he met many loading members of the UK 

Labour Party aDd also took the opportunity of addreSsing Malaysian 

students in London. 1 He reiterated his charges about a Malay 

Malaysia, arguing that the Juliance feared defeat by the non-communal 

Pl;E. On his return from Europe, Leo had talks with Bav.ak a.nd. tho 

Tunku, and it was agreed that public disputes would be avoided for 

two years. 2 Surprisinglyl despite a couple of minor incidents, 

the agreement functioned well for two months. 3 

On 25 November 1964 ~an Siew Sin introduce~ the 1965 budBet 

in the Dewan Ra 1ayat.4 Three days later by making criticisms 

similar to those he had made of the previous budget, that it 1 had 

a tendency to widen the gap between the haves and the have nets•, 

Lee reopened the dispute between the PJU? and Alliance.5 Alliance 

supporters were incensed at this criticism, 6 Tan accusing the PJ!.P 

of being 'disloyal'.? It appeared that many members of the Alliance 

wore not fully attuned to the concept of opposition, particularly 

if it appeared effective. Ominously, while the PAP rocoived support 

in its criticisms from the PPP, the Government was supported by the 

PMIP. 
8 

Following the budget debate the Singap?re-Kuala Lumpur war of 

words recommenced. Lee asserted that Singapore''s poor would not be 

taxed to subsidise Malaya's rich9 and began: to talk of the need to 

1 
One Hundred Years of Socialism (Singapore, 1964). 

2 
ST, 26 Sept 1964. 

3 
Soe ~' 19 and 28 Nov 1964. In the two spheres of Federal and 

Singa.pore state politics the Alliance and PAP wero alternately 
Government and Oppositiona to not disagree under such circumstances 
would have boon difficult. 
4 
Ibid., 26 Nov. Malaysian Parliamentary Debates after this time 

were unobt~inable and, in early 1967, unprinted. 
5 
Ibid., 29 Nov. See also Harvey Stockwina 'Budget Politics',~' 

31 Dec 1964, p.642. 
6 
~' 3 Doe 1964. 

1 
Ibid., 4 Dec. 

8 
Ibid., 1 and 3 Dec. The PPP and PMIP had long been regarded as the 

most clear examples of communally based parties, the former non-Malay, 
the latter Malay. Their alignments in the budget debate appeared to 
indicate that Mala.ysian politics could polarise around a racial 
spectrum. 
9 
Ibid., 5 Dec. 
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unite Malaysia's 'have note'. 1 During the next two months Lee 

developed a more sophisticated criticism of the Central Government. 
2 Internal conflicts were the most serious threat to Malaysia, he 

argued, and they could be blamed on Malayan politicians who refused 

to readjust to Malaysian realities.3 Within UMNO, extremist Malaya 

wished to maintain the political domination of UMNO based on an 

alliance between Malay feudalists and Chinese capitalists. These 

Malaya, said Lee, feared the non-communal, socialist approaoh 

adopted by the PAP which threatened to break their power. 4 

The PAP had sought to extend its influence in Malaysia and 

had at first adopted the guise of a non-Malay communal party better 

able to represent non-Malay interests against UMNO. This app~~ch 

had failed. By the time of' his visit to Australia, Lee was 

mounting a frontal attack on the Alliance Government, ostensibly 

as the leader of a non-communal party.5 

Perhaps the most significant effect of Lee's visit to Australia 

was that it brought to Australia's attention the tensions within 

Malaysia. Articulate, ~glish educated and vigorous, there seemed 

little doubt that Lee would create a favourable impression in 

Australia. With his pragmatic approach to politics mixed with a 

degree of socialism, essentially of the Fabian variety, coupled 

with an attitude to regional security problems little different 

from that of Australia, he presented an image of a modern, 

developing Southeast Asia that Australia favoured. 6 More particularly 

his vision of non-oommunal politics in Malaysia, however impractical 

in the short term, was likely to appeal to a country long used to a 

two party, ideologically based, political system.? 

Lee's tour of Australia, from 15 March to 2 April, revealed 

him in his best light, travelling extensively, speaking frequently 

and with great force, and above all communicating his point of view 

1 
Ibid., 9 Dec (letter to editor). 

2 
Ibid., 2 Jan 1965. 

3 
Ibid., 1 and 6 March. 

4 
Speech of 24 Feb 1965 in Malaysian Mirror, 6 March 1965. Also 
~' 25 Jan. 
5 

See speeches at Kuala Lumpl.r, Seremban and Malacca in Towards a 
Malaysian Malaysia (Singapore, 1965)f iee also Harvey Stockwin: 
'Lee Disengaged', FEER, 8 April 19651 pp.71-4. 
6 ·---:-
~' 2 March; .§:::!!, 7 March. : , .. , (' . 

7 
Kenneth Randall in~' 16 Ma.rO'h, and Creighton Burns in .Age, 

16 March. 
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to such diverse sections of the Aust.ralian community as the Sty:lda.y 

Telegr:. ~Eh and the ALP. The exact nature of his argument is more 

difficult to determine. During his first address, to the National 

Press Club, 1 he paid but scnnt attention to Malaysian domestic 

politics other than referring ta the need to build a political 

system based on 'popular feelings and aspirations'. Although he 

sympathised with Australia's desire to remain friendly with Indonesia, 

he said, it would not be in Australia's interests to allow Malaysia 

to be crushed. Australian assistance in defence would give Malaysia 

time to build a stable political system. The speech was received 

sympathetically in the Australian press. 2 But one editorial did 

warn that 

there is little doubt that he has another pr~vate 
mission which he regards as of prime importance, and 
that is to put the point of view of the Chinese 
Malaysians •••• He may be expected during his visit 
••• to seek to engage Australian influence in the 
direction of the modification of what he regards as 
discri~nator,y Malay policies. 3 

Lee's subsequent speeches received widespread publicity and he 

advanced the basio argument that Australia should support the 

Malaysia concept rather than a particular Government.4 There is 

little doubt that this received much support in the press. Again, 

among Labor politicians, whom he addressed at a closed meeting, 

his socialist approach was greeted with sympathy. This was first 

evidenced on 25 March when Clyde Cameron argued in Parliament that 

'Mr Lee made quite clear that in Singapore today the democratic 

forces are far more firmly entrenched than they are in the rest 

of Malaysia'~5 For expressing such views, Cameron was accused by 

Liberal members of seeking to divide Malaysia. 6 'Wlw don't you 

tell the Tunku to stop?' he retorted.7 Cameron's speech was an 

indication, later substantiated, that the ALP's sympathy lay with 

1 
Text in Mal~ysia--Age of Revolution (Singapore, 1965) pp.21-32. 

2 
Mercyt~,17 Maroh; Ad.News, AdvertiitrJ18 March. 

3 
SMH, 18 March; see also 'Not As A Tourist', Bulletin, 3 April. 

4 . 

Lee. 8 

Alex Joseys 'Lee Kuan Yew', Bulletin, 20 March; interview with Lee• Sund!f 
]l,e~~~' 28 March; broadcast, Age, 29 March; editorial, Bulletin, 
27 lwlarch. 
5 

CPD,HR, vcl.45, 25 March 1965, p.379. 
6 
Ibid. , p. 380 (Chi pp and Tumer) • 

7 
Ibid.,(Cameron). 

8 
:Brian :Beddie 1 'Problems of kl.stralian Foreign Policy, July-December 

1965', lwPH, May 1966, p. 5• Interviews with senior members of the .ALP 
Canberra, 1966. 
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The J~stralian Govercment was not so prepared to reveal its 

sympathies. Although it later seemed tnat Canberk hoped that the 

Alliance Government would accommodate the PAP, during hie visit Lee 

was counselled by Menzies to moderate his attacks on tha central 

Government. 1 Lee was later to reveal that he had written to Menzies 

in April and informed him of extremist Malay hostility to the PAP. 

He said that he had asked Australia to use her influence in Malaya 

to moderate this, but comp~ained that no such action had been taken. 2 

Whatever the Australian Government thought of the situation it was 

~learly reluctant to intervene in Malaysia. 

Lee's tour did nothing to moderate the dispute with the Alliance, 

and conceiva:bly intensified the existing animosities. 3 The Federal 

Government was concerned at the support shown abroad for Lee. The 

Tunku criticised foreign correspondents for reporting that Malaya 

dominated Malaysia;4 the Malay Mail attacked Lee for seeking support 

from Malaysian students overseas, particularly in the UK and 

Australia;5 and Senu bin Abdul Rahman6 accused Lee of trying to 

get foreign states to intervene in Malaysian domestic politics. 7 

Similar criticisms were made by other leading Malaya, particularly 

with regard to Lee's visit to Australia. 8 Although om his return 

Lea denied that he had been propagating the PAP's case in Australia,9 

this could hardly be substantiated. Even the PAP literature on the 

subject negated such a contention. 10 By xhat stage the dispute was 

too widespread to be settled by reference to facts in any case, and 

1 
Interview with senior Australian Government official, Canberra, 

July 1966. 
2 
Advert, 1 Sept 1965. 

3 
T.B.Millart 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy', p.271. 

4 
ST, 8 March. 

5 
c. Times, 25 March. 

6 
The Federal Minister for Information and Broadcasting snd Chairman 

of UMNO Youth. 
1 
.§.!, 22 March. 

8 . 
Ibid., 26 March (the Minister for Agriculture); ibid., 6 Aprti 

(Ja'afar Albar); ibid., 14 April (~entr± Basar of Perlis); ibid., 
19 J .. pril (Khir Johari). The Tunku was •im:tlarl;y disturbed, !!!, 
8 March. Shortly after Lim Yew Hock w~ recalled to a8S98S the 
influence of Lee's tour, ~' 15 April. 
9 
Ibid., 4 April. 

10 
For example, Malaysia.-Age ot Revolution. 

t' 
( 

~ 
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was affecting most aspects of Federal-Singapore relations. A 

Federal Government directive that the Singapore btanoh of the Bank 

of Chin~ be olosed was vigorously opposed by the PAP, 1 while 

seemingly straightforward negotiations to decide the distribution 

of the British quota on textile imports led the Tunku to ~couse the 

PAP of assisting the communists by bringing the dispute into the 
2 bpen. 

The interest in Malaysian affairs which Lee's visit had provoked 

in Australia soon subsided, as Vietnam resumed the centre of the 

political stage. The Australian Government had strongly expressed 

its support for American policies, a position reaffirmed by the 

Prime Minister in a highly publioised correspondence with a number 

of l~glican Bishops.3 On 14 April it was announced in Canberra 

that Henry Cabot Lodge, former Amerioan Ambassador in Saigon and 

then Ambassador at large, was to visit Australia.4 It was rumoured 

that he would seek an increase in Australian military aid to South 

Vietnam to coinoide with the accelerated American build up.5 On 

29 April, following Cabot Lodge's visit, Menzies announced that such 

a step was to be taken. 6 He argued that the NLF, controlled from 

Hanoi, was seeking 

The take~ver of South Viet Nam [which] would be a 
direct military threat to Australia and all the 
countries of South-East Asia. It must be seen as 
part of a thrust by Communist China between the 
Indian and Pacific Oceans. 

This was a less sophisticated argument that that of Hasluck7 but in 

substance the same. Following a request from Saigon, Menzies 

explained, and 'after close consultation with the Government of 

the United States', the Government had decided to send an infantry 

battalion for service in South Vietnam. He read a letter from 

President Johnson expressing warm approval of the action. 

1 
ST, 31 Dec 1964. 

2 
Ibid., 30 Ma~h, and 24 to 27 MarchJ Times, 22 March 1965. 

3 
CNIA, March 1965, pp.139-41. 

4 
Age, 15 April. 

5 
Ibid •• 

6 
CPD,HR, vo1.45, 29 April 1965, pp.1060-1. 

1 
See pp.271-2, supra. 
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The Australian commitment to Vietnam bore certain resemblances 

to that made to Malaysia. Both actions were justified by the 

Government as part of a policy designed to prevent the expansion 

of China; both commitments were only accepted after the major 

guarantor of the relevant state had committed itself unequivocally; 

and in both cases there were indications that the Australian 

Government was less keen than those major participants to negotiate 

a Western withdrawal, which was demanded on the one hand by the NLF 

and Hanoi and on the other by Djakarta. 1 Despite these parallels 

at the diplomatic level, the commitmante were dissimilar and the 

issues they involved were distinct. Although the formation of 

Malaysia (particularly with respect to the inclusion of the Borneo 

states) might, like the formation of South Vietnam, be attributed 

to strategic political considerations rather than to the demands of 

indigenous political movements, the populations of the states which 

joined to form the Federation had been consulted on the matter. While 

that process of consultation had been something short of exemplary, 

by 1965 there was ample indication that the majority of Malaysians 

were prepared to accept the Federation. In Borneo opposition to 

Malaysia (as distinct from criticism of its federal government) was 

slight except among sections of Sarawak's Chinese community. 

Indonesia's policy was clearly one of international aggression and 

it received negligible support from within Malaysia. The Federation 

was prepared to defend itself to the best of its abilities. 

Australia was prepared to resist Indonesian aggression because the 

UK and Malaysia would do so and because aggression was to be 

prevented. In Vietnam, despite superficial similarities, these 

criteria were not so clearly applicable. It had never been certain 

that the majority of the population of southern Vietnam supported 

either partition or the Government of Diem. Although the NLF 

reoeived Hanoi's support, its forces were largely indigenous to 

South Vietnam and in 1964 seemed likely to overthrow the Government. 

By early 1965, when the US implemented a policy of supporting 

Saigon with substantial American ground forces, Washington's objective 

was not so much to maintain as to establish the control of the South 

Vietnamese Government over the country. Evidence of a 'Chinese 

thrust' could hardly be provided. The Australian commitment to 

South Vietnam was made in response to a US request, both to encourage 

and help maintain an American presence in the region as a counterweight 

to China, and once more to win American good will by demonstrating 

Australia's worth as an ally. 

1 
See Hume: 'Australian Political Chronicle', p.215; C.Times, 6-10 

April; and statement by Michael Stewart, the Bntish Foreign 
Secretary, p. 291 , ~~· 
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Australian attitudes towards Southeast Asia tended to 

crystallize around the issue of Vietnam after it was announced that 

Australian forces would assist the Saigon Government. Publicly, 

the Australian Government espoused the domino theory1 and depicted 

communism as a monolithic force either expanding southward from 

China or encompassing Southeast Asia in a pincer movement directed 

from Peking and Djakarta. Indonesian policy was proving to be mora 

than a minor irritant and some concern was expressed in Australia 

about the possibility of a Sino-Indonasian military allianca2 or a 

successful PKI coup in Djakarta. 3 During 1965 there were indications 

that the Australian Government was itself taking such fears 

seriously, a trend no doubt encouraged by the increasing anti-l~erican 

orientation of Indonesian policies and Djakarta's 'vociferous 

confrontation against the West'.4 

In February 1965, at the House Armed Services Committee hearings 

in Washington, McNamara testified that confrontation was straining 

]~erica's relations with Indonesia.5 During the following month 

relations became worse: the Indonesian Government seized control 

of the •Unonican owned rubber plantations, 6 then it announced the 

closure of USIS facilities in the country7 and finally in mid-March 

took over the foreign owned oil companiee amid demonstrations 

demanding ~he seizure of all US firms in retaliation for American 

support for Malaysia. 8 On 7 March Dean Rusk claimed: 

1 

we would like to see good relations with countries 
like Indonesia. But this requires some effort on 
both sides. I think at the present time it is 
fair to say that our relations are being reducedJ 
they are becoming, to use a diplomatic word, simplifi.ed. 9 

Coral Bell& op.cit., p.149, refers to the domino theory as a 'piece 
of ••• political black comedy'. See also Murphey& op.cit., and J.L.S. 
Girling: 'Vietnam and the Domino Theory', Australian Outlook, April 
1967, pp.61-70. 
2 
~' 3 Feb 1965 (ed)t See Age, 8 Feb, for report of alleged Peking­

Djakarta agreement to partition Malaysia. 
3 
Age, 17 Feb; M.Fraser on return from Indonesia, CPD,HR, vo1.45, 

23 March 1965, p.243 ff. 
4 

Donald Hindley& 'Po~itical Power and the October 1965 Coup in 
Indonesia', JLS, Feb 1967, p.237. 
5 
.§!, 20 Feb. 

6 
S-H, 28 Feb; D.Tel, SMH, 2 March. 

7 
Times, 5 March; US Dept of State Bulletin, 29 March 1965, vol.LII 

No.1344, p,448. 
8 

Times, 20 March. 
9 

US Dept of State. Bulletin, 29 March 1965, vol.LII No.1344, p.447. 
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During early April lllsworth Bunker, the American mediator of the 

West Irian settlement and now again a Presidential representative, 

had talks in Djakarta with leading officials. Subandrio later 

said that they had agreed to 'minimise the irritation' between their 
1 countries but 'on specific issues there is an agreement to disagree'. 

Sukarno after three days of talks with Bunker said that no agreement 

could be reached; 2 the joint communique which they issued indicated 

as rwch& 

While it is true that on a range of matters of foreign 
policy the views of Indonesia and those of the United 
States are divergent, they bave agreed that these 
differences should not be allowed to affect unduly 
the general pattern of friendship •••• Indonesia regards 
the issue between Indonesia and Malaysia as being of 
the greatest importance ••• the United States deeply 
regrets that the problem exists ••• these differences have 
produced certain tensions between Indonesia and the 
United States ••• as a result the programmes of assistance 
to Indonesia which the United States had undertaken in 
recent years should be reviewed and revised. 3 

It was also agreed that the Peace Corps would cease its activities 

in Indonesia. The combination of American support for Malaysia 

and the anti-Western orientation of Indonesian policy, was straining 

Washington's relations wi. th Djakarta. 

Sukarno did little to prevent the increasing alienation of the 

Western powers. Within a weak of funker's departure, in a major 

address to commemorate the tenth anniversary of the Bandung 

Conference, Sukarno delivered an attack on the West.4 He depicted 

Indonesia as 1 engaged in a life-and-death struggle against imperialist 

encirclement', and represented Vietnam as being in a similar position& 

'the only honourable way for the US is to withdraw from Vietnam to 

let the Vietnamese people ••• solve their own problems '• Similarly 

he said little to ingratiate himself with Australia, warning: 1do 

not think that the P~cific Ocean will remain pacific for ever'. He 

also questioned the need for an ascertainment of West Irianese 

opinion. Unresel"V'edly anti-Western, he argued& 1 the most basic 

and important thing is for the imperialists to let the Asian people 

solve their own problems themselves, for the imperialists to withdraw 

all their troops, bases and warships from Asia' • 

1 
Times , 8 Apri 1. 

2 
C.Times, 25 April. 

3 
US Dept ofState Bulletin, 3 May 1965, vol.LII No.1349, p.655. 

4 . 
Sukarno~ Speech of 18 April 1965 (text from Indonesian Embassy, 

Canberra • 
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The reception which the speech received from the Australian press 

ranged fran moral indignation that the 1962 agreement on West Irian 

might be broken1 to more practical concern at Sukarno's anti-Western 

oatbursts. 2 Various other factors contributed to Australian appre­

hensions at that time. Among the audience at Sukarno's address were 

Chen Yi and Chou En-lai, and their fraternal declarations were 

matched only by the enthusiaiJtic reception which the Peking ReView 

gave to Sukarno' s speech. 3 Further, there seemed to be indications 

that Indonesia was becc:ming increasingly, if still only mildly, 

hostile to Australia' Australian casualties in Borneo continued; 

a banb, probably placed by an Indonesian saboteur, exploded in the 

building which housed the Australian High Ccmnission in Singapore; 4 

and Indonesia's national ~ssembly demanded that relations with 

Australia be reassessed.5 

During mid-1965 there was no indication that Indonesia's 

international policy would change or that the growing power of the 

PKI would be checked. 6 Although Indonesia's attitude towards 

Australia continued to be a mixture of tolerance and mild hostility, 7 

military confrontation continued. Indonesia further reinforced her 

forces in Kalima.ntan and persisted in a campaign of terrorism in 

western Malaysia. 8 But the danger was not that Malaysia and her 

a l lies might be mili tarily defeated, but that they might be forced 

1 
!!!!:!, Age, Advertiser, West Australian, Adelaide ~~ 20 April; 

Mercury, 21 April. See Chapter Four, supra. 

2 
Daily Telegraph, 20 April; Age, 23 April; Adelaide~~ Herald, 

24 April. 
3 
Peking Review, 30 April 1965. 

4 
The Australian Government denied that the bomb was intended for the 

Australian mission, viz. Hasluck, ~~ March 1965, pp.144-5, but the 
incident received considerable publicit,y nonetheless. 
5 
In April, Australia's only significant finn in Indonesia was taken 

over, Age, 24 April 1965. 
6 

1 There were no hints during the first nine months of 1965 that the 
year would be different politically from the last five, particuldly 
with respect to the growing paRer of the PKI' , Daniel Lev: 'Imonesia 
1',965: The Year of the Coup', Asian Survey, Feb 1966, p.103. 
7 
For example Subandrio' s warning that Australia should not 'meddle 

in Asian affairs 1 
, and edi:bolti.al in Suluh Indonesia of similar tone, 

reported in Canberra Times, 27 May. See also T.B. Millar: 'Problems 
of Australian Foreign Poliqy', pp.268-70. 
8 
See Malaysian letters to the UN Security Council 8 March and 28 May 

1965, Malaysian Canmunica tions with the Seauri ty Council; Indonesian 
Aggression Against Ma1aysia, vol.II; 'The Threat to Malaysia', Times, 
29 and 30 April; Seth S. King in !IT!, 27 June; Anthony Short: 
'Confrontation in Sarawak', ~, 23 Dec 1965, pp.547-9; and statement 
by Subandrio in Times, 14 July 1 965. 
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to face a protracted campaign seemingly unsusceptible to pmlitical 

solution. It seemed clear that while Sukarno remained President 

the PKI would retain its strength, Djakarta its link with Peking1 

and Indonesia her hostility to the West. 2 With regard to negotiations 

there seemed, despite various efforts at mediation (particularly by 

Japan and Thailand), no more cause for optimism than during the 

previous year.3 It appeared that Malaysia was prepared to 

negotiate but that Indonesia was less than enthusiastic. Within a 

week of one proposed conference Sukamo announced that he would not 

attend because the Tunku had 'inflamed Indonesian opinion•. 4 In 

short, confrontation seemed to be a continuing feature of Southeast 

Asian politics. 

The correlative of Indonesia's increasingly 'simplified' 

relations with the US was growing American support for Malaysia. 

In February, McNamara announced that the US was to extend a limited 

programme of military aid to Malaysia5 and shortly after it was 

agreed that a number of Malaysian officers would be trained in the 
6 US, In March Malaysia accepted a new offer from the US of a loan 

of $US4m. for the p.trchase of military equipment. The terms of the 

loan had been renegotiated: repayment was to .be made in ten years 

at three per cent interest.? Although the US continued ~o stress 

that it was but an auxiliary in the defence of Mal~sia,8 this new 

indication of US support was enthusiadtically received in Kuala 

Lumiur and Australia. 9 

1 
Times, 1 JuneJ Ra.'anan: <ilp.cit.; p.42; Suttera op.cit., pp.531-3; 

Heidhuesa op.cit., p.285; Justus M.van der Kroef: 'Indonesian 
Comrrunism's "Revolutionary Gymnastics, ', Asian Survey, May 1965, 
pp.228-32J William E.Griffith: Sino-Soviet Relations, 1964-5 (MIT, 
Cambridge 'Mass, 1967) p.118 ff. During Sukarno's absence in late 1964 
and rumours of his illness, the army gained much political strength; 
his return to Indonesia and good health reversed this trend. That 
the demise of the PKI coincided with the end of confrontation tends 
to substantiate this argument. 
2 
Anti-Western invectives continued, as for example on the occasion of 

the presentation of the new US Ambassador's credentials, C.Times, 
29 July. 
3 
Usha Mahajani: 'The Malaysian Dispute: A Study in Mediation and 

Intervention', Australian Outlook, Aug 1966, pp.177-92. 
4 
ST, 4, 5 and 12 March. 

5 
m.m, 22 Feb. 
6-
ST, 24 Feb. 

1 
Ibid. , 1 March. 

8 
Ibid., 9 March, statement by William P. Bundy. 

9 
Ibid., 30 March (the Tunku )~ D.Tel, 8 March; WA, 11 March. 



Internationally Malaysia continued to soak diplomatic support 

for its position and in lata March Razak loft for a second tour of 

Africa with this ond in view. Reports that ho was attracting 

sympathY for Malaysia wore common but perhaps exaggerated. 1 The 

big test of Malaysia's diplomatic support would como at the 

Afro-Asian Conforonco to be hold in mid-1965 at Algiers. It was not 

clear that she would gain oven admission to the conference in the 

face of Indonesian opposition. At the Afro-/~ian Islamic Conference 

at Bandung in March 1965, Malaysia had prevented hostile resolutions 

from being passed,2 but this was not a fully representative 

gathering. ~t the Afro-/~ian People's Solidarity Conference held 

in May at Winnoba, Ghara, not only wore hostile resolutions adopted, 

but the Malaysian Government's delegation was refused admission. 3 

At that time, with the Algiers cenference imminent, Malaysia's chances 

of being invited seemed only moderately good. 4 But whatever tho 

outcome, Malaysia could be assured of continued Australian supporta 

the Malaysian Government was moving towards the US-led Western 

alliance. This was reflected in the firm stand taken by Kuala Lumpur 

in support of !~erica's policy towards China in general and the 

Vietnam insurgency in particular, tho Tunku declaring: 'I:'fod 

that ~orican action to help South Vietnam is a proper ono ••• 

bombings by the Americans aro, I consider, justifiod 1 .5 

Although, following a roquost from Kuala Lumpur, 6 Australia 

sont a mission to Malaysia to assess what further assistance might 

be required, 7 Vietnam, as tho opi tome of the policy of tho containmcn·:; 

of China, was Australia's chief concom. By May tho Australian 

Govemmont was adopting a posture whose firmness surpassed that of 

the US. At the SEATO Council meeting in 'London 3-5 May, Hasluck 

said: 'today wo sac aggression in Asia as being just as much a 

danger to the whole world as it is to those of us who live in or 

near Asia ••• South-East Asia is tho front lino in the struggle for 

1 
ST, 22, 19 March; 2 April (from Konya); 1 April (from Tanzania). 

2 
Indon Herald, 16 March 1965 for tho Conference's resolutions. Sec 

also Loifer: 'Diplomacy of Confrontation', p.257. 
3 
See, Resolutions of tho Fourth Afro-Asian Poo le's Solidarit 

Conference -16 1 6 Winnoba Ghana J~C Se~retariat, Cairo, 
1965 • The conference advised the Barisan, Socialist Front and Partai 
Rakyat delegations to unite to form ono committee which would be 
'automatically admitted'. 
4 

C.Burns, Ago, 28 May; Loifor: op.cit., p.258. 
5 
Tunku's Call For Unity, spooch of 17 April 1965 (Kuala Lumpur, 1965) 

pp.10-11. Sec also Suara Mal~ysia, 6 kug 1965. 
6 
~' 9 MarchJ A\ge, 27 March. 

1 
Defence Dept. P.R.6, 4 May 1965. 
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world security'. 1 In this light Australia very much wolcomod tho 

British and American military efforts in the area. Thoro was a 

military threat to Vietnam, he argued, and 

thoro aro other targets on the Communist list. 
Mainland China has made no secret of its plans 
for conquest by subversion of Thailand. Thoro 
is a clear pattern for undormining ••• country after 
country throughout the region. 
In this broad regional context, I should like to 
rofor to tho Indonesian attempts to crush Mal~sia 
••• thoro are accumulating further signs of the 
interaetion of events in Malaysia and other events 
in othor parts crf South-East Asia. President 
Sukarno is associating himself more closely oach 
year with tho outlook and the ambitions of Peking 
and is turning his country mora and more towards 
••• partnership with the Chinese aggressor. 

Referring to confrontation, ho said& 1more and more wo see that 

aid [to Malaysia] as part of a total contribution [together with 

that to Vietnam] to moot a common dangor 1
• Although the SEATO 

Council communique2 hardly took this lino, thoro wore indications 

that the ANZAY and l~ZUS powers wore beginning to think along the 

lines of greater integration of thoir respective 1 sphores of 

influence•. 3 

Returning from London, Hasluck visited Malaysia where ho had 

discussions with Government officials. At a press conference 

referring to the possibility of a negotiated settlement, ho argued: 

the decision lies more with Indonesia than with anyone 
else. As long as Indonesia insists on confrontation 
••• resistance on our part must also continue and thoro 
is no basis on which any settlement could be reached 
~···As long as Indonesia continues to deny Malaysian 
sovoroignty ••• I sec no possibility of successful 
negotiation ••• 'nor do we see at tho moment any hope 
for a successful outcome of mediation •••• 
Basically wo see no reason why the Australian people, 
and I accent people rather than govornment, ••• should 
not be able to live in the closest friendship [with 
Indonosia] •••• But thoro is this ono unfortunate thing, 
that the Indonesian Government persists in its 
confrontation of Malaysia. 4 

Although Australia hoped to 1 oventually work out a friendly 

relationship with Indonesia', ho said, tho current Government 

1 
~' May 1965, pp.251-3. 

2 
CNIA, May 1965, p.256. 

3 
See p.289 ff, infra. 

4 
Transcript of the Press Conference of the 

Affairs Mr Paul Hasluck at Kuala Lum r 
(text supplied by DEA • 
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in Djakarta was likely to prevent or at least postpone the attainment 

of that objective. The existing relationship between Australia and 

Indonesia was based on a 'misunderstanding11 of Australian intentions 

on the part of Indonesia. In the meantime Australia was determined 

that 'the aggressor is not going to win'. Mili tarily a protracted 

holding operation was expected. Events later in the year were to 

justify Hasluck's assessment. 

In June, Menzies attended the Commonwealth Prime Ministers' 

Conference in London. For Malaysia this seemed likely to be 

significant in that its results might determine the outcome of 

her attempts to attend the Algiers Conference. The Commonwealth 

communique 'recognised and supported the right of the Government 
. 2 

and people of Malaysia to defend their sovereign independence' 

and to that extent expressed firmer support than that of the previous 

year. Although both the British3 Government and Menzies4 regretted 

the qualified nature of the support evidenced for Malaysia, the 

latter fearing it 'might muddy the waters at Algiers', the degree 

of support expressed seemed satisfactor.y. In the event Malaysia's 

international support was not tested, for, following a coup d'etat 

in Algeria, the conference was first postponed and then abandoned.5 

By July 1965 Australian policy towards Southeast .Asia was 

fimly established. On:·return from his five-week overseas tour 

Menzies on 13 July outlined its basic assumption~. Postulating a 

withdrawal of the US from the region he asked: 

Does anybody with his five wits doubt that before 
ver.y long Chinese Communism acting through North 
Vietnamese Communism would sweep down ••• and that 
in the long run, and not so very long run at that, 
we would find ourselves with aggressive Communism 
almost on our shores? 6 

He thought that the Vietnamese and Malaysian situations 'fall into 

the same pattern'. Both were aspects of a larger problem, for 'our 

future ••• largely depends upon how far the USA is prepared to continue 

to accept its responsibility in this part of the world'. 

1 
ST, 20 May 1965 (statement by Hasluck in Kuala Lumpur). 

2 
CNIA, June 1965, p.322. 

3 
Statements by Duncan Sandys and Harold Wilson, UKPD,HC, vol.715, 

29 June 1965, col.313. 
4 
.Qm., June 1965, pp. 348-9. 

5 
See T.B.Millar· and J.n. ·;.: .Miller: 'liro-Asian Disunity: Algiers 1965', 

Australian Outlook, Dec 1965, pp. 306-21 f Guy J .Pauker: 'The Rise and 
Fall of Afro-Asian Solidarity', Asian Survey, Sept 1965, pp.42.5-32. 
6 
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Three days later Hasluck addressed himself to the same issues 

in Hobart. 1 
He developed the argument that a balance of power wao 

required in Asia so long as China sought to dominate the continent. 

The USA and to a lesser extent the UK could offset Chinese power. 

A victory for the NLF, and so for China, would lead to the extension 

of communist influence elsewhere: in Malaysia communist insurgency 

would begin again and in Indonesia 'known anti-communist groups and 

forces in the country would be discouraged ••• in their resistance to 

the growing strength of the PKI'. He repeated that 'there is no 

present sign that Indonesian confrontation will cease', particularly 

with the 'growing influence of the PKI'. 

Australian policy was based on certain hypotheses, the most 

important of which was th&t China was eager to expand its influence 

in the Southeast Asian r~gion. This would not seem an unrealistic 

assumption to make about the likely objectives of an aspiring and 

potential great power in its immediate onvirons. But in the case 

of Vietnam it was assumed that the NLF was controlled by Hanoi which 

was in turn directed from Peking. Apart from making occasional 

references to the not altogether convincing US official publication 

Aggression From ·The North, 2 the Government did not explain in any 

detail the reasons which had led it to make that assumption. .As 

one observer noted, the Government took its stand 'on a number of 

dogmatically asserted propositions•. 3 It would seem that Australia's 

physical involvement in Vietnam was largely a response to US pressure. 4 

While the general argument that US power provided a useful balance 

to that of China had some validity, the Government's more specific 

contentions were less convincing: that the Vietnam war was 

directly related to Chinese expansionism, that the commitment of 

Australian forces to Vietnam significantly affected US determination 

to maintain her presence in Southeast Asiaf and that it made it more 

likely that the US would render assistance to Australia if that 

ever ~(!ocame necessary. 5 

The Government's position with regard to Malaysia was less 

susceptible to criticism. Indonesia was attacking Malaysia and 

receiving negligible indigenous support from the latter; Djakarta's 

1 
DEA, P.R.75, 16 July 1965. 

2 
Aggression From The North (US Dept of State, pub~7839, Far Eastern 

Series 130, 1965). 
3 
Beddie: op.cit., p.1. 

4 
T.B.Millar: 'Problems mf Australian Foreign Policy', pp.273-4. 

5 
See T.B.Millar: Australia's Defence, postscript. 
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aims were contrary to those of Australia not only in relation to 

the immediate dispute but in her desire to terminate the Western 

military presence in the region~ and it did appear that Indonesian 

policy was increasingly influenced by the PKI. It was thought to 

be in Canberra's interests to prevent the P~ forming tpe government 

in Djakarta: this could best be achieved by containing Indonesian 

attacks on Malaysia but avoiding any significant retaliation, 

particularly as that would most damage the army' a position. Vli thin 

Malaysia there seemed little doubt that a majority of the people 

supported a continuing British and Australian presence to assist 

in Malaysia's defence. Finally, it is worth emphasising that 

apart from advice on military and to some extent diplomatic matters, 

there is little evidence of interference by Britain or Australia in 

Malaysian domestic affairs. Malaysia was as sovereign as such a 

militarily dependent country could be. The British had studiously 

avoided creating any impression to the contrary. Australia was 

helping defend a sovereign state with a responsible and, despite 

all qualifications, popular Government. 

If during the preceding two years British policy had appeared, 

and indeed had been, straightforward in relation to Malaysia, during 

1965 it took on ambiguities which were of some concern to its 

partners in the ANZAM arrangement. During late 1964 Australian 

fears th~t the British Labour Government might seek a rapid 

withdrawal from Southeast Asia had been allayed: British forces 

had been increased and there seemed little likelihood of London's 

seeking to negotiate a settlement with Djakarta irrespective of 

Malaysian desires, for, as Wilson pointed out, 'this would give 

the Indonesians just the argument they are looking for to suggest 

that Malaysia is in some way in a tutelary position'. 1 The British 

Defence White Paper of February 1965 had been accepted in Australia 
2 as pledge of a continuing British military presence 1Eaat of Suez'. 

This was too facile an interpretation of British intentions as the 

following months were to show. During the Parliamentary debate on 

the White Paper Healey warmly defended the commitment to Malaysia as 

a contribution to 'the maintenance of peace and stabilityi, 3 but 

1 
UKPD,HC, vol.706, 18 Feb 1965, cols.1361-2. 

2 l)~rN*, Mtibollr"'- s ...... wCA()~ P.c..Yt>"·,oJ.., 
~' SMH,;25 Feb (eels); Douglas Wilkie: ~' SMH 

(ed), 1 March; Millar: 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy', p.274, 
3 
I:KPD,HC, vo1.707, 3 March 1965, cols.1337-8. He denied that Britain 

was building 'a wall against communism' or protecting 'selfish 
British economic interests' -but he was seeking to persuade people 
other than Australians. 



he was not unopposed. Although most of the Conservative Party 

accepted the policy, 1 some members of the Labour P.arty were less 

enthusiastic: R.T.Pagat thought Malaysia to be 'a commitment we 

should wind up as soon as we safely- can•, 2 and Zilliacus argued 

that defence costs should be halved and the East of Suez policy 

abandoned. 3 There were other indications of dissatisfaction in 

the Labour party with the East of Suez policy.4 

The British Government's position was far from unequivocal in 

this matter. The Cabinet made no secret of its concern about 

defence costs,5 which it was seeking to reduce. Those costs which 

related to the 50,000 men in Malaysia received considerable publicity~ 

a total cost of £320 million per annum, 6 a cost 'across the exchanges' 

of £103 million in 19647 and a drain on foreign currency of £62 

million per annum. 8 The Government admitted its desire to reduce 

these, and other defence costs.9 This led to a position whero on 

the one hand Wilson would assert Britain's intention to maintain 

its East of Suez policy10 and on the other declare a general 

objective of cutting British commitments. 11 These objectives were 

1 
Ibid., col.1376, Aubrey Jones was an exception, criticising the 

commitment to Malaysia as merely a response to US pressure. 
2 
Ibid., col. 1370. 

3 
Ibid., cols.1396-1405. 

4 
Ibid.? 8 March 1965, cols.87-8 (Eric S.Heffer), cols.98-9 (:.t!.'mrys 

Hughes); 15 March, cols.971-3 (Emrys Hughes). 
5 

Times, 4 March (Healey), 1 July. 
6 

UKPD,HC, vo1.710, 6 April 1965, cols.55-6 (Healey). See Hugh Hanning~ 
'Britain East of Suez- Facts and Figuros 1 , International Affairs, 
April 1966, pp.253-60. 
7 

UKPD,HC, vol.711, 5 May 1965, col.173~ 
8 
Ibid., vol.715, 7 July 1965, col.262. This was exceeded only by 

the BAOR in Germany, costing £78m. But the East of Suez total would 
have included Aden (£19m.) and Hong Kong (£10m.) and so have been 
greater. 
9 

UKPD,HC, vol.713, 1 June 1965, co1.1505, Wilson said he was trying 
to reduce defence costs East of Suez by 'radical action'. Ibid., . 
vo1.709, 1 April 1965, vol.1979 (Wilson); ST~ 13 April (George Brown). 
10 
Times, 4 May 1965 (r!ilson to the SEl\TO Council). 

11 
c. Times, 12 May 1965 (':7ilson to the NATO Council) J UKPD,HC, vol. 

713, 27 May 1965, cols.835-6 (Wilson). 
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not strictly incompatible but hints th~t the UK might reduce its 

forces in N~laysia particularly after confrontation had ended were 
1 mot rare. 

The reasons for the British Government's position may be 

surmised. It had decided to maintain the stability of sterling 

and to play a ·~orld role': in both policies it was dependent on 

US support and opposed by a section of its own party. In April 

Wilson visited the USA and reaffirmed British support for US 

policy in Vietnam, and the British intention to continue its East 

of Suez policy. 2 The US welcomed these assurances. 3 Paradoxically, 

Britain was forced to maintain its position in Asia, which 

weakened sterling, because of its susceptibility to US pressure 

due to that very weakness. 4 But the British Government was 

reviewing the East of Suez commitment. It seemed likely that LOndon 

would expect greater cooperation and assistance from its /~ZfJd 

partners and the US if it were to continue that policy.5 

It was beaoming clear that whatever the wishes of the British 

Cabinet there were political pressures favouring, 6 and financially 

attractive reasons for,7 ending the East of Suez policy as early as 

possible. But by and large there was an unwillingness in Australia 

to accept the probability of an impending withdrawal. This was 

perhaps most severely jolted when on 2 August the British 

1 
Ibid., vo1.709, 1 April, col.1868: Stewart, 'If the Indonesians are 

anxious ••• about the presence of ••• British forces in that area, they 
have only to bring confrontation to an and and that anxiety can be 
removed'; ibid., vol.713, 1 June, cols.1504-6, Wilson hinted at this. 
2 
Times , 11 April. 

3 
Ibid. , 6 April, reporting an intervi·ew with McNamara; Times, 18 June; 

Leifer: 'Diplomacy of Confrontation', p.251. 
4 
Wilson all but admitted as much: UKPD,HC, vol.713, 1 June 1965, 

cols.1504-6. Sea Gaorga K.Tanham, 'A United States View', 
International J~fairs, April 1966, pp.194-206; and Alastair Buchan, 
'Britain in the Indian Ocean', International Affairs, April 1966, 
pp.184-93. 
5 
Ibid., 25 May, cols.234-5; SMH, 29 May 1965J Millar: op.cit., p.274. 

One British observer argued that 'If Australia wants Singapore to be 
kept as a bastion in her Near North.~.then she ought to pay for it. 
Australia spends ~ per cent of her national income on defence, 
Great Britain 7 per cant', Maurice Zinkin: 'The Commonwealth and 
Britain East of Suez', International. Affairs, April 1966, p.214. 
6 

UKPD,HC, vol.711, 3 May 1965, col.718 (Noel Baker), 914 (Rose); 
vol.713, 27 May, col.835 (Bence); vol.716, 15 July, cols.770-1 
(Marten and Allaun). 
7 
Ibid., vol.717, 3 Aug 1965, cols.1264-6 (ITilson); Times, 5 Aug: 

the attractions were clearly recognised. 
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Parliamentary Labour Party passed without vote a resolution calling 

for quicker cuts in defence expenditure than planned, and the 

Cabinet said that it approved the motion. 1 The following day in 

Parliament Labour backbenchers criticised the Government for not 

being sufficiently forceful in its efforts to cut defence expenditure 

and called for an end to the East of Suez policy in general and 

the commitment to Malaysia in particular. 2 The Government offered 

no fundamental disagreement, a!.rguing only that it was then obliged 

to defend Malaysia. 3 B.Y that stage it had become clear that a 

reduction in British forces in the area could in due course be 

expected. But whereas it had been previously supposed that, 

following the end of confrontation, the British forces would be 

run down to their 1962 levels, by mid-1965 it •eemGd that a more 

extensive reduction could be anticipated and that the possibility 

of a complete British withdrawal could not be ruled out. 4 Concurrently 

it became necessary for other reasons for Australia to reassess her 

position in Malaysia. 

On 9 August Singapore's separation from the Federation of 

Malaysia was announced. The causes of the separation are at once 

complex in the description and simple in the explanation. The 

evolution of the Alliance-PAP dispute from March to August 1965 

revealed the interplay in miniature of the various political forces 

of post-war Malaya, the dispute's origins lying in the PAP's 

efforts first to modify and then to eliminate Malay political 

dominance. For Malaya, to campaign for non-communal politics was 

to be anti-Malay. 

In April, following Lee's return from Australia, the Tunku had 

explained his basic objections to Pf~ a~tivity: 

1 

We dreamt of Singapore in connection with Malaya 
as what New York is to America but little did 
we realise that the leader of the PAP had in his 
mind a share of the running of Malaysia. This we 
considered unnacceptable. 5 

Times, 3 Aug. 
2 
UKPD,HC, vol.717, 3 Aug 1965, cols.1605-7 (Heffer), 1608-9 (M.Foot), 

1610-11 (R.Woof), 1615 (Orme and Allaun). 
3 
Ibid., cols.1617-22 (Millan, Under-Secretary of Defence for RAF). 

4 
~' 4 Aug; SMH, ~' 6 Aug7 WA, 9 Aug ( eds )• Interview with senior 

officials in Singapore Defence Ministry, Singapore, February 1966, 
and Malaysian Government, May 1966. 
5 
Tunku's Call For Unity, p.2. The comparison with New York was 

presumably to a commercial capital with limited politioal power. 
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1 He added that 'we must not be pushad around by a state Government'. 

But it was not against the Tunku that Lee launched his accusations 

of racialism in Kuala Lumpur, 2 but against more extremist sections 

of UMNO. The PAP contended that during March, Utusa.n Melayu had 

reopened its communally-based attack on the Singapore Government, 3 

and in April Lee opened a libel suit against Ja'afar Albar for 

statements reported in Utusan Melayu, in order to draw attention 

to the veracity of the PAP case.4 

Again,the PAP propensity to discuss communalism openl1 and 

dispassionately with a view to eradicating its strength as a political 

force, aroused only hostility among the Malaya who were well aware 

of their numerical inferiority. When Lee remarked that historically 

speaking most Malaya were the descendants of recent migrants5 and 

that there was no peculiarly Malaysian race, he was heavily 

criticised. Utusan Melayu attacked that 'evil and dangerous 

st~tement' 6 which Ja'afar Albar .~imself a.n immigrant from Indonesia) 

regarded as a 'slap in the face to Malays' that could make them lose 

their patience. 7 Malay Merdeka, one of UMNO's official publications, 

called for a review of Singapore's position, asked for 'concrete 

action' against its leaders and warned that if the Malaya were 

'hard pressed' they might have to look to Indonesia. 8 These wore 

strong words from within UMNO. 

Cleqrly the Allianco-P/J? dispute had been reactivated. The 

position was not improved when at a surprise meeting in Singapore 

on 9 May the Malaysian Solidarity Con7ention (MSC) was formed by 

representatives from the PAP, UDP, PPP, SUPP and Party Machinda.9 

At the conclusion of the meeting a declaration was issued proclaiming 

the MSC's support for 'a democratic Malaysian Malaysia'. It 

continued by elaborating the concept~ 

1 
Ibid., p.11. 

2 
ST, 27 April 1965. 

3 
Utusan Melayu, 22 March; Malaysian Mirror, 10 April. 

4 
ST, 25 and 29 April. 

5 
Ibid., 5 May, an academically accurate but politically unwise 

argument. 
6 
Utusan Melayu, 6 Mey (ed). 

7 
ST, 6 May. See also Beri ta Harian, 6 May (Tuan Sued Nasir Ismail). 

8-
Malay Merdeka, 7 May. 

9 
ST, 10 May. Party Machinda had been recently formed in Sarawak, 



A Malaysian Malaysia means that the nation and the state 
is not identified with the supremacy, well being and the 
interests of any one particular community or race •••• 
The special and legitimate interests of different 
communities must be secured and promoted within the 
framework of the collective rights ••• of all races. 
Support for the ideal of a Malaysian Malaysia means 
in theory as well as in practice, educating and 
encouraging the various races in Malaysia to seek 
political affiliation not on the basis of race or 
religion but on the basis of common political 1 ideologies and common social and economic aspirations. 
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It went on tb concede that such a situation would take some time to 

develop but argued that the Alliance was making no effort to produce 

that change and was continuing to pursue its pre-Malaysia policies 

which 'may be destructive at the present time'. Although the MSC, 

like the PAP, had carefully avoided specific criticism of Malay 

rights, its attack was clearly against the communal voting which 

had produced and sustained UMNO, a party dependent on common race 

rather than . common ideology or economic aspirations. There was 

some force in Tan Siew Sin's warnings that party politics could 

well polarise around a Malay/non-Malay position, the two groups 
2 led by UMNO and the PAP respectively. 

In mid-May the UMNO General Assembly was held and gave some 

indication of opinion within the party.3 Although the Tunku urged 

the Assembly to approach calmly the issues raised by the MSC, UMNO 

Youth demanded stronger action against Lee, and Dr Ismail thought 

it necessary to assert that Lee would not be detained. The tone of 

the meeting was one of Malay communal feeling outraged.4 Within a 

week Ja'afar Albar at a political meeting led the crowd in chanting 

'crush Lee' and added, 'shout louder so that Dr Ismail can hear 

the people's anger'.5 The moderation of the Tunku was clearly 

not fully representative of feeling within UMNO. 

In late May the Parliamentary session opened and matters 

approached a climax. Lee proposed an amendment to the vote of 

thanks on the King's speech, an amendment w~ich censured the 

Government for not mentioning the objective ~f a Malaysian Malaysia. 

1 
See Petir, June 1965. 

2 
ST, 30 April 1965. Particularly since the PMIP called for 'Malay 

unity' to oppose the MSC,~' 13 May. 
3 
Jean Grossholtzg 'An Exploration of Malaysian Meanings', Asian 

Survey, April 1966, pp.231-2. 
4 
!!!,, 15 and 16 May. See Creighton Burns g A&!_, 18 May. 

5 
Utusan Melayu, 24 May. 
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His speech was a thorough statement of the PAP's approach.·1 He first 

took exception to the King's reference to 'threats from within the 

country' which he took to mean the PAP. He went on to assail the 

Malay language press, particularly Utusan Melayu, which he depicted 

as extremely communal in 9haracter and which he alleged misreported 

the ~TO moderates, making their statements communal by omissions. 

The MSC accepted the Malaysian constitution including the Malay 

rights but, Lee argued, 'quite clearly there is a distinction 

between our political equality' and our duty 'to give special 

attention to the economic and social uplift of the Malays ••• we 

accept that obligation'. But if present policies were continued, 

he argued, the urban-rural imbalance would continuea 'of course 

there are Chinese millionaires •••• The Alliance remedy is to create 

a few Malay millionaires •••• But how does that solve theproblem?' Ho 

concluded by asking, 'instead of special rights why not tax the 

haves in order to uplift the have-note including the many non-Malays?'. 

Lee's accusations were answered in two ways which revealed the 

schism within tmUiO. Dr Ismail presented a sophisticated view of 

the Alliance's objectives• 

There are two ways of establishing a Malaysian Malaysia. 
The first is the platform of the PAP - non communalism 
straightaway. The other - the method adopted by the 
Alliance - •••• First inter racial harmony; second an 
ultimate state of non-communalism. 2 

Other members of UMNO were not prepared to be so charitable and an 

array of backbenchers violently attacked Lee, the term 'traitor' 

being frequently used. 3 Razak wound up the debate denying that 

the PAP was a 'threat from within' but accusing it of championing 

Chinese communal interests. 4 Lee's amendment was rejected r~t the 

~ncident did not end at that. Having been denied the right to reply 

to his critics (despite an assurance from the Speaker that he would 

be accorded that privilege) Lee held a press conference in the 

Parliament and repeated, with extensive documentation, his charges 

that 'extremists' within UMNO were encouraging communal feelings 

among the Malays.5 'The result of Lee's action was a wild and 

1 
Text in The Battle For A Malaysian Malaysia, I (Singapore, 1965) 

pp.5-52. 
2 
..§!, 1 June. 

3 
Ibid., 28 May and 2 June. 

4 
Ibid., 4 June. It was later revealed that the Tunku had avoided 

speaking so as not to exacerbate the situation by publicly attacking 
Lee, ST, 12 June. 
5 
ST, 4 June. 
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uncontrolled spate of charges from both sides'. 1 In the Senate 

debate on the King's apeech Senator Tan, the Alliance Whip, demanded 

that either Singapore should secede or the Government should -'put 

Mr Lee Kuan Yew away to sober him up'. 2 

It was against such a background that the Tunku left for the 

Commonwealth Prime Ministers' conference. The intensity of the 

dispute continued to i~crease despite Lee's meeting with Razak in 

late June. 3 The situation by July may perhaps best be described 

by reference to two highly significant events. 

On 6 July the Federal Government issued an order instructing 

Alex Josey, a British journalist long resident in Singapore, to 

leave Malaysia within two weeks. 4 Josey had previously been 

reporting on Malaysian politics largely for foreign journals5 and 

had travelled extensively with Lee. On 19 June his most recent 

background article had appeared in the Sydney Bulletin6 and depicted 

the growing strength of the Malay 'ultras' in UMNO while the Tunku 

was abroad. A week later the UMNO Youth organisation had demanded 

that Razak not meet Lee and that 1 stronger action' be taken against 

Lee and Josey.7 Thus, while Razak justified Josey's expulsion on 

the grounds that he had interfered in Malaysian domestic politics,8 

Toh Chin Chye der- oribed it as the first sign of the 'suppression of 

liberalism' and an indication that Lee might be arrested.9 Josey 

was helping Lee improve his image overseas, e.s the Tunku indicated, 10 

but this action only further damaged the Alliance's reputation. 11 

Toh1s accusation that the extremists were increasingly directing 

1 
Grossholtz: op.cit., p.233. 

2 
.§!, 8 June. 

3 
Ibid., 30 June. See statements by Khir Johari, ibid., 14 and 22 

June, Ja'afar Albar and Senu, ibid., 25 June; Utusan Zamin, 20 June; 
Utusan Mel~yu, 5 July. 
4 
ST, 7 July. 

5 
Particularly The New Statesman (London) and Bulletin. 

6 
Alex Josey: 'Some Musty Skeletons', Bulletin, 19 June 1965. 

7 
ST, 27 June. 

8 
Ibid., 8 July. 

9 
_Ibid., 9 July. 
10 
Times, 9 July. 

11 
Times, 8 July ( ed) J Creighton :Bums: C. Times, 2·2 JulyJ :Bulletin, 

17 July (ed); Economist, 28 July (ed). 
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the Alliance's policies seemed not without justification1 though 

it was denied that Lee would be arrested. 2 Josey claimed that the 

Government expelled him as a sop to the extremists in order to 

avoid being forced to take more drastic action. 3 But his expulsion 

was a temporary palliative and by the end of the month Utusan Melayu 

was misquoting Razak as having said that Lee was Malaysia's most 

dangerous ene~. 4 

The verbal battle had by that stage come to dominate Malaysian 

politics. In July, following Ong Eng Guan's resignation, a 

by-election was held in Singapore's Hong Lim constituency.5 In a 

straight fight with the Barisan, the P/~ made it clear that it would 

contest the issue on its Malaysian Malaysia platform. 6 The PAP 

attacked the Alliance rather than the Barisan. Lee's opening 

and major oam~ti8fi address was largely a tirade against the Malay 

extremists who 'use two microphones; one for you and me ••• the other 

••• very high frequency in Jawi. You and I do not understand, but 

they do'. 7 He argued that the Barisan could not stand up to 'these 

people's Lee was portraying the PAP as the champion of Singapore 

and non-Malay rights against an oppressive Malay Federal Government. 

On polling day Utusan Melayu came out in favour of the Barisan, 8 

but this did not prevent the PAP candidate being returned with a 

two thousand majority.9 Lee proclaimed this to be a victory for a 

Malaysian Malaysia. 10 Similarly, proposals by Kuala Lumpur that 

Singapore's contribution to federal revenues be reassessed11 and 

1 
Rajaratnam suggested that Josey was the makan kechit for the main 

course, Lee: .§!, 20 July. 
2 
Ibid., 10 July (Razak), 14 July (Tunku). 

3 
Alex Josey: 'My Expulsion From Malaysia', Bulletin, 17 July. 

4 
Utusan Melayu, 31 July; Mirror of Opinion, 2 Aug. 

5 
ST, 17 June. 

6-
Ibid., 18 June and Petir, July 1965. 

7 
Mal~ysian Mirror, 10 July. 

8 
Utusan Melayu, 10 July. 

9 
ST, 11 July. The PAP candidate polled 6,398 votes, the Barisan 

c'indidate 4, 346. 
10 
Ibid •• 

11 
Ibid. , 10 July. 



that the Bank of China1 be closed, were regarded, as Jek Yeun Thong, 

Lee's Political Secretary, claimed, as moves to crush Singapore. 2 

On 5 August the ~unku, who had been forced by illness to extend 

his trip overseas, returned to Malaysia amid hopes that he might 

instil some calm into the situation,3 But clearly there would be 

forces in UMNO obstructing this. The large crowd that met the 

Tunku at the airport o~rried anti-Lee banners4 and there was pressure 

on the Tunku not to meet Lee.5 Nonetheless on 7 August they did 

meet and two days later the Tunku announced in the Dewan Ra'ayat 

the separation of Singapore from Malaysia. He explained& 'there 

have been so many differences with the Singapore Government and 

these differences have taken many forms; so much so that it has 

now come to breaking point •• ,as soon as one issue was resolved, 

another cropped up•. 6 He voiced some specific objections to PAP 

policies: the enlistment of support overeeas,7 its c~ticism of 

the 1965 budget and its lack of contribution to Bornean development. 

He pleaded that two courses had been open to him, suppression or 

separation, and he had taken the latter. But this was far from 

the full story. 

The PAP offered a different explana.tion for the separation, 8 

Essentially it argued that Singapore's 'eviction' was due to the 

Malay extremists: 'The effective non-communal approach of the PAP 

on Malaysia's social and economio problems alarmed the conservative 

and traditionalist leaders of the Alliance ••• and particularly ~~0'.9 
Thus the Malay 'ultras' with the aid of the Malay press appealed 

to Malay communalism to oppose the PAP. Singapore was evicted by 

1 
Ibid., 25 July. 

2 
Ibid. , 29 July. 

3 
ST, 4 Aug (ed). 

4 
Ibid. , 6 Aug. 

5 
Utusan Melayu, 5 and 6 Aug. 

6 
Suara Malaysia, 10 Aug. 

7 
Grossholtz: op.cit., p.238 1 'the appeal of the concept [of 

Malaysian Malaysia] abroad must have been high on the Tunku's 
reasons for separation'. See also P.Boycez 'Singapore's External 
Affairs Power', op.cit •• 
8 
For example, Separation (Singapore, 1965); Patrick J. Kilen1 'How 

Singapore Was Evicted', Mirror, 21 Aug 1965; Lee Kuan Yew in Suara 
Malaysia, 24 Sept. 
9 

Separation, p.6. 
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the Malay moderates who 1) could not resist the ultras, and 2) 

preferred in any case to cooperate with the 'political eunuchs 11 of 

the MCA and MIC. In the context of immediate events this explanation 

is reasonably accurate but it ignores more deep rooted motivations. 

Tho Tunku asserted that he had decided on separation while in 

London, and that on his return he had got the unwilling PAP 
2 Government to sign the Agreement. It seems clear also that tho 

'ultras' were causing oome concern to UMNO's leadership, the Tunku 

admitting as much in a letter explaining his decision to Toh Chin 

Chye (who had been a most reluctant party to it): 'if I wore 

strong enough to be able to exercise complete control of the 

situation I might perhaps have delayed action, but I am not'. But 

the faults did not all lie in Malaya. The PAP was undoubtedly 

motivated by a mixture of ambition and ideology. The party's first 

bid for power on the strength of the non-Malay vote found ideology 

largely subsumed, its second as a non-communal party found the PAP 

re-emphasising the force of ideology. But whatever the PAP's bona 

fide~, within the Malayan political spectrum the PAP was to be 

regarded necessarily as a non-Malay party representing a challenge 

to ~fulay political dominance. 3 As a result 'the disputants tended 

to formulate their differences in Malay-versus-Chinese terms•. 4 

After nearly two decades of politics in that idiom, little else 

could be expected. Politics in Malaya was seen as a zero-sum game 

played by communal groups. The PAP's challenge to stability 

disturbed Malaya because of the party's open discussion of communal 

politics, its hints of reform, its effective propaganda machinery 

and its potential, rather than its actual strength. Although the 

Alliance leaders had similar aspirations for non-communal politics5 

their approach was more gradualist: the PAP, and the countervailing 

force it had excited in UMNO, hindered their policies. Publicly the 

power of both was reduced; the PAP was evicted and Ja'afar Albar 
6 forced to resign. The battle for merger had been lost. 

1 
T_,ee Kuan Yew: ~uara Mala.ysia, 24 Sept. 

2 
Times, 16 Aug. 

3 
Leifer: 'Singapore in Malaysia', op.cit., p.55; R.S.Milnes 

'Singapore's Exit From Malaysia: The Consequences of Ambiguity', 
Asian Survey, March 1966, p.178. 
4 

Grossholtz: op.cit., p.227. 
5 

See Dr Ismail p.295, supra. 
6 
R.Catley: 'Malaysia: The Lost Battle For Merger', Australian 

Q~tlook, April 1967, pp.44-60. 
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The dispute between Kuala Lumpur and Singapore had not gone 

unnoticed in Australia. By May the press was paying some attention 

to the subject and was in general sympathetic with the PAP. Razak's 

suggestion in May, that if Lee were replaced amicable relations 

could be established, came in for particularly heavy criticism, the 

Mercury expressing the opinion that 'the attitude of the Malayan 

Federal leaders to the Premier of Singapore seems to range from 

political immaturity to downright impudence' •1 During the next two 

months the Australian press continued to show concern but began to 

accept a more balanced interpretation. 2 But the setback which the 

dispute represented for Australia's Malaysia policy was not 

questioned. The press also expressed same distaste for Malaysia's 

propensity to take Commonwealth protection for granted. The dispute 

itself, not the issues involved, was Australia's concern and so, it 

was argued, the Government should impartially counsel moderation.3 

The Government gave little indication of what its attitude 

towards the dispute was. Reference has already been made to Menzies' 

effort to persuade Lee to moderate his assault on the Federal 

Government.4 In July the Prime Minister described his attitude 

more openly. Asked at a press conference whether Australia was 

doing anything to bring together the factions in Malaysia, he 

replied: 

We have our diplomatic representatives in Kuala Lumpur 
and Singapore. They both have the closest access to 
the people concerned. I think the differences could 
easily be exaggerated. Anyhow it is in our interest 
••• to see them disappear, and that is our constant 
desire. 5 

In May Hasluck had expressed a similar opinion, that while it was 

'a matter to be worked out by the people of Malaysia ••• we are of 

course closely interested in the outcome' •6 Although it has been 

suggested that Australian officials tended to favour the Alliance,? 

1 
Mercury, 11 May, editorial. See also editorials in Herald, 11 May; 

Canberra Times, 12 May; Sydney~' ~' Daily Telegraph, 18 May. 
2 
For example, Mercury, 24 May; Advertiser, Herald, 28 May; ~~ 

2 June; Daily Telegraph, 3 June and 10 July; West Australian, 
2 Aug; Australian, 21 July. 
3 
Sydney ~~ 24 May; Adelaide ~, 25 May; ~, 2 June; Age, 23 

July; ~. 22 and 26 July. 
4 
See p.278, supra. 

5 

(text from Department of External Affairs • 
7 
Peter Boyce: 'Australia's Diplomacy in Malaya', JSEAH, Sept 1963, 

pp.72-3. 
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Canberra's official posture appears to have been one of impartial 

non-intervention. 

The Tunku, howevGr, did not regard Australia as being impartial. 

At a press conference in August he suggested that Canberra had 

tacitly supported the British Government1 which, according to 

Razak's political secretary, at one stage urged the Alliance to 

take some PAP men into the Federal Cabinet. 2 This was anathema to 

UMNO and led ~any within that party to believe that Lee had the 

sympathy of the British Government, particularly sinoe 1 t was felt 

that the British Labour Party would favour the Pl:P. The Tunku 

later accused 'high British officials of waging an insidioUs 

campaign to split the unity of the people of Malaysia'. 3 To judge 

by the tone of the British press, such feelings,based on British 

sympathy for the PAP were not altogether unjustified. 4 

In Australia the Labor Party had undoubtedly become more 

sympathetic to Malaysia vis-a-vis Indonesiaand Lee with regard to 

the luliance. But if Australian policy towards confrontation was 

bipartisan,5 its strategic rationale was a matter of dispute. The 

ALP opposed the commitment to Vietnam 'firmly and completely 1 ,
6 

rega~ng the position there as being 'somewhat different• 7 from 

that in Malaysia. In fact Whitlam argued that rather than accept 

a new commitment to Vietnam Australia would have done better to 

concentrate her efforts on the defence of Malaysia whose people 

firmly opposed Indonesia, were subjected to a clear case of military 

aggression and had much of the world's sympathy. 8 

1 
Times , 17 Aug. 

2 
Inche Abdullah l~d in Varsity (Official Organ of the Students 

Union, University of Malaya) Dec 4.965, p.14. See also Michael 
Leifer: 'Some South-East J~ian Attitudes', International h!fairs, 
April 1966, pp.224-5J and Michael Leifer1 'Singapore Leaves Malaysia', 
World To4;y, Sept 1965, p.361. 
3 
Guardian (London), 4 Oct 1965, quoted in Leifer: 'South-East l~ian 

Attitudes', p.224. 
4 
See Paul Johnson: New Statesman, 16 July 1965; Times, 10 Aug (ad). 

5 
See Chapter 7, supra; Mr E.G.Whitlam 'Meet 

Melbourne, 1 March 1965 ALP Information Release, No. 5 65 ' 
E. G. Whi tlam Meet The Press Brisbane (ALP Information 
Release, No. 8 65 ; interviews with of the l~P. 
6 

CPD,HR, vol.46, 4 May 1965, p.1102 (Calwell). 
7 
Ibid., p.1121 (Galvin). 

8 
Ibid., 6 May 1965, pp.1253-4; see also ibid., 24-25 May, p.2055 

(Bryant), and 26 May, p.2149 (Benson). 
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haw f'ar 
It had not at first been clear tbuc'W'iaid•4oua11CJ. Lee had 

influenced opinion within the lJWP. When he was in Australia Lee 

had invited a Labor delegation to visit Malaysia. It was reported 

that the Australian Government was apprehensive that the delegation, 

by expressing pro-PJ~ sentiments, might exacerbate the Malaysian 

dispute. 1 On 7 July six senior members of the ALP arrived in 

Singapore. Two days later Whitlam, the leader of the mission, 

made a speech indicating his sympathy for the PAP. He argued that 

it had the 'proper application of democratic principles in the 

political economic and social spheres', which was 'rare in this part 

of the world 1
•
2 In Mal~a Whitlam stressed more heavily the 

bipartisan nature of .Australian support for Malaysia and expressed 

no public sympathy for the Alliance. 3 On return to Sydney Whi tlam 

made this moro apparent when at a press conference he expressed 

concern over the problem of Malay 'ultras', was critical about the 

expulsion of Josey and viewed with some distaete the restrictions 

on the organisation of labour in Borneo and Malaya (but not Singapore). 4 

On 2 August the ALP Federal Conference was convened in Sydney.5 

A general consensus of opinion towards confrontation was evidenced, 

although there remained groups within the party less prepared to 

condemn Indonesia and wishing to express firmer support for the Pl~. 

A motion declaring Indonesia to be 'guilty of aggression against 

Malaysia' was adopted. 6 Motions criticising the Australian press 

for misrepresenting Indonesian policy, calling for a 'withdrawal 

of all foreign troops and bases' from Southeast Asia, and conde~1ing 

Australian military action in Southeast Asia because 'there is no 

evidence of any military threat to Australia', were rejected.? 

Similarly the following motion wao considerably modifieda 

1 
~' 2 June. 

2 
ST, 10 July. 
3-
Ibid., 17 and 18 July. 

4 
~' 24 July. Another mamber of the delegation, Frank Crean, 

expressed similar views in Age, 4 Aug. Interview with leading member 
of the /~P, Canberra. 
5 
Australian Labor Part a Official Re of the Proceedin of the 

2 th Commonwealth Conference, 
6 
Ibid., p.8o. 

'{ 

Ibid., p.81. 



Labor supports the new nation of Malaysia and believes 
that the pending ALP talks with Singapore People's 
Action Party will achieve Labor' s aim that merchant­
class elements should not be allowed to curb the 
rightful demands of the Malaysian people for higher 
living standards. 1 
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The policy of seeking a treaty with Malaysia, the only exception to 

a bipartisan approach with the Government, was retained, 2 but the 

position was rather different from that existing in 1963. The 

Malaysian Government by mid-1965 was prepared to conclude a separate 

treaty with Australia,3 probably owing to its own concern about a 

British military withdrawal. It was still in Australia's interest, 

hcwever, to ensure that it was not to be left as the sole guarantor 

of Malaysia. 

The initial reaction in Australia to Singapore's separation 

was one of dismay and surprise. Press editorials expressed a 

variety of opinions on the subject but were united in their concern. 

One leader writer felt that 'from being an oasis of security in a 

troubled area, Malaysia has ••• become a danger spot in itself' and 

that 'Australia will obviously have to re-examine her attitudes 

and commitments•. 4 But while it was suggested that the event left 

Australian 'foreign policy in confusion',5 most editorials felt 

that Australia should continue to oppose Indonesian confrontation. 6 

There was soma feeling, however, that a new form of association 

with the area's defence might be required, particularly since the 

UK might rethink her own commitment.? 

The Government's reaction differed little from that of the 

press. Australia, like Britain and New Zealand, had not been 

consulted on the issue of separation, the Tunku fearing that the 

ANZAM powers might seek to prevent it. 8 On 9 August Canberra 

received its first notification of the Separation Agreement and it 

1 
Ibid., pp.85-6. 

2 
ALPs Federal Platform ••• J~ the 26th Commonwealth 

Conference, 1965 ALP 1965 
3 

CPD,HR, vol.47, 18 Aug 1965, p.292, Whitlam made this assertion which 
was not denied by the Government. In interTiews Malaysian officials 
confirmed this. 
4 

SMH, 10 Aug. 
5 
Aust, 10 Aug. 

6 
SMH, C.Times, WA, D.Tel, M.Herald, Financial Review, 10 Aug. 

7 
See Times, 10 Aug (ed); Beddie: op.cit., p.6§ Peter Boyce in C.Times, 

11 Aug; Sydney Sun, D.Mirror, 10 Aug~ SMH, 11 and 13 Aug; ~Ne, 12 Aug. 
8 - - ~ 

Times, 12 Aug; P.J.Boyce: 'Singapore As A Sovereign State', 
Australian Outlook, Dec 1965, pp.262-3. 
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was later reported, and not denied, that Menzies had sent a letter 

to tho Tunku complaining that he had not been consulted. 1 On the 

same day Hasluck admitted that the Government 'regretted' the 

separation,2 but Government officials were reported to have thought 

that it might improve relations batween ,Kuala Lumpur and Singapore 

and would not impair their common resistance to confrontation. 3 In 

a statement on 10 August the Prime Minister adopted a more 

optimistic attitude following a meeting of the Cabinet Defence and 

Foreign Affairs Committee. He admitted that Australia had not been 

consulted but said that 'we ••• direct ourselves to the future•. 4 

He expressed approval of the separation arrangements, adding: 

we are glad that the new arrangement recognises that 
the two entities must continue to work together in 
close association ••• we believe that this separation 
should be regarded as the beginning of a new approach 
to the task of working together •••• Various aspects of 
the separation will require examination in some 
detail •••• A central and most important matter is the 
continued and combined defence of the region ••• we are 
determined to play our part with all the other countries 
concerned in continuing a common reaistanc~ to attacks 
upon the Mala.ysian area. 

The Government had thus moved from a posture of dismay to one of 

restrained optimism. It accepted that the 'new approach' could 

bring greater stability, but carefully, in the last sentence quoted, 

guarded against a British withdrawal. 

A situation which had at first appeared serious could be 

regarded in a more sanguine manner. In the Agreement of Separation,5 

provision had been made for cooperation between the two states. 

Article V allowed for the setting up of a joint defence council6 

and for cooperative defence policies, including Malaysia's rights 

to use bases in Singapore, and it forbade either state from entering 

.into agreements with third parties detrimental to the interest of 

the other. Article VI expressed the parties' intent to cooperate 

in economic policies. Within a week the Singapore Government 

indicated the sort of foreign policy it intended to pursue. Although 

1 
Age, 12 Aug; Boyce: op.cit., p.263. 

2 
~' Aug 1965, Po504. 

3 
Age, 10 Aug. 

4 
CNIA, Aug 1965, pp.504-5. 
5-
Text in Suara 1~laysia, 13 Aug 1965. 

6 
Commonwealth diplomats were assured adequate access both to the 

council's meetings and its decisions8 interview G. -:Bo~are (Singapore, 
Secretary to Defence Ministry). 
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both Rajaratnam, the new Foreign Minister, and Loo olaimod to wish 

to implement a non-aligned policy, both made it clear that the 

British bases could romain. Loo argued that this was essential for 

tho well being of tho Singapore economy. 1 The Tunku reaffirmed 

1mlaysia's desire to retain the Commonwealth forces, stressing the 

necessity of resisting communist aggrossion. 2 Shortly after, 

Singapore sent forces to Sabah to assist 1mlaysia's defence against 

confrontation. 3 Thoro seemed to be every likelihood that Australia's 

interests would bo adequately maintained in the now situation. 

On 18 August, Hasluck outlined to Parliament the Government's 

attitude. 4 He argued that 'the basic issues that we face aro 

unchangod ••• tho principles at stake, the natura of the oonflicts 

and tho Australian interests that have to be upheld arc the same'. 

He elaborated on this theme, saying& 

Indonesian pres~ure continues •••• Britain still has commitments. 
Both Malaysia and Singapore face the same defence 
problems and the facilities and resources of both aro 
involved in the common dofonco •••• Tho existing system of 
combined defence has worked well; it is in our interests 
to continue with this existing system. 

Ho wont on to relate Australia's policies towards Malaysia and 

Vietnam to the overall strategy of containing Chinese power. In 

this light, although new arrangements concerning technical issues 

might be necessary, Australia's general policy in the area would 

be unchanged.5 It appears that the British Government came to a 

similar conclusion. 6 

The ALP differed little in its estimation of the situation, as 

Calwell revealed in his speech during the debate on Hasluck's 

statement. Only on two issues did Calwell differ from Hasluck.7 

He argued that the fact that Australia had not been consulted by 

Malaysia showed the necessity of a separate treaty. That the UK, 

who had a treaty with Malaysia, had also not been informed, was 

1 
Times, 13 and 14 Lug, ~' 13 and 14 Aug. 

2 
Times, 14 Aug. 

3 
Ibid., 19 Aug; Creighton Burns: C.Times, 16 Aug. 

4 
CPD,HR, vol.47, 18 Aug 1965, pp.185-94. 

5 
~' Aug 1965, pp.505-6 (Statement by Menzies). 

6 
UKPD,HC, vol.718, 26 Oo~ 1965, col.29Q (Healey); 27 Oct 1965, col. 

151 (Healey); 28 Oct 1965, cols.350-1 (George Brown). 
1 

CPD,HR, vol.47, 18 Aug 1965, pp.195-201. 



306 

ignored by this argument. Calwell, together with other Labor speakers, 1 

also showed that the J\LP's sympathy was strongly with Singapore. 

The secession of Singapore left Malaysia an emasculated 

federation deprived of its raison d'otro. The Borneo states had 

been encouraged to enter the Federation essentially as an adjunct 

to tho Singapore-Malayan merger and in many respects their latent 

conflicts with Kuala Lumpu had been subsumed by confrontation. 2 

But it was qui to clear by 1965 that Malaysian Borneo faced problems 

othar than those provided by Indonesia. 

In Sabah the parties of the Alliance had not evolved the stable 

working relationship characteristic of their Amlayan counterparts. 

In December 1964, differences of opini~n between UPK03 and its 

Alliance partners came to a head on the issue of expatriate 

government employees. The issue was resolved when Donald Stophens, .. 
the charismatic UPKO leader, became Federal Minister for Sabah 

Affairs and Peter Loh succeaded him as Chief Minister. 4 But the 

dispute ran deeper than its ostensible cause suggests. UPKO, a 

Kadazan native party, was strongly Sabah oriented and it was reported 

that many of the party's loaders had sympathies with the PAP's vision 
r:: 

of a Malaysian Malaysia.J The other ~10 major Alliance parties, 

SAN!~6 and USNo, 7 respectively right-wing Chinese and Muslim parties, 

were more strongly oriented towards Malaysia and Kuala Lumpur. 

Further, it had been Ningkan who had successfully mediated in tho 

dispute within the Sabah Alliance after the Tunku had failed to do 

so1thus suggesting a degree of regional solidarity in Mal~sian Borneo. 

From Kuala Lumpur, Canberra or oven Kuching the situation in 

Sarawak looked to be more serious. Apart from having to deal with 

vigorous military confrontation by Indonesia, the state was beset 

by far-reaching internal dissensions. During 1965 Indonesia 

considerably reinforced its ineffective 'volunteers' with well 

1 
Ibid., pp.212-3 (Benson); 19 Aug 1965, p.246 (Devine), p.292 (Whitlam). 

2 
Robert O.Tilman: 'The Sarawak Political Scene', Pacific Affairs, 

Winter 1964-5, p.423. See Chapter Five, supra, p.162 ff. 
3 
The United Pasok Momogun Kadazan Organisation, which was formed in 

June 1964 by merging two native parties. 
4 
.§!, 11, 12, 18 and 19 Dec 1964. 

5 
Harvey Stockwin z •storm Over Sabah', FEER, 7 Jan 1965, PP• 6-7. 

6 
The Sabah National Party which became in June 1965 the Sabah Chinese 

Association. 
7 
The Unitel Sabah National Organisation. 
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trained forces: infiltrators began to be a serious, albeit 

smallscale menace. Further, the raiders received cooperation from 

the COO, members of which sometimes operated in an independent 

capacity. On 27 June a combined Indonesian- COO raiding group,, 

apparently with local assistance, attacked a police post and killed 

two policemen. One was Ningkan's brother. 1 On 6 July, Security 

Forces, including British units, began resettling Chinese in 

'Operation Hammer' in a style reminiscent of the 1fulayan Emergency's 

strategic hamlet policy. 2 At first, 4,200 were moved from the 

Serian Road but a total of some 50,000 were eventually expected to 

be included in the plan. The seriousness of the situation was only 

emphasised when CCO military training camps wore found and it was 

revealed that the organisation had successfully recruited native 

members, particularly among Third Divions Ibans. 3 

Within Kuching things wore little better. 4 Ningkan, like 

Stephens, was concerned with states' rights, perhaps to an extent 

which Kuala Lumpur found distastefu1.5 Further, in May he introduced 

a land reform bill designed to placate the Chinese smallholders, but 

was forced to withdraw it after it encountered strong native 

opposition within the Alliance. 6 This was followed by a serious 

leadership crisis within the Alliance: Ningkan narrowly missed 

deposition.? The major opposition party, SUPP, was also not 

without its troubles. At its 1965 General Meeting the moderate 

leadership, including Stephen Yong and Ong Kee Hui, resigned after 

the party refused to accept membership of the MSC unless the Barisan 

was admitted. 8 Although the leadership was later reinstated (after 

SUPP had left the MSC) it seemed clear that its control over the 

party was t3nuous. 

The secession of Singapore had repercussions in Borneo, where 

the peremptory treatment (as many Borneans saw it) which the PAP 

received at the hands of Kuala Lumpur was not well received. Many 

1 
ST, 28 June. 

2 
Ibid., 7 June. 

3 
Ibid., 4 July. Seo Justus M. van der Kroofa 'Communism in Sarawak 

Today', Asian Survey, Oct 1966, pp.568-79. 
4 
See Tilman: op.cit., pp.412-25, and Chapter Five, supra. 

5 
See Chapter Five, supra. 

6 
ST, 12 May. 

7 
Ibid., 18, 19, 20, 21 and 22 May. 

8 
Ibid. , 28 June. 
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were appr ehensive of Malay intentions and j ealous of thoir state's 

rights against tho federal powers. It was soon evident that even 

in state government circles it was telt that a reassessment of the 

federal arrangement would be desirable. The Tunku quickly let it 
1 be known that this was unacceptable. In a hasty tour of the Borneo 

states ho warned that force would be usod against any secessionist 
2 movement. This action was ill-received in the Australian press, 

which generally considered Bornean desires to be legitimate, and tho 

Tunku to bo high-handed in expelling Singapore yet forcefully 

preventing the Borneo states from seceding voluntarily. 3 

On 23 August the London Times reported that, although Donald 

Stephens had accepted SingapoTo 1 s secession while in Kuala Lumpur, 

on return to Jessleton ho had found that there was talk within UPKO 

of Sabah's seceding. He was pursuaded that Sabah's position within 

Malaysia should be renegotiated. This request was denied by Kuala 

Lumpur so he resigned, possible under some Federal pressure. The 

paper also· reported that the ANZAM powers had informed the Jesselton 

authorities that Sabah would not necessarily receive their 

protection if the state seceded. 

In Parliament the following day Hasluck, in answer to a question 

flatly denied that Australia would assist the Afulaysian Government 

in arresting supporters of secession in Borneo. 4 On the issue of 

defence assistance he was more equivocal. In reply to a question 

by Whitlam he asserted: 

These statements [in the Times] are without any foundation 
whatsoever. The position of the Government is that it 
has renewed its commitment to Malaysia in words that 
were carefully chosen by the Prime Ministar •••• We would 
undoubtedly find it much easier if combined defence 
arrangements were made. 5 

Similarly Holyoako denied the reports but admittad that New Zealand 

would have to 'rethink' the position if Sabah seceded. 6 

1 
Slffi, 14 Aug. 

2 
Ago, 21 .Aug. 

3 
Aust, M. Herald, !2££, 23 Aug; Creighton Burns a Age, 23 Aug. 

4 
CPD,HR, vol.47, 24 Aug 1965, p.322. 

5 
Ibid. , pp. 322-3. 

6 
C. Times, 25 Aug. 
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Despite Hasluck's evasiveness there seems little doubt that the 

Times report was substantially accurate. The Tunku said publicly 

in Sandakan that the ANZAM powers would not defend Sabah if that 

state secedcd1 and later reiterated this in Kuala Lumpur, adding 

that Hasluck's statement was a 'sudden change', attributable to the 

fact that Sabaj1 1 s secession was by then unlikely. 2 Peter Loh 

argued that Sabah could not secede because it would be defencaless. 3 

These contentions were largely borne out by Hasluck's statemont of 

18 ~ugust, in which he said& 

It is, of course, quite obvious that considerable 
difficulties would be caused for us if it were a 
matter of entering into separate and possibly differing 
comui tmon ts with a variGty of authorities. Nor of 
course would we have the moans in terms of military 
capability to make a series of substantial commitments.4 

Nothing in Menzies' statement of 10 August invalidates this 

conclusion. Australia had been a party principal to the re-creation 

of Mala.ysian unity. 5 fut for all that it is difficult to disagree 

with the Nation's contention that the addition of the Borneo states 

had been only useful because it was a sine gua non for the merging 

of Singapore with Malaya; 'for Australia, our particular interests 

••• were never served by the addition of Sabah and Sarawak to the 

fundamental merger•. 6 While this may have been the case in 1961 and 

1962, in 1965 Australia was anxious to coDtain Indonesia's aggression 

against those Borneo states. Canberra estimated that this could 

be done more effectively if they remained in Malaysia. 

In 1965 Australia accepted that China posed the most serious 

threat to her security. During the first two years of the Malaysia 

dispute there had been a certain ambiguity in Australia's attitude 

towards Indonesia. Djakarta's policy was soon as posing a threat 

to Australia's strategy and interests in Southeast .Asia, particularly 

due to its opposition to the Western presence in the region, rather 

than a direct threat to Australia. In addition Australia wished to 

1 
Times, 24 Aug. 

2 
SMH, 26 Aug. 

3 
C, Times, 25 Aug. 

4 
CPDzHR, vol.47, 18 Aug 1965, p.187. 

5 
See Creighton fume& Age, 28 Aug; Dennis Warner: .§!!!, 27 Aug, 

2 and 3 Sept. The contentions were substantiated by senior officials 
of both the Sabah and Australian Governments in interviews at 
Jesselton,May 1966 and Canberra, July 1966. 
6 

'The Warners', Nation, 4 Sopt 1965. 



310 

establish a friendly relationship with Djakarta. B.y 1965 this 

policy had undergone significant changes. The Australian Government 

had become apprehensive about the Sino-Indonesian entente which 

threatened to produce an extension of Chinese and communist 

influence in Southeast Asia, tho prevention of which was a basic 

objective of Australian foreign policy. Australia's military 

contributioneto both Malaysia and Vietnam were claimed to be part 

of a general strategy designed to prevent the spread of Chinese 

influence, which was depicted as emanating from Djakarta and Hanoi. 

Concurrently, relations between the US and Indonesia deteriorated, 

due partly to their conflicting attitudes towards Malaysia, and 

Djakarta moved towards Poking and Hanoi. The situation in Southeast 

Asia polarised around two camps: tho ono centred on the Western­

supported governments of Saigon and Kuala Lumpur; the other around 

their immediate adversaries, the NLF and Indonesia. But while 

the participants were prepared to oquato the two issues and relate 

each to their overall ~rategy, the situations in Vietnam and the 

Malay world differed. Australia adopted different policies towards 

the disputes and, while the Government publicly sought to identify 

the two situations, it would appear that it was aware of the 

distinctions. In Vietnam Australia committed herself unequivocally 

to the Junorican cause and expressed only hostility towards her 

opponents. Conversely, despite Canberra's efforts and those of the 

US, Indonesia became apparently irrevocabl' committed to an 

anti-\Vestern posture. For Australia this was the most serious of 

the developments which accompanied the formation of Malaysia. 

The separation of Singapore from Malaysia did not prove to be 

as disastrous as Australia had at first anticipated. By 1965 the 

problems which the city-state could create for her pro-Western 

neighbours by producing a pro-Poking government, seemed unlikely 

to materialise. Th0 PAP had assumed the political ascendancy and 

seemed unlikely to lose power to the Barisan. In contrast to 1961, 

Singapore appeared to present Kuala Lumpur with fewer problems as 

an independent state than it would as a member of the Federation. 

In any case merger was no longer acceptable to Kuala Lumpur. 

If the ANZAM powers had thought it necessary to defend 

Malaysia there was no reason for them to withdraw support from its 

two successor states. Both Malaysia and Singapore remained 

opposed to Indonesian policy and their dispute had developed 

independa.tly of confrontation. But the situation, as far as Austral; .... 
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was concerned, had deteriorated. In the Borneo states some 

dissatisfaction with Malaysia existed and a more sympathetic policy 

on the part of the federal government oould have made it unnecessar,y 

for the "~ZAM powers to prevent Sabah's seceding. In general 

Australia was committed to defending a region loss united than when 

that commitment had been accepted, while the possibility of a 

British withdrawal from the rogion within the foreseeable futuro 

had increased. Certainly, Australia could no longer depend on the 

continuing existence of ANZAM as a standing arrangement. Finally, 

Indonesia had adopted a posture which made it difficult for Australia 

to achieve a major foreign policy objective, friendship with Indonesia. 

Unexpectedly one of these issues was quickly resolved in Australia's 

favour. 

The separation of Singapore from Malaysia did nothing to alter 

Djakarta's policy and confrontation was continued against both states. 

Her assaults on independent Singapore only seemed to be further 

indication that Indonesia was less concerned about the desires of 

Bornean Malaysians than she had publicly claimed. In his Independence 

Day !~dress, on 17 August 1965, Sukarno paid little attention to 

Malaysia but launched an attack on Western policy in Asia generally . 

declaring: 'we are building an anti-imperialist axis, namely the 

axis of Djakarta- Phnom Penh- Hanoi- Poking- Pyongyang'. 1 Ho 

voiced Indonesian support for North Vietnam against American 

'aggression' and criticised vehemently 'the USA which is giving 

aativa aid to neo-colonialist "Malaysia." •. 2 

Australian and Indonesian policies in Southeast Asia wore 

directly opposed. On 2 September Hasluck restated Australia's 

determination to support Malaysia and Singapore against Indonesia 

where, he declared, 'it is still a question for debate whether or 

not a communist party will succeed to power•. 3 He reaffirmed 

Australia's support for the Saigon Government. Tho basis appeared 

to exist for tho development of a hostile relationship between 

Indonesia and Australia, particularly since the two etatos had 

fundamentally conflicting attitudes towards regional security. On 

1 
Address b tho 

Self-Reliance' , 
2 
Ibid., p.18. 

3 
CNIA, Sopt 1965, p.54~ - . 

blic of Indonesia 'A Year of 
Indonesian Embassy, Canberra • 
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30 September this situation was radically transformed when a group 

of dissident Indonesian army officere, apparently with support of 

the PKI and perhaps Sukarno, sought to purge the higher echolone 

of the armed services of anti-communists and install a loft wing 

government. 1 Tho attempt failed. In its aftermath the structure 

of the Indonesian Govc~ant was completely altered, and with it 

tho orientation of Indonesian foreign policy. Djakarta turned to 
economic dovolopmont with Western assistance, and confrontation of 

Malaysia was, in duo course, ended. For Australia the problams 

presented by confrontation wore over. 

The abortive coup in Indonesia and its repercussions are 

outside the scope of this study. But it should be emphasised that 

the oourse of events in Djakarta occnrrod largely indopondontly of 

Australian policy, although a moro forceful policy on the part 

of Malaysia's defenders, particularly had it involved retaliatory 

activities, could have led to a mora permanent anti-Western posture 

on tho part of Indonesia. The moderation which tho Australian 

Government demonstrated throughout confrontation enabled Canberra 

to establish quickly a friendly relationship with Indonesia aftor 

the ending of confrontation. But to somo extent this is to apply 

ox post facto reasoning. In August 1965 it soomod likely that 

Australia would be forced to sacrifice ono of h~r interests, 

friendship with Indonesia, for a more fundamental objective of 

her foreign policy, namely, a continuing Western presence in Southeast 

Asia. 

1 
See L.Castles: 'Coup and Counter-coup in Indonesia', Australia's 

Neighbours, Nov-Doe 1965, pp.5-7J Hindley: 'Political Power and 
the October 1965 Coup in Indonesia1; la. 1anam1 ~x 'The Coup 
That Failed' o 
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CONCLUSION 

The central thesis of Albinski's extensive treatment of Australia's 

policy towards China is that 'the presence and influence of Communist 

China has been a central concern, perhaps even a preoccupation' for 

Australia. 1 While this may overstate the case, what Albinski calls 

'the China factor' is to be found in most aspects of Australia's 

policy towards Southeast Asia. It had a significant affect on the 

formulation of the post-war defence in depth strategy and was 

influential in Australia's policy towards Indonesia's confrontation 

of the Malaysian Federation. An examination of the accuracy of 

Australia's perception of China as an aggressive, expansionist 

power seeking to exert hegemony over Southeast Asia and eo threaten 

Australia, is beyond the scope of this study. But the issue cannot 

be completely ignored. From the examdnation which has been 

presented of the situation in both Malaysia and Indonesia, the 

conclusion might bo drawn that if China ware seeking to expand her 

influence this was not to be achieved on the Japanese pattern of 

international aggression. In the Malaysian states the existence 

of political parties sympathetic to Peking was largely a result of 

the expression, overseas~ of Chinese nationalism. There was little 

evidence that China provided material assistance to those groups. 

Whether tho Chinese communists, as distinct from the KYT, wished 

the Nanyang Chinese to retain and express their Chinese identity 
~ 

is also .. open to question. Such a policy could oroata an obstacle 

to any ambitions which China might have for exercising eventual 

hegemony over the region, for the Nanyang Chinese, by. retaining 

their separate identity, have engendered animosities (and to some 

extant Sinophobia) among the indigenous populations of Malaysia and 

other Southeast Asian states. Similarly, the increase in the 

strength of the PKI in Indonesia was due to internal political 

factors and was only marginally influenced by Chinese policy. On 

this basis, it would appear that the strength of communist movements 

in Malaysia and Indonesia was a function of local political forces 

rather than aggression. But those communist movements were sympath~+.~ 

to Peking, and to the extent that both they and China favoured the 

1 
Albinski: Australian Policies and Attitudes Towards China, p.450. 
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eviction of the Western presence from Southeast Asia, their objectives 

conflicted with those of Australia. 

Australia adopted a long term strategy of seeking to prevent 

the extension of communist influence in Southeast Asia. The clearest 

manifestation of this policy was the pursuit of defence in depth. 

By encouraging and abetting the Western presence in the region 

Australia hoped to avoid a change in tho r egional distribution of 

power which would lead to an increase in China's influence. The 

desire for 'stability' in the region, so frequently professed by 

Australian politicians as their primary objective, may be partly 

attributed to that policy: the maintenance of ·the status quo where 

it was deemed to be in Australia's interests. 1 And yet the China 

factor does not fully explain Canberra's desire ~or stability in 

Southeast Asia. In common with most states, Australia desired her 
2 immediate environs to be 'a tranquil area'. This was accentuated 

by A~stralia's direct responsibility for 1~o defence of Papua-New 

Guinea. Indonesia's confrontation policy threatened both of 

Australia's primary objectives in Southeast Asia: it disrupted the 

stability of the region and seemed likely to assist in the extensj~~ 

of Chinese and communist influence. On both counts Australia 

estimated that Indonesia should bo chocked. 

During the 1950s Australia had stationed forces in Malaya 

partly that they might be used to help counter the extension of 

communist influence in Southeast Asia, and partly to defend Malaya. 

Australian participation in the development of ANZAM, the establishment 

of the Commonwealth Strategic Reserve and the formation of Malaysia 

were all aspects of the strategy of defence in depth and the 

preservation of stability. In 1961 Australia was concerned at the 

growing strength of the anti-Western and possibly pro-Peking forces 

in Singapore ; by 1964 the strength of similar forces in Indonesia 

wa.s .:;ausing soma alarm. By 1965 AUstralia found it necessary to 

defend a position which it had established in Malaya to prevent 'the 

southward thrust of communism', against attack from Indonesia. Tl· · . 

had not been envisaged as one of the functions of the Australian 

forces in Malaya and was an unwelcome diversion. But even ~._f the 

commitment of Australian forces to Malaya had been based on ~1 

1 
The change of government in Indonesia following the abortive ooup, 

for example , even though it was reported to haYe involved a bloody 
purge of the PKI, was greeted with some satisfaction. 
2 
Sir Garfield Barwick: 'Australia's Foreign Relations', in John 

Wilkes (ed) g Australia's Defence and Foreign Policy, p.16, See 
p. 205 , supra. 
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erroneous view~ a.bout a likely comnunist threat and the concomitant 

desire to draw A~~tralia's defence perimeter in Indo-China, 

Australia's commi.tment to the defence of Malaysia rested on finner 

foundations. Despite ALP claims, few Malaysians opposed the 

presence of the Commonwealth forces, particularly after the 

commencement of Indonesia's attacks on the Federation. Having 

accepted the obligation to help defend Malaya, it would have been 

difficult for Australia to have avoided helping resist the 

Indonesian attacks on Malaysia. Only the rejection of the Malaysia 

plan during its fonnative stages and the withdrawal of Australian 

forces would have made that possible. Australia was helping to 

check tho extension of communist influence, was opposing instability 

and was resisting aggression. 

The deployment of Australian forces to those areas of Malaysia 

which in fact required defending, involved more complex decisions. 

Australian policy was subject to influencesother than the estimation 

that Indonesia was pursuing a policy of aggression against Malaysia. 

The Australian Government had to consider the effect which its 

Malaysia policy might have on its own domestic situation and on 

Australia's overall international position. 

In 1961 the Malaysia plan was accepted rather than applauded 

by Canberra, yet it was attractive to Australia for a number of 

reasons. Malaysia promised to prevent anti-Western elements in 

Singapore from attaining power. In 1961 the Barisan Socialis was 

deemed a potential threat to Australian interests, for if it came 

to power the party seemed likely to adopt a pro-Peking policy and 

certainly force the British to vacate their bases in Singapore. 

The development of Malaysia coincided with (though did not 

necessarily lead to) the demise of the Barisan. By 1965 the Alliance 

and the PAP were firmly established as the governments of Malaysia 

and Singapore respectively. The same 'orderly act of decolonisation' 

seemed likely to prevent serious difficulties arising over the 

future of the British Borneo territories, which, as colonial enclaves , 

appeared to be potential sources of threats to 'stability~. 

But in this process Australia was largely a bystander, for 

Britain was the military guarantor of Malaysia. Given Britain's 

dominant position in the ANZAM arrangement and Australia's 

traditional reliance on British defence planning (a dependence which 

had been considerably reduced but not eliminated in the post-war 

years) it might appear that Canberra's policy towards Malaysia was 

determined by that of London. Only indirectly was this the case. 
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· It seems possible that Britain viewed the Malaysia plan as an 

opportunity for divesting herself of her remaining colonial 

possessions in Southeast Asia preparatory to a withdrawal from the 

area. The concurrent negotiations for British entry into the EEC . 

would appear to lend weight to the possibility that the UK was 

socking to roduco her military commitments in the region. Australia 

was aware of this possibility and sought to guard herself against 

the contineency by associating herself with Malaysia's defence only 

via the British commitment. Australian and British interests did 

not necessarily coincide, as had been quite apparent during the 

West Irian dispute. On the question of Malaysia and confrontation 

the two countries' interests diverged (or potentially diverged) in 

two major rospectsg Australia did not wish the British to withdraw 

from Southeast Asia, while London could well see it as being in 

British interests to accomplish a withdrawal; and Canberra was more 

concern0d than London to retain a rapport with Indonesia. As a 

result tho policies adopted by tho two countries differed. 

During the e~rly stages of the Malaysia plan, in 1961 and 1962, 
Australian objectives coincided with those of the UK, and Canberra 

was satisfied with the progress that was being made towards the 

federation of territories involved. As a result of this acceptance 

of the Malaysia plan under relatively straightforward circumstances, 

Canberra was later to find itself involved in a more difficult 

situation. Once Indonesian opposition to Malaysia became app~r~A~ 

Australian policy and interests became distinct from those of the 

UK, particularly with respect to Indonesia. 

During 1963, boforo the formation of Malaysia, Australia 

generally approved o! the British policy of firm support for the 

federation's potential member states, a policy which prevented 

Indonesia from attaining her objectives by force. This enabled 

Australia to pursue a policy of seeking to parsuade Indonesia to 

2 ~oept tho proposed federation. In the light of later developments 

it would seem that the Australian policy had but faint hope of 

success. Nonetheless, givon that Australian interests lay in a 

negotiated settlement, that objective was certainly worth pursuing. 

After the fo1~tion of Malaysia, it soomed that Indonesian policy 

had become (if it had not always been) too intractable for a 

negotiated settlement to be possible. Australia then adopted a 

policy of 'g~aduated response'. This was again dependent on 

Britain's willingness to maintain her firm position as the primar.y 

guarantor of Malaysia. The Australian commitment to Malaysia was 
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increased as Indonesia intensified her pressure on the Federation 

and evidenced greater belligerency. But Australia still tried to 

avoid, if possible, breaking the existing rapport between Canberra 

and Djakarta. It was also hoped that if the Australian commitment 

was backed by the us, it might carry some deterrent value. There 

is little eviden.co that the policy did operate at tho level of 

deterrence and some possibility that it was counter-productive and 

resulted in Indonesia's taking an ovon more strongly anti-Western 

position. 

B.y 1965 Australian policy had again fallen in lino with that 

of tho UK. As Indonesia had by than mounted military attacks on 

an area, the Malayan peninsula, which Menzies had long since 

depicted as 'more vital' to Australian security 'properly understood 

than somo points on the Australian coast', it is difficult to see 

how Australia could have avoided direct military action in the 

defence of Malaysia against Indonesia. B.y that stage it appeared 

that Indonesian arguments about self-determination in Borneo were 

a facade, and that Djakarta was more intent on destroying that which 

Australia rogardod as vital to her security: a Western military 

presence in Southeast Asia. 

Australia made an independent analysis of her interests and 

implemented an independent policy. Her appraisal of the situation 

in the Malay world was, by and large, accurate and perceptive. 

Canberra's policy towards the West Irian dispute was, perhaps, o~~~ 

to some criticism, but given the strength of Australian public 

foaling on the subject ~nd the Australian militar,y appraisal of the 

situation, the Government's position was understandable. In any 

case in 1962 Canberra quickly readjusted her policy and earned no 

lasting Indonesian enmity. Perhaps more significant was the fact 

that, although Australia had sought to safeguard herself against 

the repercussions of a British withdrawal from Southeast Asia, 

Canberra too readily accepted British assurances that the UK was 

prepared to maintain a substantial active interest in the region, 

particularly if she received adequate cooperation from her allies. 

By August 1965 it was becoming clear that those British assurances 

were subject to considerable qualification and that the UK would, 

like Australia, determine her policy on the basis of what she 

considered to be her interests. Despite the soliciting of the 

Australian Government, it appeared that the defence of Malaysia 

against Indonesian confrontation might be the last significant 

militar,y commitment that the UK would undertake in Southeast Asia. 



Australia's relationship with the US was in many respects 

similar to that with tho UK, except that since the mid-1950s the 
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US alliance had coma to bo seen as the cornorstono of Australian 

security. But a coincidence of Australian and American interests 

could not bo assumed, This was most sharply revealed when American 

activity during the closing stages of the West Irian dispute forced 

a reversal of Australian policy. Like the UK and Australia, the US 

made and acted upon her own assessment of hor interests. Throughout 

tho Malaysia dispute Canberra was anxious to got US backing for 

the position of tho ANZAM powers. Australia was in tho almost 

classic position of a small power with regard to a larger, dominant 

ally: she sought US backing for her own position which the US, 

mora concor.nod with tho overall situation, was reluctant to give. 

N8Uchtcrlein's study of Thai policy towards the US in respect to 

evonts in Laos in the early 1960s provides a parallel. In the oase 

of Australian policy towards Viotne~ a different situation obtained. 

Although Australia supported US policy in South Vietnam, sho was 

reluctant to involve herself on any significant scale and only 

conmi ttod comba.t forcos aftor .American prompting. 1 In the case of 

West Irian, the US alliance had provided Australia with no support; 

quite the reverse, American policy hnd lod to Australia's abandoning 

a position which she had hold for cloven years. On the Malaysia 

question, the alliance had brought Australia limited support~ in 

Vietnam it had brought an involvement which was unwelcome, at 

least in its proportions. 

fut tho complexities of Australia's conmitmont to Malaysia wore 

chiefly a product of Canberra's continuing desire to maintain 

friendly r elations with Indonesia. By late 1964 it was apparent 

that Indonesia's policy towards M8.laysia was aggressive. B.y that 

stage Djakarta made little pretence about this but sought rather 

to justify that policy, largely in torms of the export of th0 

Indonesian rovolution. 2 Malaysia was friendly with the West and 

capitalist g the Federation was, thoroforo, a noocolonialist 

project and antle!rlati~li'rail Asian values . Indonesia did not 

1 
Ono noted Austrnlian academic has suggested that 1 perhaps "demanded" 

is not too strong a word', T.B.Millar: 'Australia and the Dofenoe of 
South-East Asia.', public lecture, Canberra , 10 June 1965, ANU in 
cooperation with the AIIA, mimoo, p.12. Having committed thoao 
forces, tho Aus tralian Government than proved to bo ono of the most 
vociferous proponents of the Western acmmitment to South Vietnam. 
2 

Sea Donald E. Wentherboe : IdeologY in Indonesial Sukarno'a 
Indonesian Revolution (Southeast Asia Studios , Yale University, 
Monograph Series, No.8, 1966) osp. p.57. 
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rooognise the Federation and so could not commit 'aggression' against 

it. In any case the concept of aggression was a part of tho Wostor.n 

logal system by which Indonesia did not doom horsolf to bo bound. 

Indonesia, as tho vanguard of tho Now Emerging Foroos, did not 

accept the pr.inoiple of ceexistonco with the Old Established Forcos, 

of which Malaysia was a product. But it was on that vary OLDER> 

prosonco in Southeast Asia that Australia felt that her security 

deponde~. Malaysia's political moras wore in direct contradiction 

to those of Indonesia, and Kuala Lumpur saw no reason not to remain 

on friendly terms with the West and indeed dependent on tho UK for 

defence. Malaysia was less concerned with the 'social revolution' 

than with economic development on the Western pattern. But to deny 

tho population of a state the right to construct a particular 

political system and to adopt a particular international posture, 

was a principle that IndoneSia herself did not accept. Similarly, 

it was unacceptable to Australia, particularly since Malaysia's 

posture conformed to Australian interests. 

It might be argued that if the UK had not provided Malaysia with 

adequate military support then Kuala Lumpur would have been forced 

to adjust to a local distribution of power. This may be true, bu·i; 

it is difficult to contest the right of a sovereign state to seek 

assistance against attack from whatever quarter it may be obtained. 

While it might be further argued that Malaysia was in some way 

'unnatural' and a product of imperialism, 1 the same could be said 

of Indonesia. In the post-imperialist world the question of 

statehood and the related issue of self-determination involve 

considerable difficulties. As Ivor Jennings has argued8 'On the 

surface it seemed reasonable~ let the people decide. It was in 

f act ridiculous because the people cannot decide until somebody 

decides who are the people'. 2 In the case of Malaysia the state h:vl 

been created and the poople defined as a result of both imperialism 

and local political factors. Although those people disagreed among 

themselves, few wero ready to support the Indonesians. The 

legitimacy of Australia's support for those people io difficult to 

contest, especially when it was based, in Barwick's words, on 

'upholding the principle of non-interference in the do.mestio 
\. 

affairs of another country and ••• respoct for the po~tical and 

1 
See Fanner Brockway: 'Malaysia-Indonesia Issue', Eastern World, July 

1965, p.7 '!!f. 
2 

W. Ivor J ennings g Dl.e Approach To Self-Government {Cambridge UP, 
1956) p.56. 



territorial integrity of other nations'. There was little doubt 

that Indonesia was transgressing a principle which had boon 

vociferously supported by the Afro-Asian states - the principle 

of self-determination. Indonesia's propounding of tho slogan 

'Asia for the Asians' was no mask for this fact. 
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But oven having recognised that Indonesia was pursuing a policy 

of international aggression based on the right of NEFO, as defined 

by Djakarta, to pursue such aggression, it may still be questioned 

whether it was in Australia's interests to oppose Indo~oeian 

policy. It might be assorted tha t it was of paramount importance 

for Australia to retain good relations with Indonesia, that the 

commitment to Malaysia should have boon avoided o~ abandoned in 

order to retain Djakarta's good will, and that tho UK would have 

defended Malaysia in any case and the eAditional Australian 

assistance was of little military value. Those arguments have 

some validity. 

During the period under examination Indonesia did not pose a 

direct military throat to A~stralia. 1 The Australian Gover.nmont 

appears to have been appreciative of this. During 1963 whon thoro 

was considerable public discussions of Indonesia's capability to 

bomb Australia's cities without the RAAF being able to retaliate, 

the Government gave no indication of serious concern about the 

matter. In November 1963 the Government announced that the 

deficiency in the striking power of the P~ was to bo remedied by 

the purchase of twenty four F-111s. Given that the announcement 

was made shortly beforo the federal election and that the F-111s 

seemed unlikely (even then) to be in service before 1968, it would 

seem that tho timing of the purchase was motivated as much by 

electoral considerations as by apprehensions about Indonesian air 

superiority. 

Indonesia could have been, however, a most unsatisfactory 

neighbour in New Guinea. The same situation that had produced 

confrontation against ~~laysia could have arisen with respect to 

Papua-Now Guinea, with Indonesia supporting or instigating a 

'liberation movement' in the territor.y. Thoro was some indication 

that the Government was seriously concerned at this possibility. 2 

1 
See Millarg Australia's Defence, pp. 59-67, for a discussion of 

this issue. 
2 
It is not clear how seriously concerned the Government was. Ono 

official told the author that the Government did not really expect 
Indonesia to prove 'troublesome 1 in New Guinea. 
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But after some pub~ic consideration of the issue in May and June 

1963 (apparently designed to ensure that Australian public opinion 

and Indonesia wore aware of the applicability of ANZUS to East Now 
m~cs..~ ~,,., -~et'II.~"-

Guinoa) tho Government ~-~ to the subject. It was 

only publicly mentioned again in lata 1964 and than, significantly, 

by Monzies during the Sonata election campaign. Indonesia also 

caused some concern in Australia because of her efforts to disrupt 

the alliance systam upon which Australia felt her security to bo 

dependent: Indonesia was a threat both to the Western presence in 

Southeast Asia and to Malaysia, a state which Menzios complimented 

as 'willing at all times to resist the nods'. 1 

From 1963 to 1965 Australia became increasingly oonoornod at 

the direction of Indonesian policy, a concern only heightened by the 

growth of the Sino-Indonesian entente. It might be contended, as it 

was by Sukarno, that Indonesia's growing anti-Western orientation 

was a product of the 1~laysia dispute. It seems mora probable 

that Indonesia's confrontation policy was the product of more deep 

rooted factors. Sukarno had begun to develop his NEFO-OLDEFO 

dialectic by 1961, and the PKI had assumed a strong position 

before the Malaysia dispute. Confrontation was a manifestation, 

not the cause, of Indonesia's increasing alienation from the West, 

and was an external projection of Indonesia's internal political 

structure and instability. Although Australia. sought good relations 

with Indonesia, they could not be achieved while Djakarta pursued 

a policy which Canberra regarded as fundamentally inimicable to 

.Australian interests. Under the leadership of Prosidont Sukarno, 

Indonesia was a disruptive force in Southeast Asia and did not 

feel herself to be bound by the conventional rules of international 

behaviour. She was a nuisance to Australia in Southeast Asia and 

could prove to bo one in New Guinea. In part, Australian policy 

was designed to confine and discipline her. 

In contrast, the formation of Malaysia seemed to be ver.y much 

in Australia's interests. During 1961 and 1962 the federation 

was being planned la~gely by indigenous political groups to provide 

a general solution to the problems which appeared to be presented 

by the future of Singapore and the Borneo states. It was tho 

Barisan's local political opponents that sought to prevent the 

party from coming to power. In retrospoot, the Malaysia plan does 

seem to have been an exaggerated response to the power of the Barisan, 

for it seems that the PAP would have assumed the political ascendancy 

without the creation of the Federation. But this only became 

1 
CPD, HR, vol.44, 10 Nov 1964, p.2716. 
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apparent after tho Singapore elections of 1963. In 1961 and 1962 
Singapore's political futuro was uncertain and the Malaysia plan 

did appear to offer tho moans for either maintaining tho PAP 

Government or ensuring that a Bariean victory would bring no 

consoquoncos which Kuala Lumpur could not control. This seemed to 

bo in tho interests of tho AlfZAM powore. 

The creation of Malaysia was accompanied by the growth o~ tho 

bitter dispute between the Alliance and tho PAP. Australian 

interests were sorvod while both parties retained power and cooperated 

with oach other, either within or outside the framework of the 

Malaysian Federation. As by 1965 the rift between the two parties 

was too great to bo easily broached, the socession of Singapore was 

not necessarily against Australian interests, as Canberra oame to 

recognise. The problems presented by Malaysian Borneo were 1~ ..... 

easily soluble. Tho Mqlaysia plan had offered an attractive ' • 

opportunity to the Borneo states, particularly in view of the 

economic assistance which the Malayan and Singaporean Governments 

had offered. But after the creation of the Federation, the Borneo 

states found cause for dissatisfaction which oulminated, in the case 

of Sabah, in a desire to sooode. In view of the efforts which the 

ANZAM powers had mado to defend Sabah against Indonesian 

confrontation, and Sabah's continuing opposition to Indonesia's 

policy, the efforts of London and Cru1borra to prevent Sabah's 

secession wore understandable. In any case, had confrontation bean 

continued against an independent Sabah, as it had against the 

Rerublic of Singapore, tho difficulties of defending that stato 

could have proved considerable. As tho broach between Josselton 

and Kuala Lwnpur was not of unbridg\blo proportions, Britain and 
"' Australia wore ablo to maintain their interests with a minimum of 

pressure on 11ho Sabah Govemm0..nt. 

Dospito those tensions within Malaysia, Australia was not 

helping to maintain the position of an unpopular Government in the 

face of domestic opposition. There wore soma olomonts of such a 

situation in the case of Sabah, but the state had no intention of 

succumbing to Indonesia and chose to remain within Malaysia in 

order to receive maximum protection. In any caso, the rapidity 

with which the secessionist movomoht collapsed indicated that its 

strength and detennination woro not very considerable. Malaysia. 

wanted assistance against Indonesia and was prepared to defend 

herself as far as her resources would allow, as tho rapid inc~~~~ 

in Mala.ysian defence expenditure from 1963 to 1965 indicated. 1 

1 
From $M 94m. to ~M 207 • 6m. 

I 
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Tho process by which Australian policy towards confrontation was 

formulated and implemented romains la.rgoly obscura. Thoro were 

indications of soma difforoncos botwoon the approaches of various 

Ministers, particularly botwoon Menzios, Barwick and Hasluck. The 

affect of those difforoncos is opon only to speculation, but soma 

observations may bo mado. 1~ tho Prima Minister and dominant 

figure in tho Government, Menzies was clearly a major factor in the 

political fortunes of the Liberal-Country parties' coalition, His 

pronouncements may bo partly intorproted within the context of 

Australian domostic politics and his desire to retain public 

support for his ICinistry, This was particularly the caao when 

elections wore at hand, for ho dominated tho Govor.nmont's campaigns. 

Barwiok's role in the sphere of Australian domestic politics was 

loss significant and consequently ho had the opportunity to 

elucidate Australian foroign policy in a mora sophisticated manner. 

The a])pa.ront differences in approach towards Malaysia botwoon 

Barwick and Monzios may be largely explained in tonns of the 

difforoncos in their positions. But in addition, Barwick was 

anxious that Australia should regard horsolf as, and act as a part 

of the Southeast Asian rogion, with which ha estimated that sho 

shared fundamental problems of security. Australia's mado~ato 

posture towards Indonesian confrontation during the first nino 

months of 1963 may, perhaps, be attributed to his influence. Tho 

guidlinos which woro established for Australian policy towards 

confrontation while Berwick was Minister for External Affairs, wore 

followed after Hasluck assumed tho ~ortfolio. The change in 

emphasis in ~b1stralian policy sprang chiefly from tho change in 

circumstanoeSJ tho change in tono was, perhaps, a product of 

Hasluck's taciturnity and his inclination to regard foreign policy 

mora as a field of privata nogotiations and diplomacy, than ono of 

opon politics. 1 

The influonoo of public opinion is also deserving of somo 

commont. The rapid increase in Australian dofonoo expenditure after 

1962 was partly a result of Indonesian policies, yet thoro wae little 

indication that the Australian Government estimated that Indonesia 

posed a direct throat to Australia. At the same time, during 1963 

and 1964 thoro was amplo ovidonco that Australian public opinion 

was seriously concerned at Indonesian activities and wantod increased 

1 
See an interview with Hasluck, !g£, 13 June 1964. 

---. 



and improved Australian defence forces. The ALP revised its 

platform on security issues largely as a result of that public 

concern. The Government appears to have been influenced as muoh 
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by the public mood as by reasons of international security (although 

American promptings may have played a significant role in the 

increase of Australia's defence forces). A number of specific 

instances indicated the influence of public opinion on foreign 

policy. 

The most clear indication of the Government's awareness of the 

significance of public opinion was the effort made in early 1962 to 

get the press to prepare the Australian public for Indonesia's 

acquisition of West Irian, which Canberra regarded qy then as being 

imminent if not inevitable. This unsuccessful exercise in the 

manipulation of public opinion was perhaps naivel; conceived and 

was not repeated. During confrontation the Government sought to 

conform to publ~c desires, in appearance if not in fact. Despite 

the initial strong hostility shown in Australia towards Indonesia's 

opposition to the Malaysia plan, throughout the development of 

confrontation there remained in Australia an appreciation of the 

desirability of retaining Indonesian friendship. This may be in 

part attributed to the Government's frequent reiteration of the 

importance of Australia's having good relations with Indonesia. This 

was a more effective method of shaping public opinion& the 

intelligent statement of th~ Government's position. 

During mid-1963 there had been considerable public support for 

the ALP's demand for a separate treaty with Malaysia. The Government 

was able to alter that situation and by 1965, when it was clear that 

Malaysia was prepared to conclude such a treaty, there was little 

demand for one in Australia, and even the ALP paid only lip service 

to the idea. But the Government was not able to pursue its foreigr. 

polioy without reference to domestic opinion. In April 1964 it was 

drawn into the public controversy about the applicability of the 

ANZUS Treaty to the Australian commitment to Malaysia, despite its 

patent reluctance to publicise the issue. On euch occasions, 

however, thoro was little indication that the Government's policy, 

as distinct from its public explanation of that policy, was 

significantly affected. During tho 1963 election campaign the 

Government portrayed itself as being determined to resist Indonesia's 

assaults on Malaysia. This platform had two desirable features: it 

corresponded to the mood of public opinion, and it helped force the 

ALP into a position closer to that of the Government. 1 With the 

1 
From 1965 to 1967 the ALP's position on Vietnam changed for similar 

reasons in a similar fashion. 
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election won, the Government moderated its determined stance and 

resisted pressure from its allies to increase its involvement in 

the defence of Malaysia. B.Y 1964 the Government had support for 

its policy from the overwhelming majority of Australians. There 

seems little doubt that a Labor Government would have pursued 

substantially tho same policy. 

Since Federation, Australia has pursued her defence and foreign 

policies as a subordinate member of an alliance system upon which 

she has placed considerable reliance. Before World War II the UK 

was the dominant member of the alliance~ by the 1950s the US had 

come to be regarded as Australia's major guarantor. Generally, 

Australia h~s accepted an overall conjunction of interests between 

herself and her major ally and has tended to pursue her policies 

within the general stra~egy established by that ally. While 

Australia's commitment of forces to ~fulaya may bo described in 

that fashion, her commitment to the defence of Malaysia was 

implemented in an independent manner. 

Although the alliances of which Australia has been a member 

appeared to offer protection against attack, they have also presented 

difficulties and potential disadvantages. They may lead to 

Australia's accepting commitments not intrinsically in her interests 

(or abandoning those which are) either in order to retain the 

interest and presence of the senior ally, or as a quid pro quo 

for a security guarantee which is not immediately .essential. 

Australia seeks to maximise her future security, under hypothetical 

circumstances, often at tho expense of present policy and short 

term objectives. 1 Further, with hor major allies 'not finally 

and irrevocably committed to the part of the world in which 

Australia exists•, 2 the possibility of their withdrawing and leaving 

Australia to continue the commitments of the alliances alone seems 

real, as British policy in both 1942 and 1965 indicated. There is 

no certainty that Australia's assistance to her allies' Southeast 

Asian policies ensures either their continuing presence or their 

commitment to Australia. The possibility is also sometimes asserted, 

though it is less easily assessed, that by accepting obligations as 

1 
Professor J.D.B.Millor has sugeested, perhaps ungallantly, an 

analogy with Cavour's dispatch of Piodmontese forces to the Crimean 
War, 'Possibilities for Supplementary or Alternative Arrangements 
to the US Alliance', in T.B.Millar (ed)a Britain~s Withdrawal From 
Asia: Its Implications for Australia (Strategic and Defence Studies 
Centre, ANU, 1967). It might be added that Cavour's objectives wero 
more immediate and finite. 
2 
Owen Harriesg 'Is Asian Communism a Threat to Australia?' in J. Wilkes 
(ad)~ Cornmunis~i~iaa A Threat to Australia?', p.118. 
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a rceul t of these alliances, Australia increases the likelihood of 

a throat to hor security. 

Under such circumstances, general criteria for evaluating 

Australian behaviour are difficult to establish, but a oareful 

assessment of each situation and its relationship to Australia's 

long and short tenn interests is clearly desirablo4' In the aaso 

of tho commitment to Malaysia, Australia made a careful appraisal 

of the situation and only directly oppos0d Indonesian aggression 

after more desirable objectives had been unsuccessfully pursued. 

Canberra was not prepared to undertake military activity on the 

simplistic justification of opposing the extension of Chinese or 

communist influence, nor was she prepared to be pressured by her 

allies into precipitate military action. Australia assessed her 

position independently, being aware that her interests differed 

from those of the UK. The Government also avoided being forced 

into an inflexible position by Australian domestic opinion, which 

was at least potentially extremely hostile to Indonesia. 

The ultimate justification for Australia's policy towards 

Malaysia and Indonesia's confrontation of that Federation, must 

bo that Australia's overall objectives wore achieved. The failure 

of the attempted coup in Djakarta and the separation of Singapore 

from Malaysia loft three states with unadventurous, anti-communist 

governments who appeared likely to establish stable, amicable 

relations with Australia and each other. The effect of Australian 

policy on the development of that situation had not been 

insignificant. \Vhcn, in 1967, it finally became clear that Britain 

was planning a military withdrawal from the region, Canberra could 

view tho situation in a more sanguine light than would have boon 

possible at any time before 1966. At least for the time being, 

communist influence had boon contained and stability established 

in the region. 



j 

327 

BIBLIOGRAPHY 

Note 
~ of the sources which were consulted during the research 
conducted for this study have been referred to in the text. The 
following bibliography is a compilation of those sources together 
with other materials which are either directly pertinent or have 
provided background information or ideas. It is neither a 
comprehensive compendium of material available on the subject 
nor an exhaustive list of sources consulted. Materials which 
are only marginally relevant or which provide no fresh 
information or insights into the subject have been excluded. 

Section six, headed confidential sources, has been made 
available to the examiners. The information gleaned from the 
sources listed in that section has been largely recounted in 
the text and is accessible to the moderately thorough scholar. 
The omission of the section is not intended to indicate that 
the author has been privy to information not readily obtainable 
(though in a very limited sense this may be the case). As 
pointed out in the Introduction, some information was only 
available subject to the provisio that its divulgers not be 
publicly identified. 

1. Official Documents 

AUSTRALIA 

Commonwealth Parliamentary Debates 
Current Notes on International Affairs 
Select Documents on International Affairs, J'To.1 of 1963a Mala..ysia 
Statistical Returns, Senate Elections 1964 
Press and information releases from the Prime Minister's Deparment, 
the Defence Department and the Department of External Affairs. 

MALAYSIA 

Malaysian Parliamentary Debates 
Suara Malaysia 

. Siaran Akhbar 
Malaya-Indonesia Relations (Ministry of External Affairs, 1963) 
Malaya-Philippine Relations (Ministry of External Affairs, 1963) 
United Nations Malaysia Report (Ministry of Information, 1963) 
Malaysias Official Year Book, 1963 
Bac round To Indonesia's Polio Towards Mala sia (Government 
Printer, 19 4 
Indonesian Involvement In Eastern Malaysia (Government Printer, 
1964) 
Indonesian Intentions Towards Malaysia (Government Printer, April 
1964) 
Re ort on the 1a6 Parliamenta and State Elections (Government 
Printer, 1964 
Malaysia's Case at the United Nations Security Council 
A Plot Exposed (Cmd. Paper No.12 of 1965) 
Indonesian Aggression Against Malaysia (two volumes, Ministr.1 
of External Affairs, 1964 and 1965) 
Malaysian Communications with the United Nations Security Council 
on Indonesian Aggression (Government Printer, 1965) 
The First Malaysia Plan, 1966-70 (Government Printer, 1966) 
Various other documents, chiefly reprints of speeches by 
Malaysian officials but including some confidential documents. 



MALAYA 

Malayan Parliamentary Debates 
Federation of Malaya, Constitution (Kuala Lumpur, 1957) 
1957 Population Census& Malaya (Kuala Lumpur, 1957) 

328 

'The Communist Threat to the Federation of Malaya', Lesislative 
Council Paper, No.23 of 1959 

SiliGAPORE 

Singapore Legislative Assembly, Debates 
Malaysian Mirror 
Mirror of Opinion 
Ministry of Education, Annual Reports (select) 
Report of the Constitutional Commission, 1954 
Memorandum Setting Out Heads of Agreement for a Merger Between 
the Federation of Malaya and Singapore (Cmnd. Paper 33 of 1961) 
Various information releases, chiefly reprints of speeches by 
officials. 

SARAWAIC 

Sarawak Council Negri, Debates 
Sarawak, Annual Reports 
Sarawak in Brief (Department of Information, Kuohing., undated) 
Sarawak by the Week (Department of Info:rmation, Kuohin8) 
Sarawakz Re ort on the Census of Po ulation taken 1 June 1 60 
by L.~.Jones Kuohing, 19 
Cormrunism and the Farmers (Kuchine, 1961) 
The Danger Within (Kuehing., 1963) 
Malaysia and Sarawak (Kuching, January 1962) 
The Communist Threat to Sarawak (Kuching, 1966) 

SABAH 

BRUNEI 

Brunei& Annual Re2orts 

THE UNITED KINGDOM 

February 1962) 
ulation taken 10 

United Ki dam Parliamenta Debates 
Malayan Constitutional Proposals HMSO, 1948) 

reement on External Defence and Mutual Assistance Between 
the United Ki dom and Mal an Governments October 1 HMSO, 
Cmnd. 2 3 
Re art of the Commission of En uir North Borneo and Sarawak, 
~ HMSO, Cmnd. 1794 
Mala siaa Re ort of the Inte~vernmental Committee 1 62 

HMSO, Cmnd. 1954 1 Feb 19 3 
MalgYsia~ Agreement concluded between the United Kingdom of 
Great Britain and Northern Ireland, the Federation of Malaya, 
North Borneo, Sarawak and §i~apore (HMSO, Cmnd; 2094, 1963) 



329 

~'T-h.e~N-e~x~t~Fi-·v~e~Y~e~a~r~s-'~Rri~~t~.i·s~h~De·f~~e~Wh._it_e~~~._~1~6--2 (HMSO, 
Cmnd. 1 93 
Statement on Defence, 1963 (HAffiO, Cmndl 1936) 
Statement on Defence, 1964 (HMSO, Cmnd. 2270) 
Statement on the Defence Estimates, 1965 (HMSO, Qnnd. 2592) 

INDONESIA 

The Problem of •Malaysia' (published by the Indonesian Herald, 
Indonesian Embassy, Canberra, 1963) 
Various documents from the Indonesian Embassy, Canberra, 
particularly reprints of speeches by Indonesian officials. 

THE UNITED STATES 

Department of State Bulletin 
'Vietnam and Southeast Asia': Report of Senators Mansfield, Boggs, 
Pe11 and smith to the committee on Foreign Relations, us Senate, 
88th Congress, 1st Session, February 1963 
Complete Report of the Clay Committee (USIS, American Embassy, 
Canberra, 1963) 

New Zealand Parliamenta~Debates 
E:~ttcmcl Affai.-s Bevhl partment of External Affairs, Wellington) 

0 

THE UNITED NATIONS 

Various documents but particularly the Official Records of the 
General Assembly 

2. Newsp~rs and Periodicals 

Advertiser (Adelaide) 
~ (Melbourne) 
Australian 
Borneo Bulletin 
Bulletin (Sydney) 
Canberra Times 
Courier-Mail (Brisbane) 
Dail Tele ra (Sydney) 
DailY Mirror Sydney) 
Djakarta Daily Mail 
Eastern World (London, monthly) 
Economist (London) 
Far Eastern Economic Review 
Herald (Melbourne) 
Indonesian Herald 
Indonesian Observer 
Japan Times 
Mala.yan Times 
Malay Mail 
Melbourne Sun News Pictorial 
Mercur;y \Hobart) 
Nation (Sydney) 
News (Adelaide) 
~York Times 



I. 

Peki Review 
Petir official organ of the PAP) 
People (official organ of the Singapore Peoples Alliance) 
Plebian (~fficial organ of the Barisan Socialis) 
Sunday Mirror (Sydney) 
Sunday Telegraph (Sydney) 
Sun-Herald (Sydney) 
Straits Times 
S1dney Morning Herald 
Times 
West Australian 

3• Articles and Pamphlets 

330 

Afro-Asia.n Peoples' Solidarity Organisations The Third Afro-Asian 
Peoples' ·solidarity Conference., 1Moahi (AAPSO, Cairo, 
1963). 

Albinski, 

: 'Australia's Defense Enigma', Orbis, Winter 1961, 
pp.452-66. 

z 'Australia Faces China', Asian Survey, April 1962, 
pp.16-28. 

Alexander, Fred a 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July­
December 1964', AJPH,April 1965, pp.1-6. 

Alliance Party, Malayan a To A Greater and Happier Malaysia 
(Alliance Headquarters, Kuala Lumpur, 1964). 

Andrews, J. 

.AnOnJI!lOUS 

: 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, January­
June 1958', AJPH, Nov 1958, pp.141-54· 

Malaysia (Current Affairs Bulletin, Sydney, 
7 June 1965) • 

'Confrontation', Round Table, Naroh 1965, pp.123-8. 

Soviet Afro-Asian Solidarity Committee, Moscow, 1962. 

Armstrong, Hamilton Fish t 'The Troubled Birth of ~~laysia', 
Foreign Affairs, July 1963, pp.673-93· 

Australian Labor Party a Labor's Plan For World Peacea Declarations 
and Decisions of the Hobart Conference, 1955. 

s Official Report of the Proceedings of the Special 
Commonwealth Conference on Foreign Affairs and Defence 
18 ~!~rch 1963. 

s of the 2 th 

: Speakers Notes, 1963 Federal Elections. 

·a Federal Platform as APE,roved by 'the 26th Commonwealt h 
Conference, 1965. 



331 

1 Official Report of tpe Procee~ings of the 26th 
Commonwealth Conference, 1965• 

Various other documents • ineiuding pres's and 
information releases and reprints of speeches by 
prominent ALP members. 

Australian Liberal Party 1 1 Dan erous and Frustrat ' - ALP 
Decisions on Defence and Forei n Polio Liberal 
Party Secretariat, Canberra, 19 3 • 

8 Peace Thro~h Security (Liberal Party Sec, 
Canberra, 1963 • 

Australian Public Opinion Polls. 

Ball, M. a 'Australia and Her Neighbours', Australia's 
Neighbours, June 1952. 

Barwick, Sir Garfield: 'Australian Foreign Policy 1962', Roy 
Milne Memorial Lecture, 31 July 1962, Perth (AIIA, 
1962). 

Beazely, Kim E. 1 'Labor and Foreign Policy', Australian Outlook, 
Aug 1966, pp~125-34• 

Bebler, Ales 

.Beddie, B.D. 

:Bell, Coral 

: 'Malaya, Malaysia, and the Mala~ans', Review 
of International Affairs (Belgrade), Sept 20 1964, 
pp.12-3. 

~ 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July­
December 1957', ~'May 1958, pp.139-56• 

1 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July­
December 1965 1 , ~'May 1966, pp.1-11. 

l 'Australia and the Anerican Alliance•, The 
World Today, June 1963, pp.302-10. ---

: 'South East Asia and the Powers', The World 
Today,April 1965, pp.137-50. 

Boyce, Peter g 'Canberra's Malaysia Policy' , Australian 
Outlook, Aue 1963, pp.149-61. 

1 'Australia's Diplomacy in Malaya', JSEAH, 
Sept 1963, pp.65-100. 

1 'The Defence of Malaysia', Australia's 
Neighbours,Sopt-oct 1964, pp.5=8. 

1 'Polioy Without Authority: Singapore's 
External Affairs Power', JSEAH, Sept 1965,pp.87-103. 

and R.K.Davis: '~laY,sia Tests the Commonwealth', 
Australian Quarterly, Sept 1965, pp.59-63. 

1 'Singapore as a Sovereign State', Australian 
Outlook, Deo 1965, pp.259-71• 

Bro';m, Nevillo 1 'British A:rmll and the Switch Towards Europe 1 
, 

International Affairs,July 1967, pp.468-82. 

Buohan, Alastair a 'Britain and the Indian Ocean', International 
Affairs, April 1966, pp.184-93· 

Bums, A.L. 'Problems of Australian Foreign PolicyJ January­
June 1961 1 , ~' Nov 1961, pp.149-65. 

: 1 Australia, Britain and the Common Market' , ~ 
World Today, April 1962, pp.152-63. 

: 'Australia's Long-torm Strategic Situation', 
International Journal, 1964-5, pp.44Y-62. 



Burton, J.W. 

332 

'Western Intervention in South-East Asiat, 
Chapter One, The Year Book of World Affai¥§a 1266 
(Stevens, London, 1966). 

Butwell, Richard i 'Malaysia and its Impact on the International 
Relations of South East Asia', Asian Survey, July 
1964, PP•940-6. 

Caine, Sir Sydney t 'The Political Economy of Independent 
Malaya', Journal of Commonwealth Studies, May 
1964, pp.161-4. 

Caldwell, Malcolm g 'Luddites and Lemmings in South-East Asia', 
International Affairs, July 1965, pp,420-40. 

Cameron, Nigel a 'The Coming of Malaysia', Geographical Masazine, 
Sept 1963, pp.277-89• 

Carnell, Francis G. 1 'Constitutional Reform and Elections in 
Malaya', Pacific Affairs, Sept 1954, pp.216-35• 

Castles, L. 

Ca.tley, R. 

1 'The Malayan Elections', Pacifio Affairs, 
Doe 1955, pp.315-30. 
a 'Indonesian Attitudes to Malaysia', Australia's 
Neighbours, Dec 1963, 

a 'Coup and Counte~ooup in Indonesia', 
Australia's Neighbours, Nov-Doc 1965, PP•5-7• 

1 'The Polities of Defence& The TFX Decision', 
unpublished paper, ANU, 24 Oct 1965 • . 

: 'Malayeiaa The Lost Battle For Merger', 
Australian Outlook, April 1967, pp.44-60. 

Clarko, Sir Charles Noble Arden ' 'Notes on the Development of 
Local Government in Sa.ra.wak' (Kuchill8, 1947). 

Corbett, D.C. t 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July­
December 1960', AJPH, May 1961, pp.1-14. 

Saud, Salleh 

Dedman, J .J. 

: 'UMNO: Image and Reality' (.§!, Kuala Lumpur, 
1966). 

: 'Encounter Over Manus', Australian Outlook, 
Aug 1966, pp.135-53• 

Derkach, Nadia : 'The Soviet Policy Towards Indonesia in the 
West Irian and Mala.ysian Disputes', Asian Survoy, 
Nov 1965, PP•566-71• 

Dovillors, Philippc a 'The Struggle for the Unification of 
Vietnam', China Quarterly, Jan-March 1962, pp.2-23. 

Encel, s. 

Faith, H. 

J 'Defence and the Outside World', Australian 
Outlook, Aug 1963, pp,130-48. -

a 1The West New Guinea Conflict, Some Political 
and Ethical Aspects', paper presented to the New 
Guinea Society, Australia, 28 June 1961. 

: 'Indonesia's Political Symbols and Their 
Wielders', World Politics, Oct 1963, PP•79-97• 

a 'President Sukarno, the Army and the Communists: 
The Triangle Changes Shape', Asian Survey, Aug 
1964, pp.969-80. 

'Indonesia's Political Future: Some implications 
of a current academic disagreement', paper given 
at KYoto University Japan, 31 May-2 June 1965~ 

and D.S.Lev : 'The End of tho Indonesian Rebellion', 
Pacific Affairs, Spring 1963, pp.32-46. 



Fisk, E.K. 

Gamer, R.E. 

: 'Rural Development Problems in Malaya 1 , 

Australian Outlook, Dec 1962, pp.246-59· 

'Urgent Singapore, Patient Malaysia' ., 
International Jo~, Winter 1966, PP•42-564 

333 

Girling, J.L.S.: 'Vietnam and the Domino Theory', 
Australian Outlook, April 1967, pp.61-70. 

Glick, Henry Robert : 'The Chinese Community in Sabah and the 

Gordon, B.K. 

1963 Elections' ,Asian' Survc:v, :'·:arch 1965, pp.144-51. 

'The Potential for Indonesian Expansionism', 
Pacific Affairs,Winter 1963-4, pp.378-93· 

8 'Problems of Regional Cooperation in Southeast 
Asia', World Politics, Jan 1964, pp.222-53· 

Gordon Walker, P.C. ~ 'The Labor Party's Defense and Foreign 
Policy', Foreign Affairs, April 1964, PP·391-8. 

Green, L.C. a 'Indonesia, the United Nations and MalaysiB 1 , 

JSEUUI, Sept 1965, pp.71-86. 

Greenwood, G. 'Australia's Foreign Policy', Australian Outlook, 
March 1947k PP•53-62. 

Grimshaw, Charles : 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, 
July-December 1961', ~'May 1962, pp.1-6. 

: 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, 
January-June 1962 1 , .M!:!!t Nov 1962, pp.139-47• 

Grossholtz, Jean a 'An Exploration of Malaysian Meanings', 
Asian Survey, April 1966, pp.227-40. 

Hanna, Willard A. : American Universities Field Staff, Reports 
Service, South East Asian Series. 

Hanning, Hugh l 'Britain East of Suez- Facts and Figures', 
International Affairs, April 1966, pp.253-60. 

Harper, N. s 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, 
January-June 1956', AJPH, Nov 1956, pp.1-18. 

a 'Australia and Regional Pacts 1950-7', 
Australian Outlook, March 1958, pp.)-22. 

Hasluck, Paul z 'Australia and South East Asia', Foreign 
Affairs, Oct 1964, pp.51-63. 

Hatta, Moh~nad a 'One Indonesian View of the Malaysia Issue', 
Asian Survey, March 1965, pp.139-44. 

H.A.W. 1 'The Indonesian Claim to New Guinea', 
Australia's Neishbours, July 1950. 

Heidhues, Mary F.Somers 1 'Peking and the Overseas Chinese: The 
Malaysian Dispute•,.· Asian Survey, May 1966, 
pp.276-87. 

Hindley, D. ~ 'Foreign Aid to Indonesia and its Political 
Implications', Pacifio Affairs, Summer 1963, 
pp.107-19· 

a 'Indonesia's Confrontation with Malaysia: A 
Search for Motives', Asian Survey, June 1964, 
pp.904-13· 

' 'Political Power and the October 1965 Coup in 
Indonesia',~' Feb 1967, pp.237-49• 

Howard, Michael: 'Britain's Strategic Problems East of Suez', 
International Affairs, April 1966, pp.179-83. 



334 

Hudson, G.F. 1 'The Neutrals and the Afro-Asians•, The 
World Today, Dec 1964, PP•542-8. 

Hume, L.J. : 'Australian Political Chronicle; January ... 
April 1965•; ml!t Aug 1965, pp;211-24• 

Jacobini, H.E. 'Fundamentals of Philippine Policy Toward 
Malaysia', Asian Survey, Nov 1964, pp.1144-51• 

Jones, Garth N. 1 'Sukarno's Early Views on the Territorial 
Boundaries of Indonesia', Australian Outlook, 
April 1964, pp.30-9• 

Kahin, George MeT. : 'Malaysia and Indonesia', Pacific Affairs, 
Fall 1964, pp.253-70• 

ICi.ns, Peter : 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, 
January-June 1964', ME!!' Dec 1964, pp.283-95· 

Kroef, J.M.van der : 'The West New Guinea Settlement: Its 
Origins and Implications•, Orbis, Spring 1963, 
pp.120-49· 

: 'Indonesia, Malaysia and the Borneo Crisis', 
Asian Survey, April 1963, pp.173-81. 

8 'Communism and the Guerrilla War in Sarawa.k1 , 

The World Today, Feb 1964, pp.5Q-60. 

1 'The Sino-Indonesian Partnership', Orbis, 
Summer 1964, pp-332-56 •. 

'Singapore's Communist Fronts', Problems of 
Communism, Sept-Oct 1964, PP•53-61. 

1 'Communism and Chinese Communalism in Sara.wak', 
China Quarterly, Oct-Dec 1964, PP•38 ... 66. 

a 1 Nanyang University and the DilsJ.mma.s of Overseas 
Chinese Education', China Quarterly, Oct-Dec 1964, 
pp.96-127. 

'Indonesian Co~nunism 1 s Expansionist Role in 
Southeast Asia', International Journal, 1964-5, 
pp. 188-204. 

'Indonesian Communism and the Changing Balance 
of Power', Pacific Affairs, Winter 1964-5, pp.357-
83. 

: 'Indonesian Communism's "Revolutionary Gymnastics"', 
Asian Survey, May 1965, pp.217-32. 

: 'The Vocabulary of Indonesian Communism', 
Problems of Communism, May-June 1965, pp.1-9. 

: 'Communism in Sarawak Today', Asian Survey, Oct 
1966, pp.568-79· 

Lee Kuan Yew 'Malaysia Comes of Age' 

'Malaysia Will Succeed' 

'Some Problems In Malaysia' 

: 'Towards A Malaysian Malaysia' 

'Malaysia - Age of Revolution' 

'The Battle For A Malaysian Malaysia' 

"Separation' (all Government Printer, Singapore) 



Labour Party of Malaya: 'Manifesto of the Socialist Front for 
the 1964 General Election'. 

Legge, J.D. 

Various other documents supplied by the Labour 
Party Headquarters in Kuala Lumpur. 

'Indonesia After West Irian', Australian 
Outlook, April 1963, PP·5-20. 

Leifer, Michael s 'Anglo~American Differences Over Malaysia', 
The World Today, April 1964, pp.156-67. 

a 'Politics in Singapore: The First Term of 
the Peoples' Action Party, 1959-631 , Journal 
of Commonwealth Studies, May 1964, pp.107-19• 

tCommunal Violence in Singapore', Asian 
Survey, Oct 1964, pp.1115-21. 

'Indonesia and Malaysia& The Diplomaoy of 
Confrontation', The World Today, June 1965, 
pp.250-60. 

335 

: 'Singapore Leaves Malaysia', The World Today, 
Sept 1965, pp.361-4. 

1 'Singapore in Malaysia~ The Politics of 
Federation', JSEAH, Sept 1965, pp.54-70. 

: 'Some South-East Asian Attitudes', 
International Affairs, April 1966, pp.219-29. 

Lettice, Margarot N. and Clark, Claire Sk.erman ~ 'The 1963 
Queensland State Election', AJPH, Nov 1963, 
pp.184-200. ----

Lev, Daniel s. a 'Indonesia 1965: The Year Of The Coup', 
Asian Survey, Feb 1966, pp.103-10. 

Leyser, J. 

a 'The Political Role of the Army in Indonesia', 
Pacific Affairs, Winter 1963-4, pp.349-64. 

a 'The Manila Treaty and Australia', 
Australia's Neighbours, Nov-Dec 1954. 

Lindsay, Michael g 'Australia and the United States and Asia', 
~' Nov 1957, PP•33-45• 

Lopez, Salvador P. s 'Malaysia and Maphilindo', Progressive Review 
(Manila), Jan-Feb 1964. 

McHenry, Dean E. and Roseorances Richard N. a 'The "Exclusion" 
of the United Kingdom From the ANZUS Pact 1 

, 

International Organisation, Summer 1958, pp.320-9. 

MaOkie, J.A.C. 'The West New Guinea Argument', Australian 
Outlook, April 1962, pp,26-46. 

: 'Indonesia: A Back8round To "Confrontation"', 
The World Today, April 1964, pp.139-48. 

Maddox, William P. a 'Singapore: Problem Child', Foreign 
Affairs, April 1962, pp.479-88. 

Mahajani, Usha 1 'The Malaysian Dispute& A Study in Mediation 
and Intervention', Australian Outlook, Aug 1966, 
PP•177-92• 

Means, G.P. a 'Malaysia- A New Federation in South East Asia', 
Pacific Affairs, Summer 1963, pp.138-59· 

Menzies, R.G. 'Joint Opposition Policy - 1949' (Sydney, 1949). 

'The Pacific Settlement As Seen From Australia', 
Foreign A£fairs, Jan 1952, PP• 188-96. 



336 

Millar, T.B. 1 'China's Asian Polio7'; AlPS Monograph No.4, 
Sydney 1964. 

'Australia and the American Alliance', Pacific 
Affairs, Summer 1964, pp.148-60. 

1 'Australia and the Defence of South-East Asia', 
Lecture for the ANU in cooperation with the AIIA, 
Canberra, 10 June 1965, mimeo. 

1 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, January­
June 1965', AJPH, Dec 1965, pp.267-76. 

and J.D.B.Miller: 'Afro-Asian Disunity: Algiers 1965', 
Australian Outlook, Dec 1965, pp.306-21. 

Miller, J.D.D. g 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July­
December 1963', AJPH, April 1964, pp.1-15. - . 
1 'An Australian View', International Affairs, 
April 1966, pp.230-40. 

Milne, R.s. 'Malaysia - Internal Stresses and Strains', 

Modelski, 

Australia's Neighbours, Jan-Feb 1964. 

a 'Singapore•s Exit From Malaysia& The Consequences 
o! Ambiguity', Asian Survey, March 1966, pp.175-84· 

: 'Political Parties in Saraw&k and Sabah', JSEAH, 
Sept 1965, pp.104-17. 

1 'Malaysia: A New Federation in the Making', 
Asian Survey, Feb 1963, pp,76-82. 

Issue', in 
~~~~~~~-+~~--~~~~6~ (Stevens, 

: 'Indonesia and her Neighbours ~ Policy Alternatives 
for the West', Centre for International Studies, 
Princeton University, Policy Memorandum No.30, 
29 Oot 1964. 

Murphey, Rhoads g 'China and the Dominoes', Asian Survey, Sept 
1966, pp.510-15. 

Murray, Douglas P. a 'Chinese Education in South-East .Asia', 
China Quarterly, Oct-Dec 1964., pp,67-96, 

Nea.le, R.G. a 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, January­
June 1963', ~' Nov 1963, pp.135-49• 

Neville, R.J.W. : 'The European Military Population in 
SinBapore', .Pacific Viewpoint, Sept 1964,, pp.205-10. 

Outlook Publications ~ 'Malaysia: An Outlook Publication', 
Sydney, 1963/ 

Panner, Norman J. r ·• Malaysia 1965: Challenging the Terms of 
1957', Asian Survey, Feb 1966, pp.111-8. 

Pauker, Guy J.J 'General Nasution's Mission to Moscow', Asian 
Survey., March 1961., pp.1)o-22. 

r 'The Soviet ChalleJ:l8e in Indonesia' ., Foreisn 
Affairs, July 1962, pp.612-26. 

a 'Indonesia& Internal Developnent or External 
Expansion?' Asian Survey., Fab .1963, pp.69-75• 

1 'Indonesia in 1963: The Year of Wasted 
Opportunities', Asian Survey, Feb 1964, pp.687-94• 



Pauker, Guy J.a ·'Indonesia in 19641 Towards a"People's 
Democracy"?', Asian Survey, Feb 1965, pp.88-97• 

1 'The Rise and Fall of Afro-Asian Solidarity', 
Asian Survey, Sept 1965, pp.425-32. 

337 

People's Action Party 1 'The Election Manifesto of the PAPg Help 
PAP Crush Enemies of the People', 1964. 

a 'Our First Ten Years', 10th Anniversary Souvenir, 
1964. 

Png Poh Seng: 'The Kuomintang in Halaya', JSEAH, March 1961, 
pp.1-32. 

Poynter, J.R.a 'ANZUS and the Crisis', Australia's Neighbours, 
Aug 1954• 

'Treaty Commitments', Australia's Neighbours, 
March-April 1963, pp.1-3. 

Purcell, V. 1 'A t1alayan Union1 The Proposed New Constitution', 
Pacific Affairs, Sept 1946, pp.279-85. 

Ra' anam, Uri 'The Coup that Failedz A Background Analysis', 
Problems of Communism, Narch-April 1966, pp.37-43• 

Radin, Soenarno g ' Malay Nationalism, 1900-45', JSEAH, March 1960, 
pp.1-28. 

Rahim bin Karim, Abdul a 'The Kalimantan Utara Revolt1 A War 
Against Imperialism', Progressive Review, May-June 
1963, pp.50-7. 

Rawson, D.W. 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July-
December 1962', AJPH, May 1963, PP•78-85. 

'Australian Political Chronicle, January-July 1963', 
AJPH, Nov 1963, pp.235-44. 

'Australian Political Chronicle, July-December 1963', 
JLJPH, April 1964, pp.96-104. 

Renick, R.Dhu: 'The ~.ialayan Emergencyg Causes and Effects', JSEAH, 
Sept 1965, pp.1-39· 

Roff, 1!Iargaret: ' Malaysia Revisited', .Australia's Neighbours, J.\rlay­
June 1965, pp.1-5. 

'The ~JCA 1948-65 ', JSEAH, Sept 1965, pp.40-53· 

: 'UMNO- The First Twenty Years ', Australian Outlook, 
Aug 1966, pp.168-76. 

Ross, Lloyd 'Some Factors in the Development of Labor's Foreign 
Policies', Australian Outlook, Narch 1949, pp.32-46. 

Sadka, Thuna 1 1 Singapore and the Federatiom Problems of Merger', 
Asian Survey, Jan 1962, pp.17-25. 

Sandhu, Kernial Singh g 'Communalismg The Primary Threat to 
Malayan Unity', Asian Survey, Aug 1962, pp.32-7. 

Sarawak United Peoples Party g 'Election Hanifesto, 1963'· 

Sawer, Geoffry g 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, June-1956-
June 1957', ~' Nov 1957, pp.1-17. 

Schaffer, B.B. ~ 'Policy and Syst em in Defense~ The Australian 
Case ', World Politics, Jan 1963, pp.236-61. 

Sendut, Hamsah a 'Contemporary Urbanisation in Halaysia', Asian 
Survey, Sopt 1966, pp . 484- 91 . 



338 

Silcook, T.H. 1 'The Development of a Malayan Foreign Policy•, 
Australian OutloOk, April 1963, pp.42-53· 

Singbal, D.P. 1 'The United States of Malaysia', Asian ' Surve:, 
Oot 1961, pp.16-22' 

Singh, Vishal : '·The Struggle For Malaysia'; International 
Studies, 1963-4, pp.221-40, 

Smith, T.E. s 'The :Brunei Revolt: :Background and 
Consaquenoea', The World Today, April 1963, 
pp.135-8. 

1 'Malaysia After the Elections', The World 
Today, Aug 1964, PP•351-7. 

1 'Further Troubles for Malaysia', The World 
Today, Oct 1964, pp.415-7· 

Soemardjan, Sel 1 'Some Social and Cultural Implications of 
Indonesia's Unplanned and Planned Development', 
Review of Politics, Jan 1963, pp.64-90· 

Soh Eng Lim 'Tan Cheng Lock', JSEAH, March 1960, pp.29-55· 

Starner, Francis L. : 'Malaysia's First Year', Asian Survey, 
Feb 1965, pp.113-9· 

a 'Malaysia and the North Borneo Territories', 
Asian Survey, Nov 1963, pp.519-35. 

Stone, Julius 1 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, January­
June 1955', AJPH, Nov 1955, pp.1-26. -

Sutter, John 0. : 'The Two Faces of Confrontasi: "Crush Malaysia" 
and the GESTAPU', Asian Survey, Oot 1966, pp.523-46. 

Tadin, Ishak bin : 'Dato Onn 1946-51', JSEAH, March 1960, PP•56-88. 

Tanham, George K. : 'A United States View•, International Affairs, 
April 1966, pp.194-206. 

Taylor, A.M. 'Malaysia, Indonesia- and 1~philindo', 
International Journal, Spring 1964, pp.155-71. 

Teichmann, Max : 1 Ar. :ed Neutrality', Australia 1 s Neighbours, 
July-August 1965, pp.4-8. 

Tilman, Robert o. ; 'Elections in Sarawak', Asian Survey, Oct 1963, 
pp.5Q7-18. 

1 'Malaysiax The Problems of Federation',~ 
Western Political Quarterly,, Dec 1963, pp.897-911. 

: 'The Sarawak Political Scene', Pacific Affairs, 
Winter 1964-5, pp.412-25· 

: 'The Alliance Pattern in Malaysian Political 
Bornean Variations on a Theme ', South At l antic 
Quarterly, 1964, pp.60-74. 

Tregonning, K.G. x 'The Claim for North Borneo by the Philippines', 
Australian Outlook, Dec 1962, pp.283-91. 

'!'unku Abdul Rahman 1 1 Malaysia~ Key Area in Southeast Asia' , 
Foreign Affairs, July 1965, pp.659-70. 

Vasil, R. 1 'The 1964 General Elections in Malaya', 
International Studies, July 1965, pp.20-65. 

Verrier, Anthony: ':British Defense Policy Under La.bor ', 
Forei gn Affairs, Jan 1964 , pp.282-92. 



339 

Watt, Alan 'The Australian Commitment to Malaysia', World 
Review, July 1964, PP·3-12. 

Weatherbee, Donald E. : 'Indonesia and Malaysia: Confrontation 
in Southeast Asia', Orbia, 1963, pp.336-51. 

Webb, L.c. 'Problems of Australian Foreign Policy, July­
December 1958', AJPH, May 1959, pp.1-14. 

Weisbrod, Hanno g 'Sir Garfield Barwick and Dutch New Guinea', 
Australian Quarterly, June 1967, pp.24-36. 

West, F.J. 'The New Guinea Question& An Australian View', 
Foreign Affairs, April 1961, pp.504-11. 

Whitlam, E.G. : 'Australian Foreign Policy 1963', AIIA, 1963. 

Wilson, Ian 'Australian Political Chronicle, September-
December 1964', AJPH, April 1965, pp.89-92. 

Zinkin, Maurice ~ 'The Commonwealth and Britain East of Suez', 
International Affairs, April 1966, pp.207-18. 

4· Books 

Albinski, Henry s. g Australian Policies and Attitudes Towards 
China (Princeton University Press, 1965). 

Almond, 

American 

Gabriel A. : The American Peo}le and Foreign Policy 
(Harcourt, New York, 1950 • 

and Coleman, James s. (ads) : The Politics of 
Developing Areas (Princeton University Press, 1960). 

University, The s Area Handbook For Malaysia and 
Singapore (US Government Printing Office, Wa•hington, 
1965). 

Bastin, J. and Roolvink, R.W. (eds) g Malaysiag Selected 
Historical Readings (Oxford University Press, Kuala 
Lumpur, 1966). 

Bone, Robert c. Jr. amics of the West New Guinea Irian 
Barat Cornell University, Ithaca, New York, 
195 

Brackman, Arnold C. : Southeast Asia's Second Front (Pall Mall, 
London, 1966). 

Brimmel, J.H. a Communism in South East Asia (Oxford University 
Press, London, 1959). 

Burton, John The Alternative (Morgans Publications, Sydney, 1954). 

Cairns, J.F. Living With Asia (Lansdowne Press, Melbourne, 1965). 

Calwell, A.A.: Labor's Role in Modern Society (Lansdowne Press, 
Melbourne, 1963), 

Casey, R.G. Friends and Neighbours (East Lansing, Michigan, 
1958). 

Clutterbuck, Richard ~ The Long, Long War (Cassel, London, 1967). 

Cohen, B.C. The Political Process and Forei (Prinoeton 
University Press, 1957 • 

g The Influence of Non-Governmental Groups on Forei~n 
Policy Making (World Peace Foundation, Boston, 1959). 



340 

Cohen, B.C. The Press and Foreign Policy (Princeton University 
Press, 1963) • 

Cowan, C.D. Nineteenth Centu;y Malaya (Oxford University Press, 
London, 1961). 

Indonesia and Her Neighbours (Chatham House Essay, 
Oxford University Press, 1967). · 

Eggleston, F.W. ~ Reflections on Australian Foreign Policy 
(Cheshire, Mel boume, 1957). 

Esthus, Raymond A. • From Enmity to Alliance (University of 
Washington Press, Seattle, 1964). 

Evatt, H.V. a The Foreign Policy of Australia (Angus and 
Robertson, Sydney, 1945). 
s Auitralia in World Affairs (Angus and Robertson, 
Sydney, 1946). 

Feith, Herbart a The Decline of Constitutional in 
Indonesia Cornell University Press, 

Fifield, R.H. : The Diplomacy of South East Asia, 1945-58 
(Praeger, New York, 1963). 

FitzGerald, C.P. 1 The Third China (Cheshire for AIIA, Melbourne, 
1965). 

Frankel, Joseph a The Making of Foreign Policy: An Analysis of 
Decision Making (Oxford University Press, London, 1963). 

Gelber, H.G.a Australia, Britain and the E.E.C. (Oxford 
University Press, Melbourne, 1966). 

Gill, G.H. ~ The Royal Australian Navy (Australian War Memorial, 
Canberra, 1957) • 

Gordon, Bernard K. a The Dimensions of Conflict in Southeast Asia 
(Prentice Hall, New Jersey, 1966). 

Greenwood, G. and Harper, N. (eds) : Australia in World Affairs 
1950-55 (Cheshire for AIIA, Melbourne, 1957). 

Griffith, 

Gullick, 

Australia in World Affairs 1c 6-60 (Cheshire for 
AIIA, Melbourne, 19 3 • 

William E. : Sino-Soviet Relations 1964-1965 (MIT Press, 
Cambridge Mass., 1967). 

J.M. s ~Aalala (Benn, London, 1963). 
a Malaysia and Its Neighbours (Routladge and Kegan 
Paul, London, 1967). 

Halpern, A.M. a Policies Toward China: View ~ From Six Continents 
(Council on Foreign Relations, New York, 1965). 

Hasluck, Paul : The Government and the Pea le -41 (Australian 
War Memorial, Canberra, 1952 • 

Harrisson, Tom The World Hithin (Creset Press, London, 1959). 
Background to a Revolt (Light Press, Brunei, 1963). 

(ed) 8 The Peo}les of Sarawak (Government Pr~ter, 
Kuching, 1959 • 



341 

Hindley, Donald 1 The Communist Party of Indonesia (University 
of California Press, 1964). 

Hughes, Colin A4 and Western, John s. 1 The Prime Minister's 
Polio S eech: A Case Stud in Televised 
Politics ANU Press, Canberra., 19 • 

Human Relations Area Files : North Borneo, Brunei and Sarawak 
(New Haven, 1956). 

HYde, Douglas : Confrontation in the East (Bodley Head, 
London, 1965). 

Jackson, R.N. : Immi rant Labour and the Develo ent of Mala a 
(Government Printer, Kuala Lumpur, 19 1 • 

Jennings, W.Ivor : The Approach to Self-Government (Cambridge 
University Press, Cambridge, 1956). 

Johnson, J .J .(ed)aThe Militar;y in Underdeveloped Areas (Princeton 
University Press, 1962). 

Kahin, George M. (cd) : Government and Politics of Southeast 
Asia (Cornell University Press, Ithaca., New York, 
1964). 

Kennedy, D.E. s The Securit of Southern Asia (Institute for 
Strategic Studies, London, 19 5 • 

King, Frank H.H. 1 The New Malayan Nation (Institute for 
Pacific Relations, New York, 1958). 

Kirby, S.Woodburn : The War Against Japan, Vol. I, The Loss 
of Singapore (HMSO, London, 1957). 

Kroef, J.M. van der g The West New Guinea. Dispute (Institute 
for Pacific Relations, 1958). 

The Communist Part of Indonesia (University of 
British Colombia, Vancouver, 19 5 • 

Lee Kuan Yew : The Battle For Mer~er (Government Printing 
Office, Singapore, 19 2). 

Levi, Warner : Australia's Outlook on Asia (An8us and 
Robertson, Sydney, 1958). 

Liang Kim Bang : Sarawak, 1941-57 (Singapore Studies on Borneo 
and Malaya, No.Five, University of Singapore, 1964). 

London, H. Colouring White Australia (Forthcoming). 

MoKie, Rona.ld C.M. : Malaysia in Focus (Angus and Robertson, 
Sydney, 1963). 

MoVey, Ruth T. (ed) : Indonesia (Yale University, New Haven, 
1963). 

Mezerik, A.G. (ed) a Ma.l5Ysia-Indonesia Conflict (International 
Review Service, New York, 1965). 

Millar, T.B. : Australia's Defence (Melbourne University Press, 
Melbourne,1965). 

(ed): Britain's Withdrawal From Asiaa Its 
Implications for Australia (Strategic and 
Defence Studies Centre, ANU, 1967). '. 

Miller, J.D.B. and RigbyJ T.H. (eds) z The Disintesrating 
Monolith ~ANU Press, Canberra, 1965). 

Miller, Harry Menace in Malaya (Harrap, London, 1954). 



342 

Mills, L.A. : Malaya~ A Political and Economic Appraisal 
(University of Minnesota Press, Minneapolis, 1958). 

Milne, R.s. ~ Government and Politics in Malaysia (Houghton 
Mifflin, Boston, 1967). · 

Mitohison, Loi~ : The Overseas Chinese (Bodley Head, London, 
1961). 

Modelski, George ' A Theory of Foreign Policy (Praeger, New 
York, 1962). 

(ed) • SEATO~ Six Studies (Alru Press, Canberra, 1962}. 

(ed): The New Emerging Forces (Department of International 
Relations, ANU, 1963). 

Mossman, James a Rebels in Paradise (Cape, London, 1961). 

Nuechterlein, Donald E. ~ Thailand and the Struggle for Southeast 
Asia (Cornell University Press, Ithaca, New York, 1965). 

0' Ballance , 

Ooi Jin-Bee 

Edgar a Malaya: The Communist Insurgent War, 1948-60 
(Faber, London, 1966). 

g Land, Peo)le and Economy in Malaya ( Lonsmans, 
London, 1963 • 

Osborne, Milton E. ~ Singapore and lmlaysia (Data Paper No.53, 
Southeast Asia Program, Cornell University, New York, 
July 1964). 

Parkinson, C.Northcote a British Intervention in Mal a 
(University of Malaya Press, Singapore, 19 0 • 

Fluvier, Jan M. & Confrontations~ A Stu in Indonesian Politics 
(Oxford University Press, Kuala Lumpur, 19 5 ~ 

Purcell, Victor : The Chinese in Malaya (Oxford University Press, 
London, 1948) • 

Ratnam, 

Malayaa Communist or Free? (Gollanoz, London, 1954). 

1 The Memoirs of a Malayan Official (Caesel, London, 
1965). 

The Chinese in South East Asia (University of London 
Press, London, 1965). 

Malaysia (Thames and Hudson, London, 1965). 

K.J.& Communalism and the Political Process in Malaya 
(University of Malaya Press, Kuala Lumpur, 1965). 

and Milne, R. S. ( eds) a The Malayan Parliamentar,y 
Election of 1964 (Blackwell, Singapore, 1967). 

Ray, Sibnarayan a Vietnam Seen From East and West (Praager, New 
York, 1966). 

Roseorance, R.N. a Australian Diplomacy and Japan, 1945-21 
(MUP, Melbourne, 1962). 

Rosenau, James N. (ed) 1 International Aspects of Civil Strife 
(Princeton University Press, 1964). 

Royal Institute of International Affairs : Collective Security 
in South East Asia (Oxford University Press, 1956). 



343 

Schlesinger, Arthur M. 1 The Bitter Heritase: Vietnam and 
American Democracy, 1941-66 (Deutsch, London, 1967)• 

Schram, Stuart R. : The Political Thought of Mao Tse-tung 
(Praeger, New York, 1963). 

Shepherd, Jack 1 Australia's Interests and Policies in the Far 
~ (Institute of Pacific Relations, New York, 1939). 

Silcock, T.H. : Towards a Malayan Nation (D.Moore, Singapore, 1961). 
and Fisk, E.K. (eds) 1 The Political Economy of 
Independent Malaya (ANU Press, Canberra, 1963). 

Sissons, D. and Harper, N. 1 Australia and the United Nations 
(AIIA, Manhattan, New York, 1959) • 

Smith, T,E. The Back6round to Malaysia (RIIA, London, 1963). 
Snyder, Richard c., Bruck, H.W. and Sapin, Burton (eds) g Foreisn 

Policy Decision-~ (Free Press of Glencoe, New 
York, 1962). 

Starke, J.G. : The ANZUS Treaty Alliance(MUP, Melbourne, 1965). 
Stebbins, Richard P. 8 The United States in World Affairs 1 63 

(Council on Foreign Relations, New York, 19 4 • 

Stevenson, W. ~ Birds Nests in Their Beards (Houghton Mifflin, 
Boston, 1964). 

Subandrio Indonesia on the March (Department of Foreign Affairs, 
Djakarta, 1963). 

Tarling, Nicholas g Pirac~ and Politics in the Malay World (Cheshire, 
Melbourne, 19 3). 

Taylor, A.M. s Indonesian Independence and the United Nations 
(Stevens, London, 1960). 

Teichmann, Max (ed)a Aspects of Australia's Defence (Political 
Studies Association, Monash University, 1966). 

Thompson, Virginia and ·Adloff, Richard g Minority Problems in 
Southeast Asia (Stanford University Press, 1955). 

T'ien, 

Tilman, 

Ju-K'ang 8 The Chinese of Sarawak: A Study of Social 
Structure (Monographs on Social Anthropology, No. 
London School of Economics, 1953). 

Robert 0. 1 Bureaucratic Transition in Malaya (Duke 
University Press, 1964). 

12, 

Tregonning, K.G. g Malaysia (Cheshire for AIIA, Melbourne, 1964). 
Wang Gun~vu a A Short Histo!Y of the Nanyang Chinese (Government 

Printer, Singapore, 1959). 
(ed)t Malaysia: A Survey (Cheshire, Melbourne, 1964). 

Watt, Alan Australian Defence Polio 1 1-6 (Department of 
International Relations, ANU, 1964 • 
& The Evolution of Australian Forei n Polio 
(Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 19 1 • 

Weatherbee, Donald E. : Ideolo in Indonesiaa Sukar.no's 
Indonesian Revolution Southeast Asian Studies, Yale 
University, Monograph Series, No. 8, 1966). 

Webb, Leicester ~ Communism and Democracy in Australia (Cheshire, 
Me lbourne, 1954). 



Wilkee, John (ed) : 
(AIPS, 

Australia's Dafenco and Foreisn Policy 
Melbourne, 1964). 

344 

(ed) : 
(AIPS, 

Communism in Asia~ A Threat To Australia? 

Yarwood, 

Melbourne, 1967). 
A.T.g Asian l!igration to ~ustralia: The Baok~round to 

Exclusion, 1896-1923 (MUP, Melbourne, 1964 • 

5· Theses 

Albinski, Henry s. i 'Australia's Search for Regional Security in 
South-East Asia', Ph.D., University of Minnesota, 1959· 

l~gel, J.R. 'The Proposed Federation of North Borneo, Brunei and 
Sarawak 1 , M.A., Sydney University, 1965. 

Barnett, Dianne : 'An Analysis of Indonesian-Australian Relations, 
1950-64', B.A., University of Queensland, 1965. 

Boyoe, P.J. 'Australia and Malaya~ A Preliminary Study in 
Commonwealth Relations, 1941-61', Ph.D., Duke University, 
1961. 

Caldwell, J .c. g 'The Population of Malaya', Ph.D., JJru, 1964. 
Chen, Joseph Tao z 'Post-War Problems of the Chinese in Malaya', 

M.A., University of California, 1958. 
Clark, M. : 'The Malayan Alliance and Its Accommodation of 

Com:J~unal Pressures', M.A., University of Malaya, 1964. 
Kulasingham, L. g 'The Recent Growth of Australia's Interests in 

Malaya', B.A., Adelaide University, 1958. 
Kathiravalu, S. z 'Fortifications of Singapore, 1819-1942', 

University of Singapore, 1957. 
Lev, Daniel s. a 'Tho Transition to Guided Democracy in 

Indonesia, 1957-9', Ph.D., Cornell University, 1964. 

Male, Beverly M. & 'Australia and the Indonesian Nationalist 
Movement, 1942-5', M.A.(Preliminary), ANU, 1965. 

Means, G.P. 'Malayan Government and Politics in Transition', 
University of Washington, 1960. 

Moore, D.E. 'UMNO and the 1959 Elections', Ph.D., University 
of California, 1960. 

Nranjan Kumar Hazra I 'Malaya's Foreign Relations, 1957-63', M.A., 
University of Singapore, 1965. 

Roff, William R. ~ 'The Origins of Malay Nationalism, 1$00-41', 
Ph.D., lilili, 1965. 

Sen, M.K. 'The Geographic Distribution of Population in 
Singapore, 1947-57', University of Singapore, 1959· 

Vellut, J.L. a 'The Asian Policy of the Philippines', Ph.D., 
ANU, 1964. 

Yeap Gaik Khoon ~ 'Treaties and Ensagoments Affecting Malaya, 
1946-60', University of Singapore, 1960. 



345 
APPENDIX I 

Ac;roement Bat\':een the Government of .tha United Kingdom of Great Britain 
and northern Ireland ano the Government of the Federation of f.1alaya on 
l<Jxtemal Defence and Mutual Assistanoe• Signed at Kuala Lum~r on 12th 
October,1957 • 

i'i"hereaa the Federotion of J.Talaya is full;v self- ;;:ovoming and independent 
within the Commonv1eal thJ .. 
knd whereas t he Government of the Federation of Malaya and. the Gbvern­
ment of the Uni tod Kinrdom of Groat Britain and Uorth·om Ir-:>la.nd reCOf,­
nise that it is in their common interest to preserve peace and to prov­
ide for their mutual defence; 
.And whereas t he Government of the Federation of Il'ia laya has ncv1 assumed 
responsibility for the external defence of its territoryf 
Now therefore the Government of the Federation of Malaya anC:. the Gov­
ernment of the United Kincdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland 
have a creed an foJ. 1 owe: 

ARTICLE I 

The Government of the United Kingdom undorta1-;:es to afford to the Govern­
ment of the Federation of l~laya such assistance ao the Government of 
the Fede:rn.tion of J,lalayD may require for the sxtsrnal defence of its 
ter;•i tory. 

ARTICL1!; II 

The Government of the United Kingdom will furnish the Gove1~nt of the 
Federation of llalaya with assistance of the kind referred to in Annex 1 
of this Agreement, as may from time to time bo agreed betueen the two 
Governments for the training and developnent of the armed forces of the 
Federation. 

ARTICLJ"] III 

The Government of the Fede~tion of Malaya will afford to t he Government 
of the Uni tod Kinr,dom t he rigl~ t to maintain in the Federation such naval, 
land and air forces includine a Common.ealth Strategic Rese:::ve as are 
agreed between th~ two Governments to be necessary for the purposes of 
Article I of this Agreement and for the fulfilment cf Conrnonweal th and 
international obligations. It is agreed that the forces referred to in 
this Article may be accompanied by authorised service organisations, 
and civilian components (of such size as may ba agreed between the two 
Governments to be necessary) and dependants . 

Ai'1TICL~ IV 

The Government of the Federation of 1.1alaya aere!'!S that the Government of 
the United Kinr dom may for the pur poses of this Agreement have, maintain 
and use bases and facilities in the Federation in accordance •dth the 
yrovisinns of Annexes 2 e.nd 4 of this Agreement and may establish, main­
tain and use sue}> e.ddi tional bases and :facilities as r:1a.y from time to 
time ba egreed between the two Governments. The Government of the United 
Kingdom shall at the request of' the Government of the Federation of 
Malaya va.cate any base or part thereofJ in such event the Government of 
the Federn.tion of aalaya shall provide at its expense agreed alternative 
accommodation and facilities. 

ARTICLE V 

The conditions contained in Annex 3 of' this Agreement shall apply to the 
forces, the authorised service organisations, the civilian components 
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and the dependanta refer1'9d to in Arti.ol~ III while in the terri to:ey of 
the Federation of Malaya in pursuance of this Agreement. 

AR'l'ICLB VI 

In the event of a threat of anned attack ae;ainst any of the territories 
or forces of the Federation of Malaya or ~ of the terri torieo or 
protectorates of the United Kinedom in the Far East or any of the forces 
of the United Kingdom within those territories or proteotoretee or with­
in the Federation of Malaya, or other threat to the preservation of 
peace in the Far East, the Governments of the Federation of Malaya and 
of the United Kingdom will consult together on the meaoures to be taken 
jointl? or separately to ensure the fullest co-operation bet~.·een them 
for the purpose of meeting the situation effectively. 

AR.l'ICLE VII 

In the event of an armed attack against any of the territories er forces 
cf the Federation of J,1alaya or an.v of the territories or protectorates 
of the United Kingdom in the Far East or any of the forces of the United 
Kingdom within 1"-ny of those terri toriea or protectora.tea or Yli thin the 
Federation of l·1ala.ya, the Governments of t he Federation of 1falaya and 
of the United Kingdom undertake to co-operate with each othor and will 
take such action aa each considers necessary for the purr.ose of meeting 
the situation effectively. 

ARTICLE VIII 

In the event of a threat to the preservation of peace or the outbreak of 
hostilities elsewhere than in the area covered by Artioles VI and VII 
the Government of the United Kinsdom shall obtain the prior agreement 
of the Government of the Federation of Malaya before committing United 
Kincflom forces to active operations involving the use of bases in the 
Federation of )lalayaJ but this shall not af fect the right of the Govern­
ment of the United Kingdom to withdraw foroes from the Federation of 
Malaya. 

AR.l'ICLE IX 

The Government of the United Kinedom will oonsul t the Govemment of 
the Federation of Malaya when major changes in the cht1racter or deploy­
ment of the forces maint~ined in the Federation of l~laya. as provided 
for in accordance with Article III are contemplated. 

ARTICLE X 

The Govemment of the Federation of Malaya and the Government of the 
United Kingdom will a :~ford each other an adequate opportunity for 
comment upon eny major administrative or le61olative proposals which 
may affect the operation of this Agreement. 

A!n'ICLE XI 

For the purposes of this Agre~ment, unless the context otherwise 
requires I 
"bases" means areas in the Federation made available by the Govemment 
of the Federation of I;~alaya to the Government of the United Kingdom 
for t !:-e pt1rposes of this Aeroement and includes the i '·-•Bovable proporty 
and installations situated thereon or constructed therein; 
"force" means any bod.v, continf:·ent, or detachment of an,v n<::val, land or 
air ;f'orc t:'ls, or ot' an.v such forces, including a CoillmOnwenl th Stra ter;ic 
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Res rve ~·hen in 'the territory of the Fod.era tion pu:rouant to this . A,rrrcem­
ent but shall not include e.ny f orces of the Fedezntion of' Malaya9 
"the F'edaration" means the Fe<le~.tion of Malaya; 

"Service authorities" means tho Authorities of a force \·1ho 8ra empov1ored 
b:r the la;'J of tha coWltry to which the force belongs to exercise 
command or juriBdiotioD over members of a fo:T:'ce or civilian ccmponent or 
d.epend.antsJ 

"Federation authorities" :ream; t he authority or authorities from time to 
time authorised or designated b;v t he Government ot:' t!1e Fed.e:T:'ation ot 
P.lala.yn for the IUrpo~Je of exorcicing the po\'!ers in relation to ~1hich the 
expression is ~. : sed ; 

"oiv11ian component" me.,.ns the civilian peroonnel aocompe.n,yi n t: a force, 
'7ho are empl oyed in t he ccrvico of t.t force or by an tnlthcrised s ervicE> 
o rgani~ation .'!Coompanyine; n force, nnd who are not stateless persons, 
nor n:"!tion,, lfl of, nor ordina rily re!C i(~ant in, the Federr..ticn; 

":'!.uthorised s ervico organisation" means o bo~y oe'c;anised for t he benefit 
of, or to s erve -the we1tere of, a force or civilian c0mponent or depen­
cl;.mtsJ 

"cl.e!)Cndant" means c-t person not ordinArily resident in t he Fed.e:r.ation 
v1ho is tho s :pOus e of a m?.mb t:! r of a force or civi1J.an com9onent or ''!hO 
is whol !.y or me.inly tnPintaineu. or empl oyod by e,.ny such r!le rnber, or v1ho 
is in hin mwtody , cha.rc;e or c~ re, or '{'ho forms part of his f nmily; 

"service vehicles" means vehicles, includi ng hired v~hiclen , which n. re 
Gxolus ivGl y in the service of a force or authorised s ervice Ol'ganieation§ 

the exp:reseion 'bf a force" usod. in rel.<J tion tc "vessoJo" or "airoreft" 
incJ.t\des vesnels <:"nd nircra.ft on charter for t l:!o r-; ervice of a !ozoe~ 

.ARTICLE XII 

'l'hia Acreeman·t; ohalJ. come into force on the date of signa ture. 
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.AY.t'ENDIX :ti 

Text of letter dated 21st April, 1959, received by the Australian High 
Commissioner in Malaya from the Prime r,;inister of !1alaya and Incorpor­
ating the text of the High Comminsioner's letter of 24th March, 1959, 
to the Prime Minister. 

I refer to your letter of 24th March, 1959, the terms of which are as 
follows a-

"! wish to refer to the Agreement on External Defenoe and Hutual 
Assistance concluded on 12th October, 1957, between the Government of 
the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. 

"As you know, the Commonwealth Stra ·!.ogic Reserve referred. to in the 
Acreament, ita Annexen and the letters exchaneed in connection with the 
Agreement, includes Australian forces which a.re or ma.y from time to time 
be serving in the Federation. Accordingly, the v~rious prov~ sions 
appliceble to the Cornmonwoal th Strateeic Reserve, in ' articult".r the 
provisions dealing with the status of forces, aprly in respect of these 
Australian forces. 

"I should be grateful if you would confirm that the fore~oinc is the 
understanding between the Government of the Federation of r1'llaya and 
tho Govarnment of the United Kinc;doo of Great Britain and Northern 
Ireland in respect of Australi~n forces serving in the Federation. If ' 
so, I would sur,gest that this letter and your reply be regarded as 
placinc that undestanding on record. 

"On behalf of the Australian Gov8rnmcmt, I take this o :}~)()rtunity of 
conveying to you and to your Gove:mment the assurance of our continued 
interest in, and c ~'ncem for, the well-being of the Federation and its 
people." 

In reply, I confirm that your letter correctly sets OtJ.t the understa.ndine 
between the Government of the Federation of J.i.lalaya and th Australian 
Government and, in accordance with th- suc[estion contained in your 
letter, agree that your letter and this re-rly be rocard.ed as placing 
"that un·.' -retandinl! on record. 
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APPENDIX III 

Agreement Relating To Malaysia,9 July 1963 

The United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland,the Federation 
of Malaya,North Borneo,Sarawak and Singapore; 
Desiring to conclude an agreement relating to Malaysia; 
Agree as follows:-

[ ... ] 
Article VI 

The Agreement on External Defence and Mutual Assistance between the 
Government of the United Kingdom and the Government of the Federation of 
Malaya of 12th October,1957,and its annexes shall apply to all territories 
of .Ma.laysia,and any refere tee in that Agreement to the Federation of 
Malaya shall be deemed to apply to Malaysia,subject to the proviso that 
the Government of Malaysia will aford to the Government of the United 
Kingdom the right to continue to maintain the the bases and other 
facilities at present occupied by their Service authorities within the 
State of Singapore and will permit the Government of the United Kingdom 
to make such use of these bases and facilities as that Government may 
consider neoessar,y for the purpose of assisting in the defence of Malaysia 
and for Commonwealth defence and for the preservation of peace in South­
East Asia. The application of the said Agreement shall be subject to the 
provisions of Annex F to this Agreement,relating primarily to Service 
lands in Singapore. 

I 

' i 

\ 
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APPENDIX IV 

Text of letter dated 18th September, 1963, received by tho Australian 
High Commissioner in Malaysia, from the Prime Minister of l!alcysia and 
incorporating the text of the High Commissioner's letter of 17th 
September, 1963, to the Prime Minister. 

I have the honour to refer to your letter of 17th September, 1963, 
conceminB the presence of Australian forces in the Commom'lealth Strategic 
Reserve under the Agreeml3%lt between the Govenunent of the Un1.ted Kingdo~: 
of Great Britain and Northern Ireland and the Govemment of the Federation 
of lt[alaya on external defence and mutual assistance the terms of wbioh 
are as followsa-

"I have the honour to refer to my letter to the Prime Mi;.Jister of 
the Federation of i.ia.la.ya dated 24th t.Jarch, 1959, and ~JiB reply of' 21st 
April, 1959, concaming the presance of Australian forces in the Common­
wealth Strategic Reserve under the Aoroement on external defence ~d 
mt\tual assistance bet~'leen the Govemment of the United Kinr;dom and the 
Government of the Federation of Malaya on 12th October, 1957. 

, 
"The Governments of the United Kingdom. Malaya, North Borneo, Sarawa.k 

and Singapore have agreed by Article VI of an Agreement concluded on 9th 
July, 1963, on the extension to all the territories of Malaysia of the 
1957 Agreement. The Government of Australia accordingly regards its 
association with the Agreement as henceforth applying to Malaysia. I 
should be grateful if you would confirm that this is your understanding 
of the position." 

In reply I confirm that your letter co~rectly states the understanding 
between our two Governments of the position. 

I. 

i 
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APPENDIX V 

Malaysia Dofance - Statement by tho Prime Minister, Sir Robert Menzies, 
in the House of Representatives on 25th September, 1963 

"It may be remembered that so far back as April, 1955, the Goverruncnt 
emphasized the importance of Malaya to the security of the zone in which 
wo live, and _pointed out that, in consequence, Mal~yan integrity and 
defence were natters from which ue could not and should not stand aloof. 
Reasons of this kind, directly a:f:~eoting us, were of course, closely allied 
with the l.)ro)er interests of others - who are our friendn. The eotabliabment 
of the Commom1eal th Stra.tet:ic Reserve, of SEA'l'O - to the functions of which 
tha Reserve vras relewmt - tho negotiations of the AllZUS pact, .are all in 
the same pattern. That iz a pattern, not of ~gcression, but of defence; not 
of isolation in def'er·oe, bJ.t of cor .. ·non effort for the conlcon oecurity. 

"There has bc :m some suc,gestion the.t our forces in il!a.laya vtent t ··.ere 
pri~rily for P1.1rl.)Oses of intorn~. l security. T!•is is not so. As I have 
indicated, thoy ~ent there as a part of a stra.tecic reserve with the Unitod 
Kincdom and Nev1 Zealand and as a contribution to the defence of the South­
'nast Asian area. True, we quickly agreed that our forces co:·ld be employed 
in operations aeainst the Comr.unist terrorists in Malaya. Tbey ~1ere so 
employed, with success, and with creat credit to themselves and Australia. 
The facts \'lore, of course, th."!.t these terrorists wer3 promoted and supplied 
b~r Communist authorities outside r:iala,ya, and that their activities VTore as 
much "lCtEl of war acainrit the territorit!l end politict!l integrity of Ualn.ya 
~s \7ov.ld huve been overt mili tery invasion. -:ie think that the people of 
Australia have agreed ~:Ji th these policies and. decisions. In all these 
arran~ements, and in any to be made, the usual rule will apply that the 
employment of Australian forces remains under the control of tho Australian 
Government. We have acted and will continue to act consistently with the 
Charter of the United nations. 

"fut Ealey'sia, the new nation, is here. The processes of its creation 
hn.va been democratic. The United rations Secreta~y-Goneral, havine npTIOin­
tod sui·table persons as examiners, reported that the people of North Borneo 
and &.ra-::t!.k desirec_ incorporation into tlala,ysin. The Prime llinister of 
Singepore, one of the @•eat sponsors of lc;alaysia, has .;·ust received an 
overwhelming endorsement at the polls. We have publicly and unambisuosly 
said that we support Malaysia which is, never let it be forgotten, a 
Commonwealth country, just as our own is. Should there be any attempts to 
destroy or weaken Malaysia by subversion or invasion, what should Australia 
do about it? We know that the United Kingdom accepts, in substance, the 
position of a military guarantor. Honorable members now know the terms of 
our own recent exchange of notes. 

"The Government of Malaysia has said clearly that this exchange is 
completely satisfactory to it. But it has not been the normal practice of 
Commonwealth countries to spell out in detail their sense of mutual obliga­
tion, nor to confine themselves to legal formulae. For example, our vital 
engagements with the United Kingdom are not written or in any Vlay formalized~ 
Yet we know and she knows that in this part of the world we look to her, 
and she looks to us, We each apply in a spirit of mutual confidence a 
golden rule of mutual obligation. 

"fut for the benefit of all concerned, honorable members would not wiah 
me to create or permit any ambiguity about Australia's position in relation 

- :·.::.l J.ysia. I, therefore, after close deliberation by the Cabinet, and on 
its behalf, inform the House that we are resolved, and have so informed the 
Government of Malaysia, and the Governments of the United Kinsdoll and New 
Zealand and others concerned, that if, in the circumstances that now exist, 
and which may continue for a long time, there occurs, in relation to Malaysia 
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or any of its constituent States, armed invasion or subvereive activity -
supp~rted or directed or inspired from outside KalaYBi& - we shall to the 
best of our powers and by such means as shall be agreed upon with the 
Government of Malaysia, edd our military assietance to the offorts of 
Malaysia and the United Kingdom in the defenee of Malaysia's territorial 
integrity and political independence." 




